

## Germany's Drive to the West (Drang Nach Westen)

Gatzke, Hans W.

Published by Johns Hopkins University Press

Gatzke, Hans W.

Germany's Drive to the West (Drang Nach Westen): A Study of Germany's Western War Aims during the First World War. Johns Hopkins University Press, 2019.

Project MUSE. doi:10.1353/book.67839.



➡ For additional information about this book https://muse.jhu.edu/book/67839

[Access provided at 11 Oct 2022 07:02 GMT with no institutional affiliation ]





Hans W. Gatzke

# Germany's Drive to the West (Drang Nach Westen)

A Study of Germany's Western War Aims during the First World War Open access edition supported by the National Endowment for the Humanities / Andrew W. Mellon Foundation Humanities Open Book Program.

© 2019 Johns Hopkins University Press Published 2019

Johns Hopkins University Press 2715 North Charles Street Baltimore, Maryland 21218-4363 www.press.jhu.edu

The text of this book is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/. CC BY-NC-ND

## 

ISBN-13: 978-1-4214-3195-6 (open access) ISBN-10: 1-4214-3195-5 (open access)

ISBN-13: 978-1-4214-3193-2 (pbk. : alk. paper) ISBN-10: 1-4214-3193-9 (pbk. : alk. paper)

ISBN-13: 978-1-4214-3194-9 (electronic) ISBN-10: 1-4214-3194-7 (electronic)

This page supersedes the copyright page included in the original publication of this work.

## GERMANY'S DRIVE TO THE WEST

(Drang nach Westen)

A Study of Germany's Western War Aims during the First World War

## GERMANY'S DRIVE TO THE WEST

(Drang nach Westen)

A STUDY OF GERMANY'S WESTERN WAR AIMS DURING THE FIRST WORLD WAR

HANS W. GATZKE

BALTIMORE THE JOHNS HOPKINS PRESS Copyright © 1950 by The Johns Hopkins Press, Baltimore, Md. 21218 Manufactured in the United States of America

> Originally published, 1950 Second printing, 1963 Third printing, 1967

Johns Hopkins Paperbacks edition, 1966

то FRITZ T. EPSTEIN

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

THE IDEA for this book was suggested by Professor William L. Langer of Harvard University. I am deeply indebted to the guidance I received in his seminar and to his always helpful criticism and encouragement. Professors Sidney B. Fay and Heinrich Brüning of Harvard University, Ralph H. Lutz of Stanford University, Kurt Riezler of the New School for Social Research, and the late Professor Veit Valentin made valuable suggestions on various aspects of the work while it was in progress. Professor Harry Rudin of Yale University, during a busy year as visiting professor at Harvard, gave generously both of his time and everfriendly advice. Professors Edward W. Fox of Cornell University and Frederic C. Lane of The Johns Hopkins University read and criticized the completed manuscript. I wish to thank all of the above for being so kind and helpful. A special debt of gratitude belongs to my friend Dr. Fritz Epstein. His innumerable suggestions and constructive criticism proved as invaluable to me as they have to so many other specialists in the German field. Without his loval help, this study could never have been written. Harvard University, where a first version of this work was submitted as a doctoral dissertation, through its generous grant of a Sheldon Traveling Fellowship, enabled me to carry on research at the leading American libraries, notably the Hoover Library at Stan-To the latter I am indebted for most of the ford University. material on which this study is based. I have never found a more congenial and hospitable place. Thanks are due, finally, to Miss Lilly Lavarello, for much-needed and ably-performed editorial assistance.

H. W. G.

Baltimore, Maryland September, 1949

### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
	-
Chapter	
I. THE EVOLUTION OF WESTERN WAR AIMS (August 1	1914-
May 1915)	7
The Government and Western War Aims	8
The Reichstag and Western War Aims	17
The Pan-German League	24
The Western Industrialists and their War Aims	s 30
The Kriegszielbewegung	38
Annexationist Propaganda	47
The "Moderates"	54
The Government and the Annexationists	62
II. A PERIOD OF CONFLICT—CHANCELLOR VS. ANN	EXA-
TIONISTS (June 1915-August 1916)	68
Dualism of Bethmann Hollweg's Policy	69
The War Aims of other Public Figures	77
Administration of the Conquered Areas	84
The Flemish Question	92
The Political Parties during the Second Year of	War 99
The Annexationists continue their Agitation	113
The "Petition of the Intellectuals" and the "I	
pendent Committee "	117
The Campaign against Bethmann Hollweg	126
The "Moderates" launch a Counter-Offensive	132
III. A HOUSE DIVIDED-CHANCELLOR VS. SUPREME C	Сом-
MAND (September 1916-July 1917)	139
The Peace Note of December 12, 1916	139
Exploitation à Outrance	151
Annexationist Reaction to the Peace Note	161
Annexationism and Domestic Reform	170
Bethmann Hollweg vs. the Supreme Command	176
The Fall of Bethmann Hollweg	184

CONTENTS

IV. THE STRANGE CASE OF GEORG MICHAELIS (July 1917-	
October 1917)	195
Michaelis and the Peace Resolution of July 19, 1917	19 <b>5</b>
The Vaterlandspartei	206
The Government and the Vaterlandspartei	214
The Papal Peace Note of August 1, 1917	219
The Bellevue Conference	225
The Fall of Michaelis	232
V. THE VICTORY OF THE ANNEXATIONISTS-THE DEFEAT OF	
GERMANY (November 1917-September 1918)	238
Count Hertling and the Supreme Command	238
Supreme Command and Kriegszielbewegung	245
Political or Military Offensive?	251
The German People and Brest-Litovsk	259
Annexationism during the Spring Offensive	262
The Future of Belgium	266
The Fall of Kühlmann	271
The Final Months	281
CONCLUSION	<b>2</b> 88
BIBLIOGRAPHICAL NOTE	295
Index	301

x

#### INTRODUCTION

T HE QUESTION of war aims was the most important problem of German foreign and domestic policy during the First World War. All other issues, in comparison, were of secondary significance but in some way related to this central issue. Yet to this day no comprehensive study, which attempts to present and co-ordinate the many different facets of this particular problem, has been made. The present study intends to fill this gap.<sup>1</sup>

The problem of war aims, of course, is primarily one of foreign policy. As such it presents a significant chapter in the history of German territorial expansion, and had far-reaching effects on German and Allied attempts at a negotiated peace settlement. But like all foreign affairs, the war aims problem ultimately has its roots in the nation's domestic affairs, whose issues, tensions and discords we find reflected in the bitter controversy over war aims between the German Right and Left. There was a direct relationship, notably, between Germany's war aims and her most important domestic problem, her need for governmental reform. Bethmann Hollweg, reflecting upon his experiences as Chancellor during the World War, wrote in 1921: "Partisanship for large war aims and opposition against the so-called *Neuorientierung* usually went hand in hand. At least such a relationship developed during the course of the war."<sup>2</sup>

The history of Germany's war aims, therefore, covers a wide territory, much more than could be competently handled in **a** single volume. This, plus the fact that there are no monographs on several important subsidiary aspects of the war aims problem, necessitated a certain topical limitation.<sup>3</sup> But instead of treating the entire range of war aims from the vantage point of a single

<sup>3</sup> There is no study, for instance, of the "Independent Committee for a German

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>One of the most rewarding sources for the study of German war aims is the minutes of the Fourth Sub-Committee of the Parliamentary Investigating Commission, published as: Germany, Nationalversammlung, Das Werk des Untersuchungsausschusses, 4. Reihe, "Die Ursachen des Deutschen Zusammenbruchs im Jahre 1918" (12 vols., Berlin, 1925-29). Henceforth cited as U. A., 4. Reihe. Of special significance is vol. XII (1) in this series: Volkmann, "Die Annexionsfragen des Weltkrieges" (Berlin, 1929). The equally important vol. XII (2) by Martin Hobohm, dealing with German Annexationist Propaganda, has never been published. <sup>2</sup> Th. von Bethmann Hollweg, Betrachtungen zum Weltkriege (2 vols., Berlin,

<sup>1921),</sup> II, 31.

group or party, it was considered more meaningful to examine only the western aspects of the question, and at the same time to make this examination as thorough and exhaustive as possible. Such a division of German aims into Eastern, Western, and Central European, has been quite common in the past; and though it holds the dangers of most over-simplifications, it still is a logical method of dealing with a very complicated subject.<sup>4</sup>

There already exists a study of Germany's plans for some kind of *Mitteleuropa* under her leadership.<sup>5</sup> As far as eastern aims are concerned, they did not really become prominent until the war was well under way, after Germany had made considerable eastward advances. From then on, the annexation of vast areas along Germany's eastern frontier became part of most expansionist programs. Yet compared to the west, much less internal disagreement was aroused and consequently much less propagandist effort was expended over these eastern aims. What controversy did arise in connection with this question was not so much over the principle of annexation as over the future organization of the eastern lands. It is this latter problem that makes Germany's eastern war aims a profitable field for further research.

Germany's wartime plans for expansion to the west (on the continent and overseas) had important repercussions both at home and abroad. Internally, the controversy over western war aims soon destroyed the unity of all classes and parties, which the outbreak of war had created. Externally, the projected annexation of western areas found strong opponents not only among those nations immediately affected, but beyond in England and the United States. These nations considered Germany's westward expansion a direct threat to their own political and economic independence. A negotiated peace between Germany and any of her western enemies was impossible, therefore, so long as her annexationists continued to adhere to their western dreams. It is because of these effects at home and abroad that Germany's western war aims have been considered more important than those involving any other region.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>4</sup> See E. R. Bevan, German War Aims (New York, 1918), pp. 4-13.

<sup>5</sup> H. C. Meyer, "Mitteleuropa Concept and Reality" (New Haven, 1942), Typescript at the Yale University Library.

<sup>6</sup> Dr. Bredt, "Der Deutsche Reichstag im Weltkrieg," U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 295;

Peace," one of the important annexationist pressure groups. Also such studies as exist of the "Pan-German League" for the war period and of the "German Fatherland Party" are highly biased.

Something should be said about the term Drang nach Westen. It was not an expression current among World War annexationists.<sup>7</sup> Nor does it have the same validity which its eastern counterpart, the Drang nach Osten, has gained. Yet it is not an entirely arbitrary term. Germany's western, like her eastern ambitions, have their antecedents, which may be traced from the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries through the formative years of the German Empire into the World War and beyond. Originally this Drang nach Westen was exclusively cultural, nebulous in its aims and of special intensity in periods of political and intellectual unrest. During the Wars of Liberation, for instance, as during the 1840's, men like Ernst Moritz Arndt, Ludwig Jahn, Joseph Goerres, Friedrich List, Helmuth von Moltke, David Hansemann, Gustav von Höfken, and many others, looked for some sort of federation between the states of Germany and the people of "Germanic" stock in Switzerland, the Netherlands, and Denmark.<sup>8</sup> There were some strategic and economic reasons given for such a "re-union," but the main arguments were cultural, ethnographic, and historical. As the nineteenth century progressed, these arguments found additional support from the pseudo-scientific racial theories of Count Gobineau and Houston Stewart Chamberlain, and they continued to play a prominent part in annexationist propaganda.<sup>9</sup>

At the same time, the growing industrialization of Germany, the resulting quest for markets and raw materials, and the simultaneous increase of population gave added impetus to this desire for westward expansion. Bismarck's annexation of Alsace-Lorraine in 1871 for the first time contained all the elements of the *Drang nach Westen*. Historical, cultural, and strategic considerations predominated; but the economic advantages of the Lorraine iron deposits

E. Direnberger, Oberste Heeresleitung und Reichsleitung 1914-18 (Berlin, 1936), p. 29; Max von Baden, Erinnerungen und Dokumente (Stuttgart, 1927), pp. 665 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The term may be found in the annexationist *Deutsche Tageszeitung*, Aug. 25, 1916, 2d ed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> No comprehensive study has yet been made of this phase of German expansionism. The following touch on the problem: R. Haufe, Der deutsche Nationalstaat in den Flugschriften von 1848-49 (Leipzig, 1915); O. Wagner, Mitteleuropäische Gedanken und Bestrebungen in den vierziger Jahren 1840-1848 (Marburg, 1935); W. L. Langer, "When German Dreams Come True," Yale Review, XXVII (1938), 678 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>o</sup> During the World War German annexationists frequently referred back to the early nineteenth-century exponents of the *Drang nach Westen*. For examples see: W. Müller-Eberhart, Jahn's Vermächtnis für unsere Zeit (Berlin, 1918); also by the same author: Ernst Moritz Arndt und der Friede (Berlin, 1918).

were not overlooked.<sup>10</sup> This is not the place to go into the justification or advisability of any such plans for German westward expansion. But if viewed not merely as an extension of the Prusso-German sphere of power, but as an attempt at re-uniting and integrating political areas which historically, ethnically, geographically (especially in regard to natural lines of communication), and economically seem predestined for some kind of union, then the *Drang nach Westen* loses some of its sinister implications.

The first decades of the new German Empire saw all roads to further continental expansion closed, and the energies of a rising industrial and commercial class found its outlet largely in overseas expansion, in imperialism and Weltpolitik. But such expansion, no matter how much it might increase the economic strength of Germany, did nothing to increase her European basis of power. To create not merely a more prosperous but also a "Greater Germany" was the aim of the "Pan-German League" and its affiliated organizations, which developed at the turn of the century. It was these organizations that kept alive the hope for an eventual satisfaction of German land-hunger on the European continent. Because of their negligible membership and the "unrealistic" character of their aims, the Pan-Germans and their friends have not always been taken as seriously as they deserve.<sup>11</sup> Yet when war broke out in 1914 and the rich lands on Germany's frontiers were overrun by her victorious armies, these "unrealistic" aims suddenly seemed most realistic and possible of fulfillment. A century-old dream seemed to have come true.

While the *Drang nach Osten* was the phenomenon of an agricultural age in which land was the chief source of wealth and political power, the *Drang nach Westen* is a phenomenon of our own industrial age, in which land, though still an important commodity as such, has been surpassed in importance by mineral wealth and industrial potential.<sup>12</sup> Much of German pre-war history

<sup>10</sup> W. Bowden, M. Karpovich, A. Usher, An Economic History of Europe since 1750 (New York, 1937), pp. 495-97.

<sup>11</sup> The term "Pan-German," often used to describe German annexationists in general, is used throughout this study in its strict meaning, referring to the Pan-German League. Examples of annexationist propaganda before the war may be found in: Great Britain, Foreign Office, German Opinion on National Policy prior to July 1914, Part I (London, 1920); M. Hobohm and P. Rohrbach, Die Alldeutschen (Berlin, 1919). The best available study of the Pan-German League, M. Wertheimer, The Pan-German League 1890-1914 (New York, 1924) tends to underestimate the significance of the organization.

<sup>12</sup> For a suggestive, though biased, discussion of these general aspects of the Drang nach Westen see: W. Kundt, Deutsche Westwanderung (München, 1929).

can be viewed as a struggle between these two divergent movements, with the latter constantly encroaching on the former and finally becoming a formidable rival for leadership in the German Empire. The East-Elbian *Junker*, economic and political backbone of Hohenzollern Prussia and (through an antiquated political system) of Germany, at last had found his match in the western German industrialist. The latter derived his power not from birth and privilege but from education and wealth, *Bildung und Besitz*, with emphasis on the latter.

Despite their divergent interests, however, the aristocracy of blood and the aristocracy of coal and iron (ranged respectively behind the Conservative and National Liberal Parties) had much in common. In the domestic field they shared their determined opposition against the political and economic demands of the German masses. In the foreign field they shared (although for different reasons) a common hatred of Great Britain.13 Germany's industrial and commercial interests saw England as their most dangerous competitor; while Germany's agricultural interests looked upon England as the birthplace and embodiment of that liberal and democratic tradition which threatened the maintenance of their privileges. This common opposition against Great Britain, better than anything else, explains the support which the Drang nach Westen of German industry, especially during the World War, found among German Conservative circles. The adherence of a party, whose main interests were in Eastern Europe, to a policy of westward expansion, shows better than anything else the deep significance of the Drang nach Westen. It was against England that agricultural and industrial magnates "let the dog of Pan-Germanism off its leash." Lissauer's "Hymn of Hate" against Great Britain became the battle hymn of the western annexationists.

Yet at the same time many Conservatives realized that an exclusively westward expansion would neither increase their material basis of power, nor check permanently the advance of "western" ideas in Germany. In the end it would benefit solely their commercial and industrial "allies," who hated England for economic reasons but had a hidden admiration for her political system. To maintain the existing balance between Germany's ruling classes, between industrial (and "liberal") and agricultural (and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> P. R. Anderson, The Background of Anti-English Feeling in Germany 1890-1902 (Washington, D. C., 1939), p. 72; E. Kehr, Schlachtflottenbau und Parteipolitik 1894-1901 (Berlin, 1930), p. 331; E. Kehr, "Englandhass und Weltpolitik," Zeitschrift für Politik, XVII (1928), 515-16.

reactionary) interests, the Conservatives looked for material gains adjacent to their eastern holdings.<sup>14</sup> That such gains could be made only at the expense of Russia, for whom they felt a deep and implicit affinity, gave the matter a certain irony. Nor was such eastward expansion necessarily a pure blessing, as some agrarians well realized, since it would decrease the value of land and the price of agricultural produce.<sup>15</sup>

If we remember these facts, we understand why the terms "Easterners" and "Westerners," often applied to denote the factions in Germany favoring expansion in one or the other direction, have only partial validity. For the agricultural "Easterners" and the industrial-commercial-maritime "Westerners" each had great admiration for the governmental systems of those powers—Russia and England respectively—against whom they hoped to realize their material ambitions.

The alliance between the two groups before and during the war was but a mariage de convenance; it was a mutual bargain, but as such it was far from equitable. The hatred of the Conservatives for Great Britain, based not merely on ideological grounds, but on an equally important element of patriotism (Anglo-German naval rivalry, after all, was not merely a matter of commercial competition but equally one of national prestige), was not counterbalanced by any comparable feeling on the part of the National Liberals against Russia. The counterpart to the Conservatives' ideological Anglophobia, ironically enough, was the Russophobia of the Social Democrats! The "Westerners" thus received from their "Eastern" allies a great deal more than they were giving in return. Their support of the Conservative Drang nach Osten was much less ardent than the Conservatives' support of the industrialist Drang nach Westen. This, plus the fact that the liberal political philosophy of the "Westerners" appealed to a much larger section of the German people than did the reactionary attitude of the "Easterners," we must keep in mind if we want to understand the dominant position which western expansionism held throughout the war.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> It is not always possible, of course, to draw a sharp line between German agrarian and industrial interests. In certain regions, notably in Silesia, agrarians owned stock in industrial enterprises while industrialists owned large estates. See Anderson, p. 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> K. Jentsch in Kunstwart (1917), p. 141, as quoted in G. von Below, Kriegsund Friedensfragen (Dresden, 1917), pp. 36-37.

#### CHAPTER I

#### THE EVOLUTION OF WESTERN WAR AIMS (AUGUST 1914–MAY 1915)

THE GERMAN offensive against the West, based on the I "Schlieffen Plan," rolled off with expected precision as soon as war was declared on August 1, 1914. Violating the neutrality of Belgium, six German infantry brigades reached Liège by August 5, and two days later took this strongest obstacle to Germany's projected encircling move. On August 18 the five armies of invasion had taken up positions and began their gigantic turning move around the pivot of Diedenhofen. Their advance in the north was marked by a succession of victorious battles, while at the same time the left wing of Germany's western army, under Crown Prince Rupprecht of Bavaria, repulsed the French in the Battle of Lorraine.1 "Thirty-five days since mobilization," the Kaiser could boast, " and Rheims has been occupied, the French government has moved to Bordeaux, and the advance-guards of our cavalry stand fifty kilometers from Paris."<sup>2</sup> Yet the very same day, Germany's Commander-in-Chief, Generaloberst von Moltke, observed: "We have had successes, to be sure, but we have not won. Victory means the destruction of the enemy's power of resistance. When millions of soldiers meet, the victor should take prisoners. Where are our prisoners?"<sup>3</sup> This ineffectual heir to a proud military tradition had failed to carry out his great predecessor's last will. The Schlieffen Plan had failed.

After September 4, the French launched their counter-offensive, the "Battle of the Marne," climaxed by the famous "miracle," the sudden withdrawal of German forces on September 9. There followed the somewhat misnamed "race to the sea," and by the middle of October, when the Germans reached the Atlantic, warfare in the west had changed from a war of movement to a war of position.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For a brief discussion of military events in 1914 see E. O. Volkmann, *Der grosse Krieg 1914-1918* (Berlin, 1938), pp. 35 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> K. Helfferich, Der Weltkrieg (Berlin, 1919), p. 143.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Ibid.

The Kaiser's army had failed to deliver a knock-out blow to the Allied forces, and for the next few months, in view of the added Russian pressure in the east, Germany was in a by no means enviable military position.

Yet the majority of Germans were quite unaware that things had not gone according to schedule. They believed what they saw, namely, that their armies had carried the war deep into enemy territory and had conquered vast areas—almost all of Belgium and the most valuable regions of eastern France. No wonder, then, that many Germans looked longingly towards the west. The table had been set for the annexationist feast.

#### The Government and Western War Aims

The declared aim of the German government at the outbreak of war was a negative one-the defense of the Fatherland. Most Germans felt that their country had become involved in a war against her will, a feeling to which the Emperor's speech on August 4 gave voice: "Not lust of conquest drives us on," he said. "We are inspired by the unalterable will to protect, for ourselves and all coming generations, the place which God has assigned to us."<sup>4</sup> His Chancellor, von Bethmann Hollweg, fully agreed. It had always been Germany's aim, he held, to fight only "in defense of a just cause." "The day has now come," he said, "when we must draw our sword, against our wish, and in spite of our sincere endeavors." 5 Yet at the same time, much to the dismay of German patriots, Bethmann admitted that Germany's invasion of Belgium was " a breach of international law." " The wrong-I speak frankly -the wrong we thereby commit, we will try to make good as soon as our military aims have been attained."<sup>6</sup> And as if to live up to his promise, Germany, on August 7, offered Belgium a peace which would not interfere with a continued war against France. But Belgium preferred to stay on the side of the Allies.<sup>7</sup> Germany's hopes of concluding a similar peace with a defeated France were dashed at the Marne.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>\*</sup> R. H. Lutz, ed., Fall of the German Empire (2 vols., Stanford, 1932), I, 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ibid., p. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ibid., p. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> E. Caukin-Brunauer, "The Peace Proposals of Germany and Austria-Hungary" (Stanford, 1927), pp. 2-3. Typescript at Stanford University Library.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> A. von Tirpitz, Politische Dokumente (2 vols., Hamburg, 1926), II, 62.

The initial successes of Germany's armies in the west soon changed the official attitude of moderation. A first hint came as early as August 26, when Bethmann asked his Secretary of the Interior for a report on the French iron deposits in the Briey-Longwy region and on the extent of Germany's pre-war share in their exploitation.<sup>9</sup> Two weeks later, the Chancellor apparently had decided to annex these districts, together with certain strategic regions along the Franco-German border and the fortress of Belfort.<sup>10</sup> As far as Belgium was concerned, Bethmann's aims during these early days of the war are not quite so clear, though there is evidence that he was ready to consider the annexation of parts of northern Belgium, leaving the southern section as a buffer state between Germany and France.<sup>11</sup>

When it became clear in early September, however, that Germany's western offensive had failed to reach its objective, Bethmann Hollweg temporarily abandoned whatever annexationist aims he had. The disaster on the Marne had spoiled all chances for a quick military decision, and the only hope now was for a separate peace with one of Germany's adversaries, to lighten the burden of a war on two fronts. Although the Chancellor's pre-war foreign policy of rapprochement with Great Britain had proved a fiasco, Bethmann's first peace efforts in 1914 and early 1915 were directed towards England.<sup>12</sup> In this he had the support of most Germans, who at this time still considered Russia and not England Germany's chief enemy.<sup>13</sup>

The best way to achieve such a separate understanding with Great Britain, probably, was to engage first in a show of military and naval force, and then to offer an acceptable compromise, especially on the crucial question of Belgium.<sup>14</sup> Instead, Bethmann Hollweg not only opposed all strong measures and demonstrations against England, but he slowly maneuvered himself into a most

<sup>10</sup> *Ibid.*, p. 36.

<sup>11</sup> Tirpitz, Dokumente, II, 65.

<sup>12</sup> Brunauer, "Peace Proposals," pp. 1 ff.; R. Stadelmann, "Friedensversuche im ersten Jahre des Weltkrieges," *Historische Zeitschrift*, CLVI (1937), 485 ff.; R. G. Swing, "First World War Peace Offer," *Esquire*, April 1939, pp. 56 ff.

<sup>13</sup> E. Dahlin, French and German Public Opinion on Declared War Aims 1914-1918 (Stanford, 1933), pp. 14-17.

<sup>14</sup> H. Stegemann, Erinnerungen aus meinem Leben und aus meiner Zeit (Stuttgart, 1930), pp. 305-06.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 35.

ambiguous position on the future of Belgium.<sup>15</sup> A first step in this direction was the publication of documents from the Belgian archives, intended to prove that Belgium had forfeited her pre-war neutrality when she entered into military discussions with Great Britain. Published in October and November of 1914, these documents seemed to revise Bethmann's earlier admission of guilt towards Belgium.<sup>16</sup> At the same time, in justifying Germany's invasion of Belgium, they supplied the annexationist element with potent arguments against restoring the latter's independence. Even the more moderate groups felt indignant over the "perfidy" of Belgium and demanded that measures be taken to keep her from ever again becoming an ally of France and England.<sup>17</sup>

While the German people thus slowly developed an appetite for annexations, Bethmann Hollweg preferred to remain vague. On the one hand he called the Grand Duke of Oldenburg's program for the annexation of Belgium "a great mistake," and continued to be evasive on the future of eastern France; yet on the other he still insisted in a Reichstag speech of December 2 on a "stronger Germany," so powerful and secure that "no one would dare again to disturb" her peace.<sup>18</sup> As for other leading statesmen, their war aims during this early period were almost exclusively moderate. This was especially true of Foreign Secretary von Jagow and his chief assistant, Zimmermann, as well as of the Kaiser and his military staff.<sup>19</sup> Moltke, in a letter to the Emperor, recommended that Germany not expect much territory in Europe but instead extend her holdings in Central Africa.<sup>20</sup> Moltke's successor, General

<sup>19</sup> Graf J. H. Bernstorff, Deutschland und Amerika (Berlin, 1920), pp. 118-19; Haussmann, p. 17; H. Kanner, "The Papers of Dr. Heinrich Kanner" (3 vols. of typescript at Hoover Library, Stanford, Cal.), II, 65, 92; Bethmann Hollweg, II, 18; Ch. Seymour, The Intimate Papers of Colonel House (4 vols., N. Y., 1926), I, 371, 391; Tirpitz, Dokumente, II, 176; M. Hoffmann, Die Aufzeichnungen des Generalmajors Max Hoffmann (2 vols., Berlin, 1930), I, 64, 69; Rupprecht von Bayern, Mein Kriegstagebuch (2 vols., München, 1929), I, 332; L. Ganghofer, Reise zur Deutschen Front (Berlin, 1915), pp. 48-49.

<sup>20</sup> G. von Moltke, Erinnerungen, Briefe, Dokumente 1877-1916 (Stuttgart, 1922), p. 412.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> A. von Tirpitz, Erinnerungen (Leipzig, 1919), pp. 258 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, Oct. 13 and Nov. 25, 1914.

 $<sup>^{17}</sup>$  U.A., 4. Reihe, IV, 251-52; B. Schwertfeger, Der geistige Kampf um die Verletzung der belgischen Neutralität (Berlin, 1925), passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 36; C. Haussmann, Schlaglichter (Frankfurt a. M., 1924), p. 14; A. Rechberg, Reichsniedergang (München, 1919), p. 28; F. Thimme, ed., Bethmann Hollwegs Kriegsreden (Stuttgart, 1919), pp. 14, 23.

von Falkenhayn, repeatedly expressed concern over the people's optimism and stressed the vast difficulties still ahead.<sup>21</sup> Similar views were held on the eastern front by Hindenburg and Hoffmann.<sup>22</sup> Only Admiral von Tirpitz, eagerly awaiting an opportunity to use his navy against Great Britain, came forth with a series of annexationist demands: Antwerp, the Flanders coast, and a substantial colonial empire (as additional *raison d'être* for a powerful German fleet).<sup>23</sup>

Such colonial war aims, though strictly speaking in a separate category, are often included in continental annexationist programs. But while almost all western annexationists advocated some degree of colonial expansion, many people in favor of such expansion did by no means favor annexations in Western Europe as well. To many Germans the western conquests were a kind of pawn (Faustpfand), to be exchanged at a future peace conference against the former German colonies (most of which had fallen into allied hands soon after the outbreak of war) plus some additional colonial holdings. The most noted representative of this group was the Colonial Secretary, Wilhelm Solf. He was opposed to German annexations on the continent, but throughout the war he stressed the need for a larger colonial empire in Africa, advocating a general re-distribution of all colonial holdings on that continent.<sup>24</sup> These colonial aims found wide support among annexationists of all classes, especially from members of the Deutsche Kolonialgesellschaft.<sup>25</sup>

The declared war aims of Germany's statesmen during the first months of war, as these examples show, were on the whole moderate. But this does not exclude the existence of more detailed and farreaching plans for the future of Western Europe. In October of 1914 the Prussian Minister of the Interior, von Loebell, wrote a lengthy memorandum on the future peace settlement; and in December a similar document was prepared by Germany's Secretary

<sup>21</sup> K. Westarp, Konservative Politik im letzten Jahrzehnt des Kaiserreiches (2 vols., Berlin, 1935), II, 93.

<sup>22</sup> Hoffmann, Aufzeichnungen, I, 69, 180.

<sup>23</sup> Tirpitz, Dokumente, II, 58-59, 65, 144-5, 179; Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, pp. 422, 440; see also Dokumente, II, 142 for similar views of Admiral von Pohl, the navy's representative with the Supreme Command.

<sup>24</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 36; S. Grumbach, Das annexionistische Deutschland (Lausanne, 1917), pp. 9-10.

<sup>25</sup> Dahlin, p. 69; Hoffmann, Aufzeichnungen, I, 64; Westarp, II, 46; Vorwärts, May 28, 1915.

of the Interior, Clemens von Delbrück, and Under-Secretary Zimmermann.<sup>26</sup> Both memoranda are important steps in the evolution of western war aims.

Von Loebell looked upon France and England rather than Russia as Germany's natural enemies, and demanded that these two be weakened as much as possible. To become a truly great world power, Germany, according to Loebell, had to strengthen her continental position against England and at the same time gain unconditional freedom of the seas, defensible colonies, and the necessary naval stations to maintain overseas communications. As far as Western Europe was concerned. France had to be beaten and rendered harmless once and for all. Strategic frontier rectifications, surrender of her coal and iron districts, and a high indemnity would bring about such permanent weakening. As to Belgium, her fate depended largely on the outcome of Germany's conflict with England. Only by the defeat of England could Germany hope to keep Belgium. But this possibility von Loebell doubted, because he realized that England would fight to the very last against a German annexation of the Lowlands. The final contest would thus be postponed, though it was inevitable. "Great Britain now has pitted her vital interests against ours. She is the enemy with whom sooner or later we shall have to force a showdown; because she will never tolerate at her side a strong Germany, actively engaged in world affairs." 27

The idea that the World War was only the preliminary step in the final overthrow of Great Britain, the "First Punic War" as the Kaiser called it, was quite current among German annexationists. Its proponents suggested that Germany should first of all strengthen and consolidate her position on the continent, thus preparing herself for the final bout with England. Such continental strength had to be won at the expense not only of France but of Russia as well; and to achieve this it might even be necessary—as Bethmann Hollweg had tried—to come to a temporary understanding with England, so as to be able to concentrate all forces against the east. But at the same time there were other annexationists who felt that Germany could defeat England and thus take her place as a world power in this first world war. To these exponents of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 36, 187 ff., 193 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 188.

Drang nach Westen England was the immediate enemy, the Hauptfeind, and they advocated a separate peace with Russia to make possible a concentration of forces against the West. Throughout the war, the question of who could best be annihilated first and who best appeased temporarily, England or Russia, played an important part in Germany's debate on war aims.<sup>28</sup>

Of still greater interest than von Loebell's memorandum were the proposals of Delbrück and Zimmermann for "the treatment of Belgium in case of a decisive German victory." Written at the request of the Chancellor, the general idea of the memorandum was to find a way short of open annexation by which Belgium could be put completely under German domination. As a result this document (which should be viewed as an impartial report rather than a manifestation of the two Secretaries' war aims) stands as the most specific elaboration of the expression "military and economic guarantees," through which Germany hoped to maintain her influence over Belgium.

The main purpose of German "military guarantees," according to Delbrück and Zimmermann, should be to make sure that Belgium would never again serve as a base of operations against Germany. To prevent this, the following measures were suggested:

(1) All fortresses, the whole Belgian coast and its defenses, must remain under German control. The same applied to all means of transportation and communication.

(2) In addition, Belgium must give up her army. The money she thus saved could be used to maintain Germany's army of occupation.

(3) German military domination of Belgium also required certain limitations of Belgian sovereignty. German troops must be subject to their own jurisdiction. There must be no independent foreign policy for Belgium, and in internal matters Germany must have a veto over all laws and administrative acts conflicting with her military interests. Under certain conditions the Kaiser must have power to decree martial law for all or part of Belgium.

So much for Germany's military control. What little freedom Belgium retained would be taken away through "economic penetration." This would involve the following measures:

<sup>28</sup> For a discussion of this problem see S. Eggert, "Die deutschen Eroberungspläne im ersten Weltkrieg," Neue Welt, II (1947), 45-47

(1) Belgium must join the German customs union as a non-voting member.

(2) The Belgian system of rail- and waterways must be closely integrated with that of Germany.

(3) Germany's monetary system must be extended to Belgium.

(4) To impose identical burdens on German and Belgian industries (preventing unfavorable competition which might result from a customs union) Germany must introduce her system of taxation and social legislation into Belgium.

Here, in brief outline, we have the 1914 version of Germany's "New Order" for Belgium. It is the clearest and most ruthless official definition of "veiled annexation" available for the period of the World War. In comparison, as a memorandum from the Ministry of Public Works pointed out, "complete annexation appears as a milder form of securing influence." <sup>29</sup> At the time it was drafted, of course, this memorandum was a mere theoretical discussion of a possible solution in case of complete German victory. But before long, references to this type of solution began to appear in Bethmann Hollweg's statements on war aims. In the spring of 1915, for instance, the Socialist Deputy Scheidemann, alarmed by the widespread annexationist propaganda, asked the Chancellor about his plans for the future of Belgium. Bethmann in reply clearly dissociated himself from the wild schemes of the Pan-German annexationists and assured Scheidemann that he had no intention of annexing Belgium.

I imagine that we might obtain closer economic relations with Belgium and, perhaps, also agreements of a military kind; and if I should succeed in obtaining a slight adjustment of the frontier in the Vosges which now runs below the crest of the range, that in itself would be of great importance, just as the dismantling of Belfort would be, if we could obtain it. We have had to make terrible sacrifices on those parts of the frontier.<sup>30</sup>

Note the reference to closer economic and military agreements. As Bethmann's stand against outright annexation of Belgium became known in annexationist circles, Count Westarp (leading Conser-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 22, note 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Ph. Scheidemann, Memoiren eines Sozialdemokraten (2 vols., Dresden, 1928), I, 350-51. Bethmann, at the time, seemed genuinely disturbed over the growing annexationist sentiment: R. von Valentini, Kaiser und Kabinettschef (Oldenburg, 1931), pp. 226-27.

vative in the Reichstag) wrote him a worried note, asking for further clarification. The Chancellor's reply, according to Westarp, left nothing to be desired. It did object to the annexation of large areas in northern France; but the statements on Belgium went further than those made to Scheidemann:

If a lasting peace is to be won, Belgium must be rendered harmless. We must gain military, political [!] and economic guarantees that England or France will not be able to use Belgium against us in future political controversies. Such guarantees require at least [!] the military and economic dependence of that country upon Germany.<sup>31</sup>

To make completely sure of the Chancellor's position, a delegation of deputies from the annexationist parties of the Right and Center visited Bethmann on May 13, 1915, to request a definite statement on the government's war aims. The similarity between the Chancellor's views expressed on this occasion and the Delbrück-Zimmermann Memorandum is unmistakable. "Belgium," he said, "must be rendered harmless, she must become Germany's vassal state." Here is Count Westarp's summary of the statement:

Occupation of the whole country and complete economic domination. His statement did not make it quite clear whether he was thinking of political independence, i. e. some kind of federal relationship, or of annexation, the latter in any case without conferring any political rights. Economically, the Chancellor is considering a customs union, German influence over [railway?] rates—the acquisition of railways he considers difficult, since 80,000 German employees would have to be moved to Belgium—complete economic domination over the port of Antwerp, introduction of German civil law, legal procedure (doubtful) and social legislation, to ensure to German industry the ability of competing with that of Belgium... Imposition of German Imperial laws, administration through one or several military governors.<sup>32</sup>

In regard to France, Bethmann did not go quite so far as the annexationist deputies should have liked to see, though his statement to the effect that "France had to be weakened as much as possible, regardless of any later sentiment in the matter" recalls the tone of the Loebell Memorandum. The Chancellor also intended

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Westarp, II, 46-50; see also Under-Secretary Wahnschaffe's reassuring letter to the Pan-German Franz von Bodelschwingh, who had expressed similar concern over Bethmann's weak aims in regard to Belgium: F. von Bodelschwingh, *Innere Hemmungen kraftvoller Aussenpolitik* (Hannover, 1919), p. 44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Westarp, II, 37, 51-52.

#### GERMANY'S DRIVE TO THE WEST

to take the ore region of Briey and Longwy, the fortress of Belfort, and to require some small rectifications of the Vosges frontier. Count Westarp's general impression of Bethmann's aims was that they were essentially the same as his own. Yet the Count, as we shall see, was one of the most radical German annexationists.

Up to this point, all of Bethmann's statements on the future of Western Europe had been made in private. The first public pronouncement on the subject did not come until May 28, five days after Italy had declared war on Austria-Hungary. "We must persevere," he said in an address to the Reichstag, "until we have created and won for ourselves all possible real guarantees and securities that none of our enemies . . . will again dare to engage us in armed conflict." <sup>33</sup> This statement certainly was ambiguous enough; yet both the Reichstag and the German press applauded it as an acknowledgment of Germany's need for annexations. "The demonstrative applause which this statement found among all bourgeois parties," the Socialist *Leipziger Volkszeitung* wrote on May 29, "made it plain to everybody that the Chancellor has now come out in favor of some sort of annexationist policy and has thus revoked his declaration of August 4, 1914." <sup>34</sup>

The significant change that Bethmann Hollweg's attitude on the future of Western Europe underwent, at least outwardly, during the first ten months of war, was the direct result of external and internal factors. Externally, this period proved the futility of Germany's first attempts at a negotiated peace. The history of the various peace moves is too intricate to be discussed here.<sup>35</sup> It is sufficient to say that the first efforts, between September 1914 and April 1915, primarily directed at England, were unsuccessful.<sup>36</sup> "If there were possibilities of peace during the first months of 1915," Bethmann wrote in 1921, "which I personally doubt, then surely at the most for a peace based on the *status quo ante*, with reparations for Belgium, that is, for just the opposite of the programs

16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Thimme, p. 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> For similar press comments from Right to Left see: Deutsche Tageszeitung, May 29, 1915; Post, May 29, 1915; Kreuzzeitung, May 30, 1915; Vorwärts, June 1, 1915.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm as}$  For a discussion of the subject see K. Forster, The Failures of Peace (Washington, D. C., 1941).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> R. Stadelmann, "Friedensversuche im ersten Jahre des Weltkrieges," Historische Zeitschrift, CLVI (1937), 498-516.

proclaimed at that time." <sup>37</sup> To give up a country whose past neutrality was doubted and whose future neutrality was doubtful, would have aroused "the most bitter feeling among the German people." Yet this very thing, plus a possible indemnity to Belgium was the *conditio sine qua non* for England's willingness to discuss peace.<sup>38</sup>

When by spring and early summer of 1915 negotiations in the west had proved unsuccessful, similar moves were made towards Russia. These moves, significantly enough, coincided with Bethmann's change of attitude towards Belgium. But despite continuous German military successes in the east, these moves were likewise condemned to failure.<sup>39</sup> The more important reasons for Bethmann's change, however, are to be found in the German domestic scene. Here the Chancellor was subjected to the pressure of a public opinion which became increasingly annexationist during this early period. To a study of this pressure, both spontaneous and artificially stimulated, we must turn for a real understanding of Bethmann's change of position.

#### The Reichstag and Western War Aims

Because of the strict censorship imposed on the discussion of war aims soon after the outbreak of war, it is difficult to determine the extent of annexationist sentiment among the German people. Contemporary observers agree, however, that most Germans soon abandoned their passive attitude of the first days of war and demanded the annexation of enemy territory, especially in Western Europe. These popular aims, however, were nebulous at first and had to undergo a formative period of several months before they crystallized into a series of definite demands. To understand these German hopes for annexations, we must remember the apparent military successes of the first months of war, the publication of Belgian documents already mentioned, and the sanguinary character of warfare in Belgium which cost the lives of many German soldiers. To give up "the soil which had been won with so much German blood," many Germans felt, would be ungrateful to the soldiers who gave their lives to secure it.40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 26-27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Ibid., p. 27; Brunauer, "Peace Proposals," pp. 13 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Forster, pp. 21 ff.; Stadelmann, Historische Zeitschrift, CLVI, 516 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 27.

The influence of this annexationist opinion on the conduct of the German government is difficult to measure. In Germany people had even less direct influence in governmental affairs than elsewhere, and even the voice of their elected representatives in the Reichstag played only a small part in the formation of policy, at least until the pressure of events forced the government to make some concessions in the course of the war. But despite its lack of direct power, the Reichstag debates remained the most significant single expression of public opinion in the country.

The Kaiser's words on August 4, 1914: "I no longer know parties, I only know Germans," and the Socialist vote for the war budget, these two events symbolized the closing of a long-standing gulf between Germany's classes and masses.<sup>41</sup> But this *Burgfriede* was a truce rather than a peace; it did nothing to remove some of the most blatant political injustices, and its days were numbered from the start. The first event to disturb this precarious domestic peace, significantly enough, was the controversy over war aims.

The majority of Social Democrats, true to their ideals of universal peace and international conciliation, soon adopted a more or less consistent stand against annexations and in favor of a "peace of understanding" or a "Scheidemann Peace" as it was called after its leading proponent. They had made clear this stand as early as August 4 in a declaration which said: "We demand that, as soon as the aim of protection shall have been attained and the enemies be inclined toward peace, the war be ended by a peace which shall render possible friendship with our neighbors." <sup>42</sup> But we must not assume that this Socialist opinion was predominant among the German people or even its lower classes this early in the war.43 Even a number of Socialists soon began to modify their views. though the party itself reiterated its earlier stand on several later occasions.<sup>44</sup> Beginning in late September, several members began to express approval of annexationist aims and by March 22, 1915, the Socialist Frankfurter Volksstimme held that "the renunciation of all demands of annexation is in itself not a serviceable program.

<sup>41</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 9.

42 Ibid., p. 16.

43 U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 34; V, 97; Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 260.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Germany, Reichstag, Verhandlungen des Reichstages, XIII. Legislaturperiode, II. Sitzung, Stenographischer Bericht (henceforth cited as Reichstag), vol. 306, p. 21; Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 370.

Social Democracy must put forward positive demands, and these demands can and must include modification in maps. All must not remain as it was." 45 There was Paul Lensch, for instance, Socialist Reichstag deputy and editor of the hyperradical Leipziger Volkszeitung, who in 1914 had voted against war credits; then suddenly his position changed-he wrote a book Weltkrieg und Sozialdemokratie in which he defended the government's war policy, and later in the war he joined his fellow socialists Haenisch and Winnig (who had undergone a similar change of heart) in the editorship of a Socialist periodical with annexationist leanings, Die Glocke, financed by the enigmatic "Parvus" Helphand. The end of Lensch's leftist affiliations came in 1925, when he was made editor of the nationalist Deutsche Allgemeine Zeitung.<sup>46</sup> The Socialist trade unions were equally reluctant to declare themselves against any and all annexations, considering the close community of interests between the working class and heavy industry, both of whom stood to gain from annexations in the west.<sup>47</sup>

Besides these right-wing, annexationist Socialists (sometimes called "Imperial Socialists") there developed, in the course of the war, two left-wing factions within the Socialist Party. The smaller and more radical one, under Karl Liebknecht and Rosa Luxemburg, not only was violently opposed to annexations, but hoped to stir up the lower classes against the annexationists of the Right, using the resulting discontent and disorder for the overthrow of the Hohenzollern regime. These "Spartacists," as they were later called, never became very influential and their activities were seriously curtailed by government interference in the spring of 1915.48 The other, less radical group, rallied around Haase, Bernstein, and Breitscheid. They were just as strongly opposed to annexations as the Liebknecht group, but advocated protests and strikes rather than outright violence.49 We shall see how this second group finally seceded and formed its own Independent Socialist Party.

<sup>48</sup> Forster, p. 24; Grumbach, p. 432.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> H. Ströbel, *Die deutsche Revolution* (Berlin, 1922), p. 16; Grumbach, pp. vi-vii, 111.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> A. Winnig, *Der weite Weg* (Hamburg, 1938), pp. 339 ff.; Scheidemann, *Memoiren*, I, 254. On Helphand see K. Haenisch, *Parvus* (Berlin, 1925).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Grumbach, p. 118; A. Mendelssohn Bartholdy, *The War and German Society— The Testament of a Liberal* (New Haven, 1937), p. 221.

<sup>49</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 59.

The attitude of the bourgeois parties of the Reichstag was neither as moderate nor as consistent as that of the Socialists. Most of them refrained from definite statements on war aims this early in the war; though the declarations of their leaders and newspapers made it perfectly plain where they stood. The majority of the Progressive Party took a middle course between extreme annexationism and renunciation of all territorial expansion. Some members like Heckscher, Wiemer, Müller-Meiningen, and Pachnicke were definitely for large annexations, while others like Dove, von Payer, Gothein, and Haussmann were opposed to all but colonial aggrandizement and small frontier rectifications.<sup>50</sup> The Center Party during this period was, on the whole, annexationist, although there was a moderate faction as early as 1915.51 Its chief organ, the Kölnische Volkszeitung, and its most influential member, Mathias Erzberger, because of their close ties with the industrialist Thyssen, were extremely annexationist. The case of Erzberger is an example of the clever methods employed by German industrial interests to further their territorial ambitions. Through native intelligence and extreme diligence, Erzberger had created for himself a position of great but hidden influence.<sup>52</sup> Alfred Hugenberg called him "the most powerful man in Berlin. With his recommendation one gets everywhere, without it one gets nowhere." 53 It is not surprising, then, that old August Thyssen, leading Ruhr industrialist and member of the Center Party, chose Erzberger to present his annexationist plans to the German government. Officially the Erzberger-Thyssen affiliation did not begin until June 1915, when the Centrist deputy, for a salary of 40,000 marks, joined Thyssen's board

<sup>60</sup> H. Ostfeld, Die Haltung der Reichstagsfraktion der Fortschrittlichen Volkspartei zu den Annexions-und Friedensfragen in den Jahren 1914-1918 (Kallmünz, 1934), Diss. Würzburg, pp. 10-11; Vorwärts, Oct. 23, 1914; Grumbach, pp. 104-05.
 <sup>61</sup> F. Wacker, Die Haltung der Deutschen Zentrumspartei zur Frage der Kriegsziele im Weltkrieg 1914-1918 (Lohr, 1937), Diss. Würzburg, pp. 5-6; Haussmann, p. 31.

<sup>52</sup> Besides being a leading member of his party, Erzberger ran a semi-official, government-supported propaganda agency in Berlin; he went on secret missions to Rome and Vienna, tried to buy a French newspaper during the war, and was instrumental in Bethmann Hollweg's dismissal in 1917. See M. Erzberger, *Erlebnisse im Weltkrieg* (Stuttgart, 1920), pp. 1 ff., 41 ff., 110 ff.; U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (2), 108-09.

<sup>53</sup> H. Class, Wider den Strom (Leipzig, 1932), p. 329. There are a number of character sketches of Erzberger, mostly unfavorable: "A" [Adolf Stein], Gerichtstage über Erzberger (Berlin, 1920); Wacker, pp. 28-29; for a more favorable view see M. Harden, Köpfe (4 vols., Berlin, 1924), IV, 431 ff. of directors.<sup>54</sup> But already on September 2, 1914, Erzberger had drafted a memorandum for the government which set forth the following minimum aims for a German peace: Military domination over Belgium, the French coast to Boulogne, and the Channel Islands; German annexation of the region of Briey-Longwy and the fortress of Belfort; large annexations in the East; an extensive German colonial empire in Central Africa; and finally a high indemnity to repay Germany's war costs.<sup>55</sup> There is no proof for Erzberger's later claims that he withdrew this memorandum soon after he had written it; though his subsequent public utterances on war aims were somewhat less radical.<sup>56</sup>

The further we move to the Right, the more annexationist Germany's parties become. The National Liberals, party of big business and heavy industry, refrained from any very specific statement on war aims and merely declared "that the tremendous results of our incomparable army and our death-defying fleet must be fully utilized politically." 57 Their leaders, however, were somewhat more specific. Professor Hermann Paasche, Vice-President of the Reichstag and connected with numerous industrial concerns, refused "to give up the enemy territory conquered with so much German blood." 58 The head of the party, the lawyer Ernst Bassermann, who had been very pessimistic at the outbreak of war but had changed his mind after Germany's military successes, made several almost identical statements.<sup>59</sup> Of special interest is an address by Gustav Stresemann, which stressed the favorite Pan-German idea that England was the *Hauptfeind*. Stresemann demanded expansion to the east and west, especially the annexation of the Channel coast, including Calais! Like Paasche, Bassermann and Stresemann were closely tied up with industrial interests.<sup>60</sup>

<sup>54</sup> Erzberger gegen Helfferich (Berlin, n.d.), pp. 13-14, 18-20, 22-23; S. Löwenstein, Der Prozess Erzberger-Helfferich (Ulm, 1921), passim.

<sup>55</sup> Tirpitz, Dokumente, II, 69 ff.

<sup>56</sup> Erzberger, p. 228; Westarp, II, 53; Allgemeine Rundschau, XI (1914), 709; Der Rote Tag, March 28, 1915, as cited in U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 67.

<sup>57</sup> D. Schäfer, Der Krieg 1914-16, 1916-18 (Leipzig, 1916-20), II, 5; Grumbach, p. 38; P. Fuhrmann, Das deutsche Volk und die gegenwärtige Kriegslage (n. pl, n. d.).

<sup>58</sup> Chronik des Deutschen Krieges, IV, 422-23.

<sup>59</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, VII (2), 215; Vorwärts, Dec. 5, 1914; Hamburger Fremdenblatt, April 9, 1915.

<sup>60</sup> G. Stresemann, Deutsches Ringen und Deutsches Hoffen (Berlin, 1914); Vorwärts, Feb. 17, 1915. For annexationist views in the Nat. Lib. press see Freiburger Tageblatt, March 4, 1915; Leipziger Neueste Nachrichten, May 17, 1915.

On the extreme Right, both Conservative Parties, the smaller and less important Free Conservative Party as well as the main German Conservative Party, were openly annexationist. The former worked in close collaboration with the Pan-German League, and its leader, Baron von Zedlitz-Neukirch, expressed hope for indemnities and other compensations, such as the iron deposits of French Lorraine.<sup>61</sup> The German Conservatives, on the other hand, remained vague in their public statements on war aims, and although keeping in touch with the Pan-German League, they refused to endorse its far-reaching program. The two leading Conservatives, von Heydebrand und der Lasa and Count Westarp, opposed premature declarations of German war aims and refused to consider areas as possible annexations before they had been conquered.<sup>62</sup> Heydebrand merely asked for "securities worthy of our sacrifices," and Westarp demanded "free access to the sea." 63 In a memorandum to Bethmann Hollweg, the latter became somewhat more specific. "Belgium," he held, "must be permanently and securely kept in our hands . . ." as a protection against England and France. "This can only be achieved through far-reaching political and economic attachment (Angliederung)." Westarp's letter ended in the veiled threat: "A government which, without urgent necessity . . . relinquishes Belgium, will lose the support of the largest and best sections of the German people and thus endanger the monarchy and the future of our country." 64 Other Conservatives-notably von Grumme-Douglas, Prince Salm-Horstmar, Roesicke, and von Gebsattelwent even further in their demands; while the Conservative members of the Prussian Upper House, men like Counts Schulenburg, Groeben, and Seidlitz, were more moderate.65

To sum up briefly the attitudes of the various political parties towards war aims, we may say that there was a definite divergence between the non-annexationist stand of most of the Social Democrats and the more or less annexationist programs of the remaining parties. This divergence of opinion first came into the open after

<sup>61</sup> Class, Strom, pp. 358-60; Grumbach, pp. 50-53.

<sup>62</sup> Westarp, II, 43, 45-46; O. Hoetzsch, Der Krieg und die grosse Politik (2 vols., Leipzig, 1917-18), I, 86-87.

<sup>63</sup> Westarp, II, 41; Grumbach, p. 46; Vorwärts, April 7, 1915; for similar views by other leading Conservatives see Vorwärts, Jan. 3, 1915, Jan. 30, 1915.

<sup>64</sup> Westarp, II, 46; see also his Reichstag speech on May 29, 1915 in *Reichstag*, vol. 306, p. 172.

65 Westarp, II, 309-11.

the Chancellor's Reichstag address of December 2, 1914.<sup>66</sup> On the one hand the Socialists, through their spokesman Haase, declared that the facts which had become known since the publication of Belgian documents, in the opinion of the Social Democrats, "did not justify any change of attitude in regard to Belgium and Luxemburg from that taken by the Chancellor on August 4."<sup>67</sup> The bourgeois parties, on the other hand, in a declaration read by the leader of the Center Party, Peter Spahn, made veiled allusions to an indemnity for the sacrifices of war: "In this most difficult of all wars, wantonly forced upon us, we shall hold out until we have won a peace which corresponds to the immense sacrifices made by the German people. It must give us lasting protection against all enemies." <sup>68</sup>

The controversy thus begun between Socialist and bourgeois parties was continued in similarly vague statements by Haase and Spahn in the Reichstag session of March 10, 1915.<sup>69</sup> The following day, in a closed meeting of the Budget Committee, the issue emerged somewhat more clearly. While the Socialists opposed annexations of any kind, and the Progressives declared the whole discussion premature, the remaining parties all came out in favor of more or less far-reaching war aims. The National Liberal Bassermann demanded radical corrections of Germany's western frontier, but left the annexation of Belgium open. Gröber, for the Center Party, wanted "veiled annexation" of Belgium through military and economic penetration. Westarp was for outright annexation.<sup>70</sup>

The Chancellor's speech of May 28, in which he demanded for the first time "real guarantees and securities" for Germany's future was followed the next day by declarations much like those of December 2 and March 10.<sup>71</sup> By now the annexationist parties— National Liberals, Conservatives, and the Center Party (occasionally joined by the Progressives) had formed a definite parliamentary bloc, a *Kriegszielmehrheit* (as Westarp calls it) in favor of expansionist war aims. This bloc, deciding on a course of action in each case, worked together until the end of 1916 and was able to wield

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Thimme, Bethmann Hollweg, pp. 13 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, p. 21; U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Ibid., p. 55.

<sup>69</sup> Ibid., p. 56; Reichstag, vol. 306, pp. 47-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Haussmann, p. 31; Westarp, II, 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, pp. 172 ff.; Grumbach, p. 69; Westarp, II, 56.

considerable influence.<sup>72</sup> We have already seen it in operation on May 13, when Bassermann, Spahn, Baron von Gamp (Free Conservative) and Count Westarp brought its views before the Chancellor with the, apparently successful, intention of converting him to annexationism. Here, then, in the *Kriegszielmehrheit* of the German Reichstag, we have one of the pressure-groups which help account for Bethmann's change of position during the first year of the war.<sup>73</sup>

#### The Pan-German League

A much more important factor than the Parliamentary Kriegszielmehrheit in the evolution and propagation of western war aims was a number of small but influential groups outside the Reichstag. Collectively these groups have been referred to as the Kriegszielbewegung to express the close collaboration among different annexationist groups and individuals in the hope of influencing the policy of the German government. There was often considerable overlapping between this Kriegszielbewegung and the Kriegszielmehrheit, since the members of both had identical social and economic backgrounds. Among the various forces that went into the making of the Kriegszielbewegung, two stand out most prominently—the Pan-German League and the great industrialists of Western Germany.

The League was founded in 1890 by a group which included the future director of Krupp's, Alfred Hugenberg. It had been led, since 1908, by Heinrich Class, who is best characterized by his deep admiration for Treitschke, from whom he inherited the anti-semitism which he made part of the Pan-German program.<sup>74</sup> When asked by von Heydebrand, why he did not join the Conservative Party, Class replied: "Because the Conservative Party is too democratic for my taste."<sup>75</sup> The membership of the Pan-German League

<sup>74</sup> Class, Strom, pp. 15-16, 87; see also p. 131 for Class' relations with Professor Schemann, propagator of Gobineau's racial theories.

<sup>75</sup> Class, Strom, p. 267; see also Class' anonymous, highly anti-democratic books: "Einhart," Deutsche Geschichte (Leipzig, 1909), and "Daniel Frymann," Wenn ich der Kaiser wär (Leipzig, 1912).

<sup>72</sup> Ibid., II, 52-54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> In both Houses of the Prussian Diet the majority was equally in favor of strong war aims. See U.A., 4. Reihe, V, 61; Vorwärts, March 25, 1915; Grumbach, p. 43; Graf von Schwerin-Löwitz, Kriegsreden-und Aufsätze (Berlin, 1916), pp. 8, 10, 39 ff.

usually fluctuated between 15-25,000, but during the war it increased considerably until by 1917 it numbered some 34,000. It was not so much its size, however, but the social and economic position of its members which gave the League its importance. They were drawn almost exclusively from the upper bourgeoisie and nobility, with a majority of teachers, professors, industrialists, business and professional men. Various attempts to gain a following among the lower classes had proved unsuccessful.<sup>76</sup> The importance of the League was further increased through a number of subsidiary and allied organizations, numbering 84 in 1914. Often these organizations were founded by Pan-Germans themselves, and though nominally independent, they worked in close co-operation with the League. Among these organizations were the Army League, the Navy League, the Association against Social Democracy, and the Association for Germans abroad (V.D.A.). The leaders of most of these groups held prominent positions in the Pan-German League, and their members increased its direct and indirect following to over 100,000.77

The League had no daily paper, but among its members were the editors of some of the most important German dailies—Reismann-Grone of the industrialist *Rheinisch-Westphälische Zeitung*, Rippler of the *Tägliche Rundschau*, Pohl of the industrialist *Post*, and Liman of the *Leipziger Neueste Nachrichten*. During the war a group headed by Class bought the *Deutsche Zeitung* and made it into an organ of annexationist propaganda. There were also a number of Pan-German journals—the official Alldeutsche Blätter, *Das grössere Deutschland* under Bacmeister, the *Deutsche Zeitschrift*, and several anti-semitic magazines—*Die Nornen*, *Heimdall*, *Der Hammer*, and *Deutschlands Erneuerung*.<sup>78</sup>

Politically, the League's main support came from the National Liberals (notably Gustav Stresemann), and only secondarily from the Conservatives. In 1916 fifteen of its members sat in the Reichstag, among them eight National Liberals and three Conservatives. Its strength in the western, more highly industralized regions of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> L. Werner, Der Alldeutsche Verband (Berlin, 1935), pp. 43, 62, 64, 287; Wertheimer, p. 214; W. Wenck, Alldeutsche Taktik (Jena, 1917), p. 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Wertheimer, p. 237; Class, Strom, pp. 221, 273; U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 49; "Junius Alter" [Franz Sontag], Nationalisten (Leipzig, 1930), pp. 16-17; Handbuch des Alldeutschen Verbandes (Mainz, 1914), pp. 56 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Wenck, p. 24; Werner, pp. 77-78.

Germany, was greater than in the agricultural east. The majority of its members were Protestants.<sup>79</sup>

This brief survey of the Pan-German League shows that it was not a popular movement but a pressure group, the "shock troop of German nationalism," the "national conscience of the German people." <sup>80</sup> One of its most active members, the publicist Franz Sontag, close friend of Class' and editor of the *Alldeutsche Blätter*, refers to the League as the "germ-cell" of post-war German nationalism. "Whoever holds a prominent position in our national or *völkisch* movement today [i. e. 1930] belonged, with few exceptions, at one time to the Pan-German League, or at least maintained close relations with the League and its leaders." <sup>81</sup>

While the majority of Germans had no very clearly defined war aims at the outbreak of war, the Pan-Germans could draw upon a vast array of pre-war plans and writings; they constituted a kind of "general staff for war aims propaganda," which carried its aims into the war and was received enthusiastically by the parties of the Right.<sup>82</sup> Immediately upon the outbreak of war, while the government was still talking of a "war of defense," a special edition of the Alldeutsche Blätter on August 3, 1914, already called the war "a struggle for our greater future " which " cannot end through a weak compromise." <sup>83</sup> Right afterwards, Class and his chief assistant in the administration of the League, Baron von Vietinghoff-Scheel, began to work on an outline of Pan-German war aims. By August 28, barely four weeks after the outbreak of war, they were ready to call a meeting of the League's Executive Committee, to discuss these aims.<sup>84</sup> In his opening address Class launched an impassioned attack upon those individuals and groups most hated by the Pan-Germans. Besides Bethmann Hollweg, these included "the bankers, the socialists, the intellectuals, and the Jews." Class particularly bemoaned the possibility of Prussian electoral reform in the direction of greater democracy, as propagated by these people. Such reform, Class held, would mean the loss of the war on the home

<sup>79</sup> Handbuch des Alldeutschen Verbandes (Mainz, 1916), p. 39; Class, Strom, pp. 240, 355-56; Werner, p. 66.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> "Junius Alter," Nationalisten, p. 15; Class, Strom, p. 306.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> "Junius Alter," Nationalisten, p. 13; F. W. Heinz, Die Nation greift an (Berlin, 1933), pp. 178-79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (1), 378.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Alldeutsche Blätter, Sondernummer, Aug. 3, 1914.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Class, Strom, p. 319.

front. The only means of counteracting and silencing the proponents of these reforms was a far-reaching movement in favor of annexations, diverting people's attention from domestic to foreign affairs.<sup>85</sup> Here we have a first example of the close relationship between the problems of war aims and domestic reforms. To most German annexationists, a "Greater Germany" seemed necessary not only for military and economic reasons, but because it helped to justify and maintain the existing political order. "The monarchist," according to Count Westarp, " was afraid that the radicalization which had to be expected after the war, would assume dangerous proportions, if the returning soldier found nothing but an increased tax bill as a reward for his deeds. He might easily think that the government of the Empire did not know sufficiently well how to make use of our military successes." <sup>86</sup> The result of such widespread disappointment might be revolution and the overthrow of the Hohenzollern regime. We shall encounter this same theme throughout this study.

The main body of Class' speech was devoted to his program of war aims. Except for large agricultural areas in the east, most of these aims were directed towards the west. France must hand over her remaining mineral deposits and must agree to an extension of Germany's frontier to the mouth of the Somme. Belgium, in its entirety, was to be brought under German domination, with differing treatment for the Walloons and the "Germanic" Flemings. England must relinquish her domination of the seas, and in addition must make colonial concessions to Germany.87 These aims, of course, are not really so different from the ones we have already encountered. Remarkable about them is only the early date at which they appeared and the cruel procedure which Class proposed for the Germanization of the conquered areas. Not only did he want to close Germany's frontiers against further immigration of Jews, but he demanded all new lands free from their inhabitants. The vanguished nations would have to care for their unfortunate compatriots thus driven out by Germany's "rightful need for expansion." 88 The leaders of the Pan-German League, after thorough discussion, expressed complete agreement with Class'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Ibid., p. 321.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Westarp, II, 41; U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (2), 350.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Class, Strom, p. 322.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Ibid., pp. 363-64.

speech and he was given full powers to take any action necessary for the propagation of his aims and for gaining annexationist allies in other quarters.<sup>89</sup>

Many Pan-Germans changed their minds, however, when Germany's western offensive did not proceed according to original expectations. As a result, a second meeting was called in October, this time of a larger and more representative group of members. Again the demands of Class, now in printed form, found unanimous and enthusiastic approval.<sup>90</sup> When favorable news from the Russian front in December seemed to make the collapse of that country merely a matter of time, Class decided to put his views before a still wider audience. On December 22, 1914, copies of his memorandum were sent to 1,950 influential public figures, among them the Supreme Command and the Chancellor. Though officially suppressed, the Class memorandum became one of the most effective and influential weapons of annexationist propaganda during the war, with profound influence on other similar programs.<sup>91</sup> "My memorandum," Class tells us, "started the discussion of war aims ... and gained for myself a great number of new personal contacts." 92

The League officially adopted an abbreviated version of the Class memorandum as its own official program, and in turn this document was sent to Bethmann, this time with a letter by the League's Vice President, General von Gebsattel. The General reiterated the idea that a weak peace would bring revolution to Germany, because the soldiers would expect rewards for their heroic deeds. If instead they merely found a larger tax bill, they would revolt and perhaps abolish the monarchy.<sup>93</sup> Here again is the idea of war aims as a lightning-rod to avert domestic discontent and as an indirect means of perpetuating the disproportionate political influence of the propertied classes which made up the bulk of the League's membership. The League's memorandum itself differed little from the speech of Class on August 28, 1914. Again the emphasis was on western aims. " To secure our future," it read, " at least one of our flanks must be

<sup>89</sup> Ibid., pp. 322-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Ibid., p. 343; H. Class, Denkschrift betreffend die national-, wirtschafts-und sozialpolitischen Ziele des deutschen Volkes im gegenwürtigen Kriege (n. pl., 1914).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Class, Strom, pp. 344-46; U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 49-50.

<sup>92</sup> Class, Strom, p. 394.

<sup>93</sup> Ibid., pp. 404 ff.; Alldeutsche Blätter, Dec. 9, 1916, no. 50.

permanently liberated. Since there will always be a large Russian people and hundreds of millions of Mongols in the east, the lasting liberation of our flank cannot be sought there but only in the west." 94

Of the various subsidiary organizations of the Pan-German League, it was primarily the Army League which raised its voice in favor of annexations during the first months of the war. As early as August 29, 1914, its founder, the Pan-German General Keim, asked for a "peace worthy of the immense sacrifices"; the same line was subsequently taken by its official magazine, Die Wehr (circulation 108,000).<sup>95</sup> On December 5, 1914, the Army League held its first national convention at which it demanded "a peace which will permanently secure Germany's leading position in the world." 96 In February, it passed a more specific resolution which asked "not only for financial indemnities but also for an increase of German territory and influence inside and outside of Europe." <sup>97</sup> A memorandum in March was still more specific: "Germany's permanent possession of Belgium," it said," is an absolute necessity for military, völkisch, and economic reasons." 98 A simultaneously issued circular expressed the same idea. "Belgium," it said, "is ours. Our selfpreservation demands that she remain in German hands." <sup>99</sup> A meeting of the Army League in May dealt almost exclusively with problems of Belgium and France. The Pan-German Kurd von Strantz, President of the League in the absence of General Keim (who was military governor of the Belgian province of Limburg), used linguistic arguments to urge German westward expansion as far as "Boonen" (his "Germanic" version of Boulogne).<sup>100</sup> Finally Keim himself, in a newspaper article, added his demands for "a large prize of victory." 101

94 Ibid., p. 478.

<sup>95</sup> Tägliche Rundschau, August 29, 1914; Grumbach, pp. 151, 170; A. Keim, Erlebtes und Erstrebtes (Hannover, 1925), pp. 174-76.

96 Vorwärts, Dec. 9, 1914.

97 Ibid., Feb. 23, 1915; Grumbach, pp. 152, 170.

<sup>98</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, VII (2), 334.

<sup>99</sup> Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, Gedanken und Wünsche deutscher Vereine und Verbände zur Gestaltung des Friedens (Berlin, 1915), p. 19.

<sup>100</sup> Vorwärts, May 23, 1915; Grumbach, pp. 152-53.

<sup>101</sup> *Ibid.*, p. 24.

#### GERMANY'S DRIVE TO THE WEST

#### The Western Industrialists and their War Aims

The second important element of the Kriegszielbewegung, Germany's western industrialists, is not so clearly defined a group as the Pan-Germans. A number of outstanding individuals, they were united not through membership in a political or expansionist pressure group, but through common and very tangible ambitions in Western Europe. They were not concerned with finding Lebensraum for Germany's growing population, or maintaining, through annexations, the power of Germany's ruling class. Their foremost aim was to secure for themselves and their industries the considerable supplies of iron ore, which the Franco-Prussian War had left in the hands of France. When Bismarck came to make peace in 1871, he was at first unaware of the fact that Alsace-Lorraine contained the most valuable iron deposits on the European continent. Only when Wilhelm Hauchecorne, Director of the Prussian Academy of Mines, called his attention to this fact, was the new frontier drawn to include the richest of the iron beds.<sup>102</sup> The remaining deposits, partly undiscovered, and consisting of a highly phosphorus ore called "minette," were of little use until after the invention of the Thomas converter in 1879. At that date, France again became the possessor of important metallurgical resources, concentrated chiefly in the regions of Briey, Longwy, and Nancy. Of Europe's reserves of iron ore, France, before the World War, held 33 per cent as compared to Germany's 22 per cent.<sup>103</sup>

If France was superior to Germany in her resources of iron ore, Germany was superior in the extent and quality of her coal deposits. The Ruhr valley, one of the world's largest coal regions, only gained in importance because of its close proximity to the iron mines of Lorraine. This happy marriage of coal and iron, facilitated by extremely favorable communications, made Germany one of the chief iron producing nations of the world. Between 1860 and 1910, she climbed from fourth place to second, while during the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> D. C. McKay, "The Pre-War Development of Briey Iron Ores," *Essays in the History of Modern Europe* (N.Y., 1936), pp. 170 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> M. Ungeheuer, "Die industriellen Interessen Deutschlands in Frankreich vor Ausbruch des Krieges," *Technik und Wirstschaft*, IX (1916), 160; A. H. Brooks and M. F. Lacroix, "The Iron and Associated Industries of Lorraine, the Sarre District, Luxembourg, and Belgium," U. S. *Geological Survey* (Washington, 1920), Bulletin 703, p. 16.

period France fell from second to fourth.<sup>104</sup> But since Germany's supply of iron ore was limited, ler iron industry came to depend increasingly on foreign sources. In 1871 all the iron produced in Germany had been smelted from German ore. By 1890 this was true for only three-quarters of Germany's iron production; and by 1913 about half the needed ore had to be imported.<sup>105</sup>

Germany's chief sources of supply were Spain, Sweden, and France. The greater distance of the first two increased the cost of transportation, but the high quality of their ore made up for this disadvantage. During the last years before the war, however, Spain's reserves of the highest grades of iron ore began to approach exhaustion. At the same time Sweden imposed restrictions on her export of that commodity.<sup>106</sup> Increasingly, therefore, Germany became dependent on her third chief foreign source. Between 1900 and 1913, Germany's imports of iron ore from France increased from ca. 20,000 to 3,811,000 metric tons. To keep this source, on which their industries depended, from drying up, and to gain additional supplies elsewhere, were two of the most important problems facing the industrialists of western Germany.<sup>107</sup> The Moroccan crises of the pre-war decade in some respects were but a series of unsuccessful attempts to solve this question. The simultaneous agitation of the Pan-German League and of heavy industry (notably the firm of Mannesmann) for the acquisition of Morocco, foreshadow the later collaboration between these two groups in the Kriegszielbewegung.<sup>108</sup>

More successful, however, than these Moroccan ventures, were the pre-war attempts of Germany's industrial magnates to gain indirect control over the French iron mines in Lorraine and Normandy. As a background to Germany's western war aims, this slow economic infiltration is of immense importance. Between 1900, when the firm of August Thyssen acquired the concession of Batilly

<sup>104</sup> Ungeheuer, Technik und Wirtschaft, IX, 98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> F. Friedensburg, Kohle und Eisen im Weltkriege und in den Friedensschluessen (München, 1934), p. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Brooks-Lacroix, U. S. Geological Survey, p. 16; "Die schwedische Eisenerzfrage," Stahl und Eisen, vol. 27 (1907), pp. 533-34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Ungeheuer, Technik und Wirtschaft, IX, 166; Friedensburg, p. 40; P. Krusch, Die Versorgung Deutschlands mit metallischen Rohstoffen (Leipzig, 1913), p. 125.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> C. H. Mannesmann, Die Unternehmungen der Brüder Mannesmann in Marokko (Würzburg, 1931), Diss. Würzburg, pessim.; Friedensburg, pp. 46-48; Class, Strom, pp. 104-07, 202-15, 217-18, 222 ff.

in the Briey region, and the outbreak of war in 1914, about 18 such concessions had passed either completely or partly into German hands. Most of these mines were situated in the Briey district, richest and most productive of the minette deposits. Although specific data are difficult to obtain, it has been estimated that ca. 15 per cent of France's iron reserves in this region were under German influence by 1914.<sup>109</sup>

In this exploitation of French resources, the pioneering efforts of Thyssen were followed up by most of the prominent industrial concerns of western Germany. The brothers Röchling controlled half the mines of Valleroy and in addition held the concession of Pulventeux. The *Deutsch-Luxemburgische Bergwerks A. G.* of Stinnes owned one-fourth of the Société de Moutiers and part of the Société des Forges de Brévilly. Four-fifths of the Société des Mines de Murville were controlled by Peter Klöckner's Aumetz-Friede, and three-fourths of the Société des Mines de Jarny and parts of the concession of Sancy were in the hands of a group made up of Haspe, Hoesch, and Phönix. The Dillinger Hüttenwerke of Stumm owned one-third of the Société des Mines de Conflans. And finally— Kirdorf's Gelsenkirchener Bergwerks A. G. controlled ca. 2,000 hectars in French Lorraine, surpassed only by Thyssen's holdings of 2,200 hectars in the same region.<sup>110</sup>

Among the deposits in Normandy, German influence was still more prevalent. The first concessions in that region had been granted as far back as 1875, but technical difficulties had prevented their exploitation. When the mines were finally made productive around the turn of the century, it seems to have been due largely to German initiative, since French industry did not dare risk the large investments necessary to make the mines profitable.<sup>111</sup> Again Thyssen led the way. In 1907 he acquired the concessions of Dielette, Soumont, and Perrieres. Phönix, Haspe, Hoesch, Deutsch-Luxemburg, and the *Gutehoffnungshütte* followed his example in 1907-11. The firm of Krupp bought Larchamp in 1909, and a combine of Krupp, Thyssen, and Stinnes, using the Dutch financier de Poorter as a front, jointly acquired control over Jurcques, Oude-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> L. Bruneau, L'Allemagne en France (Paris, 1915), pp. 11 ff., 87; Brooks-Lacroix, U. S. Geological Survey, pp. 44 ff.; McKay, pp. 177-81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Vorwärts, Feb. 23, 1915; Bruneau, passim.; C. Streit, Where Iron is there is the Fatherland (New York, 1920), p. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Bruneau, pp. 79 ff.; Ungeheuer, Technik und Wirschaft, IX, 161 ff.

fontaine, Bourberouge, and Mortain in 1911.<sup>112</sup> Of twenty concessions granted prior to the war, only two were exclusively in French hands. Roughly three-fourths of Normandy's iron fields were under German influence, Thyssen alone holding one-sixth of the total area.<sup>113</sup> The latter's contracts with Swedish iron mines were to expire in 1917, a fact which explains his special eagerness to find substitute sources of supply elsewhere.<sup>114</sup>

August Thyssen, in many ways, was a typical example of the great West-German industrialist. Of simple tastes and insignificant appearance, he combined great ability and resourcefulness with a passion for work.<sup>115</sup> Living in outward splendour at his castle of Landsberg, where, among his famous Rodin collection, he received his friends the Ludendorffs, his real home was among his workers, who deeply respected "the old gentleman," even though in labor matters his heart was "as hard as his steel." <sup>116</sup> His life's sole purpose and ambition was the success of his firm, and nothing was allowed to interfere with it. As long as his own interests and those of Germany were identical, August Thyssen was a patriot. But when they disagreed, he (and for that matter his favorite son Fritz) did not hesitate to join the enemies of their country.<sup>117</sup>

The French, naturally, were alarmed at this growing German encroachment upon their mineral resources, and a flood of articles and books during the first decade of the century warned against the dangers of such infiltration.<sup>118</sup> To counteract this agitation and to evade the enforcement of a law prohibiting direct foreign ownership of French mines, the Germans were forced to camouflage their French holdings, employing French citizens as intermediaries, or making use of the close relations between French and German banking houses.<sup>119</sup> Again Thyssen showed the greatest ingenuity

<sup>116</sup> P. Arnst, August Thyssen und sein Werk (Leipzig, 1925), pp. 69 ff.

<sup>117</sup> F. Engerand, Le Fer sur une frontière (Paris, 1919), pp. 221 ff. cites an article from the Danish Aftenpost, Sept. 8, 1918, in which August Thyssen denounces the Hohenzollern regime. After being partly responsible for the rise of Hitler, his son Fritz again left the sinking ship: F. Thyssen, I Paid Hitler (New York, 1941).

<sup>110</sup> Ungeheuer, Technik und Wirtschaft, IX, 220; Friedensburg, p. 45; on Germany's influence over French banking see: J. E. Favre, Le Capital français au

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Ibid., pp. 225 ff.; Vorwärts, Feb. 18, 1915.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Friedensburg, p. 44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Ungeheuer, Technik und Wirtschaft, IX, 223.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> On Thyssen see R. Gaston, Krupp et Thyssen (Paris, 1925).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Bruneau, pp. x, 10, 129 ff.; L'Echo de Paris, Oct. 19, 1907.

and enterprise. His Société des Mines de Bouligny, for instance, was run by the Belgian Société Métallurgique de Sambre et Moselle, in which August Thyssen himself was vice president, and in which his son Fritz and several of his German directors held leading positions.<sup>120</sup> Thyssen even went so far in 1909 as to consider French citizenship for one of his sons, so as to evade all future legal restrictions.<sup>121</sup> Thyssen's rival, Hugo Stinnes, was equally skillful at this game of economic penetration. "Give me three or four years of peace," he boasted to Class in 1911, " and I shall silently secure Germany's European predominance." To shield himself against losses in a future war, he carefully selected trusted Frenchmen as directors for his foreign enterprises.<sup>122</sup>

Compared to France, Germany's penetration of Belgian pre-war economy was much less spectacular. Economic relations between the two countries were most active; but such relations—consisting in the investment of capital, the sending of commercial representatives, and the founding of industrial branches on foreign soil—are common phenomena of our industrial age. Their existence is not necessarily proof of some sinister plot on the part of one nation for the exploitation and eventual extermination of another, as has sometimes been asserted.<sup>123</sup>

There were no German interests, comparable to those in the Briey and Normandy regions, in pre-war Belgium; no interests, that is, on whose maintenance the continued prosperity of one of Germany's most important branches of industrial production depended, as did (or at least it thought it did) the iron industry of western Germany upon the iron deposits of eastern France. There were sufficient industrial and commercial advantages to be gained from an annexa-

service de l'étranger (Paris, 1917), esp. pp. 145-48; K. Strasser, Die deutschen Banken im Ausland (München, 1925), passim.

<sup>120</sup> Ungeheuer, *Technik und Wirtschaft*, IX, 230. A still greater masterpiece was Thyssen's camouflage of his steel works in Caën: Bruneau, pp. 123 ff.

<sup>121</sup> Streit, p. 9.

<sup>122</sup> Class, *Strom*, pp. 217-18, 329.

<sup>123</sup> On Germany's economic interests in Belgium see R. de Weerdt, Supermania (London, 1915); R. de Weerdt, The Spider's Web (London, 1915); J. Claes, The German Mole, A study of the art of peaceful penetration (London, 1915). For more realistic appraisals see Handelskammer Frankfurt a. M., Belgiens Wirtschaftsleben und Handelsbeziehungen zu Deutschland (Frankfurt a M., 1915); H. Davignon, Belgien und Deutschland (Lausanne, 1916); H. Davignon, "German methods of penetration in Belgium before and during the war," Quarterly Review, vol. 225 (1916), pp. 130-47. tion or "assimilation" of Belgium, however, to make it a welcome addition to the war aims of German industry. In many respects, Germany was the economic hinterland of Belgium, and the actual economic interdependence of the two countries was considerable.

It is difficult to determine the exact extent of Germany's share in Belgium's industry prior to the World War. Existing estimates differ widely. In the iron and steel industry, "the capital stock held in 1914 by German interests is estimated at 60 million francs, representing 17 per cent of the total value." <sup>124</sup> The main German shareholders in Belgian heavy industry, apparently, were Thyssen, Stinnes, and Klöckner.<sup>125</sup> Another branch of Belgian industry, in which Germany had a large share, was armament works, e. g., the *Fabrique nationale d'armes de guerre* and the *Ancien établissement Peiper*, both at Herstal. Chemical, shipping, and metal industries likewise showed prominent German influence.<sup>126</sup>

Besides these industrial ties, German banking houses had a strong foothold in Belgium, either directly through branch offices (so the *Deutsche Bank, Dresdener Bank,* and *Diskontogesellschaft*), or indirectly through control of Belgian establishments. The *Banque d'Outremer*, the *Banque Belge de Chemin de Fer*, the *Crédit Anversois*, and especially the *Banque Internationale de Bruxelles*, were partly in German hands.<sup>127</sup> The most numerous and important links between Germany and Belgium, however, were commercial. Germany held first place among the receivers of Belgian goods, and her own exports to Belgium, 5 per cent of her total exports, were surpassed only by those of France.<sup>128</sup> German influence was particularly stong in the port of Antwerp, which was almost as much a German as it was a Belgian port, particularly vital as an outlet for Germany's western industries.<sup>129</sup>

Economic relations between the two countries were not entirely

<sup>124</sup> Brooks-Lacroix, U. S. Geological Survey, p. 84.

<sup>125</sup> Ibid., p. 110; O. Kessler, Das deutsche Belgien (Berlin, 1915), p. 30.

<sup>126</sup> Handelskammer Frankfurt, pp. 17-18, 39; Brooks-Lacroix, U. S. Geological Survey, p. 110; Kessler, p. 30; Davignon, Quarterly Review, vol. 225, pp. 137 ff.

<sup>127</sup> Strasser, p. 64; Favre, pp. 42-43; Handelskammer Frankfurt, p. 18.

<sup>128</sup> E. Oppermann, Belgien einst und jetzt (Leipzig, 1915), pp. 12-13; Handelskammer Frankfurt, pp. 11-12, 69.

<sup>120</sup> H. Schumacher, Antwerpen, seine Weltstellung und Bedeutung fuer das deutsche Wirtschaftsleben (München, 1916); K. Wiedenfeld, Antwerpen im Weltverkehr und Welthandel (München, 1915); R. de Rautlin, Les Allemands au port d'Anvers en 1912 (Paris, 1913). without their negative aspects, however. There was considerable competition, for instance, between certain branches of Belgian and German industry, and in case of articles produced by mass-production, Belgium with her lower wages definitely held the upper hand. Furthermore, Belgium's economy depended as much on England and France as it did upon Germany, and a Germandominated Belgium might easily prove a heavy liability, since these important commercial ties would be broken. It is not surprising, therefore, that some German industrialists were not quite so enthusiastic about the annexation of Belgium as they were about the Briey-Longwy region in eastern France.<sup>130</sup>

This latter region, because of the rapid German advance in August 1914, had suddenly been delivered into German hands. There is no evidence to suggest that this immediate German occupation was due to any preconceived plan. Nor was the importance of this acquisition so great for Germany at this time as it has been made out to be. Before the war, Germany had imported ca. 10 per cent of her iron ore from French Lorraine; and although after a victorious war she would undoubtedly have drawn much more heavily on these resources, due to war conditions she actually took less from the mines of Briey than she normally did in time of peace.<sup>131</sup> Even so, it was most annoying to many Frenchmen that Germany seemed able to enjoy freely the fruits of her conquest. They asked particularly, why their armies did not destroy their own mines and thus make German exploitation impossible. When no satisfactory explanation came forth, it was rumoured that a plot had been hatched between French and German industrialists in which the Germans on their side bound themselves not to shell the French coal mines opposite their lines in northern France.<sup>132</sup> Continuous demands of the French public finally resulted in a parliamentary investigation, which failed to substantiate these suspicions; but the story has persisted into the present.<sup>133</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Handelskammer Frankfurt, passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Friedensburg, pp. 119, 182.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Friedensburg, pp. 90 ff.; Streit, pp. 7, 27, 36 ff.; K. Graf Hertling, Ein Jahr in der Reichskanzlei (Freiburg, 1919), pp. 94-95.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Le Rôle et la situation de la métallurgie en France, Question de Briey, Annales de la Chambre des Députés, Documents Parlementaires 1919, Annexe No. 6026, pp. 225 ff.; see also New York Times, Nov. 18, 1942: Obituary for M. Eugène Schneider. For an interesting account of a similar failure to destroy the French

In the light of their pre-war interest in these regions, it should cause little surprise to find Germany's industrialists demanding the annexation of Briey and Longwy as well as some sort of control over Belgium, as soon as these regions were in German hands. As early as August 28, 1914, the firm of Thyssen (already supported by Erzberger) approached the government with an appropriate petition, and a few days later August Thyssen repeated his demands in person.<sup>134</sup> The brothers Röchling, in a memorandum addressed to Bethmann Hollweg, likewise demanded their share of the Briey district.<sup>135</sup> Hugo Stinnes made clear his stand when he called on the President of the Pan-German League in early September, in order to express his complete agreement with the latter's memorandum on war aims and to promise his support of these aims. "This promise," Class tells us, "he kept faithfully." In some respects Stinnes even went beyond the Pan-German aims. To strengthen Germany's strategic position against England, and to gain the iron deposits of Normandy, he proposed the annexation of the whole northern coast of France.<sup>136</sup> Emil Kirdorf, founder of the Rheinisch-Westphälisches Kohlensyndikat and head of the Gelsenkirchener Bergwerksgesellschaft likewise subscribed to the aims of the Pan-German League, of which he was a leading member.<sup>137</sup> Krupp von Bohlen agreed with Class' aims, until German reverses on the Marne temporarily changed his attitude.<sup>138</sup>

This individual agitation in favor of western annexations was supplemented by public statements and petitions of various economic and industrial organizations. Since they had to comply with censorship regulations, their tone was usually quite vague. In this category belongs the speech, in December of 1914, of Dr. Schweighoffer, Secretary of the *Zentralverband Deutscher Industrieller*, as well as a number of addresses delivered by industrial leaders before the *Industrieklub* of Düsseldorf.<sup>139</sup> In February of

mines during the Second World War see E. Taylor, The Strategy of Terror (New York, 1942), Pocket Book Edition, pp. 161-62.

<sup>134</sup> "A" [Adolf Stein], Erzberger, p. 19; U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 36.

<sup>135</sup> Ibid.

<sup>136</sup> Class, Strom, pp. 327-29.

<sup>137</sup> W. Bacmeister, Emil Kirdorf, Der Mann, Sein Werk (Essen, 1936), p. 138; Class, Strom, pp. 354-55.

<sup>138</sup> Ibid., pp. 326-27, 329-30, 352-54.

<sup>139</sup> Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, Dec. 10, 1914; W. Hirsch, Wirtschafts- und Verkehrsfragen im Kriege (Essen, 1915), speech delivered Jan. 20, 1915; M. Schinkel, 1915, the Verein Deutscher Eisen- und Stahlindustrieller, leading organization of heavy industry, demanded the usual peace "worthy of the immense sacrifices," a "greater Germany," and more specifically, an increase of Germany's colonies.<sup>140</sup> The various Chambers of Commerce (Handelskammern) of Western Germany, under the direction of Hugenberg, likewise expressed their approval of Pan-German war aims and at a joint meeting in April 1915, demanded the extension of Germany's territory to increase her military, maritime, and economic strength.<sup>141</sup> Finally, on April 1, 1915, the four most important organizations of business employees joined the ranks of their employers and demanded a rectification of Germany's frontiers and territorial expansion both in Europe and overseas.<sup>142</sup>

The most specific and effective of these industrialist statements in favor of annexations, however, was the so-called "Petition of the Six Economic Organizations," first issued on March 10, 1915, and repeated, in a slightly altered version, on May 20, 1915. It was one of the landmarks of German annexationist propaganda and the result of the *Kriegszielbewegung*, i. e., the close collaboration between the Pan-German League and German industry.

### The Kriegszielbewegung

The close community of interests and personnel between the Pan-German League and German heavy industry necessarily suggested concerted action. An alliance between the financial resources of the latter and the effective propaganda machine of the former naturally presented obvious advantages to both. The first to think of such an alliance was Heinrich Class, who brought it to the attention of Alfred Hugenberg, representative of heavy industry, as early as August 1914. Hugenberg, Class tells us, shared his views: "So we went to work immediately; the German Kriegszielbewegung,

<sup>140</sup> Vorwärts, Feb. 19, 1915.

<sup>141</sup> Class, Strom, p. 352; Vorwärts, April 22, 1915. As promoter of commercial and industrial interests, the German *Handelskammer* is of vastly greater importance than the American Chamber of Commerce. The two, actually, have very little in common.

<sup>142</sup> Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, Gedanken und Wünsche, 1915 edition, pp. 8-9.

Unsere Geldwirtschaft (Essen, 1915), speech of March 6, 1915 by the head of the Discontogesellschaft and the Norddeutsche Bank; W. Beumer, *Eine Bismarckrede zum 1. April 1915* (Essen, 1915). Beumer, like Hirsch, was member of the Prussian Lower House.

which played an important role in the course of the great conflict, had begun." A plan of campaign was drawn up in subsequent discussions between Class and Hugenberg.<sup>143</sup>

Hugenberg, whom we have already encountered, had himself been one of the founders of the Pan-German League. In 1909 he had become Chief Director of Krupp's, a position which made him particularly suitable as a link between the two leading annexationist factions. His talent for organization, moreover, made him a valuable asset not only to the Krupps, but to German heavy industry in general. In some ways he might be considered its most influential and most typical figure. Reserved, immobile, stubborn, and ruthless, he quickly gained the confidence of all the great in Germany's iron, steel, and coal industry. "Hugenberg is not a man, he is a wall," secretive and strong like "the vault of a great bank."<sup>144</sup>

Shortly after he began his work with Krupp, Hugenberg was made joint chairman of the Chambers of Commerce of Essen, Mühlheim, and Oberhausen. In 1912 he became President of the Bergbaulicher Verein, which represented the interests of all large Ruhr concerns. Hugenberg, in co-operation with Emil Kirdorf, used this position to build up a most important organization, the so-called *Wirtschaftsvereinigung*. Its purpose was to concentrate in one hand the various financial contributions which the Ruhr industrialists were constantly called upon to make to charitable and political organizations. A committee under the direction of Hugenberg decided in each case whether a cause warranted the financial backing of heavy industry. Many political and other groups, by accepting such backing, put themselves under the control of the Hugenberg committee. Hugenberg had thus become the holder of the Ruhr industry's purse strings, a position which he held until long after the war.145

As the opening move of the Kriegszielbewegung Class instigated

<sup>143</sup> Class, Strom, pp. 319, 330, 352-53.

<sup>144</sup> D. Jung, Der Alldeutsche Verband (Würzburg, 1936), Diss. Bonn, p. 2; O. Kriegk, Hugenberg (Leipzig, 1932), pp. 27-28; L. Bernhard, Der Hugenberg Konzern (Berlin, 1928), pp. 54-55; "Junius Alter," Nationalisten, pp. 144 ff.

<sup>145</sup> Bernhard, pp. 56 ff.; "Morus" [R. Lewinsohn], Das Geld in der Politik (Berlin, 1930), p. 172. Hugenberg also set up a number of news and propaganda agencies—the Auslands G. m. b. H., Vera, Ala, and Telegraphen Union. In 1916 he was instrumental in buying the Scherl publishing house as another propaganda agency for his nationalist-industrialist sponsors. a meeting, in late September of 1914, of various industrial, commercial, and agricultural organizations, to express the unanimous confidence of Germany's economy in the successful completion of the war. The list of speakers was impressive (Dr. Kaempf, Progressive and President of the Reichstag, Count von Schwerin-Löwitz, President of the Prussian Lower House, Roetger, head of the *Bund der Industriellen*, and Wolfgang Kapp, famous annexationist) and the general tenor of the speeches delivered was annexationist, though in rather veiled terms. In a telegram addressed to the Emperor, the participants expressed hope for a peace "which will correspond to the enormous sacrifices of this war and make its repetition impossible."<sup>146</sup>

In October 1914, the Zentralverband Deutscher Industrieller, the Bund der Landwirte, and the Conservative Party met, on invitation from Hugenberg, to discuss the problem of food supply. In November the Pan-German League joined in, and the discussion shifted from grain to war aims. As its first action this newly-constituted group asked Class and Hugenberg to prepare a program of war aims based on the Class memorandum of September 1914. This program was presented at a meeting of these organizations on December 15, 1914. The mention of Stinnes indicates that probably other industrialists besides Hugenberg were present. On this occasion the Conservatives, led by Westarp, opposed some of the more far-reaching among the Class-Hugenberg proposals, and when they found no sympathy among the other delegates present, they withdrew at a later meeting their active participation in the Kriegszielbewegung. This did not mean that the Conservative Party was opposed to annexations, but merely that its leaders objected to some of the exaggerated aims of the Pan-Germans and their friends. considering them unrealistic and utopian. Several Conservatives moreover, such as Roesicke and von Wangenheim, did not share their party's views and continued to take part in future meetings.147

In the meantime, as we have seen already, Class had sent out the 1,950 copies of his own memorandum. Among the many enthusiastic replies was a letter from Hugenberg, expressing the agree-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> Class, Strom, p. 342; Deutscher Handelstag, Versammlung aus Anlass des Krieges (Berlin, 1914), pp. 4-23; E. Jäckh and K. Hoenn, eds., Schulthess' Europäischer Geschichtskalender (henceforth cited as Schulthess), vol. 55 (1), p. 398h. <sup>147</sup> Westarp, II, 42-46, 382; Class, Strom, pp. 360-61.

ment of himself and of "the other industrial gentlemen."<sup>148</sup> In late January 1915, the annexationists got together again, to continue their discussion of the memorandum which Class and Hugenberg had worked out during the preceding months.<sup>149</sup> Their plan was to use this memorandum as a declaration of the leading industrial and agricultural organizations, and, if possible, of the parties of the *Kriegszielmehrheit* as well. The January meeting was attended by some thirty persons, Hugenberg presiding. Of leading industrialists, Kirdorf, Stinnes, Beukenberg, Reusch, and von Borsig were present. The *Bund der Industriellen*, in which Stresemann played a leading role, was represented by its chairman Friedrichs, and the *Bund der Landwirte* by Baron von Wangenheim and Roesicke. Besides Class, the Pan-Germans had sent General von Gebsattel, Admiral von Grumme-Douglas, and Johannes Neumann, a Lübeck senator.

Class delivered the main address, based on his own memorandum. It was received in deep silence and without comment, until Hugo Stinnes rose to speak. Here is Class' description:

Stinnes was no speaker. His sentences kept flowing evenly, without a raising or lowering of his voice... But there could be no doubt—in spite of his cold and businesslike manner, he was quite aware of the importance of our age. One can imagine, therefore, the impression it made when he put the whole weight of his personality behind my proposals . . . promising to use his influence with the Zentralverband Deutscher Industrieller to urge their acceptance by that group.<sup>150</sup>

Hugo Stinnes, whose speech made such an impression, was the youngest at the meeting. Barely 44 years old, he already was one of the wealthiest and most influential of European industrialists. In addition to his chief enterprise, the *Deutsch-Luxemburgische Bergwerks—und Hütten A. G.*, covering large regions in the Ruhr and in Alsace-Lorraine, he controlled—together with Thyssen—the *Rheinisch-Westphälische Elektrizitätswerks A. G.*, which supplied most of western Germany with electricity. During and after the war he expanded his holding to include not only additional mines and iron-works, but also shipping companies, power plants, paper works, hotels, and newspapers, building up one of the world's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> A. Hugenberg, Streiflichter aus Vergangenheit und Gegenwart (Berlin, 1927), pp. 203-05.

<sup>149</sup> For this and the following see Class, Strom, pp. 354 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Ibid., pp. 354-55.

largest vertical trusts.<sup>151</sup> Albert Ballin once said: "As some children cannot let alone a piece of cake, or some men a beautiful woman, so Stinnes cannot let business alone; he wants to make everything his own, even if it should happen to belong to somebody else." <sup>152</sup>

Like most of his colleagues among Germany's captains of industry, Stinnes preferred the actuality of power to its outward manifestations. He never abandoned the simplicity of dress and manner which made him like one of his workers, "a walking piece of coal." His business transactions were usually carried on in an atmosphere of secrecy, which only helped to magnify their importance in the eyes of outsiders. Already during his lifetime, and still more so after his early death in 1924, the figure of Stinnes, unlike that of any of his colleagues, became almost legendary. His pale face, his black, pointed beard, and his manner of speaking coolly and dispassionately in a "weary whisper," earned him names like "Assyrian King," "Flying Dutchman," or "Christ of Coal." 153 His influence on the political affairs of Germany is difficult to determine, since most of his political, like his economic activities, were carefully hidden from public scrutiny. That his influence was considerable can be gathered from numerous references in contemporary accounts. Especially during the second half of the war, when much of the Government's actual power was centered in the Supreme Command, Stinnes paid frequent visits to headquarters and seems to have been consulted on many questions. His friendship with General Ludendorff was particularly close.<sup>154</sup>

To return to the annexationist meeting in Berlin—once Stinnes had endorsed the views of Heinrich Class, they found immediate and full support of those present. Baron von Wangenheim, welcoming the possibility of large-scale German settlements, notably in the east, pledged the support of the Agrarian League. Friedrichs

<sup>152</sup> Harden, Köpfe, IV, 425.

<sup>153</sup> Harden, IV, 412-13; R. Oertmann, Hugo Stinnes, ein Künstler und ein Vorbild (Berlin, 1925), passim.

<sup>154</sup> Raphaël, Stinnes, p. 93; M. Ludendorff, Als ich Ludendorffs Frau war (München, 1929), p. 21; J. Fischart, "Hugo Stinnes: An Industrial Ludendorff," Living Age, vol. 308 (1921), pp. 148-51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup>G. Raphaël, Hugo Stinnes, Der Mensch, Sein Werk, Sein Wirken (Berlin, 1925), passim; P. Ufermann and C. Hueglin, Stinnes und seine Konzerne (Berlin, 1924), pp. 27 fl., 57; C. Geyer, Drei Verderber Deutschlands (Berlin, 1924), pp. 27, 34, 52-53; M. Lair, "Hugo Stinnes," Revue des Sciences Politiques, vol. 49 (1926), pp. 167 fl; H. Brinckmeyer, Hugo Stinnes (München, 1921), passim.

added his approval in the name of German industry. After general agreement had thus been registered, a detailed discussion of each point of the Hugenberg-Class memorandum followed, in which everybody took part. At the close of the meeting, its oldest participant, Emil Kirdorf, urged the dissemination of the war aims agreed on at the meeting among the whole German people, regardless of governmental opposition.

Kirdorf was another outstanding member of the aristocracy of coal and iron, in a class with Thyssen and Stinnes. Founder of the *Gelsenkirchener Bergwerks A. G.* (the largest Ruhr enterprise, employing 65,000 workers) he was the only great industrialist who openly and consistently supported the annexationists.<sup>155</sup> A small and unpretentious man, much like his chief rival, August Thyssen, this "Bismarck of German coal mining" concealed, behind a genial front, an iron will and ruthless determination, which appeared in his many conflicts with Thyssen and in his stubborn fight against labor unions.<sup>156</sup>

Class and Hugenberg, with the help of the latter's associate, Hirsch, now incorporated the results of the January meeting into a second draft of their memorandum. In a later session, this version was adopted and signed by the representatives of the various economic organizations which had participated in the preliminary discussions-the Zentralverband Deutscher Industrieller, the Bund der Industriellen, the Bund der Landwirte, the Deutscher Bauernbund, and the Reichsdeutscher Mittelstandsverband. On March 10, 1915, this declaration of the five economic organizations was presented to the German Chancellor.<sup>157</sup> Simultaneously, the same organizations, with added support from the commercial Hansa Bund, petitioned the Reichstag to permit the public discussion of peace aims, expressing the hope "that our German Fatherland shall emerge from its fight for existence-which has been forced upon it-greater and stronger, with secured frontiers in the west and the east and with the European and colonial extensions of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> Class, Strom, pp. 247-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> Ufermann-Hueglin, p. 18; R. Martin, *Deutsche Machthaber* (Berlin, 1910), pp. 429 ff.; Vorwärts, April 18, 1915. See also the favorable biography by W. Bacmeister, *Emil Kirdorf, Der Mann, Sein Werk* (Essen, 1936).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> Alldeutsche Blätter, Dec. 23, 1916, no. 52; Vorwärts, March 12, 1915.

territory necessary for the maintenance of our sea power as well as for military and economic reasons."<sup>158</sup>

It should be noted that for tactical reasons the chief annexationist wire-pullers, the Pan-Germans and industrialists, do not appear in either petition, except indirectly. To remedy this omission, Hugenberg, Stinnes, and Kirdorf, together with several historians and geographers and with the Westphalian branches of the National Liberal and Center Parties, issued an additional memorandum in favor of annexations in March of 1915.<sup>150</sup> As a further consolidation of the annexationist front, the collaborator of Class and Hugenberg, Dr. Hirsch, also tried to establish an alliance between the signatories of the Hugenberg-Class memorandum and the bourgeois and annexationist parties of the Reichstag. At a meeting on May 1, however, both the Conservatives and the Center expressed their preference for independent action. The result of this decision, the conversation between Bethmann and the representatives of the annexationist parties on May 13, 1915, we have already discussed.<sup>160</sup>

But even if this attempt to link the Kriegszielbewegung and the Kriegszielmehrheit failed, the annexationist parties, especially the National Liberals and the Free Conservatives, were very much in favor of the aims proclaimed by the Pan-Germans and the Economic Organizations.<sup>161</sup> Even the Conservatives, in spite of their earlier secession, still maintained "close contact and agreement" with the Kriegszielbewegung. Roesicke and Admiral von Grumme-Douglas, besides holding leading positions in the Agrarian and Pan-German Leagues respectively, also played prominent roles in the Conservative Party.<sup>162</sup> Further co-operation between the various annexationist groups was maintained through the Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, founded by Dr. Poensgen, which counted among its members Professor Dietrich Schäfer, Bassermann, Stresemann, and Mathias Erzberger. Its purpose was the collection and co-ordination of the various annexationist programs and pronouncements and their propagation through meetings and publications.<sup>163</sup>

<sup>158</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 311; Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, Gedanken und Wünsche, 1915 edition, p. 7.

<sup>159</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 50.

<sup>160</sup> Westarp, II, 50. See above, pp. 15-16.

<sup>161</sup> Class, Strom, pp. 355, 358.

<sup>162</sup> Westarp, II, 44, 162, 164; U.A., 4. Reihe, VII (1), 124. For collaboration between Pan-German and Agrarian Leagues see Class, Strom, pp. 270-71.

<sup>163</sup> D. Schäfer, Aus meinem Leben (Berlin, 1926), p. 174. Poensgen was chairman of the Oberbilk Steel Works, affiliated with the firm of Thyssen.

On May 20, 1915, the petition of March 10, in almost its original form, was again addressed to the Chancellor and the Ministries of the various federal states. Besides the original five organizations, a sixth, the *Christliche Deutsche Bauernvereine* added its signature, thus making it the well-known "Petition of the Six Economic Organizations." Although not quite so radical as the memorandum of Heinrich Class, it clearly shows the influence of its Pan-German and industrial godfathers.<sup>164</sup> To satisfy commercial circles it demanded " a colonial empire adequate to satisfy Germany's manifold economic interests." <sup>165</sup> Agrarian needs were to be met " by annexation of at least parts of the Baltic Provinces and of those territories which lie to the south of them. . . . The great addition to our manufacturing resources which we anticipate in the west, must be counterbalanced by an equivalent annexation of agricultural territory in the east."

It was in regard to the west that the petition was most emphatic and specific. The future which it painted for Belgium was much like the proposal Bethmann Hollweg had made to the representatives of the bourgeois parties on May 13, 1915. From France the Six Associations demanded the coastal districts, including the hinterland, as far as the mouth of the Somme, to improve Germany's strategic position against England. In addition they asked for the district of Briey, the coal country of the *Départements du Nord* and *Pas-de-Calais*, and the fortresses of Verdun, Longwy, and Belfort. Class' suggestion for "land free from inhabitants" was not included in the petition, a fact for which the Conservatives claim credit.<sup>166</sup>

The total area that the Six Organizations demanded from Western Europe amounted to some 50,000 square miles, with a population of ca. 11 million. The arguments used to justify these annexations ranged from the rather vague—" the prize of victory must correspond to our sacrifice"—to most specific military and economic considerations:

The iron-ore and coal districts mentioned above are demanded by our military necessities and not by any means in the interests only of our manufacturing development. . . . As a raw material for the production of pig

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, Gedanken und Wünsche, 1915 edition, pp. 117 ff; U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> For this and the following see Lutz, German Empire, I, 314 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Westarp, II, 43.

iron and steel . . ., minette is being employed more and more. . . If the output of minette were interrupted, the war would be as good as lost.<sup>167</sup>

This, however, might easily happen, since the mining and industrial region of Lorraine was directly in the shadow of French guns:

Does anyone believe that the French, in the next war, would neglect to place long-range guns in Longwy and Verdun and would allow us to continue the extraction of ore and the production of pig-iron? . . . Hence the security of the German Empire in a future war imperatively demands the possession of the whole minette-bearing district of Luxemburg and Lorraine, together with the fortifications of Longwy and Verdun, without which this district cannot be held.<sup>168</sup>

Most of these arguments were demolished almost immediatelv.<sup>169</sup> It was maintained, for instance, that strategically the possession of the French coast would not in the least ensure Germany's domination of the English Channel, especially in the age of the airplane of which people were just becoming aware; and economically, Belgium and northern France, far from having an excess of coal, had to import that commodity to meet the needs of their considerable industries, and thus were an economic liability. Still, we must realize that there were considerable advantages to be gained for German industry from these western annexations, such as the domination. and, if necessary, elimination, of Belgian and French industrial competition; or the assurance to Germany's iron masters of a continued supply of ore from eastern France. We have already treated the significance of this last question during the pre-war period and have traced the attempts of Germany's industrialists to solve it by economic penetration of French Lorraine and Normandy. The growing French demand for the elimination in the future of this German influence threatened German industry with the loss of these valuable sources of supply, even if the war ended on a status quo ante basis.<sup>170</sup> For Germany's heavy industry, therefore, it was a question of all or nothing. Either Germany would gain complete

<sup>167</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 317-18.

<sup>168</sup> Ibid.

<sup>109</sup> P. H. von Schwabach, Aus meinen Akten (Berlin, 1927), pp. 274-8; Friedensburg, p. 50; Grumbach, pp. 375 ff.

<sup>170</sup> É. Thaller, "Esquisse de réforme de la législation des étrangers, particulièrement dans les rapports franco-allemands, individus et sociétés," *Révue Politique et Parlementaire*, XCII (1917), 297-336; XCIII (1917), 5-37; Ungeheuer, *Technik und Wirtschaft*, IX, 101; L. Férasson, *La Question du fer* (Paris, 1918), p. 131. control of France's iron supply, or else she would lose even the small foothold she had gained before the war. It is this fact which explains the deep interest of German industry in the war aims problem.

## Annexationist Propaganda

The question as to how far the views of the annexationists expressed the opinion of the majority of Germans, is difficult to answer. For reasons of censorship, most annexationist programs could not be put before the general public. The publication of the Six Economic Organizations, for instance, was prohibited by the government, though it became known in other ways.<sup>171</sup> Yet despite censorship restrictions, the amount of articles, pamphlets, and speeches during the first months of the war, dealing with German westward expansion, was considerable. Whether this propaganda was the result of a widespread popular demand, or whether it was intended to help create and increase such a demand, is again difficult to determine. The average citizen has little real opportunity of voicing his approval or disapproval of the propaganda to which he is subjected. Many observers testify, however, to the artificial character of German annexationist propaganda; and its origin among the annexationist pressure groups certainly lends credence to this view.<sup>172</sup> Whether artificial or spontaneous, however, the result of these writings was to popularize the idea of territorial expansion and direct the nebulous hopes of the German people into specific channels.

The most important means of influencing opinion, of course, was the press. We have already seen how the *Tägliche Rundschau*, *Leipziger Neueste Nachrichten*, *Rheinisch-Westphälische Zeitung*, and *Post* were indirectly under Pan-German influence.<sup>173</sup> It should not surprise us, therefore, to find more or less veiled hints in favor of annexationist aims in these papers, even while the public debate of such aims was still prohibited by the German government.<sup>174</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Westarp, II, 165-66; Class, Strom, p. 395.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Kanner, II, 42-44 and passim.; S. B. Clough, A History of the Flemish Movement in Belgium (N.Y., 1930), pp. 182-83; Grumbach, p. 376.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> See Jung, p. 25, for a list of Pan-German papers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> For references to such articles see Vorwärts, Oct. 16, 17, 29, 1914; Feb. 16, 23, March 16, 25, 29, April 18, May 6, 8, 1915; Tägliche Rundschau, May 1, 1915; Leipziger Neueste Nachrichten, March 24, 1915.

At times these articles lost all their vagueness and became openly and bluntly annexationist. The *Post* on October 25, 1914 wrote: "The German Reich . . . may and must annex Belgium and must under no circumstances show any leniency when it comes to the imposition of an indemnity. The German people expect the Germanization of Belgium as a matter of course and a physical necessity. . . ."<sup>175</sup> Other prominent papers with annexationist leanings, the *Tag*, the *Kölnische Volkszeitung*, and the *Kreuzzeitung* wrote in a similar vein. The latter, under the editorship of the Conservative Party's secretary, Schroeter, was a direct outlet for Count Westarp's views on war aims.<sup>176</sup> Even the semi-official *Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung* and the *Berliner Lokalanzeiger* dropped occasional hints that a "greater Germany" should result from the war.<sup>177</sup>

One of the outstanding annexationist papers was the Deutsche Tageszeitung. Its editor was Ernst Georg Oertel, a leading Conservative and member of the Bund der Landwirte, which mainly supported his paper. The outstanding contributor was "E. R.," i.e., Count Ernst von Reventlow. A former columnist on foreign affairs for the liberal Berliner Tageblatt and Maximilian Harden's Zukunst, Reventlow had used his position for frequent attacks upon the naval policy of Admiral von Tirpitz. Suddenly, in 1908, for reasons never satisfactorily explained, he changed his attitude and became an ardent supporter of the Admiral. He severed relations with his former employers and took over the foreign desk of the Tägliche Rundschau and later of the Deutsche Tageszeitung. He also served his time with the Pan-German League, as head of its Berlin branch and editor of the Alldeutsche Blätter; and though he left the League in 1910, he maintained contact and resumed collaboration during the World War.<sup>178</sup>

Reventlow's relations with the *Reichsmarineamt* of Admiral von Tirpitz were close, although both he and the Admiral denied the rumor that Reventlow was the paid propagandist of Tirpitz and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> On the industrial affiliations of the Post see H. Wehberg, Die internationale Beschränkung der Rüstungen (Berlin, 1919), p. 344.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> Tag, Feb. 13, 1915; March 22, 1915; Kölnische Volkzeitung, Sept. 17, 1914; May 29, 1915; O. Hoetzsch, Der Krieg und die grosse Politik (Leipzig, 1917), vol. I contains II.'s weekly editorials in the Kreuzzeitung during this early period. For a list of Westarp's articles see Westarp, II, 32, note 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, April 24, 30, 1915; Vorwärts, Oct. 17, 1914. <sup>178</sup> L. Persius, Graf Ernst zu Reventlow (Berlin, 1918), passim.

his naval policy.<sup>179</sup> The similarity of their aims was, to say the least, suggestive of some sort of collusion. Both Tirpitz and Reventlow considered Great Britain Germany's most dangerous enemy, and both demanded the coast of Belgium and northern France as base for a powerful German fleet. Such a fleet would be the only means of securing their version of the "freedom of the seas," substituting Germany's naval predominance for that of Great Britain.<sup>180</sup> The elusive concept "freedom of the seas" reappeared continually in the writings of most western annexationists, because it gave an excellent excuse for the annexation of extensive coastal areas and eventually of the hinterland as well.<sup>181</sup> Such annexation would prevent another English blockade, the pinch of which was increasingly felt by the Central Powers. We shall run across the demand for "freedom of the seas" in many variations throughout this study. Its constant reiteration by "E. R."'s quick and biting pen won a large following both for western annexations and for the Deutsche Tageszeitung.<sup>182</sup>

Periodical literature in Germany, especially if known for its annexationist leanings, was more seriously affected by governmental censorship regulations than the press. The Alldeutsche Blätter, as we have seen already, wanted a "greater future" for Germany.<sup>183</sup> Das grössere Deutschland published articles on German eastward expansion by Paul Rohrbach, on a large colonial empire in Central Africa by Paul Arndt, and on annexations in France and Belgium by Count Reventlow.<sup>184</sup> Rohrbach, as the war progressed, became increasingly opposed to the Pan-Germans and their Drang nach Westen. But at this early stage he was by no means averse to complete German domination of Belgium.<sup>185</sup> Des neue Deutschland, a Free-Conservative weekly edited by Adolf Grabowsky, was still more outspoken than either of these two journals.<sup>186</sup> Die Grenzboten had advocated co-operation between Germany and her west-

<sup>182</sup> Westarp, II, 180-81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Tirpitz, Dokumente, II, 628 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Deutsche Tageszeitung, Sept. 7, Oct. 27, 1914; March 20, 28, April 14, 1915.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> For a discussion of the question and for various writers on the subject see Ch. Meurer, Das Programm der Meeresfreiheit (Tübingen, 1918), esp. 101 ff.; A. Gray, The Upright Sheaf (London, 1915), pp. 45 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> Alldeutsche Blätter, Aug. 3, 1914.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Das grössere Deutschland, Sept. 19, 1914; April 3, May 8, 1915.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> Kanner II, 118.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> Das neue Deutschland, Sept. 30, Oct. 28, Dec. 22, 1914; Feb. 27, 1915.

ern neighbors ever since the early nineteenth century, and it continued this policy during the war. Specifically it suggested the extension of Germany's political and economic sphere by incorporating parts of Belgium and Holland into the German Reich.<sup>187</sup> *Handel und Industrie* published a series of articles by Kurd von Strantz, president of the Army League, in which he demanded the annexation of Belgium as a counterweight against Great Britain.<sup>188</sup> Even the Catholic *Hochland* wished for the annexation of Belfort, and (in an article by Professor Martin Spahn, son of the prominent Centrist) for the economic and military domination of Belgium and the annexation of sections of eastern France.<sup>189</sup>

This list of annexationist articles could be considerably enlarged. Even the sophisticated Zukunft of Maximilian Harden temporarily was affected by the annexationist mania. As early as August 22, 1914, Harden defended Germany's "right to extend her territory." In September he reminded Belgium that she owed her culture, her colonies, and her independence to Germany, and that she had forfeited her privileges because of her cruel warfare against the invading Germans. A month later, Harden joined the most radical of the annexationists: "We shall remain in the Belgian Netherlands," he wrote, "to which we shall add a thin coastal strip up to and beyond Calais . . . From Calais to Antwerp, Flanders, Limburg, Brabant, and beyond the line of the Meuse: Prussian.

More effective than this periodical literature, however, were the innumerable books and pamphlets which dealt with a post-war settlement. It is impossible to determine their exact number, but a conservative estimate would put such writings during the first year at close to a hundred.<sup>191</sup> Not all were of equal significance, of course, nor did they all reach an equally wide audience. Some were sent out by mail to a limited number of important persons, a practice started by Heinrich Class, to evade the watchful eye of the censor. Professor Fabarius, for instance, Pan-German and director

<sup>187</sup> Die Grenzboten, Oct. 17, Nov. 11, Dec. 23, 1914.

<sup>188</sup> Handel und Industrie, Sept. 12, Oct. 10, 1914; March 6, 1915.

<sup>189</sup> F. Otto, "Belfort," *Hochland*, Oct. 1914; M. Spahn, "An den Pforten des Weltkrieges," *ibid*.

<sup>100</sup> Die Zukunft, Aug. 22, 1914, p. 251; Aug. 29, 1914, p. 291; Sept. 19, 1914, p. 379; Oct. 17, 1914, p. 96; May 1, 1915.

<sup>101</sup> For a bibliography of annexationist writings during this period see F. Passelecq, La question flamande et l'Allemagne (Paris, 1917), pp. 318-29.

of the *Deutsche Kolonialschule*, expressed his war aims (Belgium, Northern France, French and Belgian colonies) in a typescript which was privately distributed.<sup>192</sup> Another example was the Pan-German Franz von Bodelschwingh, whose memorandum to Bethmann, asking for the annexation of Belgium, was privately printed and widely circulated by mail.<sup>193</sup> But the majority of annexationist propaganda was carried on quite openly, reaching a considerable audience.

It is unnecessary for our purposes to discuss each publication in detail, since the aims advanced are little different from the ones we have already encountered. The National Liberal imperialist Arthur Dix, for instance, advocated that Belgium "in one form or another" should "come under German influence." As for France, "the German and French mines in both parts of Lorraine already to a large extent encroach upon each other. To join them together in German possession appears an appropriate step to make France economically dependent." Colonies in Central Africa and naval stations all over the globe were to complete Germany's gains.<sup>194</sup> Pamphlets by Gustav Stresemann, Professor Max Apt, and Professor Conrad Borchling made similar suggestions, though not always in such outspoken manner.<sup>195</sup> The role of university professors in German annexationist propaganda, as we shall see, was considerable. Already shortly after the outbreak of war, a number of them had pledged their support to the government's war policy.<sup>196</sup> Now they went one step further and joined the annexationists in their demands for German expansion. Julius Wolf, economist and founder of the Mitteleuropäischer Wirtschaftsverein, in addition to territorial demands, wanted a substantial indemnity.<sup>197</sup> Colonial expansion, often in connection with annexations

 $^{192}$  E. A. Fabarius, "Deutsche Friedenshoffnungen (n. pl., 1915), Vertrauliche Handschrift, Typescript, esp. pp. 32, 40, 52 ff.

<sup>193</sup> F. von Bodelschwingh, Innere Hemmungen kraftvoller Aussenpolitik (Hannover, 1919), pp. 37 ff.; Schäfer, Leben, p. 168.

<sup>194</sup> A. Dix, Der Weltwirtschaftskrieg (Leipzig, 1914), pp. 32 ff.

<sup>195</sup> G. Stresemann, Deutsches Ringen und Deutsches Hoffen (Berlin, 1914); M. Apt, Der Krieg und die Weltmachtstellung des Deutschen Reiches (Leipzig, 1914), esp. pp. 30-31; C. Borchling, Das belgische Problem (Hamburg, 1914), pp. 4 ff., 28.
 <sup>196</sup> Schäfer, Leben, pp. 166-67.

<sup>197</sup> J. Wolf, Die französische Kriegsentschädigung (n. pl., 1914); J. Wolf, Die Kriegsrechnung (Berlin, 1914); on the problem of an indemnity see also Freiherr von Zedlitz und Neukirch, Reichs-und Staatsfinanzen im Kriege (Leipzig, 1914), pp. 25-26.

on the continent, was the subject of books or pamphlets by Professors Mirbt (Theology), von Liszt (Law), Backhaus (Agriculture) and even the well-known editor of the *Preussische Jahrbücher*, Hans Delbrück.<sup>198</sup> The idea of some of these writers, that Germany's continental conquests should be exchanged against a more extensive colonial empire, found little favor with the majority of the Pan-German and industrial annexationists.<sup>199</sup>

In dealing with the future of Western Europe, some of these writers advanced solutions which had a novel ring. We have already run across references to the division of Belgium's population into the Germanic Flemings and the Romanic Walloons. The German government, as we shall see, was much aware of this dualism and the advantages it offered. To the annexationists, the historic and ethnographic arguments in favor of a division of Belgium into its component parts, and a rapprochement of the Flemish section with its Germanic "mother country" supplied welcome material for propaganda. "We have not indeed begun the war [one of them writes] to support the Germanic Flemings in their struggle against French tendencies; but after we have been forced to war, and after making such an astonishing acquaintance with the Belgian people, it is our duty to make good old omissions, and to pay closest attention to the national claims of the Belgian people." 200 The Flemish state, some writers held, should become part of a Teutonic federation under German leadership.<sup>201</sup> Other Germanic nations-Holland, Switzerland, Denmark, and parts of Austriamight also be included in such a federation.<sup>202</sup> Another plan called for the separation of Belgium into her Flemish and Walloon components and their inclusion into an economic *Mitteleuropa* under German domination.<sup>203</sup> The Pan-German Rudolf Theuden went

<sup>198</sup> C. Mirbt, Der Kampf um unsere Kolonien (Braunschweig, 1914), p. 20; F. von Liszt, Ein mitteleuropäischer Staatenverband (Leipzig, 1914), p. 7; A. Backhaus, Der Krieg eine Notwendkeit für Deutschlands Weltstellung (Berlin, 1914), p. 39; H. Delbrück, Bismarck's Erbe (Berlin, 1915), p. 202.

<sup>199</sup> G. W. Schiele, Überseepolitik oder Kontinentalpolitik (München, 1917), pp. 13 ff.

<sup>200</sup> Borchling, p. 5.

<sup>201</sup> A. Ruhemann, "Die Zukunft Belgiens: Vlamen und Wallonen," in K. L. van der Bleek, ed., *Die Vernichtung der englischen Weltmacht* (Berlin, 1915), pp. 142-43; see also Borchling, p. 28.

<sup>202</sup> E. Deckert, Panlatinismus, Panslawismus, und Panteutonismus in ihrer Bedeutung für die politische Weltlage (Wien, 1914), p. 29.

<sup>203</sup> H. L. Losch, Der mitteleuropäische Wirtschaftsblock und das Schicksal Belgiens (Leipzig, 1914), pp. 34-37. still further. "If Belgium should participate in the war [he wrote in August 1914], she must be struck off the map."<sup>204</sup> The Walloons should be handed over to France and the Flemings to Germany or to Holland, if the latter would consent to become a German federal state.

This and other similar proposals to solve the Belgian problem caused considerable concern to the Dutch.<sup>205</sup> Under-Secretary Zimmermann tried to allay these fears in an interview with the Dutch Socialist Troelstra in October 1914.<sup>206</sup> But when the output of propaganda continued, the Secretary found it necessary to address a reproachful letter to the Pan-German League. "The largest share of the suspicion [he wrote], which meets our efforts to create some understanding abroad for Germany's aims, results from the boundless character of Pan-German writings and speeches. I say this on the basis of my observations over many years." <sup>207</sup>

To the list of annexationist writings (which could be much enlarged)<sup>208</sup> we should add the many speeches and public statements to which Zimmermann referred in the letter just quoted. Many of these we have already discussed. Next to the politicians, Pan-Germans, and industrialists, it was the university professors who were most vociferous. Already in August 1914, Ernst Haeckel, by now over eighty years old, asked for the division of Belgium, the annexation of northern France, and even the occupation of London.<sup>209</sup> Johannes Haller, noted historian, opposed a peace which would leave Germany territorially unchanged. Other speeches by Professors Schwalbe, Ruge, von Gruber and Ostwald made similar demands, the latter advocating a United States of Europe under the presidency of the German Emperor.<sup>210</sup>

In conclusion, there are one or two general observations that should be made on this annexationist propaganda during the first

<sup>205</sup> Frankfurter Zeitung, May 23 and 28, 1915; Schwabach, p. 285.

<sup>206</sup> Gray, p. 65.

<sup>207</sup> Jung, pp. 30-31.

<sup>208</sup> For further writings see Grumbach, pp. 265 ff; Great Britain, Foreign Office, German Opinion on National Policy since July 1914 (London, 1920), passim.

<sup>200</sup> H. von Gerlach, Von Rechts nach Links (Zürich, 1937), p. 235; E. Haeckel, Englands Blutschuld am Weltkriege (Eisenach, 1914), passim.

<sup>210'</sup>J. Haller, Warum und wofür wir kämpfen (Tübingen, 1914); Grumbach, pp. 170-71; 290; Class, Strom, p. 376; Gerlach, p. 235.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> R. Theuden, Was muss uns der Krieg bringen? (Berlin, 1914), p. 10; see also Ph. Muench-Born, Was uns der Weltkrieg bringen muss (Leipzig, 1914), p. 37.

few months of the war. Both the large number and the early date of these publications indicate that, while to the average German the war was at first one of defense, to a small minority it was almost immediately converted into a struggle for territorial gains. Another fact worth pointing out is that so many of the annexationist plans showed such striking similarities, which has been attributed to the influence of Heinrich Class' basic memorandum.<sup>211</sup> There was general agreement, for instance, on the desirability of colonial gains, especially in Central Africa. There was widespread demand for sections of eastern France. The only region over which there was considerable disagreement was Belgium. But even here most annexationists agreed that Germany should maintain some hold, direct or indirect, over Belgium's political and economic life.

# The "Moderates"

One of the most interesting insights into the extent of annexationist opinion in Germany can be gained from a study of those organizations and individuals who were generally attacked because of their moderate attitude on the question of war aims. Because surprisingly enough, to be a moderate or a *Flaumacher* (as the Pan-Germans called it), did not necessarily mean the rejection of any and all annexations.

We have already discussed the most prominent and consistent group among the anti-annexationists, the Social Democrats, particularly their more radical members. As early as August 1914, Karl Liebknecht had organized meetings to oppose the growing clamor for territorial expansion.<sup>212</sup> In November, Klara Zetkin, Secretary of the Women's International, published a manifesto against all annexations, while Eduard Bernstein turned specifically against the annexation of Belgium, which was demanded, he said, by "large sections of the people, including the ranks of the workers."<sup>213</sup> The Socialist press took a similar stand, especially in its leading organ, the *Vorwärts.*<sup>214</sup>

Compared to the Social Democrats, the various non-political organizations opposed to annexations were too small to be of much

<sup>211</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 50.
<sup>212</sup> Dahlin, p. 29.
<sup>213</sup> Grumbach, pp. 448, 448.
<sup>214</sup> Vorwärts, Oct. 1, 3, 4, 1914; Jan. 30, Feb. 5, 1915.

practical significance. The first of them, the *Bund Neues Vaterland*, was founded in October 1914 under the leadership of Baron von Tepper-Laski and Otto Lehmann-Russbüldt.<sup>215</sup> Its importance has been much overrated.<sup>216</sup> It did oppose the ultra-annexationist programs current in Germany and produced a detailed memorandum against the "Petition of the Six Economic Organizations." <sup>217</sup> But even the *Bund Neues Vaterland*, so violently persecuted by its Pan-German adversaries, did not completely forego all hope for German aggrandizement after the war:

We can and must gain real guarantees [!] to secure our position. If peace should be concluded under present military conditions, we must use the territories occupied by our troops as pledges or objects of compensation. The most obvious thought in this connection would be of colonial acquisitions, improvements of our frontiers for military protection, and indemnities; perhaps also naval and coaling stations.<sup>218</sup>

Germany's leading Pacifist organization, the small Deutsche Friedensgesellschaft, was equally opposed to large-scale annexations on the European continent and advocated a peace "which does not contain the seeds of new wars."<sup>219</sup> Many of the society's writings and its journal Der Völkerfriede were subsequently prohibited for the duration of the war.<sup>220</sup> Yet again this very moderate organization was not entirely averse to German expansion overseas. Its president, Professor Quidde, suggested the principles of the "open door" and "freedom of the seas" as alternate war aims, and in return for the evacuation by Germany of the occupied areas in Western Europe, he hoped to gain a German colonial empire in Central Africa, consisting of the Belgian Congo and additional territories, plus naval stations and strategic improvements of Germany's western border.<sup>221</sup>

 $^{216}\,{\rm For}$  a humorous description of one of the Bund's meetings see Kanner, II, 189.

<sup>217</sup> Grumbach, pp. 375-409.

<sup>218</sup> Ibid., pp. 407-08.

<sup>219</sup> G. Fuchs, Der deutsche Pazifismus im Weltkrieg (Stuttgart, 1928), pp. 61-62. <sup>220</sup> Reichstag, vol. 307, p. 1289.

<sup>221</sup> L. Quidde, Reale Garantien für einen dauernden Frieden (n. pl., 1915), pp. 20 ff.; Fuchs, p. 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> Forster, p. 27; K. Wortmann, Geschichte der Deutschen Vaterlands-Partei 1917-18 (Halle, 1926), p. 12; O. Lehmann-Russbüldt, Der Kampf der Deutschen Liga für Menschenrechte vormals Bund Neues Vaterland für den Weltfrieden 1914-1927 (Berlin, 1927), passim.

In the same category as the two previous organizations belongs the *Freie Vaterländische Vereinigung*, founded in February 1915, which arranged for discussions among its members and representatives of various parties, to arrive at a moderate program of war aims.<sup>222</sup> Its president, Professor Kahl, made it perfectly clear that he was not averse to "territorial expansion to gain military, political, and economic security."<sup>223</sup>

What we have just discovered for the so-called "anti-annexationist" organizations-namely that they were by no means opposed to all, but merely to large-scale continental annexationsalso holds true for certain prominent individuals who, in the course of the war, became the leading opponents of Pan-German expansionism. In his speech before the leaders of the Pan-German League on August 28, 1914, Heinrich Class had mentioned, besides the Socialists, the intellectuals, Jews, and German high-finance as chief opponents of Pan-German war aims.<sup>224</sup> Admiral von Tirpitz subsequently defined this group somewhat differently as "the Hapaq, the banks, all former ambassadors and diplomats, and the Wilhelmstrasse." 225 We must not think in this connection, however, of a well-organized opposition group with a clearly defined program. Socially and politically, these moderates differed little from their annexationist adversaries. Both groups recruited their main following from the upper levels of society and the parties of the Right. The main difference was in their attitude towards Germany's domestic and foreign policy. In opposition to the ultra-annexationists and their reactionary domestic policy, the moderates advocated a conciliatory, more liberal policy, both at home and abroad. Their cultural, financial, or commercial ties with Great Britain made most of them, if not actual Anglophiles, at least admirers of the British Empire and its institutions. They hoped for some kind of agreement with their Anglo-Saxon cousins, giving Germany a due share in the colonial wealth and the commercial activities of the world. In return she would refrain from annexing Belgium and thus upsetting the balance of power on the continent. Such an agreement, they held, would best serve Germany's wide commercial and industrial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> Die Tat, IX (1917), 187.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, XXI (1), 52-53; W. Kahl, Die Freie Vaterländische Vereinigung (Berlin, 1915), passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> Class, Strom, p. 321.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, p. 469.

interests. Even so, during the early days of the war, many of these moderates hoped to maintain some sort of control even over Belgium. Count Wedel, formerly Statthalter of Alsace-Lorraine and in 1916 to be president of the moderate Nationalausschuss für einen Deutschen Frieden wrote in January of 1915: "I agree that Belgium (which in addition must be induced to cede some of its territory) must be secured in some fashion. But I think this can be achieved through economic Anschluss and a military convention." <sup>226</sup> The former Colonial Secretary Dernburg, later known for his moderate views on war aims, stated in April 1915, that "Germany cannot renounce Belgium," since that country "had been conquered with great sacrifices of blood and money and offers Germany's western trade the only free access to the sea." <sup>227</sup> Count Monts, formerly ambassador to Italy, whose moderation and Anglophilism aroused the ire of the German Empress and her confidant. Admiral Tirpitz,<sup>228</sup> had his eye on both the French and Belgian Congo. In a letter to Theodor Wolff, editor of the liberal Berliner Tageblatt, he added the French railways in Anatolia, a war indemnity, and the iron fields of Briey; also Liège and Luxemburg as necessary protection for Germany's western industrial area.<sup>229</sup> Theodor Wolff himself had hinted at annexations as early as August 10, 1914.230 And even the Frankfurter Zeitung, leading organ of liberal and moderate elements in Germany, wrote as a comment on Bethmann's speech of May 28, 1915: "The question is not annexations or no annexations. The question is, how can Germany best secure the fulfillment of her world tasks? If the annexation of foreign districts is necessary in order to secure our military position or to get closer to our aim, we favor it." 231

One of the outstanding opponents of German continental expansion was the Berlin historian Hans Delbrück. "May God prevent Germany," he wrote in October 1914, "from following the

<sup>226</sup> F. Lienhard, ed., "Statthalterbriefe aus Elsass-Lothringen," Der Türmer, XXVI (1924), p. 536.

227 Chronik des Deutschen Krieges (München, 1915), IV, 437-38.

<sup>228</sup> Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, p. 474. The influence of the Empress, though difficult to determine, was an important element in German policy; see also T. Wolff, Der Marsch durch zwei Jahrzehnte (Amsterdam, 1936), p. 249; O. Braun, Von Weimar zu Hitler (New York, 1940), pp. 45-47.

<sup>229</sup> Wolff, Der Marsch, p. 92.

<sup>230</sup> Berliner Tageblatt, Aug. 10, 1914.

<sup>231</sup> Frankfurter Zeitung, May 31, 1915 (2d ed.); also March 12, 1915.

course of Napoleon's policy after the victory which we expect! Wars without end would be the result. However heavily we might chain other nations, we cannot keep them in fetters forever. Europe is agreed on this one point, never to submit to the hegemony of one single state." The aim of the war, he declared, should be "that on land the balance of power must be maintained as it is, and that on the sea a similar balance must be attained." 232 These moderate views which, as the Vorwärts pointed out, "demanded exactly what Emperor William formally proclaimed at the beginning of the war," caused violent outbursts in annexationist circles. The Tägliche Rundschau called the article a "crime against the German cause." The *Post* more explicitly accused Delbrück of criminal subserviency to Germany's enemies. Reventlow in the Deutsche Tageszeitung wrote in a similar vein.<sup>233</sup> At this point the censor intervened, the author was reprimanded and his article confiscated. Delbrück appealed to the censorship board headed by a close friend of the annexationist Conservatives, General von Kessel, contending that Bethmann Hollweg held the same views on war aims as he, Delbrück, did. "So much the worse for the Chancellor," the General replied, "but that does not change my views in the least." 234

The moderation among Germany's intellectuals and former diplomats, as this brief survey has shown, was by no means so great as the attacks of the Pan-Germans may lead us to believe. The same can be said for her financial and commercial interests. Although the war seriously curtailed the international activities of Germany's leading banks, the boom of domestic industries helped to make up for any losses abroad. Their attitude during the early days of the war, therefore, was definitely optimistic.<sup>235</sup> The leadership of German high finance, according to Class, was in the hands of director

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> H. Delbrück, "Der zukünftige Friede," Preussische Jahrbücher, vol. 158 (1914), p. 191.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> For a summary of press comments on Delbrück's article see Vorwärts, Oct. 3-4, 1914.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Germany, Nationalversammlung, Untersuchungsausschuss über die Weltkriegsverantwortlichkeit, Stenographische Berichte über die öffentlichen Verhandlungen des 15. Untersuchungsausschusses (2 vols., Berlin, 1920) (henceforth cited as U. A., 15. Ausschuss), I, 182; Kanner, II, 47; Westarp, II, 181. A colleague of Delbrück's, Friedrich Meinecke, hoped for colonial expansion but advocated the complete independence of Belgium. F. Meinecke, Strassburg, Freiburg, Berlin 1901-1919 Erinnerungen (Stuttgart, 1949), p. 198.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Kanner, II, 19.

von Gwinner of the Deutsche Bank.236 Gwinner, who became considerably more moderate as the war progressed, was sufficiently impressed by Germany's early victories to hope for a large indemnity and France's colonies as possible German gains.<sup>237</sup> His colleague, Paul von Schwabach of the Diskonto-Gesellschaft was still a better example of the moderately annexationist German financier. He opposed the exaggerated aims of the ultra-annexationists, especially the Six Economic Organizations.<sup>238</sup> Instead he wrote a detailed memorandum of his own, in which he revealed himself as by no means averse to certain moderate war aims. The annexation of the French mining region of Briey, he felt, was desirable and presented few geographical obstacles. As to Belgium, he was against outright annexation and instead suggested German economic domination and military control. The few specific suggestions which he made in this connection, such as German supervision over Belgian tariffs, railroads and canals, the dismantling of her fortresses, and the reduction of the Belgian army to a bare minimum, were but a weaker version of the aims current among radical annexationists.239

Walter Rathenau, head of Germany's leading electrical trust, the A. E. G., and member of more than a hundred German and foreign business concerns, was the chief industrial exponent of a moderate peace. This was due partly to the nature of the "light" industries he represented. While the "heavy" industry of coal and iron stood much to gain from a prospective German expansion to the west, the lighter industries, such as chemicals, railways or electrical interests, had few economic stakes in that region. Rathenau's personality, a curious blend of shrewd businessman, artist and philosopher, likewise helps to explain his moderation. Though at the same time, the drastic efficiency he showed in the creation and administration of the *Kriegsrohstoffabteilung* (whose purpose was the co-ordination of the confiscation of large amounts of enemy property) made a moderate peace settlement considerably more difficult.<sup>240</sup> " Rathenau," a con-

<sup>236</sup> Class, Strom, 321.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Tirpitz, Dokumente, II, 67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> Schwabach, pp. 281-82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Ibid., pp. 274 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> On Rathenau see Harry Graf Kessler, Walter Rathenau, his Life and Work (New York, 1930), esp. pp. 117 ff.; H. Brinckmeyer, Die Rathenaus (München, 1922), pp. 11 ff.

temporary observed, "when it came to politics, was an industrialist first and last."<sup>241</sup> Rathenau deplored the exaggerated expectations of the annexationists. Instead he wanted the German government to issue a reassuring declaration concerning the future of Belgium, realizing that to England this question was of foremost concern. A Central European economic union with both France and Belgium participating, might be a more organic and lasting achievement than the annexation of Belgium; especially if one believed, with Rathenau, "that the economic union between these neighbors would eventually include a political union."<sup>242</sup> "To destroy and annex Belgium," he said to Conrad Haussmann in December 1914, "would be the greatest mistake Germany ever made."<sup>243</sup>

Of the various economic groups affected by the outbreak of war, none suffered more severely than Germany's commercial and shipping interests. Cut off from the rest of the world through Britain's naval blockade, their policy, naturally, was directed towards a speedy termination of the war. Their spokesman was Albert Ballin, Director of the Hapaq and close friend of the Emperor. In the enthusiasm of the first weeks of war, Ballin had hoped for large financial indemnities and colonial concessions.<sup>244</sup> Yet a few weeks later, when Germany's knock-out blow against France had failed, his enthusiasm declined noticeably. "I was in Berlin during the week," he wrote to Admiral von Tirpitz on October 1, "and I was alarmed when I became acquainted with the wild schemes which are entertained not only by the people of Berlin, but by distinguished men from the Rhineland and Westphalia." 245 Ballin, more than most people, realized how much Germany's success depended on a quick military decision. "My opinion is that the result of this world war, if it lasts twelve months, will be exactly the same as if it lasts six months. If we do not succeed in acquiring the guarantees for our compensation demands within a few months, the further progress of events will not appreciably improve our chances in this direction." As to war aims, Germany "must find compensation by annexing valuable territories beyond the seas; but for the peaceful enjoyment of such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Mendelssohn Bartholdy, p. 224.

<sup>242</sup> W. Rathenau, Briefe (2 vols., Dresden, 1926), I, 164-65, 170.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Haussmann, p. 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Tirpitz, Dokumente, II, 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> B. Huldermann, Albert Ballin (Berlin, 1922), p. 240.

overseas gain, we shall be dependent on the good-will of Great Britain." To assure this good-will, we must aim at "a new grouping of powers around an alliance between Germany, Great Britain, and France. This alliance will become possible as soon as we shall have vanquished France and Belgium, and as soon as you [i. e., Admiral von Tirpitz] have made up your mind to bring about an understanding with Great Britain concerning the naval program."<sup>246</sup>

Here we have a clear expression of the moderates' creed: the colonization and commercial exploitation of the world not in opposition to, but in friendly competition with Great Britain. That such a policy, which had the sympathy and support of the government, was possible, Anglo-German relations on the eve of war had proved.<sup>247</sup> Yet the voices of moderation and conciliation were drowned by the clamor of Anglophobe annexationists, patriotic Pan-Germans, naval enthusiasts, and greedy industrialists for the complete and final defeat of the British Empire.

At the beginning of January 1915, Ballin wrote an article for the *Frankfurter Zeitung* which caused considerable discussion.<sup>248</sup> Its title, "The Wet Triangle," together with such terms as "real guarantees and securities" or "freedom of the seas," soon became one of the clichés of annexationist propaganda. The term referred to that section of the North Sea between the island of Heligoland and the mouths of the Elbe and Ems. Hemmed in between the narrow confines of this triangle, the German fleet, according to Ballin, lacked effective bases from which to operate successfully against the blockading British navy. "We must, therefore, find a naval base beyond the limits of the North Sea," he wrote, "which will secure us in the future the same opportunities in this part of the world as England now possesses and ruthlessly exploits."

Although this latter statement, as Ballin's friend and biographer Huldermann points out, probably referred to a naval base on the Atlantic, in Northern Africa perhaps, it was sufficiently vague to be applicable to the coast of Belgium. This was promptly done by the supporters of Belgian annexation.<sup>249</sup> Nor was Ballin himself

<sup>246</sup> Ibid., pp. 237-40; Tirpitz, Dokumente, I, 131, 134.

 $<sup>^{247}</sup>$  E. F. Willis, Prince Lichnowsky, Ambassador of Peace (Berkeley, 1942), chs. IV and V.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> A. Ballin, "Das nasse Dreieck," Frankfurter Zeitung, Jan. 4, 1915.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> Huldermann, pp. 234-35; Hoetzsch, I, 51.

as disinterested in the acquisition of a German foothold in Belgium as Huldermann would have us believe. Since he was against outright annexation, he suggested that Germany acquire a lease over the port of Zeebrugge as well as a voice in the administration of Antwerp.<sup>250</sup> On February 8, 1915, Ballin, in a memorandum to the government, suggested far-reaching economic co-operation between Germany and Belgium.<sup>251</sup>

In concluding this brief survey of moderate opinion in Germany we may say that any real opposition to territorial aggrandizement was rare, even among people known as anti-annexationist. Return to the *status quo ante bellum* seemed desirable only to the Social Democrats; and even here, as we have seen, opinion was divided. Some concessions, perhaps in the colonial field, some territorial or financial indemnity, appeared justifiable even to the most moderate German. Because he believed, just as strongly as most of his annexationist compatriots, that the Fatherland had suffered a premeditated encirclement and attack from a conspiracy of jealous enemies. It was a question of degree and not of principle that separated the ultra-annexationists from their moderate opponents.

## The Government and the Annexationists

It has been necessary to treat the formative period of Germany's war aims in some detail, because it helps us to understand the changing attitude of the German government, as represented by Bethmann Hollweg, towards western expansionism. We have seen how, when war broke out, both government and people had no aim beyond that of defending the Fatherland. The initial victories and sacrifices of Germany's army, however, soon created an almost universal, though still vague hope for some kind of tangible reward. Except for the majority of Social Democrats, almost all Germans expected an increase in colonial holdings and, perhaps, a few minor improvements along the frontiers.

Yet despite this growing sentiment in favor of some degree of expansion, the government maintained its initial attitude of vagueness, hinting at the necessity for "real guarantees and securities," but failing to define that term, at least publicly. It was possible,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, p. 443; Wolff, Marsch, p. 266; P. F. Stubmann, Ballin, Leben und Werk eines deutschen Reeders (Berlin, 1926), p. 258.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 37.

therefore, for the moderate section of the German people, especially the Socialists, to claim official support and to set the government against those of their countrymen who hoped for considerable and tangible gains on the European continent as well as overseas.<sup>252</sup> At the same time, however, we find the German Chancellor committing himself in private to a program of western expansion which, to be sure, only called for the annexation of parts of eastern France, but which also outlined a plan for the political, economic, and military domination of Belgium which, in some ways, was more extreme than outright annexation.

To explain the rise of annexationist hopes among the German people and political parties entirely as a natural phenomenon, however, in which the expansionist appetite developed as the table was set with increasingly inviting territories along the western border, would be much too superficial. Still less would it be correct to attribute the changes in Bethmann Hollweg's attitude to such a cause. For he, more than the rest of the German people, was deeply aware of the artificiality of Germany's initial military successes. To understand the rise of annexationism in its more extreme forms, we had to turn to those groups within Germany in which this annexationism was not entirely spontaneous: the Pan-Germans and the representatives of heavy industry. The pre-war writings of the former and the pre-war economic policy of the latter point towards Western Europe as the most desirable field for expansion. This, plus the fact that the war was barely a month old before both groups had voiced their specific demands, belies the assertion that with them, as well, the rise of annexationist aims was a spontaneous affair.

However the advantages to be gained from this more extreme annexationism were by no means equally obvious to the whole German people. To convince those parts of the population who were either opposed to it, who held moderate views, or who were undecided (perhaps the largest number, and often referred to as *Laubfrosch Annexionisten*, tree-frog annexationists, "who jumped up when the war news was good, and jumped down when it was bad"), a propaganda barrage was let loose which soon made it appear as though the whole German people in equal spontaneity demanded the annexation of large sections of Western (and Eas-

<sup>252</sup> Ibid., p. 66.

tern) Europe. How far this propaganda succeeded and what share it had in converting already existing vague demands into a definite program is hard to say. At the very least, the expansionists made the government and many people believe that the majority of Germans demanded the annexation of Belgium and parts of northeastern France.

It was towards the German government that most of the annexationist propaganda was directed, since the government, and not the people, was responsible for the conduct of war and the conclusion of peace. It was for the government's benefit primarily that innumerable memoranda and petitions were drawn up and presented and that cleverly concealed pressure-group tactics were employed. Germany's annexationists suspected, with good reason, that their Chancellor did not fully share their territorial ambitions. Bethmann definitely belonged in the camp of the moderates. Germany's successful pre-war policy, especially in her economic and commercial gains, was ample proof to the Chancellor that she did not need any considerable expansion to gain her place in the sun. Imperialism, Weltpolitik, while leading to international conflict, might just as easily lead to a type of international cooperation, of which international finance and the international working-class movement were already existing examples. One of Bethmann's closest associates had laid down some of these ideas in a most interesting book, which had great influence on the Chancellor.253

Here was one of the chief causes for the annexationist attack upon Bethmann. To the influence of some of his colleagues, notably Tirpitz, and the pressure of "public opinion," we must add the uninterrupted bombardment with propaganda from annexationist quarters, if we want to understand Bethmann's change of attitude between August 1914 and May 1915. Most of these plans for westward expansion, though primarily concerned with France and Belgium, really aimed at the defeat of the one nation most deeply hated by the protagonists of the *Drang nach Westen*—Great Britain. Napoleon's dictum: "Antwerp is a pistol, directed at the heart of England," became a much-used cliché to express this ultimate aim of westward expansion.<sup>254</sup> Anyone opposing this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> "J. J. Ruedorffer" [Kurt Riezler]. (*Grundzüge der Weltpolitik in der Gegenwart* (Berlin, 1913); see also Bethmann Hollweg, II, 16; Schäfer, *Leben*, pp. 168-69; Stubmann, p. 265; Kanner, II, 120.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 50.

Anglophobia, of course, laid himself open to the merciless attacks of the annexationists. The government's failure both to take strong military or naval measures against England, and to declare itself openly in favor of far-reaching western annexations, to serve as bases against the British Isles, fostered malicious rumors among its opponents. Perhaps the fact that the Kaiser was related to the British royal family, or his investments in the Bank of England, or the indebtedness of Bethmann Hollweg to "international Jewish finance" (to meet the debts of his son) might help to explain the mildness of Germany's policy towards England?<sup>255</sup> In this connection we should also mention the mysterious and abortive attempts in the fall of 1914 to overthrow the Chancellor "because he refused to keep Belgium." They were led by Dr. Witting, director of the National Bank, formerly mayor of Posen, and brother of Maximilian Harden (their real name being Wittkowski), in collaboration with various annexationist newspapers and members of the Army League.<sup>256</sup> It is interesting to note that the change in Bethmann's attitude towards the future of Belgium between March and May 1915, coincided with a period of intensified annexationist propaganda and attacks, and in one instance at least (Bethmann's answer to Westarp's letter of April 17, 1915) had a direct connection with such an attack.257

If, despite Bethmann's concessions to the annexationist spirit of the period, the ultra-annexationists still persisted in their attacks upon his person and his policy, we find a partial explanation in the fact that the Chancellor's sympathies and traditional policy were friendly towards Great Britain. Yet there was a still deeper cause for this annexationist antagonism against Bethmann. We have already pointed out the relationship between expansionist aims and domestic reforms. While the annexationsts denied the necessity for such reforms and hoped to divert any demands for more representative government by the promise of territorial expansion, the Chancellor believed that, no matter how the war ended, governmental reforms had to be one of its lasting results. "Even

 $<sup>^{255}</sup>$  Westarp, II, 36. For other attacks on Bethmann see Class, Strom, p. 391, and Bodelschwingh, pp. 37 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> Haussmann, p. 17; Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 396-97; Stubmann, p. 255.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> See above, p. 15. Professor Schüler admits the possible connection between the numerous annexationist petitions in May and Bethmann's speech on May 28: Schäfer, "Kriegszielbewegung," *Der Krieg*, II, 5. Bethmann himself stated that he felt helpless before the propaganda campaign of the Pan-Germans: Valentini, pp. 226-27; Wolff, *Marsch*, p. 93.

the most perfect victory," he wrote after the war, "had to secure the influence of the lower classes in the state, their co-operation and joint responsibility." <sup>258</sup> To him the Kaiser's words of August 4, 1915: "I no longer know parties, I only know Germans," represented a most binding obligation. At this he hinted in his Reichstag speech of December 2, 1914: "When the war is over," he said, "parties will reappear. For without parties, without controversy, there is no political life, even for the freest and most united people. But we want to fight—and I for one promise to do so—we want to fight for one aim: that in this controversy there will be only Germans." <sup>259</sup>

To the Pan-Germans and the parties of the Right, this threat of impending governmental reforms, through which they would lose most of their disproportionate political influence, could only be averted by getting rid of Bethmann Hollweg. It is here that we have to look for the real cause of opposition against the Chancellor. "My God," Class exclaimed, when he read the Kaiser's August proclamation, "we have lost the war on the domestic front!" 260 It was the mission of the Pan-German League, he and his friends decided, to "lead the fight against Bethmann Hollweg." In this he was joined by industrialists, Conservatives, and many National Liberals.<sup>261</sup> Hugenberg, his brother-in-arms, even went so far as to attempt an alliance between the Six Economic Organizations of the famous petition and the bourgeois parties (such as Hirsch had contemplated in the field of war aims), to counteract Bethmann's democratizing domestic policy. The plan, according to Westarp "too beautiful to be true," came to nothing.<sup>262</sup> It was more popular and ultimately just as effective, to launch patriotic attacks against the Chancellor's weak foreign policy. instead of reactionary and unpopular attacks against his liberal and far-sighted domestic policy.

Bethmann Hollweg, instead of taking the determined leadership in a policy which expressed his ideals of moderation abroad and reform at home, followed a course of vagueness, which satisfied

 $<sup>^{258}</sup>$  Bethmann Hollweg, II, 33 ff. On the whole problem of domestic reform see  $U.\,A.,\,4.$  Reihe, VII (1), 229 ff. and VIII, 156 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, pp. 17 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> Class, Strom, pp. 306-07.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> Ibid., pp. 328, 355-56; Westarp, II, 24-25; T. Wolff, Vollendete Tatsachen (Berlin, 1918), p. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>862</sup> Westarp, II, 51.

everyone and no one. The term "real guarantees and securities" which he used in his speech on May 28, 1915, to describe Germany's war aims is a case in point. Yet he was guilty at times of more than mere vagueness. In the question of Belgium, for instance, he showed an amazing ingenuity in adapting his statements to the taste of his audience, without basically changing them. In early March 1915, he received the Socialists Haase and Scheidemann. "The war aims, which the Pan-Germans demand, are nonsense!" he proclaimed. "I don't think of realizing them. To annex Belgium! A country with an entirely foreign population." 263 Yet a few weeks later, the Chancellor presented the annexationist Count Westarp with a program of war aims, "against which [according to the Count] no objection could be raised." <sup>264</sup> Again in May, Bethmann told his aims to an annexationist delegation, which was entirely satisfied with his statement. To the Socialists, a few days later, he presented a milder version of the same views, which "breathed sincere and deep longing for peace." 265

Behind the Chancellor's vacillation stood his desire to maintain the artificial unity of the *Burgfriede*, and thus the strength of the German nation in time of war.

For the sake of German unity [Bethmann wrote after the war] no policy could be conducted during the war but a policy of the 'diagonal.' Especially in times of excitement and restlessness, in which extremes fight each other, thus increasing their antagonism, such a policy is an ungrateful task. It is attacked from both sides, must seek its followers according to circumstances, and lacks the glamor as well as the momentary force which are characteristic of a more reckless policy... Decisive measures, open controversy in domestic questions, were possible and perhaps necessary when peace was secured and the external struggle was ended. During the war, I considered it my patriotic duty, to walk the narrow path of cool-headedness among passions, tensions, and delusions.<sup>266</sup>

Bethmann's middle-of-the-road policy turned out badly, as we shall see. Yet that it was the result of his sincere endeavor for the well-being of his country cannot be denied. His honesty, experience, knowledge, thoroughness, and patriotism were recognized even by some of his most bitter political opponents.<sup>267</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> See above, pp. 15-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 349.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 34-36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> Westarp, II, 361; W. Ziegler, Volk ohne Führung (Hamburg, 1938), p. 43.

# Chapter II

# A PERIOD OF CONFLICT — CHANCELLOR VS. ANNEXATIONISTS (JUNE 1915–AUGUST 1916)

CINCE WE ARE dealing with a subject which does not show D any clear subdivisions, organization may easily seem arbitrary. There are no natural highlights in the history of German war aims during the first part of the war as there are during the second with the Peace Note of December 1916, or the Peace Resolution of July 1917. The end of May 1915, was simply chosen as a convenient break since at this time we find the first clear and public statement on the part of the German government (i.e., Bethmann Hollweg) in favor of an expansionist peace. There was no change in developments after this date. The main trends continued: growing support of large war aims in the public statements of the government, paralleled, strangely enough, by an increasing cleavage between the German Chancellor and the more violent annexationists. The explanation for this paradox is that, as Bethmann's statements on war aims grew stronger, his private views on the subject yielded to his increasing pessimism and became more and more moderate. His fatal vacillation, keynote of the early period, thus lasted into the second year of the war.

Certain new elements, however, were injected into the controversy over war aims during this period. The hardships resulting from heavy fighting on several fronts, and the growing scarcity of vital necessities of life due to the blockade, aroused in the majority of Germans a longing for the speedy termination of war. Whether this was to be achieved through a peace of understanding on the basis of the *status quo ante* (involving the renunciation of all territorial gains), or through a peace of victory, dealing a deadly blow to Germany's most dangerous adversary, Great Britain (by means of the newly developed submarine weapon) were questions which helped to intensify the already existing strife inside Germany and to widen the split which the controversy over war aims had reopened among the German people. Another factor, first prominent in this period, was the development of a German administration in the conquered regions of the west. Beginning shortly after the outbreak of war, Germany's policy, especially in Belgium, began to show certain marked trends which, better than mere governmental declarations, indicated her true aims in those regions. And finally, it is in this period that the first traces appeared of that rivalry between the civil authority vested in the Chancellor, and the military authority which, though theoretically vested in the Emperor, came increasingly under the influence of the Chief of the General Staff. This dualism did not become acute until after the change in the army's Supreme Command at the end of August 1916, when General von Falkenhayn was replaced by Field Marshal von Hindenburg and his close associate, General Ludendorff. Yet the first indications of a difference of opinion between the civil and military departments of the government about the future of Western Europe already appear in the second year of the war. With the change of command in August 1916, the division of opinion, which ran through the whole German people, definitely invaded the government of the German Reich.

# Dualism of Bethmann Hollweg's Policy

The vacillation which the German Chancellor had shown in his statements on war aims during the first year continued during the second. There was moderation, such as his promise to Hungary's Foreign Minister Count Tisza, that Germany would not endanger the chances for an early peace through exaggerated territorial demands; <sup>1</sup> or again his statement to Conrad Haussmann that he "wanted only as much Belgian territory as was absolutely necessary for political and strategic reasons."<sup>2</sup> Yet in his public statements the Chancellor reiterated and even enlarged, the vague promises of his early speeches. On August 1, 1915, first anniversary of the outbreak of war, an Imperial proclamation, approved by Bethmann, promised the German people "a peace which offers the necessary military, political, and economic securities for our future, and which fulfills the conditions for the unhindered development of our creative forces at home and on the free seas."<sup>3</sup> The " real

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Haussmann, p. 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, Aug. 1, 1915 (2d ed.).

guarantees and securities " of May 28, are here more closely defined as "military, political, and economic," and the concept "freedom of the seas " has been added. Before this proclamation appeared, the annexationists were quite worried, because it was rumored that it would again state that the war was not one of conquest and that Germany did not intend to expand her continental frontiers.<sup>4</sup> But only the first part of the rumor turned out to be true, and then the reference was in the past tense: "It was not lust for conquest that brought us into the war," the proclamation read. To such a statement the annexationists had no objection.

Shortly afterwards, on August 14-16, the Social Democrats framed their own declaration in which they demanded "the restitution of Belgium." <sup>5</sup> One of Bethmann's aides, Under-Secretary Wahnschaffe, managed to suppress this section of the manifesto, even though he knew that the Chancellor was in absolute agreement with it. What he was afraid of was that "the military authorities might raise objections." <sup>6</sup> Here we have a first indication that the government's war aims policy was opposed not only by the annexationists but by its own military men as well.

In the meantime, Bethmann Hollweg's vacillation continued. On August 19 he told the Reichstag: "Germany must so cement and strengthen her position, that the other powers will lose their taste for a renewal of their encirclement policy. We must gain the freedom of the seas for our own protection and that of all peoples."  $\tau$ These words found the undivided approval of the annexationist press.<sup>8</sup> Yet when he was discussing the future of Belgium privately with Crown Prince Rupprecht of Bavaria, the Chancellor reverted to his moderate views.<sup>9</sup>

A further example of the Chancellor's straddling on war aims came on the occasion of a Socialist interpellation in the Reichstag on December 9, 1915, which asked the government to enter into peace negotiations as soon as possible.<sup>10</sup> Bethmann made two speeches, one before and one in answer to the interpellation. The

<sup>4</sup> Westarp, II, 308; Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, p. 481.

<sup>5</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 61.

<sup>6</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 62.

<sup>7</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, p. 219.

 $^{\rm 8}\,{\rm For}$  a summary of these press comments see Thimme, Bethmann Hollweg, pp. 60-61.

<sup>9</sup> Rupprecht, I, 395.

<sup>10</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 68; Westarp, II, 59.

first speech ended on the usual vague note: "We continue with determination the struggle which our enemies have wished upon us, so as to attain what Germany's future demands from us."<sup>11</sup> Later, after the Socialist Scheidemann's speech, the Chancellor became more specific:

One thing our enemies must realize: the longer and more ardently they wage this war against us, the more the guarantees, necessary for ourselves, will increase. Neither in the East nor in the West shall our present enemies have at their disposal gates of invasion, through which to threaten us anew and more seriously than in the past. . . We must defend ourselves politically and militarily and must secure the possibility of our economic development. . . This war can only end with a peace which, as far as is humanly possible, will give us securities against our adversaries.<sup>12</sup>

The jingo press acclaimed the speech and gave it the usual annexationist slant.<sup>13</sup> Yet in the very same speech, Bethmann also said: "We do not carry on this struggle, which has been forced upon us, to subject foreign peoples, but to protect our life and our liberty! For the German government, this war has remained what it was from the beginning and what it has remained in all our proclamations: the defensive war of the German people." <sup>14</sup> It was this latter statement which caused Scheidemann to say: "With this speech the Chancellor once again had moved away from the German annexationists, whose hatred, consequently, pursued him to an ever growing extent." <sup>15</sup>

The favorable reactions of both annexationists and anti-annexationists to Bethmann's speech are an excellent illustration of the dual interpretation to which the Chancellor's views on war aims lent themselves. However, in this case, the reactions were not entirely accidental or unforeseen. The speech of Bethmann had been conceived from the start as a compromise.<sup>16</sup> A week before it was delivered, the Chancellor granted an interview to delegates from the annexationist parties, to agree on the procedure to be followed during the session of December 9. On this occasion, Bethmann gave an outline of his contemplated speech, to which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, p. 433.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, pp. 436-37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Thimme, Bethmann Hollweg, p. 89; Great Britain, General Staff, Daily Review of the Foreign Press, Dec. 22, 1915, pp. 10-11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, p. 437.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 380.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> For this and the following see Haussmann, p. 52.

Bassermann and Westarp objected because it did not sufficiently stress Germany's territorial ambitions. The Chancellor, in turn, opposed the more radical demands of the annexationists, not on general principle, but because too heavy demands might spoil the chances for a negotiated peace. Finally a compromise, suggested by the Progessive leader von Payer, was accepted by all present. To make sure that this compromise would also meet the approval of the anti-annexationist Socialists, Bethmann discussed his speech of December 9 with Scheidemann as well. The latter, in return, gave Bethmann the contents of his interpellation and the Chancellor expressed his approval.<sup>17</sup> On December 9 both men delivered their pre-arranged speeches.<sup>18</sup>

Despite this continuous ambiguity in Bethmann Hollweg's statements on war aims, however, there can be little doubt that the Chancellor's views were closer to those of the Socialists than to those of the annexationists. In a memorandum to the Prussian Minister of the Interior, dated December 9, 1915, Bethmann warmly defended the Socialists against von Loebell's accusation, that it was they who had started the controversy over war aims and that the *Kriegszielbewegung* of the Right was merely a countermove against this Socialist agitation. Bethmann Hollweg, on the contrary, held that the moderate position of the Socialists gave the parties of the Right a welcome excuse to reopen their traditional fight against the Left, temporarily interrupted by the *Burgfriede.*<sup>19</sup>

Nevertheless the Chancellor's vacillating policy continued. Shortly after his Reichstag speech he suggested to the Foreign Affairs Committee of the German *Bundesrat* "the creation of a customs union and a mutually protective alliance between Germany and Belgium." <sup>20</sup> Towards the end of January 1916, in a conversation with Colonel House (who was then on his second European mission), "the Chancellor intimated that Germany would be willing to evacuate both France and Belgium, if an indemnity were paid." <sup>21</sup> In March, speaking to the representatives of the press, Bethmann advised moderation in the discussion of

<sup>21</sup> Seymour, II, 142.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 62-63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 380.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Westarp, II, 282-83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Rupprecht, I, 30.

war aims. "He did not consider it wise to bluff with far-reaching annexationist demands and then become more and more modest."<sup>22</sup> Still the Chancellor failed to take his own advice; because in his address on April 5, 1916, he made his most specific reference to the future of Western Europe in general and of Belgium in particular:

Can anyone believe that we shall give up areas which we have occupied in the west, on which the blood of our people has been spilled, without gaining complete security for our future? We shall secure real guarantees for ourselves, so that Belgium will not become an Anglo-French vassal state, and be made a military and economic outpost against Germany. Here, too, will be no *status quo ante*. Here, too, fate will not retrace its steps. Germany cannot again abandon to *Verwelschung* [Latinization] the tribe of the Flemings, which has been kept down so long.<sup>23</sup>

Again the annexationist press hailed the Chancellor's stand, in which some papers saw an endorsement of the famous demands of the Six Economic Organizations.<sup>24</sup> The reference to the Flemings gains added significance in the light of simultaneous governmental policy in Belgium, which we shall discuss at greater length below.

In view of the constant discrepancy between Bethmann Hollweg's public and private views, it should not surprise us to find him making one of his most pessimistic statements only a little more than a week after he had given the above speech. On April 13, 1916, he wrote on the margin of a petition demanding the free discussion of war aims:

We should not think of something very wonderful in connection with this famous discussion of war aims. Our situation at the end of the war will not be such that we can choose freely among a series of entirely different possibilities. We shall rather try to make of the situation whatever we can. As far as there will be a choice, it will be limited by the fact that Belgium, colonies, and a large indemnity cannot all be had. The value of colonies and an indemnity will have to be balanced against the value of Belgian guarantees.<sup>25</sup>

Such were the German Chancellor's public and private declarations on war aims up to the spring of 1916. As the year progressed, they became more and more pessimistic, a fact easily explained

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> U. A., 15. Ausschuss, II, 166.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Reichstag, vol. 307, pp. 851-52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Thimme, Bethmann Hollweg, p. 103; U.A., 4, Reihe, XII (1), 66.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Westarp, II, 191.

by military reverses—the failure of the German army to win a decisive victory at Verdun, and the entry of Rumania into the war in August. But how are we to explain his previous vacillating policy in the second half of 1915 and early 1916?

Here also military factors played an important part. After Germany's advance in the west had been halted in late 1914, and the Russian threat in the east had been overcome, the war had become one of position, in which existing military strength was pretty evenly distributed between the Central and Allied Powers. As far as intrinsic military power and potential were concerned, however, the Allies definitely held the upper hand. It was merely a question of time before their superiority of matériel and manpower would crush the resistance of Germany and her allies, whose only salvation lay in a concentrated use of all forces on land and sea. Consequently on February 4, the German Admiralty stepped up its U-boat activity in the waters adjacent to the British Isle's, thus embarking on a course which had the gravest consequences. Simultaneously, the Army Supreme Command decided to direct its main land offensive against the eastern front. Between May and September 1915, the concerted efforts of German and Austro-Hungarian armies pushed the Russian forces out of Poland and Galicia and advanced the front far into the plains of Eastern Europe. They failed, however, to achieve the decisive annihilation of the Russian army, partly due to differences of opinion between the Chief of the General Staff, von Falkenhayn, and the commanders of the eastern front, Hindenburg and Ludendorff. At the same time, a concentrated Anglo-French offensive in the west near Arras and on the Champagne sector made exclusive operations on the eastern front impossible. Italy's entrance into the war and the Allied expedition against the Dardanelles, further limited the freedom of action of the Central Powers.

Yet the military results of 1915, though not decisive, were sufficiently impressive outwardly to keep alive the optimism of a large section of the German people. It is this very fact which further helps to explain the Chancellor's dual attitude towards war aims. The military situation was never bad enough to make possible a public renunciation of all annexationist aims (such as the Socialists demanded). At the same time, extremely annexationist statements were equally unwarranted. None of the military successes had dealt a decisive blow to one of Germany's adversaries, and it became increasingly clear that perhaps the only way to break **a** link of the chain which the Allies had forged around Central Europe was through a negotiated peace with one of the encircling powers. Such a peace, however, would have necessitated the abandonment of at least some of Germany's war aims and would have called for a certain moderation in the government's public statements. Instead, these statements became ever more extreme.

Before we analyze further the policy of Bethmann Hollweg a few words about the attempts at a negotiated peace. We have already seen how negotiations with Russia were started in early 1915. These efforts, favored by certain groups within the army and navy, and pursued through the remainder of 1915 and into 1916, had no success.<sup>26</sup> The vast areas Germany held after the summer offensive in Eastern Europe, plus the hardships which East Prussia had suffered at the hands of the Russians in the early days of the war, made an extension of Germany's frontier in the east equally, if not more desirable than expansion to the west. To curtail the power of Russian despotism was looked upon with favor by the Social Democrats, to whom Russia was the chief enemy. It was in the east, finally, that German agrarian interests hoped to reap tangible rewards for their support of industrial aims in Western Europe.

As to the chances for a separate peace with the western powers, the numerous attempts at a settlement with Russia naturally limited Germany's efforts in that direction. France's aim to recover the lost provinces, moreover, made peace with her difficult, if not impossible, since the majority of Germans, including most Socialists, were against the return of Alsace-Lorraine.<sup>27</sup> "Whoever raises the knife to cut pieces from the body of the German people," the Socialist Landsberg had said in the Reichstag, "no matter where he applies it, will meet the German people, united in defense, and ready to knock the knife from his hand." <sup>28</sup>

The popular hatred of England and the simultaneous interest

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Forster, pp. 24 ff., 42 ff.; Brunauer, *Peace Proposals*, pp. 41 ff.; W. K. von Korostowetz, *Lenin im Hause der Väter* (Berlin, 1928), pp. 185-90; Bethmann Hollweg, II, 42; Tirpitz, *Erinnerungen*, p. 262; E. Hölzle, "Die Ostfrage im Weltkrieg," *Vergangenheit und Gegenwart*, XXVIII (1938), 208 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Dahlin, pp. 21, 64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, p. 445.

in Belgium made a settlement with the second great western power equally difficult. The British blockade and the German submarine retaliation all added fuel to the flames. The time was not ripe as yet for an agreement with England.<sup>29</sup> In February 1916, the Allies guaranteed the restitution of Belgium, and in May made a similar declaration on the integrity of the Belgian Congo.<sup>30</sup> The Drang nach Westen, like the Drang nach Osten was incompatible with a separate peace. Yet even so, innumerable minor efforts, direct and through neutral channels, were made to bring about the end of war. They did not assume serious proportions until late in 1916, when Germany's attempt to exhaust her western opponents through the Verdun offensive had proved equally costly to both sides.<sup>31</sup> When in the second half of 1916 the initiative suddenly shifted from the Central Powers to the Allies, when the Russian offensive in the Bukovina, the Italian attacks on the Isonzo front, and the Anglo-French offensive on the Somme were followed up by Rumania's declaration of war in August, a quest for peace began in Germany which culminated in the official peace offer of the German government on December 12, 1916.

If the military situation was sufficiently favorable until early 1916 to justify the hope for German territorial gains, it was by no means favorable enough to justify the hopes for the far-reaching expansion which the Chancellor's official statements aroused. Why, then—we must qualify our earlier question—did Bethmann Hollweg not present the moderate aims which he uttered privately, to the German people? One explanation we have already found in his sincere desire to maintain domestic peace and internal unity through a middle-of-the-road policy. To this we must add as influential factors pressures of two kinds: On the one hand pressure from governmental agencies and individuals, public opinion and annexationists, and on the other hand, pressure of circumstances growing out of Germany's policy in the occupied areas of Western Europe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Brunauer, Peace Proposals, pp. 14-15; Dahlin, p. 38; Max von Baden, Erinnerungen und Dokumente (Stuttgart, 1927), pp. 21, note 1, 24, 36 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Schulthess, vol. 57 (2), pp. 333, 336.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> One of the reasons given for this offensive was that the fortress of Verdun threatened Germany's occupation of the French iron regions; see M. Schwarte, ed., *Der Grosse Krieg 1914-18* (10 vols., Leipzig, 1921-33), II, 481; Friedensburg, pp. 117-18.

# A PERIOD OF CONFLICT

#### The War Aims of Other Public Figures

As far as pressure from other governmental agencies is concerned, it may seem strange that in our discussion of Germany's war aims policy thus far we have concentrated on the Reich's Chancellor and have almost completely ignored the Kaiser. The reason is that William II, weighed down by many responsibilities, withdrew almost entirely as the war progressed, accepting the policy of his Chancellor and his Chief of Staff instead of suggesting his own. As a result, Bethmann Hollweg gained a political position such as no other Chancellor had ever held under William II. In the field of war aims, the Emperor, except for occasional oratorical outbursts, followed closely in the footsteps of his Chancellor, at least during the first years of the war. Since the Battle of the Marne, so Bethmann Hollweg tells us,

the Kaiser always agreed with me, that if we only held our own, we had already won the war. Once in a while, when his generals announced great victories, his impetuous temperament carried him away into making different statements... But never did the unequalled military feats of his army seriously give him the faintest idea of satisfying with German blood a desire for world domination, which was alien to him.<sup>32</sup>

The heir to the German throne, Crown Prince Wilhelm, under the influence of Conservative expansionists, at first tended to be less moderate than his father. His political adviser, Baron von Maltzahn, helped temporarily to make him the rallying point of Conservative opposition against the moderate policy of the government.<sup>33</sup> Yet as early as December 1915, young William showed signs of moderation in a memorandum which advised the conclusion of a separate peace, preferably with Great Britain.<sup>34</sup>

While the Kaiser was in accord with his Chancellor's moderation, the heads of some of the other federal states were more radical. We have already mentioned the demand to annex Belgium, which the Grand Duke of Oldenburg tried to bring before the Kaiser via the King of Bavaria.<sup>35</sup> In March 1915, he added to this demand a large section of northern France.<sup>36</sup> Duke Johann Albrecht of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 18. See also Kanner, III, 210; E. Stern-Rubarth, Graf Brockdorff-Rantzau (Berlin, 1929), p. 57; U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Westarp, II, 187.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Kronprinz Wilhelm, Erinnerungen (Berlin, 1922), p. 156.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Ibid., p. 373.

Mecklenburg, as president of the Deutsche Kolonialgesellschaft, hoped for a powerful African Empire as well as a series of naval and commercial stations.<sup>37</sup> By far the most numerous annexationist pronouncements were made by King Ludwig III of Bavaria. As early as August 1914, he had visited Imperial Headquarters trying to urge upon William II the annexation of Belgium and northern France and their incorporation into Prussia. Bavaria, in that case, should be given compensations in the south, perhaps Alsace-Lorraine. Bethmann at the time managed to prevent the King from bringing the matter before the Kaiser.<sup>38</sup> In October and December 1914, Ludwig began dropping vague hints to the effect that after a German victory all would not be as before the war.<sup>39</sup> His most important statement came on June 7, 1915, at a dinner given by the Bayrischer Kanalverein in Fürth. "Russia's declaration of war," he said, "was followed by that of France; and when in addition the English fell upon us, I said: I am happy about it, I am happy, because now we can settle accounts with our enemies, because now-and that particularly concerns the Kanalvereinwe gain a direct outlet from the Rhine into the Sea." 40 This reference to the mouth of the Rhine did little to soothe the already existing fears of the Dutch about their future in case Germany should annex Belgium. To cover up this blunder, it was said that old Ludwig did not realize the mouth of the Rhine was in the hands of the Dutch.<sup>41</sup> But still, the fact that the King of Bavaria "who surely must be most reliably informed on our military situation," made such optimistic statements, left little doubt in the minds of less well-informed people "that we shall be able, at the conclusion of peace, to put our hand on Belgium." <sup>42</sup> Ludwig III continued throughout 1915 and 1916 to adhere to his earlier aims.43 The hope for western annexations and for a corresponding Bavarian hold over Alsace also increased the always prominent particularism

<sup>40</sup> Schulthess, vol. 56 (1), pp. 215-16; V. Naumann, Profile (München, 1925), pp. 116-17.

<sup>41</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (2), 335.

<sup>42</sup> Münchner Neueste Nachrichten, June 8, 1915.

<sup>43</sup> Zils, pp. 67, 98; Grumbach, p. 6; B. Graf von Hutten Czapski, Sechzig Jahre Politik und Gesellschaft, (2 vols., Berlin, 1936), II, 317.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Grumbach, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, p. 448.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> W. Zils, König Ludwig III. im Weltkrieg (München, 1917), pp. 21-22, 30-31.

of Bavaria during the war.<sup>44</sup> In contrast to his father, the Bavarian Crown Prince Rupprecht soon gave up his initial hopes for an annexationist peace. From the beginning of 1915 he maintained that Germany should not only give up and completely restore Belgium, but that she should renounce all conquests and seek a peace of understanding.<sup>45</sup> Rupprecht ultimately became one of the leading forces of moderation in German war aims policy.

Except for such influence as they had on the formation of public opinion, the views of these various rulers had no bearing on the policy of the Empire. What influence there was of the federal states was exerted through the Committee on Foreign Relations of the *Bundesrat*, which likewise did not amount to much. The committee held some thirteen meetings during the war, of which the first did not take place until November 3, 1915. The procedure at each meeting was for the Chancellor or his Foreign Secretary to report on the foreign affairs of the Empire, after which questions might be asked. Opposition to or criticism of the government's policy was never expressed.<sup>46</sup>

Another element of influence upon Bethmann Hollweg's policy came from his various colleagues in the government, military and civilian. The Foreign Office followed closely the policy laid down by the Chancellor. The few private statements we find during this early period from Secretary of State von Jagow and Under-Secretary Zimmermann show the moderation we have already found in the Chancellor's unofficial utterances. What official statements were made during the first part of the war were mainly the work of Bethmann Hollweg. In August 1915, and again in May 1916, von Jagow complained to Conrad Haussmann about the exaggeration shown in annexationist claims.<sup>47</sup> On June 7, 1916, however, he wrote to the German ambassador in Washington, Count Bernstorff, expressing his skepticism of Wilson's attempts at mediation, adding that "if the progress of the war were to continue favorable for us, a peace founded on the absolute status quo ante would be unacceptable." <sup>48</sup> Zimmermann's views in various conversations with

44 Haussmann, pp. 62-63; Ziegler, p. 181.

<sup>45</sup> Rupprecht, I, 394; Naumann, Profile, p. 150; V. Naumann, Dokumente und Argumente (Berlin, 1928), p. 254.

<sup>46</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 49.

<sup>47</sup> Haussmann, pp. 44, 61-62; Erzberger, p. 228.

<sup>48</sup> Official German Documents relating to the World War (2 vols., New York, 1923), II, 978.

the Austrian journalist Kanner were similar.49 Colonial Secretary Solf continued his agitation for the return and extension of Germany's colonial possessions.<sup>50</sup> There was a general increase of colonial propaganda around the middle of 1916.51 In May, Solf hoped that Germany might "fill the gaps in her existing colonial empire."<sup>52</sup> A month later he added a new idea for which he was much maligned by various annexationists. To the latter German colonial expansion was only possible in conjunction with a strong anti-British naval policy. On the other hand, Solf, in an article published in the Weserzeitung, held that the control of the seas was not necessary to Germany's colonial policy. "It is not Germany alone which possesses overseas colonies. Other nations do so too, and are not troubled about England's dominion over the seas. . . . We ought to be able to make some day as strong a coalition against England as she has now made against us." 52 The press of the Right objected to such a solution.<sup>54</sup> "Colonial and overseas policy," Otto Hoetzsch wrote in the Kreuzzeitung, "are impossible without a fleet and a coast and unthinkable without the opposition against England." 55

The only real opposition within the government to the Chancellor's moderation did not come from civilian, but from naval and military circles.<sup>56</sup> For the navy, the annexation of the Belgian coast was of vital significance, since it considerably extended Germany's coastline and in Antwerp presented her with one of the world's outstanding ports. Admiral Tirpitz continued his agitation for the Flanders coast up to the time of his resignation over the submarine controversy in March of 1916.<sup>57</sup> This controversy, though not directly related to the problem of war aims, helped to intensify the existing split between annexationists and moderates. The unlimited use of the submarine weapon was increasingly considered the only means of achieving a victorious

<sup>49</sup> Kanner, II, 212, 257-58, 283.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Grumbach, p. 9; Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), pp. 123, 202.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Great Britain, Daily Review, May 27, 1916, pp. 11 ff.; W. H. Solf, Die Lehren des Weltkrieges für unsere Kolonialpolitik (Berlin, 1916).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Frankfurter Zeitung, May 30, 1916.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Bevan, War Aims, p. 29; Great Britain, Daily Review, July 6, 1916, pp. 9 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Ibid., July 12, 1916, p. 8.

<sup>55</sup> Hoetzsch, II, 346.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, p. 500; Tirpitz, Dokumente, II, 263-64, 400.

end of the war, without which, so the annexationists felt, the whole German system would collapse. It was over the question of submarine warfare that the civil and military heads of the German government ran into one of their first serious disagreements.<sup>58</sup> Up to 1916, Moltke, and after him Falkenhayn, had been too much preoccupied with military matters to interfere with problems beyond the sphere of their own department. They had made no official statement of their war aims, though in private conversation in February 1916, Falkenhayn stated: "If we give up Belgium, we are lost."<sup>59</sup> In a subsequent letter to Bethmann Hollweg, he became still more specific:

As far as the future of Belgium is concerned, there can be no doubt that the country must remain at our disposal as an area for the initial assembly of our troops, for the protection of the most important German industrial region, and as a hinterland for our position on the Flanders coast, which is indispensable for our maritime importance. From this demand automatically arises the necessity of unconditional military domination of Belgium by Germany. . . . Without this . . . Germany would lose the war in the West.<sup>60</sup>

These strategic arguments for keeping a firm hold over Belgium after the war had considerable military justification and it was understandable that the Chief of the General Staff should be eager to improve the unfavorable strategic position of his country.<sup>61</sup> Nor were these aims of Falkenhayn in any way different from those stated by Bethmann Hollweg.

The policy of non-interference by the military in the governmental affairs of Germany came to an end after August 1916, when Hindenburg and Ludendorff took over the Supreme Command. In the light of subsequent developments, it is interesting to examine the relations between Bethmann and these two men, especially Ludendorff, during the early part of the war. Since their military skill (and that of General Hoffmann) had first halted and then pushed back the Russian forces during 1914-15, Hindenburg had become the most popular figure in Germany, and both he and his associate had become important political factors. "There was hardly a day," a contemporary relates, "when minis-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 64 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Direnberger, p. 39; Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, p. 364.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> U. A., 15. Ausschuss, II, 147-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Ibid., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 54-56, esp. the notes.

ters of state or other high officials, parliamentarians, industrialists, agriculturists, journalists, etc., did not come to Kowno, the headquarters of *Ober-Ost.*"<sup>62</sup>

At first relations between the two eastern commanders and Bethmann were friendly.<sup>63</sup> General Ludendorff, the dominating figure of the team, in a series of enlightening letters to Alexander Wyneken, editor of the Königsberger Allgemeine Zeitung, repeatedly expressed his agreement with Bethmann Hollweg. On December 7, 1915, two days before Bethmann's Reichstag address, Ludendorff had a long conversation with the Chancellor. "I found him in a thoroughly determined mood," the General wrote to Wyneken, "and presented to him the views known to you." Ludendorff's aims apparently were more far-reaching than those of Bethmann in his speech of December 9. But he realized that "it is easy to speak and make demands for a man who does not have full responsibility. It is necessary to put oneself in the position of the responsible leader. To expect, at this stage, binding decisions from him would, in my opinion, be premature." <sup>64</sup> Yet even if the Chancellor was slow in making up his mind. Ludendorff was certain that

he will do so in the end and in a strong fashion. Whatever we can do from here, shall be done. I certainly hope that the Field-Marshal [i.e., Hindenburg] will not lend his word to a rotten peace. To my greatest satisfaction complete agreement in this matter exists between the Field-Marshal and myself. I know how much the Chancellor listens to the Marshal. I am, therefore, completely reassured in this direction.

Here we have a first hint of possible later conflict between Bethmann and the Supreme Command. It is doubtful if Ludendorff would have written as he did had he known of the influence which the Social Democrats had upon Bethmann's speech of December 9. As it was, the General deplored the strong agitation against Bethmann, for "of new men, none would be better, and in many ways perhaps worse."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e2</sup> E. von Eisenhardt-Rothe, *Im Banne der Persönlichkeit* (Berlin, 1931), p. 148; *Ober-Ost* was the region on the Eastern front under the command of Hindenburg and Ludendorff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Haussmann, p. 36; Lutz, German Empire, I, 326.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> L. G. von dem Knesebeck, Die Wahrheit über den Propagandafeldzug und Deutschlands Zusammenbruch (München, 1927), pp. 151 ff.

Ludendorff's next letter, in January 1916, is not quite so favorable as his earlier one, though it still supports the Chancellor.

God knows, I don't agree with everything the Chancellor does, and I wish he showed more impulsive strength. But he is not responsible for everything.... Criticism is easier than doing a thing oneself, as I often have experienced. We here stick to the Chancellor, for we lack a man who could replace him. The only candidate known thus far, we decidedly oppose.<sup>65</sup>

The last statement refers to General von Falkenhayn, whose strained relations with Hindenburg and Ludendorff we have already mentioned. In the same letter Ludendorff insisted again on "a strong peace and an increase of power."

In February, the General reproached the Conservatives for opposing Bethmann, whom he considered excellent, and for supporting Falkenhavn as his successor.<sup>66</sup> Again in March he "thought it well that Bethmann remained." <sup>67</sup> The government's vacillation in the submarine question, however, brought a first note of disapproval, not so much against the Chancellor, as against the government in general. "As an honest man," Ludendorff wrote to Wyneken in the summer of 1916, "I must confess my views, so that it cannot be said later that I have been faithless towards men whom I have supported until now." Here we have a definitely ominous note. As to the future of Belgium, he wrote a little later: "Belgium's dependence must be economic, military, and political. Only this triad will create something complete. Economic dependence alone is not enough. No one apparently any longer considers annexation. I leave the question open whether we shall have to take Liège for military reasons." 68

The Ludendorff-Wyneken correspondence is interesting not only because it shows a more moderate and human Ludendorff than the virtual dictator we shall encounter later on, but also because it shows the beginnings of a slow change from agreement to opposition in the relationship between Bethmann and Ludendorff. As yet, in the middle of 1916, agreement was almost complete, though one cannot help noticing between the lines of Ludendorff's letters the admission that a different Chancellor might be desirable,

<sup>65</sup> Ibid., pp. 152-53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Westarp, II, 125.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Knesebeck, p. 156.

<sup>68</sup> Ibid., pp. 157-58.

if the right one could be found. The right one, we shall see, was never found, and Ludendorff's repeated statements during this early period, when he was still open-minded on the subject, that Bethmann was the best man available, were borne out by later events. It was the lack of a suitable counterpart in the civilian field which was largely responsible for the power which Ludendorff was to assume over civil as well as military affairs during the second half of the war. The initial step, on August 29, 1916, which made Hindenburg Chief of Staff and gave Ludendorff the newly-created position of First Quartermaster General, was taken, paradoxically enough, with Bethmann's blessing and active support.<sup>69</sup> The added pressure of public opinion, which blamed Falkenhayn for the failures of German military policy in 1916, especially at Verdun, sufficed to bring about the change of command. It came at a time when military setbacks necessitated either extreme moderation in dealing with the Allies, or else powerful exertion in the military field. We have seen throughout Bethmann's real preference for the former, while Hindenburg and Ludendorff advocated a policy of "impulsive strength." The unifying factor of common opposition to Falkenhayn had disappeared. Conflict between the civilian and military, thus far hidden, was imminent, though it did not actually arise until the first part of 1917.

# Administration of the Conquered Areas

Before we discuss the extra-governmental forces which helped to shape Germany's policy of war aims during the second year of war, we must briefly examine what happened to the areas in Western Europe under German domination during the first half of the war. Perhaps we can learn from Germany's administrative measures in occupied France and Belgium, to what extent she intended to translate her theoretical discussion of westward expansion into reality. Germany's administrative policy in these areas, of course, began very shortly after the outbreak of war. Yet it developed slowly, in a trial and error method, and did not show its characteristic traits until almost two years later. Most of our discussion here will be concerned with the administration of Belgium, where both immediate and future problems were more complex than in

<sup>69</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 43 ff.

the occupied regions of northeastern France. In the latter, things were relatively simple. Real interest, except on the part of the most extreme annexationists, existed only for the acquisition of Briey and Longwy, and here both official and unofficial views agreed that outright annexation would be most desirable. On October 31, 1914, the region in question was put under German Civil Administration. For the mines and the numerous iron works, a special "protective administration" was set up, consisting of three mining specialists. They were aided by a permanent " advisory council" made up of industrialists who had special interests in France's iron deposits, among them Emil Kirdorf, Louis Röchling, General von Schubert (head of the Lorraine Stumm works), Kloeckner, Springorum (of Hoesch) and Krupp's representative Frielinghau.<sup>70</sup>

As to the economic measures taken by Germany in occupied France, they clearly revealed her leading interest in the Briev-Longwy region: the mining of iron ore. Most of the mines were soon reopened and were kept in operation throughout the war, though, as we have already pointed out, their immediate significance has been somewhat overrated. The remaining works of this highly industrialized region were forced to remain idle, unless they produced vital military supplies.<sup>71</sup> Soon a policy of exploitation set in, which did not assume really destructive proportions, however, until the later period of the war. How far this exploitation was dictated by immediate necessity, and how far it was due to the desire of Germany's industrialists to destroy the harmful rivalry of their French competitors is difficult to decide. It is perhaps safe to say that in the first period of the war, with certain exceptions, the former motive prevailed. It was after the change of August 1916 in the German Supreme Command, that a more thorough policy of exploitation was entered upon, about which more will be said below.

The situation in Belgium turned out to be considerably more complex. The rapid advance of the German armies in August 1914 had suddenly brought this whole nation under German domination. To meet the urgent need for some kind of administration, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Vorwärts, Nov. 1, 1914; Friedensburg, p. 114; E. Schrödter, Die Eisenindustrie unter dem Kriege (Essen, 1915), pp. 11 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Ibid.; O. Brandt, Wirtschaftskultur und Deutsche Verwaltung der Besetzten Gebiete in Feindesland (Essen, 1915), p. 18.

retired Marshal von der Goltz was appointed Governor of the General gouvernement of Belgium on August 25 and was given almost unlimited powers, responsible only to the Emperor.<sup>72</sup> In his administrative work, the Marshal was at first aided by those members of the Belgian civil service who had remained behind when the Belgian government went into exile. But as a quick ending of the war became increasingly unlikely, a more permanent governmental organization was found necessary, using German personnel, though many of the lower positions remained in Belgian hands. On October 13, 1914, the Governor General officially assumed the powers of the Belgian King, and while he continued to handle the military functions of his position, the civil administration was organized into a separate department under the direction of Dr. von Sandt as Verwaltungschef. This Civil Administration was considered part of the German civil service, and as such it was responsible to the Chancellor and his Secretary of the Interior. A dual arrangement of this kind naturally contained the seed of much future friction.<sup>73</sup> The administrative subdivision of the country into nine provinces was maintained, but on December 3, 1914, the Belgian provincial governors were replaced by German military governors. Among them was the head of the Army League, General Keim, who became governor of the province of Limburg, while the National Liberal leader Bassermann, another noted annexationist, was made *aide-de-camp* to the governor of Antwerp.<sup>74</sup> As time went on and need arose, certain additional governmental agencies were created to deal with specific problems, such as the Political Section under Baron von der Lancken. But on the whole the administrative framework remained as set up during the first months of the war.

The psychological effect which this creation of an independently organized Belgian state had upon the German people was considerable. The reward which so many Germans hoped to reap from the war had here assumed its tangible form. The more thoroughly organized the administration of Belgium became, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> F. von der Goltz, "Generalfeldmarschall von der Goltz als Generalgouverneur in Belgien," *Deutsche Rundschau*, vol. 51 (1925), p. 105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> On the administrative organization of Belgium see L. Volkmann, Das Generalgouvernement Belgien (Leipzig, 1917), pp. 29 ff.; L. von Köhler, Die Staatsverwaltung der besetzten Gebiete-Belgien (Stuttgart, 1927), passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Raad van Vlaanderen, Les Archives du Conseil de Flandre (Brussels, 1928), p. xvii; Vorwärts, Nov. 1, 1914; Keim, p. 203.

more firmly did many people, in Germany and elsewhere, believe that Germany had come into Belgium to stay. The administration of old Marshal von der Goltz did not last very long. His heart was not really in his work, but on the battlefield with the German army. In his dealings with the Belgian people, moreover, he failed to show the firmness which his military superiors expected. As result of a specific disagreement over the collection of contributions from the Belgians, he was relieved of his position as Governor General on November 7, 1914. The issue-whether to collect 200 million francs, as the Supreme Command wanted, or merely 50 million, as von der Goltz thought feasible-was symptomatic of a basic problem which was not to be decided until much later: was Belgium to be administered for her own good and only secondarily for that of Germany, or was she to be exploited for the benefit of her conquerors? It took two years to find an answer to this question, and when it finally came, it was in favor of the second alternative.75

The successor of von der Goltz, Baron von Bissing, was very different from his retiring and unpretentious predecessor. Holding court at Château Trois Fontaines near Brussels, Bissing liked to think of the Belgian problem as pretty much his private concern and of himself as subject to no authority except that of the Emperor.<sup>76</sup> "Wild Moritz," as he was called, was undoubtedly the most influential and, strangely enough, the most constructive of the German administrators of Belgium. His views on the future of that country played a significant role in the controversy over western war aims. On the day of his appointment, von Bissing had a talk with Walter Rathenau at the Berlin Automobilklub, in which he asked the industrialist's advice, how he might best fulfill his mission as Governor of Belgium. " If you plan to administer Belgium," Rathenau told him, "you must know whether you are to administer the country on behalf of Germany or of Belgium." Bissing agreed, and Rathenau added: "You must administer Bel-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> C. Freiherr von der Goltz, *Denkwürdigkeiten* (Berlin, 1929), p. 370; F. von der Goltz, *Deutsche Rundschau*, vol. 51, p. 119; C. von Delbrück, *Die wirtschaftliche Mobilmachung in Deutschland 1914* (München, 1924), pp. 156-57; Keim, p. 210.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> K. Bittmann, Werken und Wirken, (3 vols., Karlsruhe, 1924), III, 116-17; U. Rauscher, Belgien heute und morgen (Leipzig, 1915), pp. 4-5. On Bissing see R. P. Osswald, "Bissing," Deutsches Biographisches Jahrbuch (Berlin, 1928), II, 35-54.

gium for Belgium," to which the General replied: "Those are also approximately my views."  $\pi$  Here, then, were the two alternatives, and Bissing's subsequent statements and his policy show that he was much aware of the dual role which he had to fulfill as governor of Belgium and representative of Germany.

I have two tasks [he said in a speech on June 19, 1915] which are equally important. As administrator of this country I have to care for its welfare and prosperity. I am of the opinion that a squeezed lemon has no value and that a dead cow will give no milk. It is, therefore, necessary and important, that a country which has such importance for Germany economically and otherwise, is kept alive, and that the wounds of war are healed as much as possible. But I am obligated, at the same time, to consider carefully the advantages and disadvantages of this policy for Germany. We want to avoid any injury to Germany's industry through a revival of Belgian industry, and we hope that it will be possible to find some compromise which will be useful to both countries right at this time. Such an understanding will also be useful to Belgium's future, no matter what we think it may be.<sup>78</sup>

What exactly did Bissing think the future of Belgium should be? For a while he hoped for some governmental directives, and in February 1915 he complained to the Prussian Minister of War, General von Wrisberg, that the government left him completely in the dark as to its intentions on the future of Belgium.<sup>79</sup> In an interview with the Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, von Bissing held that it was not his business to engage in politics, but that "everything we do here [in Belgium], all conditions, under which we live, would be made much easier if the Belgians knew what finally would become of them."<sup>80</sup> In the absence of any guidance from Berlin, Bissing finally had to decide on his own what he thought the future of Belgium should be. In his public statements he made it perfectly clear that in his opinion Germany should in some form keep the lands she had conquered. "What has been entrusted to us," he said on the Kaiser's birthday, January 28, 1916, "we want to hold on to."<sup>81</sup> Statements like this, which he made repeatedly, created the impression, correct for the early days

<sup>77</sup> Haussmann, pp. 20-21.

78 Bittmann, III, 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> E. von Wrisberg, Erinnerungen an die Kriegsjahre im Kgl. Preussischen Kriegsministerium (3 vols., Berlin, 1921-22), II, 131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Chronik des Deutschen Krieges, III, 325-27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Grumbach, p. 20; "Rudiger" [A. Wullus], Flamenpolitik (Brussels, 1921), p. 13.

of the war, that the Governor General desired the annexation of Belgium.<sup>82</sup> In late 1915, Bissing wrote another memorandum on the future of Belgium, mostly for his own use. He sent a copy of it to General Keim, who kept it until after the Governor's death in 1917. It was then published as Bissing's "Political Testament," with the statement, not entirely true, that "to the day of his death, von Bissing remained faithful to the opinions set forth in his memorandum." The memorandum still expressed General Keim's views on the subject of Belgium as late as 1925; but von Bissing's ideas on the form, if not the substance, of Germany's Belgian policy changed under the influence of later events.<sup>83</sup> The memorandum, though it never specifically says so, leaves no doubt in the reader's mind that the Governor's true aim was Germany's complete domination of Belgium. He stresses the military, naval, and economic advantages which Germany stood to gain from Belgium, and belittles the objections usually raised against incorporating a large foreign group into the German Empire. Still a policy of trying to conciliate the Belgian people, Bissing holds, will not work, pointing to the example of Germany's failure to assimilate her Polish and French minorities before the war. "For years to come we must maintain the existing state of dictatorship," he says. "Belgium must be seized and held, as it now is, and as it must be in the future."

These were the views of the Governor General of Belgium. He wanted to administer the country which had been put under his care in such a way that as little lasting harm be done to it as possible. In this he was motivated not by sympathy for the fate of a defeated nation so much as by the hope that Belgium would ultimately fall under permanent German domination as a result of the war.<sup>84</sup> From the German point of view, this was an eminently far-sighted and constructive policy, though based on the unjustified assumption that Germany would win the war. We must now briefly examine to what extent this policy was successful during the first years of the war.

It is impossible here to go into the details of Germany's Belgian policy.<sup>85</sup> All we can hope to do is discuss those measures which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, p. 443; C. von Delbrück, Mobilmachung, pp. 168, 254.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Keim, p. 224. For the text of the memorandum, see von Bissing, "Politisches Testament," Das Grössere Deutschland, May 19, 1917.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> V. Naumann, Profile, p. 310.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> See von Köhler, Staatsverwaltung, and H. Pirenne, La Belgique et la guerre

pointed towards the perpetuation of Germany's domination. In spite of von Bissing's hopes, it was in the economic field that such measures were least apparent.<sup>86</sup> Belgian industry had suffered remarkably little destruction from the invasion of the German armies, and efforts to resume production were made soon after the establishment of the Generalgouvernement.<sup>87</sup> Yet except for the mining of coal, these efforts turned out to be a failure.<sup>88</sup> The confiscation of raw materials under the direction of Walther Rathenau and his Kriegsrohstoffabteilung (who thus ignored the advice he himself had given to Bissing) for use in essential German war industries, and the refusal of Belgian industrialists and workers to co-operate in producing goods for the enemy, were the chief reasons for this failure. To this we must add the dependence of Belgian industry on foreign sources of raw materials and markets, both of which were closed as a result of the war. Even if the German Supreme Command (which was responsible for the confiscation of materials) and the Belgian people had been willing, a return to normalcy would have been very difficult. Another factor. though not very easy to substantiate, was the opposition of Germany's industrial interests to the revival of their Belgian competitors. General von Bissing had already briefly alluded to this in his speech on June 19, 1915.<sup>89</sup> Germany's economic exploitation of Belgium did not reach its full measure until after the first two years of war. Needless to say, it was carried on against the spirited opposition of General von Bissing. Yet even during the early period of the war, need for both manpower and matériel on the one hand, and the unwillingness or inability of Belgian industry to co-operate with Germany's war effort on the other, necessitated

mondiale (Paris and New Haven, n. d.), both published in the German and Belgian Series respectively of the Carnegie Foundation's *Economic and Social History of the World War*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> For the following, unless indicated otherwise, see H. Pirenne, Belgique, ch. VIII, pp. 166 ff.; J. Pirenne and M. Vauthier, La Législation et l'administration allemandes en Belgique (Paris and New Haven, n. d.), ch. IV, pp. 39 ff.; Ch. de Kerchove, L'Industrie Belge pendant l'occupation allemande 1914-1918 (Paris and New Haven, n. d.), passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> K. Helfferich, "Der Zustand Belgiens unter der deutschen Okkupation," Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, Sept. 10, 1914; von der Goltz, Denkwürdigkeiten, pp. 350-51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Friedensburg, p. 86; A. zu Nieden, "Karl Gerstein," *Rheinisch-Westphälische Wirtschaftsbiographien* (Münster, 1932), I, pp. 513 ff. Gerstein was the director of the German coal administration in Brussels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Great Britain, Daily Review, Oct. 4, 1915, p. 11; H. Pirenne, Belgique, p. 198.

ever more stringent measures. Large numbers of machines were moved to Germany, to help in the manufacture of munitions. The confiscation of vital raw materials reached down into the individual homes of the Belgian people. Against the passive resistance of the working population, a number of edicts were passed in August 1915 and again in May 1916, making willful evasion of employment a punishable offense. At the same time an *Industriebüro* was set up to hire Belgian workers for employment in Germany.<sup>90</sup> The *exploitation à outrance*, however, the limitless exploitation of Belgium which in many cases bordered on outright destruction, and which included the deportation of Belgian workers to work in German factories, did not begin until late in 1916. Here, too, the change in personnel of the Supreme Command was to show its effects.<sup>91</sup>

If the keynote of Germany's economic policy in Belgium was exploitation rather than construction, such a policy was dictated by military necessity and did not necessarily indicate a lack of interest in maintaining a German hold over Belgium. Whenever German interests permitted, reforms were introduced into Belgium, a fact which indicates that the administration had the future of the country very much at heart. An example is the introduction of German social legislation, included in some of the early governmental pronouncements on war aims. The chief provisions for sickness, old age and accident insurance were not introduced until 1918; though the first suggestions in this respect were made in early September 1914.<sup>92</sup> In a letter of September 10, the Chief of the Civil Administration, Dr. von Sandt, comments on this suggestion and points out the advantages of such a policy:

Aside from giving us hope that we may win over to our side the Belgian working population, the introduction at present of social legislation would serve as preparation for the permanent annexation of parts of Belgium by the German Reich. In case such annexation should not take place, it [i. e., social legislation] will impose burdens upon Belgian industry which, because of the workers, cannot be abolished after the conclusion of peace, and will consequently weaken Belgium's ability to compete with Germany.<sup>93</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Ibid., pp. 171, 176-77; Germany, Nationalversammlung, Das Werk des Untersuchungsausschusses, 3. Reihe, "Völkerrecht im Weltkrieg," (5 vols., Berlin, 1927) (henceforth cited as U.A., 3. Reihe), I, 235-36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Kerchove, part II, pp. 151 ff.

<sup>92</sup> Köhler, pp. 169-70.

<sup>98</sup> Bittmann, II, 13-14.

On January 1, 1915, the first law for the protection of woman and child labor went into effect.<sup>94</sup>

The most far-reaching measures concerning the future of Belgium, however, were not taken in the economic or social, but in the political field. In this connection the Flemish question, mentioned in many of the annexationist programs, became of greatest importance. To understand it fully, we have to go briefly into its background.<sup>95</sup>

# The Flemish Question

The origins of the Flemish Movement go back to the decades following the Belgian Revolution of 1830. Its primary cause was the division of Belgium's population into two very different groups: the Walloons. French by language and cultural heritage, and the Flemings, who spoke a Germanic dialect and who, though economically and socially "inferior," were conscious and proud of their historical and cultural tradition. Common opposition to Dutch oppression had unified these Latin and Germanic sections during the revolution. But when the newly created state showed a preponderance of Walloon influence, especially in its official use of the French language, opposition from the Flemings-who were numerically superior-arose very quickly. At first this opposition was a mere cultural and literary movement under the leadership of artists and writers. This preparatory period lasted until about 1873 and was superseded by a period of conflict which went up and into the World War. Some laws were passed during this period. granting on paper the equality of French and Flemish. But still, the only effective way for the Flemings to voice their grievances was in extra-governmental propaganda organizations. since the limited franchise barred the lower classes, i.e., most of the Flemings, from parliamentary representation. The electoral reforms of 1893 changed this, introducing for the first time twentysix Socialist members into the Belgian Chamber. From now on Flemish influence was felt in the political affairs of the nation. By the time war broke out, however, little had as yet been done to

<sup>94</sup> Köhler, p. 169.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> For a general survey of the Flemish question see Clough, A History of the Flemish Movement; also K. Bährens, "Die flämische Bewegung," Volk und Reich, XI (1935), 3. Beiheft.

ameliorate the cultural subjection from which the majority of the Belgian people suffered.<sup>96</sup>

Germany's relations with the Flemish movement, though intimate at times, had never been significant. They were quite close during the 1840's and up to 1870, though entirely of a cultural nature. During the Franco-Prussian War, Flemish sentiment was largely on the German side. Towards the end of the century, and particularly with the rise of Pan-Germanism during the 1890's, Flemish relations with Germany became noticeably cooler. The Flemings did not trust the Pan-Germans, who promised to deliver their "Low German" brethren from the yoke of their "Walloon oppressors." Even the small German minority in Belgium refused to have any dealings with the Pan-German League. As a result, the Flemish movement remained almost entirely clear from Pan-German influence.<sup>97</sup>

Despite the almost century-old opposition of the Flemings to their government, the whole population of Belgium rallied to the defense of the country when the Germans began their invasion.98 Some of the fiercest fighting, as a matter of fact, was done by Flemings, and their heavy losses testified to their loyalty. The complete defeat of their country, however, and the renewed attacks upon Flemish aspirations by leaders of the Walloons, soon helped to resurrect the Flemish movement. By early 1915, three different groups of Flemings could be distinguished. They all demanded a certain amount of administrative independence for Flanders, the northern and coastal region of Belgium, in which most of the Flemings were concentrated. Where they differed was in the method which each of them suggested to achieve this independ-The largest group, called "Passivists," with headquarters ence. in Amsterdam, hoped for an independent Flanders in a free Belgium, and proposed to reach this aim by legal means, continuing the agitation for pro-Flemish legislation after the war where it had left off in 1914. At the other extreme were the "Young Flemings," also called "Activists," concentrated at Ghent, who questioned the continued existence of Belgium and instead wanted the creation of a completely independent Flemish state. Since

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> C. Huysmans, "Le problème linguistique en Belgique," France Libre, I (1940), 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> T. Heyse, La propagande Allemande en Belgique avant la guerre (Brussels, 1925), pp. 9 ff., 26; Clough, pp. 183-84.

<sup>98</sup> Ibid., pp. 177-78.

they could count on violent opposition rather than assistance from the Belgian government, they hoped to realize their aims during the war and with German help. A third group, which developed a little later at Antwerp, had similar views about the desirability of Flemish independence during the war; but it also desired the maintenance of the Belgian state and in that respect was close to the "Passivists." <sup>99</sup> There had been few demands for such administrative division of Belgium before the war, but the failure of the Belgian government to live up to most of its promises for cultural independence made a certain amount of administrative independence seem desirable to almost all Flemings.<sup>100</sup>

The German government, though little aware of the Flemish movement before the war, realized that any strengthening of Flemish influence and the resulting weakening of the pro-French. Walloon section, would be to its advantage. We thus find Bethmann Hollweg writing to von Sandt as early as September 2, 1914, advising him to pay special attention to the Flemish elements in Belgium, "perhaps with regard to a future understanding with Holland." 101 Again on December 16, 1914, the Chancellor, in a letter to General von Bissing, stressed the importance of German contacts with the Flemish movement and proposed the creation of a governmental agency to deal with this question. He also suggested the founding of a Flemish university at Ghent and some sort of Flemish press, to be introduced via Holland. A week later, Captain Dirr, a member of von Bissing's administration, who had made a study of the Flemish movement, suggested that his chief establish contact with the leaders of the Flemings and carry out the existing and proposed Belgian legislation concerning the use of the Flemish language, especially the instruction in Flemish and the transformation of the University of Ghent into a Flemish university.102

It is interesting to note that the initial suggestions for a pro-Flemish policy were made by the Chancellor, and that his specific proposals were all realized without much delay. What probably appealed to him was the possibility of thus weakening Belgium without necessitating the annexation of the country. Other fac-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 40; Clough, p. 187; H. Pirenne, *Belgique*, p. 213.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Clough, p. 176.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> O. von der Lancken Wakenitz, Meine Dreissig Dienstjahre (1888-1918) (Berlin, 1931), p. 213.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Ibid., pp. 215-16.

tors, such as genuine sympathy for the aspirations of a "Germanic" minority and the desire to establish friendly relations with at least part of the Belgian population, likewise played their part.<sup>103</sup>

The first step to realize Bethmann's proposal was the establishment, on January 10, 1915, of an administrative agency under Dr. Schaible, to conduct German-Flemish relations. On February 13, this Commission for Flemish Affairs was incorporated into the newly created Political Section of the *Generalgouvernement* under the direction of Baron von der Lancken.<sup>104</sup> In a report describing the program of his Section, von der Lancken made the following revealing statement: "There is no reason, from the German point of view, to prevent political hostilities between the Belgians themselves, as long as they do not endanger military security and internal peace." <sup>105</sup> Prior to this he had proposed the administrative division of Belgium into two states, Flemish and Walloon, and their economic assimilation into Germany.<sup>106</sup>

Close relations with the Flemish "Activists" (under the leadership of a radical clergyman, Domela Nieuwenhuys Nijegaard) was one of the chief duties of the Commission for Flemish Affairs. As far back as August 25, 1914, the Germans had shown their sympathy for the Flemish movement by publishing their decrees in Flemish as well as French, giving precedence to the former.<sup>107</sup> On January 1, 1915, the handling of the Belgian press was entrusted to a separate Press Section, and by the end of the month the Chancellor's plan for a Belgian paper materialized. From January 20 on, the "Belgian Courier," in which German influence was concealed behind a Dutch front, appeared six times a week.<sup>108</sup> In February 1915, the first "Activist" paper, the Vlaamsche Post, made its appearance in Ghent.<sup>109</sup> The same month, German military authorities supplemented these propaganda activities by a campaign among Flemish prisoners of war in Germany.<sup>110</sup> In the summer of 1915, the first contacts were established between Ger-

<sup>108</sup> H. Pirenne, *Belgique*, p. 212; R. P. Osswald, "Flandern und Grossniederland," *Deutsch-Akademische Schriften*, XXIII (1928), 15 ff.

<sup>104</sup> Raad van Vlaanderen, p. xviii; "Rudiger," p. 10.

<sup>105</sup> *Ibid.*, pp. 10-11.

<sup>106</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 38.

<sup>107</sup> H. Pirenne, Belgique, p. 211.

<sup>108</sup> F. Passelecq, Belgian Unity and the Flemish Movement, reprinted from The Nineteenth Century and After, October 1916, p. 6.

<sup>109</sup> *Ibid.*, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Raad van Vlaanderen, pp. xviii-xix; Frankfurter Zeitung, Sept. 23, 1915.

mans and "Young Flemings" at Brussels. Pastor Nieuwenhuys Nijegaard wrote a pamphlet entitled "Flanders freed from the Southern Yoke," which contained a manifesto of the "Young Flemings," demanding an independent Flemish state under German protection and in close economic and military collaboration with Germany. The similarity between this and the programs current in Germany is striking. Yet Nijegaard warned against German annexation of Belgium or Flanders, stressing the latter's love of independence and pointing out the obvious fact that the Flemings were not Germans.<sup>111</sup>

Although the more far-reaching measures, such as the administrative division of Belgium into a Flemish and a Walloon section, were not taken until later, the suggestions made by Bethmann Hollweg and others of following the trends of pre-war developments, were carried out during the first half of the war. In addition to using the Flemish language in their administrative decrees, the Germans now began the rigorous enforcement of earlier Belgian language laws which made sure that Flemish was used in the correspondence between the government and the Flemish provinces and that children received elementary instruction in their mother tongue.<sup>112</sup>

More important still than these linguistic decrees were the German measures to transform the University of Ghent into a Flemish institution. The demand for a university of their own had been among the outstanding pre-war grievances of the Flemings. To supply a sufficient number of teachers capable of conducting classes in Flemish and thus to utilize the various linguistic reforms, advanced instruction in Flemish was considered a primary necessity. A Flemish university, most Flemings felt, would also ultimately raise the cultural and thus the economic level of the Flanders region.<sup>113</sup> The struggle for such a university had flared up with particular violence during the years just prior to 1914. The argument used against it by both Walloons and the Catholic clergy, that Flemish was not a "cultural" language, aroused deepfelt resentment among the Flemings. Here was opportunity for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> J. D. Domela Nieuwenhuys Nijegaard, Flandern vom südlichen Zwang befreit (Leipzig, 1916), esp. pp. 53, 73.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Pirenne-Vauthier, Législation, pp. 246 ff.; Clough, p. 192.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 41; C. L. Becker, German Attempts to Divide Belgium (Boston, 1918), p. 317.

the German government, urged on by the radical elements of the Flemish population, to ingratiate itself with a substantial part of the Belgian people. We found Bethmann Hollweg calling von Bissing's attention to this question in December 1914. But it took a whole year before the project could be approached in earnest, and almost another year before it was at least partly realized. Attempts to introduce the teaching of Flemish gradually into the University of Ghent failed, when its faculty refused to resume instruction. On December 31, 1915, therefore, the university was transformed by decree into a purely Flemish institution. For a while the transformation remained on paper only, since most professors, under the leadership of Henri Pirenne and Paul Fredericq, refused to conduct courses in Flemish. Only after the leaders of the opposition had been jailed and additional instructors had been found, could the University of Ghent be formally opened on October 21, 1916. The necessary students were secured by liberal scholarship grants, but their sentiments were pro-Flemish or pro-Dutch rather than pro-German. On the whole, the venture was only partly successful, since many Flemings refused to receive their much-wanted university from the hands of the enemy.<sup>114</sup>

The examples we have given of Germany's administrative measures in Belgium during the first two years of war show a general tendency to create conditions which could not be undone without considerable effort after the war, and which would be to Germany's advantage in case she maintained her hold over Belgium. Von Bissing as well as von Sandt frankly admitted these underlying tendencies in their private correspondence.<sup>115</sup> Any opinion to the contrary was frowned upon. A member of the administration, Karl Bittmann, for instance, had added a prefatory note to a memorandum he had written on the future of Belgium, in which he had said: "I fear, yes, I foresee that we shall not emerge victorious

<sup>114</sup> T. Heyse, ed., L'Université flamande (Ghent, 1918-19), passim; Becker, pp. 318-20; H. Pirenne, Belgique, pp. 216 ff.; Pirenne-Vauthier, Législation, p. 89; K. Nyrop, The Imprisonment of the Ghent Professors (London, 1917). In the controversy over the university an important role was played by von Bissing's son, a professor at the university of Munich and member of the Belgian administration. The "crown prince" shared the views of his father on the future of Belgium and expressed them in numerous pamphlets, e.g., F. W. von Bissing, Die Universität Gent, Flandern und das Deutsche Reich (Leipzig, 1916); Deutschlands Stelle in der Welt (München, 1915); Westliche Kriegsziele (Weimar, 1917); Wünsche und Ziele (München, 1918).

<sup>115</sup> Pirenne-Vauthier, Législation, pp. 88-89, 92; Bittmann, III, 13-14.

from this struggle. And if we are beaten, our enemy will prepare our fate for us, rather than our preparing his." Such pessimism was most undesirable for a member of the German Imperial Administration, and von Sandt tore up the note when it reached him.<sup>116</sup>

It is difficult to get much evidence on the views of any but the leaders of Germany's Belgian administration. But the few comments we find of lower officials, such as the note by Bittmann, are by no means as radical and hopeful as those made by men higher up. Bittmann himself was opposed to von Bissing's Flemish policy, as were his colleagues von Santen and von Lutz; and both Baron von der Lancken and his assistant Count Harrach did not always share the illusions of von Bissing and of ardent annexationists like General Keim or Admiral Schröder, commander of Bruges.<sup>117</sup> Outsiders, who visited Belgium after she had been under German occupation for more than a year, expressed highest admiration for the efficiency of its administration; but at the same time they could not help feeling that much of it was artificially imposed upon an unwilling people and that the hope of ever winning the Belgians over to their new masters or of making a lasting impression upon their way of life was futile.<sup>118</sup>

However great the hopes of some people, especially von Bissing, may have been, they did not assume real significance as long as they were not backed by the supreme political authority of the Reich. It is in connection with the administrative developments in Belgium, and particularly with the Flemish question, that the Reichstag speech of the Chancellor on April 5, 1916, reveals its real meaning as the most important and specific of his public utterances on the future of Western Europe. "Here [i. e., in Belgium] too," he said, "will be no *status quo ante*. Here, too, fate will not retrace its steps. Germany cannot again abandon to Latinization the tribe of the Flemings which has been kept down so long."<sup>119</sup> What is this but an endorsement of the policy of the *Generalgouvernement*, and an implied promise to maintain a development which would eventually result in the break-up of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Ibid., pp. 41-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Ibid., p. 67 and passim.; Naumann, Dokumente, pp. 157-58, 168; C. von Delbrück, Mobilmachung, pp. 171 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Westarp, II, 15; Haussmann, p. 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> See above, p. 73.

Belgian state and the domination of its remnants by Germany? Among the different factors influencing the Chancellor's stand on war aims, the administrative developments in Belgium are of the utmost importance. They, more than any other force, presented an effective obstacle to any non-annexationist peace settlement. The pressure of a small annexationist minority, of public opinion, and of political parties, even his own commitments in favor of a strong peace, might be ignored by the Chancellor, if a real chance to end the war through a moderate peace offered itself. But the *faits accomplis* which von Bissing—with the Chancellor's acquiescence and, at times, active co-operation—was eagerly creating in his western domain, proved to the German people, and to the world at large, that Germany had come into Belgium to stay.

## The Political Parties During the Second Year of War

If Bethmann Hollweg, during the second year of war, looked hopefully to the parties of the Reichstag for signs of moderation, he was sure to be disappointed. The tendency towards annexationism, which we found during the first months of the war, became, if anything, stronger as time went on. The most vociferous demands in favor of far-reaching annexations in east and west continued to come from the parties of the Right, notably the National Liberals. On June 2, 1915, and again two months later, they voiced the usual demands for political, military, and economic "attachment" of areas in western Europe.<sup>120</sup> These same views, found at the beginning of the second year of war, when Germany's successes in the east justified a certain optimism, were still held in late May 1915, in the face of heavy losses suffered during the Verdun offensive. On May 21, 1916, the National Liberals repeated their earlier conviction that only an "extension of the land and sea frontiers of the Empire in the east and the west" could give the German people the necessary guarantees for military, political, and economic security. England they still considered Germany's Hauptfeind, to be defeated by unlimited submarine warfare.<sup>121</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Schulthess, vol. 56 (1), p. 211; Vorwärts, June 3, 1915; U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 67. Some National Liberals opposed their party's annexationist stand; see Haussmann, pp. 40-41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), p. 234; Great Britain, Daily Review, May 31, 1916, p. 7; Vorwärts, June 18, 1915 and Sept. 5, 1916; Grumbach, pp. 37-39, 74.

Among National Liberal leaders, the head of the party, Ernst Bassermann, was one of the most ardent advocates of German expansion. We have already mentioned his activities as member of the German administration in Brussels and his affiliation with industrial interests through his membership on numerous boards of directors.<sup>122</sup> A sympathizer of Heinrich Class and his radical aims—"I endorse every word of it," he said of Class' famous memorandum—Bassermann shared the Pan-German leader's deep aversion to Bethmann Hollweg. "How can we get rid of the scoundrel?" he asked Class in early 1915. "Everybody at the front realizes that the war will be lost if we keep him."<sup>123</sup> Only as long as Bethmann seemed to be in favor of a strong peace did Bassermann refrain from open attacks.<sup>124</sup>

Bassermann's own annexationist statements are numerous but of the usual vagueness, so they need not concern us in detail.<sup>125</sup> Typical is an article he wrote for the *Magdeburgische Zeitung* on January 1, 1916, advocating a peace "which will bring us the territorial acquisitions in the east and west which are necessary for our security."<sup>126</sup> Other prominent National Liberals joined their leader. Gustav Stresemann—Reichstag deputy, member of the Navy League, leader of his party in Saxony, where he was closely allied with industrial interests, and chief influence behind the *Bund der Industriellen*—delivered an address on German foreign policy before the Reichstag, which not only contained the usual references to "Germany's strengthening in the east and west," but which also stressed eloquently those forces in Germany which drove her into westward expansion, the anti-British *Drang nach Westen*:

When "Michael the Dreamer"<sup>127</sup> became "Michael the Seafarer," when the political unification and the development of our economic strength came, when Hamburg and Bremen became what they are, when the Rhine-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Salings Börsen Jahrbuch für 1914-15 (3 vols., Berlin, 1914), II, 501, 657, 967, 1488, 1501, 1667, 2082, 2144; G. Stresemann, Reden und Schriften (2 vols., Dresden, 1926), I, 146.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Class, Strom, pp. 355-56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Westarp, II, 308; Knesebeck, pp. 153-54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> For examples see Grumbach, pp. 71, 76-78; Great Britain, *Daily Review*, April 29, 1916, p. 7; *Reichstag*, vol. 307, p. 1526.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Grumbach, p. 77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> The German equivalent of "John Bull" or "Uncle Sam" is a dreamy looking farmer with a night-cap called "Michel," to emphasize the quality of good-natured unworldliness, which the Germans consider their outstanding characteristic.

land-Westphalia region developed the great foundation of its economic strength, when we created the seaports for the German world trade that insured Germany's economic position in the world, then began the economic struggle, even before the clash of arms came. England's whole history shows this struggle against us.<sup>128</sup>

What, in Stresemann's opinion, would be Germany's chances in this struggle after the war? Turning against those of his countrymen who saw Germany's field of expansion primarily in the east and in Central Europe, Stresemann held:

Our future does not lie in the east, and the struggle for world markets we will not give up; for if we give up, England's purpose will be achieved. With the first ship that leaves Cuxhaven and Bremerhaven, this struggle for world markets begins anew and will be carried on with all the German businessman's intensity and joy of producing. The world was our field and will be so in the future.

To maintain Germany's world-wide economic sway, "access to the sea" and "naval bases in the wide world" were necessary.<sup>129</sup>

Stresemann's friend and biographer, von Rheinbaben, has gone out of his way to cover up this annexationist agitation of the hero of Locarno and recipient of the Nobel Peace Prize. We may allow for a change of heart on the part of Stresemann during the postwar years; but to say, as Rheinbaben does, that "he opposed emphatically the annexationists," is incorrect.<sup>130</sup>

In the Prussian House of Representatives, the National Liberal deputies Fuhrmann, Friedberg, and Bacmeister represented the annexationist program of their party.<sup>131</sup> Even the moderate Schiffer was not opposed to "tangible securities" and an extension of Germany's frontiers if military necessity made such measures seem desirable.<sup>132</sup> Finally, the official publication of the party, *Nationalliberale Blätter*, and the party-dominated press carried frequent articles in favor of westward expansion.<sup>133</sup>

The two Conservative parties likewise continued along their earlier course. The Free Conservatives passed a resolution in December which demanded "a Germany more powerful and enlarged beyond her present frontiers by the retention, as far as possible, of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Reichstag, vol. 307, pp. 866-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> For further speeches by Stresemann see Grumbach, pp. 73-74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> R. von Rheinbaben, Stresemann the Man and Statesman (N.Y., 1929), p. 107.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Grumbach, p. 70; Tägliche Rundschau, Aug. 25, 1915; Vorwärts, June 25, 1915.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, p. 173.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Grumbach, pp. 75-90.

the territories now occupied, and further damages for the outlay of money."<sup>134</sup> Its leader, Baron von Zedlitz und Neukirch, reiterated these aims in speeches before the Prussian House of Representatives and in a number of newspaper articles.<sup>135</sup>

The larger and more important Conservative Party presented its stand in September 1915, proclaiming as the most important aim of the war "the defeat of England, who has brought about the war and who will never cease to threaten and injure our position in the world and our future development." It hoped for a "permanent, honorable peace, which secures the foundation of the German future," and supported "all annexations necessary for this purpose." <sup>136</sup> The leader of the party, von Heydebrand, was rather sparing with his remarks. At the end of the first year of war he hoped for "a stronger and greater Germany." <sup>137</sup> A year later, on August 14, 1916, he asked for an extension of Germany's western frontier into France. About Belgium he said: "I do not say annex, I am not speaking of that-no, but to bring into our hands, in the military and political and economic sense, what we must have in order to hold at the heart of England the pistol she has hitherto held at ours."<sup>138</sup> The Conservative press, especially the Deutsche Tageszeitung and the agrarian Kreuzzeitung followed the party-line.<sup>139</sup> There continued to be some disagreement among the Conservatives as to whether Germany's chief field of territorial expansion lay in the east or west. Professor Schiemann, for instance, who wrote a weekly column on foreign affairs for the Kreuzzeitung, hinted at the possibility of an understanding with England shortly after the outbreak of war, and was violently attacked by Ernst Reventlow in the Deutsche Tageszeitung. To maintain peace in their own ranks, the Conservatives refused to print Schiemann's answer, whereupon he resigned his position with the Kreuzzeitung. He was succeeded by Professor Otto Hoetzsch, who always worked in close collaboration with Count Westarp.

<sup>134</sup> Great Britain, Daily Review, Dec. 13, 1915, p. 15; H. Michaelsen, Deutsche Kriegszielkundgebungen (Berlin, 1916), p. 12.

<sup>135</sup> Grumbach, pp. 45, 53-56.

<sup>136</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 333-34; Michaelsen, p. 10; Reichstag, vol. 306, pp. 238, 744; vol. 307, pp. 875, 1263.

<sup>137</sup> Kreuzzeitung, July 31, 1915.

<sup>138</sup> Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), p. 396; Great Britain, Daily Review, Aug. 29, 1916, p. 6.

<sup>1</sup> <sup>139</sup> Deutsche Tageszeitung, Aug. 8, Dec. 9, 1915; Jan. 29, March 1, 18, April 1, May 18, 1916; Kreuzzeitung, July 29, 1915 and especially Jan. 1, 1916. The group within the Conservative Party which, quite naturally, was most concerned over too one-sided a policy of western expansion, was the Agrarian League. Its leader, Dr. Roesicke, repeatedly tried to moderate Reventlow's anti-British stand. To stress Germany's enmity for England, he held, would easily lead to neglecting her agricultural expansion and colonization of the east.<sup>140</sup>

The Center Party's first lengthy declaration on war aims came in October 1915. It was kept in the usual vague terms: "The terrible sacrifices which the war imposed upon our people, call for an increased protection of our country in the east and west through acquisitions of territory which (regardless of what constitutional forms they shall take) will keep the enemy from suddenly attacking us again."<sup>141</sup> Specific statements concerning the future of Western Europe in general and of Belgium in particular were not made at this early stage of the war. But the majority of the party agreed that the *status quo ante* should not be re-established. Interpreting the Chancellor's speech of the same day, Spahn said on April 5, 1916: "Belgium must not remain a bulwark of England. As a necessary consequence she will fall into our hands politically, militarily, and economically."<sup>142</sup>

It was Mathias Erzberger, who in a letter to Bethmann Hollweg on June 28, 1915, discussed the settlement of the Belgian question in more specific terms. He proposed the following "as a practical solution which also will make possible peace with England":

Customs union with introduction of German economic legislation, and complete abolition of the Belgian army, leaving only a police force. Lease of the ports of Ostende and Zeebrugge for 99 years, with the reservation that Germany can break the lease if she reaches a final understanding with England. Community of railways, leaving local employees in charge, and the creation of a central administration in Brussels. Appointment of a German Governor General with far-reaching veto powers. Perhaps abdication of the King in favor of his son, who will be educated in Germany. Payment of indemnities and surrender of Belgian governmental coal mines and of Belgium's foreign concessions. Acquisition of Belgium's Congo Colonies. etc.<sup>143</sup>

<sup>140</sup> Westarp, II, 34-36; Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, p. 493.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Wacker, p. 8; Michaelsen, pp. 13, 15-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Reichstag, vol. 307, p. 856. See also Grumbach, p. 93, for similar speeches in the Prussian and Bavarian Parliaments. The south German branch of the Center Party on the whole was more annexationist than the north: e.g., Münchner Neueste Nachrichten, July 16, 1916.

<sup>143</sup> Westarp, II, 53-54.

Such was Erzberger's minimum program at the end of almost a year of war. To understand it we must remember that he had just joined Thyssen's board of directors. This fact particularly explains his war aims in France, described in the same letter: "From France the ore-basin of Briey and Longwy, a better frontier along the Vosges, the acquisition of Belfort or at least the dismantling of this fortress. The payment of a high indemnity." There is no evidence to show that Erzberger changed these views during the second year of the war.

The policy of the Center Party was thus not quite uniform but varied between moderate and more extreme annexationism.<sup>144</sup> This difference was also reflected in the two leading Centrist papers, the annexationist *Kölnische Volkszeitung* and the moderate Berlin *Germania*.<sup>145</sup> Yet even the latter was not opposed to "a tangible prize of victory," better access to the sea and the elimination of the "gates of invasion" which so badly affected the strategic position of Germany.<sup>146</sup> On the whole the Center Party agreed that Belgium should be kept as a kind of pawn until peace came, and that she should not again fall under the influence of France and England.<sup>147</sup>

The program of the Progressives was in many ways similar to that of the Center, though perhaps a little more moderate. On August 18, 1915, the Progressive Reichstag delegation passed the following resolution:

Equally removed from the systematic repudiation of all territorial aggrandizement and from limitless projections of annexations, the delegation considers that it is indispensable to assure the future of the Empire by military and economic measures as also by necessary extensions of the frontier, and to organize, for the free competition of peoples, conditions, which in the national domain as on a free sea, will guarantee the free expansion of the German people's energies.<sup>148</sup>

To make any more definite statement was considered premature. On December 4-5, the Central Committee of the party stated its opposition to the *status quo ante* and its hope for lasting protec-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Wacker, pp. 6, 13-14. A small minority opposed to all annexations was of no significance at this early date.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> Ibid., p. 10.

<sup>146</sup> Germania, Feb. 15, 1916.

<sup>147</sup> Wacker, p. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Ostfeld, p. 10; Dahlin, p. 45.

tion against attacks.<sup>149</sup> During the Reichstag debate on April 6, 1916, the Progressive leader von Payer again held that the *status quo ante* would be impossible after the war, and added more specifically: "A Belgium will remain, to be sure; but this Belgium will be different, inside and out, from the Belgium of August 1914." <sup>150</sup> These were moderate statements, but they were not opposed to annexations. Some members, Müller-Meiningen for instance, went further in their demands, hoping for the outright annexation of Belgium; <sup>151</sup> while others were much more moderate than their party's declarations.<sup>152</sup>

Two figures among the Progressives merit special treatment: the "moderate" Friedrich Naumann and the radical Gottfried Traub. Friedrich Naumann has quite wrongly been included among the most moderate of Progressives. As early as October 10, 1914, he had suggested to Under-Secretary Wahnschaffe that Belgium be divided among France, Holland, Luxemburg, and Germany, thus wiping her completely off the map.<sup>153</sup> As the war progressed, Naumann became more moderate, though he still maintained his earlier view that Belgium had to disappear in order to deliver Germany from a constant threat. In June 1915 he again proposed its division between France and Holland.<sup>154</sup> If this seems a rather harsh proposal, it should perhaps be pointed out that Naumann was not moved by chauvinism or economic greed, but by a sincere desire to prevent the recurrence of a similarly destructive war. "The main thing," he wrote to the pacifist Quidde on August 10, 1915, " is to draw the future frontiers of Europe so that they will not be a hindrance to peaceful development." <sup>155</sup> If Germany's security demanded certain corrections along the eastern and western frontiers, he wrote, such corrections were justified.<sup>156</sup>

It is in this constructive spirit that we should view Naumann's plan for a Central European Confederation, embodied in his wellknown book *Mitteleuropa*. First published in October 1915, it was

<sup>150</sup> Reichstag vol. 307, p. 862; Ostfeld, pp. 10-11.

<sup>151</sup> Kanner, I, 13-14; Berliner Tageblatt, June 23, 1916; E. Müller-Meiningen, Belgische Eindrücke und Ausblicke (München, 1916), pp. 29, 34.

<sup>154</sup> Kanner, I (2), 90.

<sup>155</sup> Heuss, p. 480.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Ostfeld, p. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> Th. Heuss, Friedrich Naumann (Stuttgart, 1937), pp. 478-79; U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> F. Naumann, "Ein erster Friedensklang," Hilfe, Dec. 16, 1915, pp. 805-06.

soon widely discussed both in Germany and abroad. What Naumann suggested, briefly, was a slowly growing, voluntary Central European federation, built around the already existing Dual Alliance of Germany and Austria-Hungary, and including most of the small states and nationalities of Central Europe. It was to be economic rather than political in character, although Naumann hoped that ultimately it would go beyond the mere artificial and utilitarian stage. It is incorrect, therefore, to see in his *Mitteleuropa* plans merely another embodiment of Germany's wartime expansionism. What distinguishes them from the ordinary set of war aims is their genuinely constructive character as a "positive contribution to the future well-being of the mid-European peoples."<sup>157</sup>

Göttfried Traub, a defrocked Protestant pastor, represents the more extreme side of Progressive annexationism. One of the leading propagandists, he saw in Germany's eastern and western expansion the only guarantee for the maintenance of Europe's peace.<sup>158</sup> To spread his ideas more effectively, he published a series of leaflets, *Eiserne Blätter*.<sup>159</sup> Later on, Traub became a member of the Independent Committee for a German Peace and of the Fatherland Party, two ultra-annexationist organizations.<sup>160</sup> It should be noted that Traub was not the only annexationist among Protestant clergymen. There is definitely more evidence of strong war aims among the Protestant than among the Catholic clergy, due, most likely, to the close relationship between the Protestant Church and the Prussian state.<sup>161</sup>

If, as this survey has shown, the bourgeois parties of the Center and Right maintained and even increased their annexationist sentiment during the second year of war, the Social Democrats, with equal determination, tried to uphold their anti-annexationist stand. On June 9, 1915, for instance, several hundred of its leading members demanded that the party take a decisive stand against the

<sup>157</sup> H. C. Meyer, "Mitteleuropa," Summary.

<sup>158</sup> Grumbach, pp. 105-06; Kölnische Zeitung, May 24, 1916; E. von Dryander, Erinnerungen aus meinem Leben (Bielefeld, 1926), p. 275.

<sup>159</sup> G. Traub, *Eiserne Blätter* (Dortmund, n. d.), esp. nos. 14, 26, 28, 34, 38, 39, 61, 68, 72, 80, 87.

160 Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 283, 412.

<sup>161</sup> Generalsuperintendent D. Klingemann, Wofür wir kämpfen (Witten, n.d.), esp. pp. 9-10; Grumbach, p. 65; J. Massart, Belgians under the German Eagle (London, 1916), pp. 213 ff.; Reichstag, vol. 310, p. 3719. growing clamour for annexations. Unless some action was taken, they threatened, the Socialist Party might break up.<sup>162</sup> It was partly as a result of this internal pressure that Ebert and Scheidemann addressed a letter to Bethmann Hollweg in which they protested against the Petition of the Six Economic Organizations and stressed the Socialists' desire for an early peace. "The annexation of Belgium," it read, "would isolate Germany as well as increase and enlarge the coalition against us. Peace must not bring us more enemies but more sympathies." A brief resumé of the letter, ending in the sentence "the people do not want annexation, the people want peace," was published in the *Vorwärts*, which was promptly seized by the censor.<sup>163</sup>

On August 14-16, 1915, the Socialist Reichstag delegation and the Party Committee held a joint meeting to consider the question of war aims. Reports were submitted by David and Bernstein, and since David's expressed the views of the majority, it was subsequently published as the Socialist Party's peace program. Three of its five points will interest us here. In its first point the memorandum was against the territorial aims of Germany's enemies, especially against France's demand for Alsace-Lorraine. To secure Germany's economic development after the war, the second point asked for the "open door," the most favored nation clause, and the "freedom of the seas." Most interesting, however, is the fourth point. As published in the *Vorwärts* on August 24, it read:

Remembering that the annexation of territories with foreign populations is against the right of self-determination and that, besides, the internal unity and strength of the German national state are only thus weakened and its political relations to the foreign countries greatly prejudiced, we oppose the shortsighted politicians' plans of conquest which have this aim.<sup>164</sup>

Yet the original manifesto had contained an additional last sentence: "We therefore consider the restitution of Belgium necessary for the sake of Germany's interests no less than for the sake of justice." This sentence, as we have already seen, had been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Grumbach, pp. 443-45; Scheidemann, *Memoiren*, I, 339 ff. Haase, Kautsky, and Bernstein published a manifesto to the same effect in the *Leipziger Volkszeitung* of June 19, 1915.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Vorwärts, June 26, 1915; Westarp, II, 175; Grumbach, pp. 429-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 331-32.

omitted because of governmental interference, since it was feared that the military authorities would object to it.<sup>165</sup>

The minority report of Eduard Bernstein at the August 14-16 meeting was never published in Germany. It went still further than David's report, demanding not only the restitution of Belgium, but the payment of indemnities to make up for the damages that nation had suffered as a result of the war. For regions whose nationality was contested, moreover, the report suggested plebiscites, a practice easily applicable to Alsace-Lorraine.<sup>166</sup> Such differences of opinion within the Socialist Party had existed from the beginning of the war, and they were not limited to a few individuals. We have already mentioned the two existing opposition groups. The more radical one around Liebknecht and Rosa Luxemburg was of minor importance. Liebknecht's repeated Reichstag interpellations in favor of a non-annexationist peace were usually left unanswered.<sup>167</sup> He was finally drafted, and when he staged a one-man public protest on May 1, 1916, shouting "Down with the war! Down with the government!" he was imprisoned and not released until October 1918.<sup>168</sup> The larger opposition group under Hugo Haase and Ledebour was much more effective. Scheidemann tells of the growing friction between this group and the rest of the party. It came to the surface in a speech of Hugo Haase before the Reichstag on March 24, 1916, which led to a fight with his party and the secession of himself and seventeen of his followers. Forming at first the Sozialdemokratische Arbeitsgemeinschaft, it was not until April 8, 1917, that Haase organized the Unabhängige Sozialdemokratische Partei Deutschlands.<sup>169</sup> In general, this group distinguished itself from the majority of the party not so much in its war aims as in the more violent methods it used to fight annexationism. At the same time, the Haase minority was willing to make certain sacrifices, if necessary, to gain peace. It was ready, for instance, to submit the question of Alsace-Lorraine to a plebiscite, which the rest of the party definitely refused to do.<sup>170</sup> In April 1916, Haase demanded "the political restoration of Bel-

<sup>168</sup> Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 356.

<sup>170</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 59-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> Westarp, II, 176.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Grumbach, p. 449.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Reichstag, vol. 307, pp. 221, 448.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> L. Bergsträsser, Geschichte der Politischen Parteien in Deutschland (Berlin, 1924), pp. 114 ff.; Haussmann, pp. 57-58; Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 351 ff.

gium, and not only that, but also its political and economic independence."  $^{\scriptscriptstyle 171}$ 

The Majority Socialists, as the Social Democratic Party was now called, clarified their stand on war aims once again in a petition in August, which asked that the war be ended as soon as possible. It was signed by ca. 900,000 persons. Simultaneously a resolution was published which held that "like the chauvinistic annexationists in the countries of the Entente, influential German circles set forth war aims and propagate plans of conquest which will incite the people of those countries to the strongest resistance." In contrast to these annexationists, the resolution requested "a peace which will make friendship of neighboring peoples possible and which will secure the territorial integrity, independence, and freedom of economic development of our country."<sup>172</sup>

It is impossible to treat in detail the many speeches and writings by prominent socialists stressing this opposition against annexations and expressing a real longing for peace.<sup>173</sup> Taken as a whole. they are an indication of the change which many Germans, especially of the lower classes, underwent during the second winter of the war. Far from giving the majority of people the political reforms they so ardently desired, war had imposed additional restrictions upon the freedom of press and assembly. It had also brought severe shortages of food and other essentials, and had inflicted heavy losses in human lives. All these factors help to explain why the enthusiasm of the early days of war now evaporated and a sincere desire for peace arose in its place. In July 1916, the Büro für Sozial politik made a survey of public opinion: "The temper of the masses is at present so bad in many places, that every mention of a war aim beyond the status quo which the majority [referring to the Social Democrats] might venture to disseminate, would result in numerous voters going over to the minority."<sup>174</sup> Many German letters intercepted by the Allies, as well as other contemporary accounts reveal a widespread hope for peace, particularly among the urban population and the soldiers at the front.175

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Reichstag, vol. 307, p. 885.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 347.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> For additional material see Grumbach, pp. 429-59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, V, 101.

<sup>175</sup> Ibid., VI, 89; Dahlin, pp. 83-85; Briefe aus Deutschland (n. pl., 1916), no. 5,

In contrast to the lower classes, the upper bourgeoisie and nobility not only continued to enjoy their political and social privileges, they also suffered less from the deprivations of war. In some cases, even, they seemed to be growing rich on lucrative war contracts. No wonder, then, that the gulf between the two extremes of German society soon became ever wider.<sup>176</sup> Added to the already existing differences, and soon overshadowing them in importance, was the growing suspicion that the war was continued merely to satisfy the egotism and annexationist greed of the "classes." Wahnschaffe described this feeling as early as June 28, 1915, in a letter to Valentini, head of the Kaiser's Geheimes Zivilkabinett:

The longing for peace among the workers is very great, and is only kept from breaking out openly through the efforts of their leaders. The violent agitation of the Right feeds the suspicion, that the government might continue the war—out of desire for conquests—longer than the protection of the Fatherland requires. Also, that the Chancellor, who is trusted not to have any fantastic plans and to be guided only by his sense of duty, might be overthrown. The agitation of the Right does not remain secret. I have often warned that this annexationist propaganda will only benefit the radical wing of Social Democracy.<sup>177</sup>

The controversy over annexations had become the battle-ground on which Socialists and Germany's ruling classes continued their pre-war conflicts.

Not all Socialists, however, were opposed to annexations. The rise of a right wing within the party, on the beginnings of which we have commented earlier, continued in 1915 and 1916. The Socialist deputy Suedekum, for instance, wrote in July 1915: "No objections can be raised to necessary steps taken to ensure the safety of our frontiers, and to open up far-reaching economic relations with European states." <sup>178</sup> On December 21, 1915, the right wing held a separate meeting at which its leader, David, is reported to have said: "We do not want to close our eyes to the necessity of conquering certain territories. It is entirely out of the question, for instance, that we again hand back the conquered

passim; Kanner, III, 6, 9, and passim; E. O. Volkmann, Der Marxismus und das deutsche Heer im Weltkriege (Berlin, 1925), p. 282.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> A. Rosenberg, Die Entstehung der Deutschen Republik 1871-1918 (Berlin, 1928), pp. 86-88, 99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Westarp, II, 175.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Great Britain, Daily Review, July 29, 1915, pp. 4-5.

Russian areas to Russian absolutism." The secret report of the Berlin president of police, von Jagow, from which this excerpt of David's speech was taken, then goes on to describe the meeting: "Peus [another Socialist] agreed with David. He had received hundreds of letters from party-members who all wanted to keep the soil which had been conquered with so much blood... Lensch and Suedekum represented a similar point of view. Landsberg, too, was mentioned as a member of this group."<sup>179</sup> The deputies Geck, Quarck, and Marum, as well as some Socialist papers and journals, likewise followed a moderately annexationist policy.<sup>180</sup> Yet interesting as these right-wing pronouncements of German socialism may be, they had little influence upon the party's general policy.

As during the first year of the war, the split over the question of war aims between bourgeois parties and Social Democrats led to a number of interesting debates in the Reichstag. The longing for peace among the lower classes did not affect the parties of the middle—Center and Progressives—until late in 1916 and early 1917, so it did not yet assert itself in the Reichstag session of December 9, 1915. The cause for the debate on that day was a petition, presented by Scheidemann, that the government state its conditions of peace and reiterating the usual opposition to annexations.<sup>181</sup> Bethmann Hollweg's reply, already discussed, was followed by an interesting speech of Landsberg, who belonged to the right wing Socialists. He regretted the fact that Bethmann did not give his aims in detail,

especially since the Chancellor's words indicated that his conditions of peace might well be worth hearing. . . The Chancellor demanded securities against frivolous attacks. Well, if there are such securities, we all want them. The Chancellor declared his readiness to conclude an honorable peace, and I did not gather from his speech that he imposed any unreasonable conditions on our adversary. That for me is decisive. What is understood in detail by securities, will have to be discussed once the negotiations have begun.

Landsberg concluded, as Scheidemann had done before him, opposing the "reconquest" of Alsace-Lorraine by France.<sup>182</sup> This was

<sup>182</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, p. 445.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Westarp, II, 292.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Grumbach, pp. 112-17; Michaelsen, pp. 29-30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, pp. 430-31; Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 379-80.

by no means unconditional opposition against annexation, instead it indicated that the Social Democrats might be willing to wink at certain post-war adjustments. The radical wing under Haase and Ledebour was aware of this fact and voiced its protest in a subsequent meeting of the Socialist Reichstag delegation.<sup>183</sup>

The bourgeois parties, including the smaller ones (Poles, Danes, German-Hanoverians, Bavarian Farmers' League, etc.) presented their views in a separate petition, read after Scheidemann's speech, which asked for a peace which would secure "the military, economic, financial, and political interests of Germany in their totality and by all means, including the necessary acquisitions of territory." The *Kriegszielmehrheit* had made its third united stand; and as Westarp points out, for the first time it had specifically referred to the necessity for territorial acquisitions.<sup>184</sup>

This majority, made up of the two Conservative parties, National Liberals, Center, and Progressives, also took a united stand on the submarine controversy, which became prominent in the winter and spring of 1915-16.<sup>185</sup> Certain difficulties in connection with this question, however, temporarily disturbed concerted action in regard to war aims, and the parties again made separate statements on the subject in the Reichstag debate of April 5-6, 1916. Their fundamental agreement on the war aims problem, however, was nevertheless maintained.

The general tenor of the speeches delivered during these two days, some of which we have quoted already, expressed little that was new. Westarp demanded that Germany keep Belgium closely in hand. Stresemann opposed the *status quo ante* for that country and desired Germany's "military, political, and economic supremacy"; the Centrist Spahn and the Progressive von Payer spoke in a similar vein.<sup>186</sup> The only opposition came from the Socialists; and even here, remarkably enough, it was neither unanimous nor unequivocal. While Haase, for the Independents, demanded the complete restoration and independence of Belgium, and Friedrich Ebert, for the majority, opposed the annexationist plans of the other parties, the speech of Philipp Scheidemann did not com-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> Ph. Scheidemann, Der Zusammenbruch (Berlin, 1921), p. 21; Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 381.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Reichstag, vol. 306, p. 437; Westarp, II, 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> *Ibid.*, pp. 127-28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> Reichstag, vol. 307, pp. 856, 862, 869, 875.

pletely shut the door to annexations. "One has to be a political simpleton," he said, "to think that a whole continent has gone up in flames, that millions have been destroyed and killed, and that not a single boundary-stone, which some diplomat, long since dead, set up at one time, will be moved."<sup>187</sup> Scheidemann later denied that he intended this remark to be in favor of annexations. The bourgeois press, however, acclaimed it as such.

What Scheidemann said about annexations [the Kölnische Volkszeitung wrote on April 7, 1916] can be endorsed by any bourgeois politician. . . Once we begin moving boundary stones and abandon the principle not to annex, it will be simply a question of power and military necessity, whether the boundary-stone will be moved to the Vistula and the Meuse, or still farther. . . . The Social Democrat Scheidemann is even closer to the "Annexationists" than the Progressive von Payer.<sup>188</sup>

In view of these annexationist speeches, including Scheidemann's statement, and the far-reaching speech of Bethmann during the same session, the debate of April 5-6, 1916 may be considered the high-water-mark of annexationism in the German Reichstag during the first two years of war.

## The Annexationists Continue Their Agitation

Nobody could be more delighted than the annexationists with these manifestations of expansionist hopes, which they themselves had helped to create. The *Kriegszielbewegung*, and its component parts, Pan-Germanism and the industrialists, had done their most important work in the early, formative stage, the evolution of war aims. The second year saw mostly a continuation of their earlier agitation, and the perfection of their organization in the "Independent Committee for a German Peace." It is also during this period that the *Kriegszielbewegung* definitely gained additional and effective allies from the ranks of Germany's professors. The socalled "Petition of the Intellectuals" was the first fruit of this alliance.

Because of the Pan-German practice of avoiding the limelight whenever possible, there are few direct statements on war aims by the League itself and its leaders during the second year of the war. In October 1915, a series of articles by outstanding Pan-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Ibid., pp. 858, 885, 890.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Grumbach, pp. 97-98, 114-15.

Germans appeared in the ultra-annexationist journal Der Panther (edited by Axel Ripke, an eastern annexationist),<sup>189</sup> in which Class demanded the annexation of Belgium and the coast of Northern France, supplemented by annexations in the east and overseas.<sup>190</sup> In the same number, General von Gebsattel, second in command of the League, advocated Germany's westward expansion into Belgium and Northern France to the mouth of the Somme. To keep these regions under firm domination he suggested the mass-migration of the natives to make room for German settlers.<sup>191</sup> The third member of the triumvirate of Pan-German leaders, the chief secretary of the League, Baron von Vietinghoff-Scheel, defined his aims in a memorandum entitled "The Guarantees of Germany's Future." <sup>192</sup> He stressed Germany's need for expansion to the east and for military security in the west. To gain the latter, he wrote, "it is sufficient to shape our frontier on one flank in such a fashion that we can dominate militarily all possible opponents from this flank." Any land acquired for this purpose, of course, must be secured free from its original inhabitants.<sup>193</sup>

The various publications directly or indirectly under Pan-German influence followed the same line.<sup>194</sup> In August 1916, a new magazine, *Deutschlands Erneuerung*, was planned, which first appeared in 1917. The list of its founders and editors indicates its highly annexationist character. Besides Class, they included Wolfgang Kapp, Houston Stewart Chamberlain, Baron von Liebig, and Professors Max von Gruber, von Below, Schäfer, and Seeberg.<sup>195</sup> Some of the League's auxiliary organizations likewise continued their annexationist agitation. The Army League addressed a petition to Bethmann in which it asked for the annexation of Belgium as a basis of future operations against England and France.<sup>196</sup> The

<sup>189</sup> A. Ripke, "Der Kampf um die Ostsee," in W. van der Bleek, ed., Die Vernichtung der englischen Weltmacht (Berlin, 1915), pp. 170 fl.
<sup>190</sup> H. Class, "Der alldeutsche Verband," Der Panther, no. 10, Oct. 1915, pp.

<sup>190</sup> H. Class, "Der alldeutsche Verband," Der Panther, no. 10, Oct. 1915, pp. 1140-45.

181 Freiherr von Gebsattel, "Das Gebot der Stunde," ibid., pp. 1178 ff.

<sup>192</sup> L. von Vietinghoff-Scheel, Die Sicherheiten der deutschen Zukunft (Leipzig, 1915).

<sup>193</sup> Ibid., pp. 21-23, 28.

<sup>194</sup> Alldeutsche Blätter, XXVI, Jan. 15 and March 4, 1916; Tägliche Rundschau, April 6 and July 28, 1916.

<sup>195</sup> M. Lehmann, Verleger J. F. Lehmann (München, 1935), p. 43.

<sup>196</sup> Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, Gedanken und Wünsche zur Gestaltung des Friedens (Berlin, 1917), pp. 50 ff.; Die Wehr, June 1915, p. 13; July, 1915, p. 15; Sept., 1915, p. 15. Navy League brought its aims before the Chancellor in June 1916, desiring, as might be expected, the Flanders coast and Germany's political and military influence over the rest of Belgium.<sup>197</sup>

The German Colonial Society likewise presented a definite program of war aims during this period. Though its president, Duke Johann Albrecht of Mecklenburg, was a Pan-German, the Society did not always favor co-operation with the League. Even so, there can be no doubt that the two organizations were closely related in spirit.<sup>198</sup> In July 1915, the Kolonialwirtschaftliches Komitee, the economic section of the Society, hoped for the "development and enlargement of German colonial possessions" as sources of raw-materials and markets.<sup>199</sup> A year later, the Society itself issued its claims in a specific declaration. Colonies were necessary, it said, if Germany was to remain a great power. At the same time, however, the expansion of Germany's territorial basis in Europe was considered necessary. A strong fleet and a chain of naval stations were required to defend this future colonial empire, which should not be limited to Africa (as most colonial programs declared) but should include holdings in the Far East as well. Better than most other declarations on war aims, this one showed how one claim would lead to the next, and how westward expansion in Europe, colonial expansion across the seas, and a strong naval policy all went into the making of the Drang nach Westen<sup>200</sup>

Direct evidence on the annexationist agitation of the great industrialists is scarcer during the second year of the war than during the first. Yet the evidence there is shows continued propagandist activity on the part of heavy industry in favor of an annexationist peace. In September 1915, for instance, the firm of Thyssen, supported by Erzberger, repeated the demand for the annexation of the Briey basin and added the annexation of Belgium as a desirable aim.<sup>201</sup> Very interesting is another petition of January 2, 1916, by Reinhard Mannesmann, oldest of the six Mannesmann brothers, whose pre-war attempts to secure for their firm the exploitation of Morocco's rich iron and copper supplies had been a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, Gedanken und Wünsche, 1917 edition, pp. 65-67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> Class, Strom, p. 85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> Michaelsen, pp. 31-32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> Kreuzzeitung, July 6, 1916.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> "A," Erzberger, p. 19.

prominent factor in the Morocco crisis of 1911.<sup>202</sup> The petition, as might be expected, again dealt with Morocco, a region otherwise rarely mentioned in the discussion of war aims.

If Morocco should come under German influence at the conclusion of peace, the undersigned [i. e., Reinhard Mannesmann] can see in it such gain for the Fatherland and for private firms, that he is ready to hand over without charge half of his lands suitable for stock-farming and agriculture, to be used for the settlement of war invalids or for any other purpose designated by the government of the Reich.

In addition, Mannesmann promised "to surrender one-half of the net profit [derived from mining concessions] for war invalids or any other purpose desired by the Reich's government." <sup>203</sup>

To these petitions of individual firms must be added those of industrial and commercial organizations. In September 1915, the Hansa League, a commercial interest group, held a meeting to draw up its program of war aims. The League had joined five of the famous Six Economic Organizations in a petition to the Chancellor on March 10, 1915, asking for the free discussion of war aims.<sup>204</sup> In its declaration of September 15, it demanded the freedom of the seas, an extension of Germany's frontiers, the restoration of her colonies, and a moderate indemnity.<sup>205</sup> Of the industrial organizations, the Verein Deutscher Eisen-und Stahlindustrieller held a meeting in Berlin on December 10, 1915, and in a telegram to Bethmann asked for a peace which would give Germanv "the necessary extension of her frontiers." 206 The Zentralverband Deutscher Industrieller, almost simultaneously, hoped that "the government would refuse all conditions of peace that might endanger, not only in maritime and strategic, but also in economic respects, the future security of the German Empire." 207 Interesting in this connection is a meeting of the Provincial Diet of the Rhine Province (in which western German industry was heavily represented) during the first week of February 1916. Baron von Rheinbaben. Oberpräsident of

<sup>202</sup> Mannesmann, pp. 8 ff.

<sup>203</sup> Ibid., p. 59; E. Staley, "Mannesmann Mining Interests and the Franco-German Conflict over Morocco," The Journal of Political Economy, vol. 40 (1932), pp. 52-72.

<sup>204</sup> See above, p. 43.

 $^{205}$  Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), p. 385. The president of the League, Dr. Riesser, published his own expansionist views in England und Wir (Leipzig, 1915).

<sup>206</sup> Vorwärts, Dec. 11, 1915.

<sup>207</sup> Mitteilungen des Kriegsausschusses der Deutschen Industrie, Dec. 11, 1915, no. 75; Great Britain, Daily Review, Aug. 8, 1916, p. 16. the Province, close friend of Stresemann's and annexationist himself, presided. Annexationist speeches, particularly about Belgium, were received with applause by an audience consisting largely of influential industrialists.<sup>208</sup>

One of the chief sources of industrial influence, however, was the press. We have seen how under the direction of Hugenberg and the Wirtschaftsvereinigung, a number of news and advertising agencies had been set up, whose purpose among other things was to gain influence over the editorial policy of the provincial press through clever use of the substantial advertising contracts which heavy industry was able to hand out.<sup>209</sup> Some papers, especially the Rheinisch-Westphälische Zeitung and the Post, were known as industrialist mouthpieces and their statements on war aims bore this out.<sup>210</sup> A major addition to Hugenberg's propaganda machine during the second year of the war was the acquisition in March 1916 of the well-known firm of Scherl, which published a number of leading papers and periodicals. Hugenberg, who became the real force behind the company, had conducted the negotiations leading to its purchase as the head of a group of Ruhr industrialists-Krupp, Kirdorf, Beukenberg and Müser.<sup>211</sup>

## The "Petition of the Intellectuals" and the "Independent Committee for a German Peace"

Most of the propaganda in favor of an expansionist peace continued to come from the co-ordinated efforts of various annexationist groups, the *Kriegszielbewegung*. Its first major achievement, as we have seen, had been the Petition of the Six Economic Organizations, presented on May 20, 1915. It was followed a month later by the so-called Petition of the Intellectuals. The reason for this petition, according to Westarp, was

to give more emphasis to the petitions of the economic organizations through support of large sections of the population, in order that the propagation of far-reaching war aims on the part of the economic organizations would not give the impression that these aims were based exclusively on selfish, materialistic and non-patriotic feelings.<sup>212</sup>

<sup>212</sup> Westarp, II, 166.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Grumbach, pp. 146-47. On Rheinbaben see Kölnische Zeitung, May 8, 1916.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> Vorwärts, Nov. 22, 1915.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> Rheinisch-West phälische Zeitung, Aug. 12, Nov. 16, 1915; April 15, 1916.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Bernhard, pp. 65-73; Kriegk, pp. 52-53; "Junius Alter," Nationalisten, pp. 147-48.

Again Class claims to have been the originator, laying the groundwork as far back as March 1915. As in the case of the Economic Organizations he realized that the less the Pan-German League and himself appeared in the picture, the more likely his plan was to succeed. So he sent Baron von Vietinghoff-Scheel to Berlin in late March to make the necessary preparations.<sup>213</sup> Class first planned to turn the matter over to Dietrich Schäfer; but the latter had taken exception to the Pan-German scheme of annexing land "free from its inhabitants," so he refused to co-operate with Class to the extent of directing negotiations for the Petition of the Intellectuals, though he was ready to assist in its preparation. The position intended for Schäfer was taken over by Reinhold Seeberg, professor of theology. He was assisted by a "preparatory committee" consisting chiefly of professors from the university of Berlin, Besides Schäfer it included the historian Otto Hintze, the political scientist Hermann Schumacher, Otto von Gierke, professor of law, and "strangely enough" (according to Class) the two historians Friedrich Meinecke and Hermann Oncken, whose views on war aims, on the whole, were rather moderate.<sup>214</sup> The remaining members of the committee were Emil Kirdorf, former ambassador von Reichenau (who during the war and with Class' recommendation became president of the V. D. A.), Admiral von Grumme-Douglas, Andreas Gildemeister, and Friedrich von Schwerin.<sup>215</sup>

On April 26, 1915, the Seeberg Committee held its first conference. At the start the Pan-German Andreas Gildemeister submitted a draft memorandum which, except for minor alterations, was accepted. It was then put before a larger audience in June, and invitations were sent out for a general meeting on June 20.<sup>216</sup> This meeting, attended by several hundred outstanding industrial, military, and academic figures, was a great success. The opening

<sup>215</sup> Class, Strom, p. 395; Schwerin is an excellent example of the versatile character of the typical German annexationist. By profession he was *Regierungspräsident* of the district of Frankfurt a.O. In addition he was a close friend of Hugenberg's, member of the Pan-German League, opponent of Bethmann, member of the "Independent Committee" and editor of the annexationist *Deutschlands Erneuerung*.

<sup>216</sup> Ibid., pp. 395-96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> Class, Strom, p. 395.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Class, Strom, p. 362; Schäfer, Leben, p. 169. All these men were authors of at least one work on war aims. Dietrich Schäfer alone published *ca*. 150 books and pamphlets, many of which dealt with the future peace settlement. The participation of Meinecke and Oncken was due to a misunderstanding on their part and was subsequently withdrawn. Meinecke, *Erinnerungen*, pp. 202-04.

address by Professor Seeberg referred to war aims in rather general terms, but Professor Schäfer's address, "Our people among the powers" was more specific.<sup>217</sup> The main speeches were given by Schwerin and Professor Schumacher on eastern and western aims respectively.<sup>218</sup> Schumacher's speech was very detailed and emphatic in its far-reaching demands for the annexation of Belgium and parts of eastern France.<sup>219</sup> The draft of Seeberg's committee was then submitted and unanimously approved. Copies were mailed to a long list of influential persons with the request to attach their signatures. Altogether 1,347 names were collected within a very short time. Of these, the largest contingent of 352 came from professors, 252 from artists, writers, and journalists, and 158 from clergymen and teachers. More than half thus came from so-called "intellectual" circles, which accounts for the name usually applied to Gildemeister's memorandum. Other professions, however, were not absent: 182 representatives of commerce and industry, 148 justices and lawyers, 145 high state officials, 52 agrarians, 40 members of various parliaments, and 18 retired generals and admirals completed the list. There were no signatures from the working class.220

As to the Petition itself, it registered, according to Class, "complete agreement" with the war aims of the Pan-German League. The following excerpts give the gist of the document.<sup>221</sup> Its first point dealt with the future of France and was unusually specific:

We want to do away once and for all with the French danger. . . . For that purpose, a thorough improvement of our whole western frontier, from Belfort to the Channel coast is needed. We must, if possible, conquer part of the northern French Channel coast, to be strategically more secure against England and to gain a better access to the open sea. . . . The key enterprises and possessions are to be transferred to German hands. France will have to take in the previous owners and reimburse them. The part of the population taken over by Germany will be given no influence in the affairs of the Reich. It is furthermore necessary . . . to impose without mercy a high indemnity upon France. . . . We should also remember that this country has disproportionately large colonial possessions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> Akademische Blätter, Aug. 1 and Sept. 16, 1915.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> Class, Strom, p. 396.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> Text in Grumbach, pp. 171-73.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, Gedanken und Wünsche, 1915 edition, pp. 21, 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> For text see *ibid.*, pp. 21 ff.

About Belgium, the petition asked that Germany keep the country "politically, militarily, and economically closely in hand," else Belgium "would become nothing but a highly threatening base for English attacks." Economically, Belgium would give Germany "a tremendous increase of power." And the addition of the Flemings would prove a valuable asset to German folkdom. As in the case of France, the inhabitants "were to be given not the slightest political influence in German affairs." Only the third out of five points dealt with German war aims in the east, where the petition demanded land for the settlement of German farmers. The fourth point treated at length the colonial future of Germany and her war aims against England. Even though the war with Russia had been particularly active and glorious, it held, "we must never forget for a moment that this war, in its last analysis, is a war of England against Germany's world economy and against her naval and overseas prestige." Germany, therefore, should knit the European continent into an economic whole, revive her overseas trade, and restore and enlarge her colonial holdings in Africa and elsewhere. The interdependence of a strong continental base, a powerful fleet, and an extensive colonial empire, stressed in the declaration of the Colonial Society, we find repeated here. A chain of naval stations and the loosening of England's hold over Egypt would reestablish the freedom of the seas.<sup>222</sup> The fifth and last point, dealing with indemnities, included demands not only for the costs of war, but also for reparations, pensions, and funds for the restoration and increase of the German army. "If we could get into the position of imposing an indemnity upon England, . . . no sum could be too large.... But it will probably be primarily, if not exclusively France who will be in line for a financial indemnity. We must not hesitate, out of false mercy, to burden her most heavily."

In a sweeping conclusion, the Petition of the Intellectuals warned the government that a weak peace might arouse dissatisfaction among the German people and thus bring about the fall of the monarchy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> There was considerable interest among German annexationists in the future of Egypt: G. Roloff, *Eine ägyptische Expedition als Kampfmittel gegen England* (Berlin, 1915); R. Hennig, *Der Kampf um den Suezkanal* (Stuttgart, 1915); P. Rohrbach, *Bismarck und Wir* (München, 1915), pp. 39-45; D. Trietsch, *Die Welt nach dem Kriege* (Berlin, 1915), p. 29.

A statesman who returns without Belgium—soaked with German blood—, without strong extensions of the frontier in east and west, without a substantial indemnity, and, before all, without the most ruthless humiliation of England, such a statesman will have to expect not only the worst discontent from the lower and middle classes about the increased burden of taxation; he will also find much bitterness among leading circles, which will endanger internal peace and may even affect the foundations of the monarchy. The disappointed nation would believe that it sacrificed in vain the flower of its youth and manhood.

The petition was not sent to the Chancellor and other dignitaries until July; and since it violated censorship restrictions, it was promptly banned and confiscated. Even so, it continued to circulate and its contents soon became known abroad, where they did anything but help the German cause.

On July 29, 1915, Professor Seeberg invited a small group which had shown particular interest in the Petition to a meeting at the Hotel "Kaiserhof" in Berlin. Of the ten persons present, Seeberg and Schäfer were the only remaining representatives of the original academic section of the "preparatory committee." The other members of the committee, Kirdorf, von Reichenau, von Grumme-Douglas, Gildemeister and von Schwerin were present; also the National Liberal Paul Fuhrmann, the historian Eduard Meyer, and the secretary of the meeting, Massmann. After a brief report on the success of the petition, Seeberg resigned his position and the preparatory committee officially terminated its activities. At the same meeting, however, its former members re-constituted themselves as a new group, this time under the leadership of Dietrich Schäfer, the so-called Unabhängiger Ausschuss für einen Deutschen Frieden.<sup>223</sup> Heinrich Class claims to have been the originator of this annexationist creation also.<sup>224</sup> The membership of the Independent Committee was larger than that of the preparatory committee, with about forty members by the middle of 1916 and more than three hundred more or less loosely attached followers. Some of these we have already met: the leaders of the Agrarian League, Roesicke and von Wangenheim, Wolfgang Kapp, Dr. Hirsch, and professor von Gruber. Other prominent additions were Carl Duisberg (Director of the Bayer Chemical Trust), Karl Röchling (of the Saar industrial family) Paul Wilhelm Vogel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> Schäfer, Leben, pp. 171-72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> Class, Strom, p. 398.

(President of the Saxon Diet and second in command of the National Liberal Party) and *Reichsrat* Buhl (a leading figure both in the National Liberal Party and in Bavarian politics). Professor Stahlberg of Berlin became secretary of the new committee and Professor Kulenkampff was made its treasurer.<sup>225</sup>

As time went on, particularly after the Committee revealed its identity in the summer of 1916, branches developed in most German cities, and by 1917 we find several hundred members, including most of the annexationists we have thus far encountered in this study.<sup>226</sup> The Independent Committee had become the most important annexationist organization of war-time Germany. Its strength was less the quantity than the quality of its members. There were first, and perhaps most numerous, the representatives and leaders of German heavy industry: Beukenberg, the two brothers Kirdorf (Emil and his less well-known brother Adolf). Duisberg, Poensgen, Ziese, Häuser (of the Höchst Dye Works), Beumer, Friedrichs, Hirsch, Wilhelm Meyer, and Roetger. There were editors of annexationists papers and periodicals (Bacmeister, Rippler, and Bäcker), prominent Protestant figures (Klingemann and Fischer), Professors (von Gierke, von Below, von Gruber, Schiemann), Admirals (von Knorr, Kalau vom Hofe), and many well-known annexationist propagandists like Fabarius. Reventlow, Prince Otto zu Salm-Horstmar, and Gustav Stresemann. These names present barely one-tenth the talent, wealth and power assembled behind the Independent Committee, the one and only purpose of which was the propagation of far-reaching annexationist war aims.

Compared to its immediate forerunner, the preparatory committee for the Petition of the Intellectuals, the Independent Committee had a considerably smaller contingent of university professors. Three of the original members, Hintze, Meinecke, and Oncken had even withdrawn their signatures from the Petition. But as a group the academic profession still took first place among the writers of annexationist propaganda. It would take too much space to discuss the writings and speeches of men like Zitelmann and Schumacher of Bonn, Brandenburg and Hans Meyer of Leipzig, Fester and von Bissing of Munich, Spahn of Strassburg, von Liebig of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> Schäfer, Leben, p. 172.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> For a partial list of members see Unabhängiger Ausschuss, An das Deutsche Volk (Königsberg, 1917), pp. 3 ff.

Giessen, Hettner and Hampe of Heidelberg, and von Schulze-Gaevernitz of Freiburg.<sup>227</sup> The most numerous academic pronouncements came from the University of Berlin, where Schäfer, Eduard Meyer, von Gierke and Seeberg held forth. Their colleagues Conrad Bornhak, Wilhelm Kahl, Werner Sombart, and even the moderate Hans Delbrück likewise contributed their share of propagandist writings.<sup>228</sup> In July 1916, a group of Berlin professors-von Gierke, Kahl, Meyer, Schäfer, Wagner, and von Wilamowitz-Möllendorf-issued a joint appeal in favor of strong war aims.<sup>229</sup> It would be wrong to attribute to these men the same egotistical motives and class ambitions we can detect behind the aims of most other annexationists. At the same time, it would be equally wrong to belittle or underestimate the influence of these academic contributions to the subject of war aims. To wave them aside as unrealistic utterance of uninfluential intellectuals would be to ignore the high prestige which the academic profession enjoyed in the German Empire. To find their war aims supported by men of world reputation and eminent specialists in their respective fields was a windfall to Germany's annexationists. The array of historical, economic, geographic and ethnographic arguments which these intellectuals lined up in defense of large-scale annexations supplied valuable ammunition to the propaganda of the annexationists. The German professors became the "brain trust" behind the Kriegszielbewegung.

One of the chief duties of the Independent Committee was the framing of a new declaration on war aims to take the place of the confiscated Petition of the Intellectuals. A memorandum by Professor Schäfer, entitled *Zur Lage* answered the requirements, though its tone was much milder than that of the Petition. It was

<sup>229</sup> Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), pp. 369-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> For a list of annexationist writers and members of the Committee see Schäfer, Leben, p. 210. For examples of their writings see: E. Zitelmann, Das Schicksal Belgiens beim Friedensschluss (München, 1915); E. Brandenburg, Deutschlands Kriegsziele (Leipzig, 1917); H. Meyer in Frankfurter Zeitung, April 9, 1916 (2d ed.); R. Fester, Die Wandlungen der belgischen Frage (Halle, 1918); F. W. von Bissing, Westliche Kriegsziele (Weimar, 1917); M. Spahn, Im Kampf um unsere Zukunft (M. Gladbach, 1915); von Liebig in Berliner Neueste Nachrichten, June 26, 1915; A. Hettner, Die Ziele unserer Weltpolitik (Berlin, 1915); K. Hampe, Belgiens Vergangenheit und Gegenwart (Leipzig, 1915); G. von Schulze-Gaevernitz, La Mer libre (Stuttgart, 1915).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> Grumbach, pp. 159, 201, 348-49; W. Sombart, Händler und Helden (München, 1915), esp. pp. 143-44; H. Delbrück, Bismarck's Erbe (Berlin, 1915), pp. 202 ff.

published on New Year's Day 1916 and over 300,000 copies were distributed.<sup>230</sup> From France it demanded the Briey-Longwy region and a better frontier along the Vosges mountains. Belgium should become politically, militarily and economically dependent upon Germany, and the suppressed Flemings were to be "saved." The first large-scale meeting of the Committee was in June 1916 in Berlin. Schäfer gave the opening address and then introduced a resolution which asked for the usual set of western war aims.<sup>231</sup> In August of 1916, another meeting of the Independent Committee decided to present its war aims to a wider audience in a proclamation entitled "To the German People." <sup>232</sup> It was signed by most of the members of the Committee plus about two hundred additional outstanding personalities. The proclamation itself was drafted in rather general terms to evade the restrictions of censorship.<sup>233</sup>

Another one of the functions of the Independent Committee was to serve as national headquarters for the numerous local organizations of annexationists springing up all over Germany and to supply them with materials for speeches, pamphlets, handbills, etc.<sup>234</sup> The interesting feature of these local organizations was the way in which various annexationist groups co-operated in their propagandist activities. In Düsseldorf, for instance, the Pan-German League, the Army League, various athletic clubs, and the Verein Deutscher Eisenhüttenleute worked together for the dissemination of strong aims. In Karlsruhe another such group existed under the leadership of the local Independent Committee. In Hamburg the Conservative Parties, the Center Party, and the Agrarian League held joint meetings with the Pan-German League and the Army League. In Chemnitz, Frankfurt a. M., Königsberg, and other major cities, similar collaboration existed.<sup>235</sup> Special

<sup>230</sup> D. Schäfer, Zur Lage (Berlin, 1916); Schäfer, Leben, pp. 173-74; Berliner Tageblatt, Aug. 12, 1916.

<sup>231</sup> K. Jagow, ed., Dietrich Schäfer und sein Werk (Berlin, 1925), p. 120; Schäfer, Leben, p. 188.

<sup>232</sup> Schäfer, Krieg, II, 10; Unabhaengiger Ausschuss, An das Deutsche Volk! (Königsberg, 1917).

<sup>233</sup> The Independent Committee also put its whole weight behind the growing agitation for the unlimited use of submarines: *Schulthess*, vol. 57 (1), p. 126; *Reichstag*, vol. 417, pp. 381 ff.

<sup>234</sup> Wortmann, p. 16.

<sup>235</sup> Vorbilder zur Organisation (n. pl., n. d.), Monkemöller Collection, Hoover Library, Stanford, Calif.; Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), p. 396; Grumbach, p. 148;

efforts were made to organize the nationalists of Bavaria and to arouse the people of Southern Germany in general. In March of 1916, a group of some one hundred leading Munich citizens published the Richtlinien für Wege zum dauernden Frieden which asked for the usual German domination over Belgium, the annexation of the ore-regions and some frontier rectifications from France. a large German colonial Empire in Central Africa, and naval stations to ensure the freedom of the seas.<sup>236</sup> The next step in the growth of an annexationist group in Munich was "a confidential discussion in July of 1916 between leading men of South Germany on the political situation." <sup>237</sup> Out of this meeting developed the "Committee of Principles for the Roads to a lasting Peace," which was nothing but the Munich branch of the Independent Committee.<sup>238</sup> Professor Emil Kraepelin, member of the Independent Committee, Gottfried Traub, Count Reventlow, and the Centrist Schlittenbauer were among its founders. It was from these same circles that a delegation approached King Ludwig demanding a strong peace, unrestricted submarine warfare, and expressing strong opposition to Bethmann Hollweg. Of the eleven delegates, seven at least were members of the Independent Committee. The King, whose sympathies were definitely with the annexationists, as we have already seen, still urged the petitioners to have confidence in the responsible leaders of the Empire.<sup>239</sup>

The relationship between the Independent Committee and the annexationist parties of the Right was a close one. Count Westarp refrained from joining the Committee so as not to tie the hands of his party; but his attitude towards Dietrich Schäfer and Professor Stahlberg "was based on trust and sympathy."<sup>240</sup> The National Liberals were less hesitant in their co-operation and several of their leaders—Fuhrmann, Stresemann, Vogel, and Buhl were among the members of the Committee. But annexationist agitation after 1915 was not limited to the Independent Committee. Other combinations of nationalist groups continued to

Hamburger Nachrichten, Sept. 15, 1916; A. Lanick, Klarheit über die Kriegsziele (Heidelberg, 1917), p. 127.

<sup>237</sup> Weser Zeitung, July 29, 1916.

<sup>238</sup> Dahlin, pp. 68-69.

<sup>239</sup> Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), p. 387.

<sup>240</sup> Westarp, II, 167.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, Gedanken und Wünsche, 1917 edition, pp. 32-36.

collaborate whenever the necessity for a united stand arose. The two chief causes for such collaboration were the demands for a strong peace and for unlimited submarine warfare as a means of winning such a peace; and the main obstacle to their realization was seen in Bethmann Hollweg's basic moderation. The questions of war aims, submarine warfare, and opposition to the Chancellor thus became closely interrelated.

## The Campaign Against Bethmann Hollweg

There had been a number of attacks against Bethmann Hollweg, ever since his moderate stand on the subject of war aims was first suspected; but during the summer of 1915 these attacks increased both in volume and violence.<sup>241</sup> At the same time lack of agreement on a suitable successor-ex-chancellor von Bülow, von Tirpitz, Falkenhayn and Baron von Rheinbaben were all named as possibilities-proved a severe handicap to the campaign for the Chancellor's dismissal.<sup>242</sup> A further obstacle was the support which Bethmann enjoyed from the Emperor. The fact that William II seemed to agree with the "weak" policy of his Chancellor caused much consternation among annexationists. They tried to explain the Kaiser's attitude as the result of the alleged seclusion in which he was purposely kept by the supporters of moderation. To penetrate this seclusion, a letter was addressed to the Kaiser in January 1916, by a group of notables, including Schäfer, Prince Otto zu Salm-Horstmar, Admiral von Knorr, Baron von Gebsattel, Count von Roon, and other members of the Independent Committee. The letter pointed out that in the opinion of the signatories, the direction of Germany's policy was in the hands of men who lacked the confidence of the ablest and most faithful supporters of the monarchy. It would do great harm to the existing system, it continued, "if peace . . . would not bring a prize of victory to our people, justifying the terrible sacrifices of blood that have been made." Finally, to voice their grievances more effectively and specifically, the authors of the letter asked the favor of a personal audience. But William's answer was negative and highly indignant at this attempt to influence the decisions of the Crown.<sup>243</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Hutten-Czapski, II, 212-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Westarp, II, 303.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Schäfer, Leben, pp. 173-74; H. von Treuberg, Zwischen Politik und Diplomatie (Strassburg, 1921), p. 84.

Aside from these co-operative moves against Bethmann Hollweg and his submarine and war aims policy, we find several individual attacks between the end of 1915 and the middle of 1916, three of which merit separate discussion because of the considerable stir they caused at the time. The first was a book by Professor Hans von Liebig, Die Politik von Bethmann Hollwegs, published in December 1915.244 Written in three parts, it levelled a violent attack upon Bethmann's policy, mostly during the pre-war years. The book was the brain-child of the Munich publisher J. F. Lehmann, prominent in annexationist circles, whose plan was further developed in conversations with Heinrich Class. General von Gebsattel, and Carl Caesar Eiffe, another prominent Pan-German propagandist. Liebig was then commissioned to write the book and Lehmann published it at his own expense.<sup>245</sup> To outwit the censor, two editions were printed in great secrecy. One, a volume of ordinary size, was mailed in small quantities. It could easily be detected and was promptly confiscated. When the authorities thought they had the matter well in hand, 3,000 copies, printed on very thin paper, were sent out as first class mail and most of them reached their destination.<sup>246</sup> Most of von Liebig's book dealt with the pre-war period and the outbreak of war. When he came down to the present, he demanded the usual annexations especially in Western Europe.

The second attack against Bethmann appeared in May 1916 and was distributed in about 300 typewritten copies.<sup>247</sup> Its author was Wolfgang Kapp, *Generallandschaftsdirektor* of East Prussia and one of the most important supporters of the annexationist cause. He was a member of the Pan-German League as well as the Independent Committee and co-editor of *Deutschlands Erneuerung*, though he did not really become well-known until he wrote his attack upon Bethmann Hollweg.<sup>248</sup> Despite its brevity, his pamphlet summed up admirably the attitude of the *fronde* against

<sup>244</sup> H. von Liebig, *Die Politik von Bethmann Hollwegs* (München, 1919), 3 parts in 2 vols.

<sup>245</sup> Lehmann, pp. 252-54.

<sup>246</sup> Ibid., pp. 40-41; Berliner Tageblatt, Aug. 16, 1916.

<sup>247</sup> W. Kapp, "Die nationalen Kreise und der Reichskanzler" (Königsberg, 1916). Typescript at the Hoover Library, Stanford, Calif.

<sup>248</sup> For a discussion of Kapp see "Junius Alter," Nationalisten, pp. 28 ff.; L. Schemann, Wolfgang Kapp und das Märzunternehmen vom Jahre 1920 (München, 1937).

the Chancellor. Point by point he attacked and demolished Bethmann's domestic and foreign policy, suggesting the Chancellor's dismissal as the only remedy. His first point of attack was Germany's moderate submarine policy, which Kapp blamed on Bethmann's submissive attitude towards the United States and his belief that victory over England was impossible. He then went on to deal with Bethmann's war aims, singling out his Belgian policy for special attack:

The Chancellor has stated clearly that Belgium, which once he indicated as a pledge in hand, will be surrendered—though only in return for real guarantees, so that she will not again become an outpost of our enemies but surrendered, and that is the decisive thing. . . . The guarantees demanded by the Chancellor, even if "real," cannot help us at all. For he was thinking only of negative guarantees against the plans of our opponents. What we need, however, are positive guarantees for our future as a world power. We can only obtain such guarantees if we do not give up Belgium but under some form, especially by retaining the coast, take her under political, economic, and military control. That is exactly what the Chancellor does not want.<sup>249</sup>

Actually there was nothing in Bethmann's statements to justify Kapp's accusation. As a matter of fact, Bethmann's speech of April 5, 1916, as we have seen, was the most far-reaching of his public statements about German war aims and had been welcomed as such by most annexationists. The opposition we find in Kapp's memorandum, therefore, can only be understood if we realize how closely in his mind, as in that of almost all annexationists, the question of war aims was related to the problem of internal reforms. The same argument already used by General von Gebsattel, by the Petition of the Intellectuals, and by Count Westarp to describe this relationship, we find again repeated by Kapp:

Our brave nation, which in this struggle for its national existence has borne incomparable sacrifices with never-wanting self-denying inspiration, expects the most from this peace. It dare not be deprived of the reward for these sacrifices. It has a valid claim to the magnificence whose development is opened by the victories of our arms. Should it be disappointed in its lofty expectations, the destructive results on our internal political life and their reaction upon the Reich's foreign policy would be enormous. An irremediable weakening of the government would take place which would immensely strengthen parliament and would endanger the future of the German Empire.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> Kapp, p. 25.

On the other hand, after a glorious peace, "a strong popular Empire of highest splendor will arise which will empower Germany to the greatest political, economic, and cultural productivity. . . . Only then shall we escape from the democratic swamp into which we should be drawn undoubtedly after a lukewarm peace."  $^{250}$ 

No one before had more strongly voiced the fear, that a weak peace would hasten the rise of that despised Western product called democracy. Nor had any annexationist ever stated more frankly his opposition to the two most burning questions of German internal politics—the reform of Prussia's suffrage and the introduction of a parliamentary regime. About the first, Kapp wrote: "In discussing the domestic development of the German people . . . the importance has been wrongly placed upon the suffrage demands and their realization. The basis of true political freedom is economic independence and the economic self-determination of the individual "—a doctrine which was attractive to the middle class, but held little consolation for the lower class. As to granting a larger share of influence in the affairs of the Reich to political parties, the memorandum held that the government,

to preserve its reputation . . . must not let the reins be taken from its hands by political parties; otherwise it is to be feared that unity of action will be destroyed, that the government will be driven to the defensive by the unreasonable demands of the parties, and that because of the resulting political complications general dissatisfaction and disillusionment will take place instead of improvement, as had been hoped.<sup>251</sup>

Statements like these must be kept in mind to understand the hatred of the annexationists towards Bethmann, about whose sympathies with domestic reforms they never had any doubt.

The third example of anti-Bethmann propaganda appeared under the pseudonym "Junius Alter" in June 1916.<sup>252</sup> The author, probably, was Franz Sontag, editor of the *Alldeutsche Blätter*, though it may have been a co-operative venture.<sup>253</sup> Like Liebig's book, the "Junius Alter" pamphlet dealt largely with Bethmann's pre-war and domestic policy and contained little on war aims.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 101-02.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> Ibid., p. 106.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> "Junius Alter," Das Deutsche Reich auf dem Wege zur geschichtlichen Episode (München, 1919), first published in June 1916.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> M. Wenck, Alldeutsche Taktik (Jena, 1917), pp. 18, 21; Class, Strom, p. 339; Westarp, II, 169.

Two thousand copies were distributed and when the censor intervened, the book reappeared under a new title and the pseudonym "*Drei Deutsche*." <sup>254</sup>

The immediate results of these attacks upon his person and policy were two Reichstag speeches by Bethmann on June 5-6, 1916. "I know that no party in this House [he said on June 5] approves of agitation which uses falsehoods or invective. But unfortunately the pirates of public opinion frequently abuse the flag of the nationalist parties.... It is bitter to have to fight the lies of our enemies. Slander and defamation at home are just shameful."<sup>255</sup> The press. almost unanimously, joined the Chancellor against his attackers, though the indignation displayed by a paper like the Deutsche Tageszeitung did not sound especially sincere.<sup>256</sup> "There can be no doubt [Georg Bernhard of the Vossische Zeitung observed with insight] that a large number of the attacks upon the Chancellor's alleged attitude towards the question of peace are made from motives of internal policy.... Doubtless those, who view a change of the existing forces in domestic policy with alarm, often use foreign policy as a pretext to vent their anger on him."<sup>257</sup> Other observers shared this interpretation. "They speak of peace terms and they really mean the Prussian franchise," the banker Paul von Schwabach wrote to a friend in July 1916.<sup>258</sup> Eventually the war aims controversy always revealed its roots in German domestic affairs.

This alarm of the ruling classes, that war might bring reforms which in turn would curtail their privileges was, of course, by no means unfounded. Bethmann Hollweg had hinted at such reforms as early as December 1914. More specific hints and the first tangible evidence of impending changes occurred during the first half of 1916 in the Emperor's speech from the throne on January 13, and the introduction on May 1 of legislation removing some of the most irksome restrictions upon labor unions.<sup>259</sup> It was felt,

<sup>254</sup> "Drei Deutsche," Deutsche Reichspolitik seit 14. Juli 1909, cited in Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), p. 386.

<sup>255</sup> Reichstag, vol. 307, pp. 1510 ff.

 $^{256}$  See Thimme,  $Bethmann\ Hollweg,$  pp. 128-29 for a survey of press reactions to Bethmann's speech.

<sup>257</sup> Ibid., p. 129.

<sup>258</sup> Schwabach, pp. 300, 310; M. Weber, Max Weber, ein Lebensbild (Tübingen, 1926), p. 577.

<sup>259</sup> Westarp, II, 222 ff., 257 ff.

130

therefore, that only a change of government, i.e., the dismissal of Bethmann Hollweg, and the conclusion of a strong peace might stem the tide of reforms. The agitation for strong war aims hoped to achieve both. The basic aim of the *Kriegszielbewegung* during the second as during the first year of the war was the maintenance and strengthening of the existing political, social, and economic order. In that it was supported by most of the *Kriegszielmehrheit.*<sup>260</sup> It was in the face of this opposition that the Chancellor had to develop and formulate his war aims.

There were, of course, just as during the first year of war, large numbers of annexationist articles, pamphlets and books, not directly connected with annexationist organizations. With a few exceptions-notably the writings of professors already mentionedthese are significant merely as an indication of the prevalence of annexationist views in Germany despite rigid censorship regulations.<sup>261</sup> Among their authors were such well-known names as Count Reventlow, Dr. Carl Peters, Paul Rohrbach, and Count Hoensbroech. Of special interest are the views on war aims which Prince Bülow, Bethmann's predecessor, put forth in his Deutsche Politik in May 1916. "The result of this war," he wrote, "must be positive, not negative.... The simple restoration of the status quo ante bellum would not be a gain but rather a loss to Germany." 262 In a letter to Theodor Wolff in July 1916, Bülow repeated these views, which received high praise from the annexationist press, though they did not fundamentally differ from Bethmann's declarations.<sup>263</sup> Bülow's middle-of-the-road policy may well have been determined by the fact that he hoped to replace Bethmann and again become Chancellor. He could not afford to antagonize either annexationist or moderate circles.

Annexationist papers likewise continued their agitation.<sup>246</sup> At a meeting of the *Verein Deutscher Zeitungsverleger* in July 1915, its president, Robert Faber—publisher and editor of the National Liberal and annexationist *Magdeburgische Zeitung*—proposed the founding of an association of newspapermen for the discussion of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> Ibid., p. 124; Reichstag, vol. 308, pp. 1708-09.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2°1</sup> For examples see Grumbach, pp. 270 ff., 290 ff., 327 ff.; Great Britain, Foreign Office, German Opinion on National Policy since July 1914, part III (London, 1920), passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> B. von Bülow, Deutsche Politik (Berlin, 1916), pp. xii, 88-89.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> Wolff, Marsch, p. 120; Rheinisch-Westphälische Zeitung, July 3, 1916.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> Grumbach, pp. 56 ff., 78 ff., 94 ff., 106 ff., 115 ff.

war aims. His plan was accepted and the first meeting of the "Club 1914-15" took place in September 1915. Of the newpaper publishers present, "there was hardly one who was not in favor of territorial acquisitions for the security of Germany." The second and last meeting of the group took place in November 1915.<sup>265</sup>

## The "Moderates" Launch a Counter-Offensive

The only real and consistent opposition to the ultra-annexationists, as we have already seen, came from among the ranks of the Social Democrats. Other individuals and groups, though they had the reputation of being anti-annexationist, merely differed from the radical annexationists in the extent of their war aims. The fact, however, that these moderates came from the same social background as the annexationists made the rivalry between the two groups extremely bitter at times. During this second year of the war, we may trace a very distinct tendency towards more effective organization among these moderates, running parallel to the rise of the annexationist Independent Committee.

Although the negotiations leading to the Petition of the Intellectuals were carried on secretly, the men who held less radical views on the future peace settlement knew that such a proclamation was on its way.<sup>266</sup> On July 7, 1915, therefore, about fifty of them, under the leadership of the former ambassador to England. Count Hatzfeld, met in Berlin to discuss the Belgian problem. The majority of those present, e.g., Professors Kahl, Seering, and the former Colonial Secretary Dernburg, were opposed to any kind of annexation. After an impressive speech by Hans Delbrück, a smaller committee (Delbrück, Kahl, Dernburg, August Stein of the Frankfurter Zeitung and Theodor Wolff of the Berliner Tageblatt) was formed to frame a declaration expressing the views of the meeting. Two days later the newly-formed committee met at Delbrück's house and approved a memorandum drafted by Theodor Wolff. Like the Petition of the Intellectuals, it was sent to a number of leading personalities, and 141 signatures were finally attached to it. Compared to the almost tenfold number which Seeberg collected for his petition, this was very meager.<sup>267</sup> Wolff's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> Knesebeck, pp. 59-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> Haussmann, p. 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> Wolff, Marsch, pp. 269-70; Schüfer, Leben, pp. 170-71; Hutten-Czapski, II, 213; V. Valentin, Deutschlands Aussenpolitik von Bismarck's Abgang bis zum Ende des Weltkrieges (Berlin, 1921), pp. 252, 270.

petition, addressed to the Chancellor, opposed "the annexation or attachment (Angliederung) of politically independent . . . peoples." At the same time it insisted that the areas which Germany had conquered "should not become a bulwark" for Germany's "The German people," the petition concluded, "can enemies. only make a peace which offers a secure basis for the strategic needs and the political and economic interests of the country, as well as for the unhindered use of its strength and spirit of enterprise at home and on the free seas." 268 Among the signatories of the petition were many famous names. Aside from the participants in the meeting of July 7, we find the former ambassadors Count Monts (Italy), Wolff-Metternich (England) and von Stumm (Spain); the former Secretary of State Prince Henckel von Donnersmarck, the banker Franz von Mendelssohn, the industrialist Karl Friedrich von Siemens, and the Protestant Superintendent of Berlin, Friedrich Lahusen. As was the case with the Petition of the Intellectuals, the largest group among the signatories consisted of university professors, most of them well-known-e.g., Albert Einstein, Ernst Troeltsch, Adolph Harnack, Gustav von Schmoller, Gerhard Anschütz, and Max Weber. Compared to the Petition of the Intellectuals, historians were noticeably absent, as were representatives of heavy industry. Aside from these differences, however, the social background of the signatories of both petitions was very much the same.<sup>269</sup> Most of the leaders of moderate or anti-annexationist groups who had made separate declarations during the first year of war now joined forces behind Wolff's Petition (Baron von Tepper-Laski of the Bund Neues Vaterland, Professor Kahl of the Freie Vaterländische Vereinigung, and Professors Quidde and Schücking of the Deutsche Friedensgesellschaft), just as the various annexationist individuals and groups had rallied behind the Independent Committee. One of the so-called moderates, Albert Ballin, refused to sign the petition. As the main reason he gave the omission of colonial aims and the necessity for a German lease over the port of Zeebrugge.<sup>270</sup> Ballin's statements during the later part of 1915, however, showed increasing moderation and a real desire for peace.271

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> Grumbach, pp. 409-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> For a list of signatories see Preussische Jahrbücher, vol. 162 (1915), pp. 169 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> Wolff, Marsch, pp. 269-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> Huldermann, pp. 244, 246-47; Stubmann, pp. 261-62.

The next major step in the movement for moderate aims was again a parallel development to the Kriegszielbewegung. As a counter-weight to the Independent Committee, the Deutscher Nationalausschuss für einen Deutschen Frieden was founded on June 6, 1916, under the presidency of Prince Wedel, former German Statthalter of Alsace-Lorraine.<sup>272</sup> The idea to found an organization for the propagation of moderate war aims had apparently originated with Matthias Erzberger, who wrote a memorandum on the subject in April 1916.<sup>273</sup> Among its founders, besides Erzberger, were Wahnschaffe, Hammann (chief of the Foreign Office press section), and Riezler, an indication of the government's interest in the National Committee. Its large propaganda bureau, under the direction of Ulrich Rauscher and Peter Breuer of the Frankfurter Zeitung seems to have received governmental financial support.<sup>274</sup> The motto of the National Committee was "to stay equally clear of the giddiness of the peacemakers and of the greediness displayed in the proclamations of the Pan-Germans." 275 Prince Wedel stressed the necessity for close collaboration between his Committee and the government and held that Germany should only make such annexations as her military, economic, and political security required. Such terms, of course, were similar to Bethmann Hollweg's and did not mean the renunciation of any and all annexations.<sup>276</sup> The National Committee hoped to win peace with England by restoring the independence of Belgium (with certain "guarantees") and to seek territorial compensations in the east and across the sea.<sup>277</sup> "With the annexation of the Belgian coast and even Calais, we can never reach peace with England," Prince Wedel wrote in July 1916.<sup>278</sup> Nor would such German expansion along the Atlantic coast prove an effective threat to Great Britain. England will always remain strong due to her insular position,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> Sometimes this committee is called *Deutscher Nationalausschuss für Vorbe*reitung eines ehrenvollen Friedens.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> Westarp, II, 185-86; Rupprecht, I, 455.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> Westarp, II, 185-86; Schäfer, *Leben*, p. 188. In 1917 another moderate organization was founded in Frankfurt, called *Volksbund für einen Verständigungsfrieden*: see Werner, pp. 238-39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> Westarp, II, 186.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> F. Lienhard, ed., "Statthalterbriefe aus Elsass-Lothringen," Der Türmer, XXVI (1924), 536 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> Lienhard, Der Türmer, XXVI, 538-39.

Dernburg held. "To destroy British power we would have to erase England from the map."<sup>279</sup>

The main intellectual force behind the moderates was Professor Hans Delbrück. In a controversy with the annexationist *Deutsche Tageszeitung* in April 1916 he defined his position (and that of his fellow moderates) as follows: "The difference between the *Deutsche Tageszeitung* and myself lies in the fact that it considers England the most dangerous enemy of Germany's future, while I think Russia is."<sup>280</sup> Both Hans Delbrück and Paul Rohrbach hoped to extend Germany's sphere of influence by liberating the suppressed nationalities of Eastern Europe. Looking back upon his controversies with the ultra-annexationists, Delbrück said in 1926:

I often used to say openly: my annexationist aims are in no way smaller than those of others! They are only different. They are such that the others can accept them.... Both Rohrbach and I have always emphasized, the great idealistic aim of Germany must be the freedom and independence of small peoples.... This was at the same time in the interest of Germany's power.<sup>281</sup>

The National Committee, like the Independent Committee, included many great names. The professors Harnack, von Liszt, and Oncken; the Progressive deputies Haussmann, Naumann, and von Payer; ex-ambassador von Stumm, Director Heineken of the North German Lloyd, Paul von Schwabach, and the Social Democrat Suedekum. The best indication, however, of how little the National Committee differed from its rival organization is the fact that several leading industrialists were, at least temporarily, among its members: August Thyssen, the brothers Röchling, Peter Kloeckner, and Baron von Bodenhausen-Degener (a director of Krupp's and member of the Mannesmann Board of Directors).<sup>282</sup>

After publishing a proclamation against the Pan-German League in July, the National Committee planned a major propaganda campaign with meetings in thirty-nine cities for the second anniversary of the outbreak of war.<sup>283</sup> The central office of the Independent Committee, on July 22, consequently addressed a circular to its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> Kanner, III, 98-99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> Deutsche Tageszeitung, April 5, 1916.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 51-52, notes 1 and 2.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup>Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), p. 346; Great Britain, Daily Review, Aug. 3, 1916, p. 3.
 <sup>283</sup>Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), p. 345.

local representatives asking them to send large numbers of annexationists to these meetings to present the views of the Independent Committee. There would be quite a few speakers for the National Committee, the circular said, who were really members of the Independent Committee, and from whose speeches little need be feared. But if something were said against the aims of the Independent Committee which could not be immediately contradicted, the representatives of the latter were to hold meetings of their own to counteract the bad effects of the moderates' attack.<sup>284</sup> The most important of the meetings was the one in Berlin at which Professor Harnack attacked war profiteering and advocated a mild kind of state socialism. This promptly resulted in the resignation of the above-mentioned industrialists from the National Committee.<sup>285</sup>

The many similarities between the membership and to some extent even the aims of the Independent and National Committees naturally suggested co-operation between the two. A meeting of representatives from both groups was called in the fall of 1916 but failed to reach an agreement.<sup>286</sup> The meeting was held at the Pringsheim Palais in Berlin, headquarters of the Deutsche Gesellschaft 1914. This remarkable club had been founded in 1915 by General von Moltke, with Colonial Secretary Solf as president. Its purpose was to perpetuate the unity which the outbreak of war had brought to the German people, and "to offer German men from all professions and classes, regardless of party affiliations, the possibility of unprejudiced and informal social intercourse." 287 Membership was only by invitation and dues were high. The following is a brief selection from its list of famous members: <sup>288</sup> There was a handful of right-wing Social Democrats-Lensch, Suedekum, and Fendrich; there were the Secretaries of State Solf, Helfferich, Wahnschaffe, and Zimmermann; the generals von Moltke, von Kessel, von Kluck, and von Perthes; the admirals von Capelle, von Holtzendorff, Truppel and Büchsel; the industrialists Thyssen, Siemens, Rathenau, and Kirdorf; the bankers von Schwabach, von Men-

<sup>286</sup> Schäfer, *Leben*, p. 189.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Ibid., p. 380.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Kölnische Zeitung, Aug. 12, 1916; Great Britain, Daily Review, Aug. 26, 1918, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> Moltke, pp. 443-44; Deutsche Gesellschaft 1914, Satzung (n. pl., n. d.), copy at the Hoover Library, Stanford, Calif.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> For a list of members see Berliner Tageblatt, Nov. 29, 1915.

delssohn, Salomonsohn and von Friedländer-Fuld; the Reichstag deputies Erzberger, Bassermann, and von Payer; the artists Gerhart Hauptmann, Max Liebermann, Max Reinhardt and Ludwig Thoma; the professors Hans Delbrück, Kahl, Lepsius and von Gierke; the publishers and editors Mosse, Ullstein, Rippler, and Theodor Wolff. The *Gesellschaft 1914* was not an annexationist organization. It was a political club in which extreme annexationists mingled with moderate annexationists, the former being in the majority, offering an excellent place for informal discussion and exchange of views.<sup>289</sup>

A similar, though much smaller group, was the *Mittwochsgesell-schaft*, founded by Bassermann and including von Moltke, von Kluck, Stresemann, Stinnes, Hugenberg, Rathenau, Professor Hoetzsch, Westarp, von Heydebrand, Roesicke, and the Socialists David, Heine, and Suedekum.

Both these clubs played a not unimportant part behind the scenes. They established connections in what was for Germany a completely new form, between the government on the one hand, and members of parliament, journalists, leaders of industry, bankers and people from every department of public life on the other; and by means of these easy and unceremonious relationships they often exerted more influence on German policy and the direction of the war, especially in critical moments, than did the censored press or "public opinion," or even the Houses of Parliament, which after all sat within hearing of the Entente.<sup>290</sup>

The discussion of Germany's western aims during the second year of the war is thus complete. As was pointed out at the beginning, the tendencies of the first year continued throughout the second. The policy of Bethmann Hollweg, moderate by inclination, became increasingly, though vaguely, annexationist, under the pressure both of events (the development of a German administration in the occupied areas) and propaganda (from annexationists both inside parliament and out). The longer the war continued without a definite statement from the government against the annexation of western areas and in favor of the platform of August 4, 1914, the more difficult such a statement became. Yet even during the second year, the publication of Belgian documents, which helped to justify the demands of the annexationists

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> Weber, p. 568.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Kessler, pp. 230-31; Westarp, II, 11. During the last year of war an exclusively Pan-German club was founded, the *Donnerstagsgesellschaft*.

in the eyes of the German people, continued.<sup>291</sup> One cannot but feel that it was fear of the annexationists which prompted the Chancellor to make statements more radical than he himself believed in.<sup>292</sup> Faced with continuous demands for large war aims, he admitted to Valentini in the spring of 1915: "I can do nothing against it. The psychology of our people has been so poisoned by boasting during the last 25 years, that it would probably become timid if we were to prohibit it." <sup>293</sup>

<sup>291</sup> Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, July 29, 31, Aug. 4, 1915.

 $<sup>^{292}</sup>$  See the interesting comments of Delbrück and Schwertfeger in U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 42, note 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> Valentini, p. 226; see also Max Weber's comment in Weber, p. 577.

### CHAPTER III

# A HOUSE DIVIDED CHANCELLOR VS. SUPREME COMMAND (SEPTEMBER 1916–JULY 1917)

**NOT ONLY** the first, but to some extent the second year of the war must be considered a formative period in the history of German war aims. But when military reverses during the summer of 1916 made an early, negotiated peace desirable, if not necessary, the situation changed. The third year of the war, then, was a year of declarations and feelers for peace. The tension which had developed over the question of war aims was thus brought out into the open and made the remainder of the war a succession of internal crises. These crises were intensified by an increasing divergence of views between the civilian and military heads of the German government, beginning with the change of military command on August 29, 1916.<sup>1</sup>

The first open indication of Germany's willingness for peace was the Peace Note of December 12, 1916. The vague ideas concerning a post-war settlement, found in the statements of the German government during the first two years of war, now by necessity had to crystallize into specific peace terms. In spite of its negative results, therefore, the peace offer of December 12, 1916, stands as one of the key events in the history of German war aims.

#### The Peace Note of December 12, 1916

We have already briefly sketched the military situation chiefly responsible for Bethmann Hollweg's growing skepticism during the summer of 1916.<sup>2</sup> The attempts at mediation of President Wilson, therefore, thus far treated in a desultory fashion, suddenly seemed to offer a welcome chance for terminating the war. On August 31, 1916, a meeting of German military and civilian authorities took place at headquarters in Pless. Here is Helfferich's account:

<sup>1</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 31.

<sup>2</sup> See above, p. 74.

The Chancellor . . . gave us a picture of the situation which he considered extremely serious, in spite of the confidence of Hindenburg and Ludendorff. We had to do everything possible to gain peace. The only way out, in his opinion, led through Wilson, and this way had to be taken, even if the prospects were uncertain. . . . We should tell Wilson that we were ready to give up Belgium, with the one reservation that we would settle our relations with that country after its restitution through direct negotiations.<sup>3</sup>

The immediate result of Bethmann's desire for peace was a telegram on September 2 to Germany's ambassador in Washington, Count Bernstorff: "Would peace mediation by Wilson be possible and successful if we were to guarantee Belgium's unconditional restoration? Otherwise the unrestricted U-boat war will have to be carried out in dead earnest."<sup>4</sup> The alternative of peace or unlimited submarine warfare, as we shall see, was no exaggeration.

Before we continue our discussion of the negotiations between Berlin and Washington, a word about the simultaneous attempts at a separate peace with Russia. There had been various minor moves in this direction during 1916, as for instance the conversations of Hugo Stinnes with the Japanese minister to Sweden in March 1916 and of Max Warburg with the Vice-President of the Russian Duma, Protopopov, in June the same year.<sup>5</sup> We have already discussed the chief reasons for their failure. Sentiment in favor of such a settlement, however, continued among certain people in Germany, especially the parties of the Right.<sup>6</sup> During the fall of 1916, Hugo Stinnes was once again sent to Sweden, this time to confer with Protopopov. The use of the prominent industrialist for these missions is further proof of the influence he wielded in German affairs. But negotiations came to nothing and all chances for a separate peace with Russia were wrecked when the Central Powers resurrected the Kingdom of Poland in November 1916.7

Germany's efforts to secure President Wilson's services as mediator were rather slow in bringing results. It was not until after he had been re-elected on November 9, that Wilson finally began

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Helfferich, pp. 335-36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Forster, p. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ibid., p. 43; Brunauer, "Peace Proposals," pp. 41 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Helfferich, p. 336; Kronprinz Wilhelm, pp. 157, 167; Rupprecht, II, 50-51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 43 ff.

drafting his own peace note.<sup>8</sup> The wave of anti-German feeling (due largely to the deportation of Belgian workers) which swept Allied and neutral countries at this time, necessitated further postponement of mediation. But some time earlier, the plan had already arisen in Germany of issuing a direct declaration in favor of peace, which might strengthen those minorities in Allied countries willing to enter into peace negotiations. Bethmann had first thought of it in the summer of 1916. Subsequently he received similar suggestions from other quarters, notably Helfferich and Haussmann.<sup>9</sup> In late October the Chancellor broached his plan to Hindenburg and the Kaiser. Both agreed to it, the former with some hesitation, the latter with enthusiasm, seeing himself already in the role of a world savior.<sup>10</sup>

Germany's ally, Austria-Hungary, was likewise in favor of any measures that might lead to a speedy termination of the war. Already during his visit to Germany on October 17, 1916, her foreign minister Count Burian had discussed the possibility of such a peace offer with the German Chancellor. Here we have the beginnings of a series of three-cornered negotiations over desirable peace terms between Burian, Bethmann, and Hindenburg, which lasted from October until the middle of November and which throw important light on the war aims of the Central Powers. The fact that Hindenburg was consulted at each step of the negotiations indicates the influence which Germany's military leaders had already gained over decisions which belonged primarily in the political sphere. Burian's terms of October 17, as far as they had any bearing on Western Europe and colonies, were as follows: 11 (1) The restoration of Belgium as a sovereign state with sufficient guarantees to ensure Germany's legitimate interests. (2) Full territorial integrity of France. (3) Return of German colonies and German annexation of the Congo State. (4) No indemnities for Germany, except perhaps the granting of commercial advantages. (5) Treaties to guarantee the freedom of the seas. (6) Renunciation of all agreements between the Allies which might prevent the resumption of normal economic relations after the war.12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Helfferich, pp. 336-37; Valentin, Aussenpolitik, p. 308; Bernstorff, pp. 305-06.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 151; Helfferich, p. 339; Haussmann, pp. 72-73; Max von Baden, p. 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Helfferich, pp. 339-40. <sup>11</sup> U. A., 15. Ausschuss, II, 80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The last point was directed against the Allied Economic Conference of Paris

Bethmann's own peace proposals were ready by late October.<sup>13</sup> His suggestions differed in several respects from those of Burian. In regard to Belgium, guarantees for Germany's security were to be gained through negotiations with King Albert. If such guarantees could not be won, Germany should annex a strip of territory including Liège, to protect her western industrial areas. As to France, all except the area of Briey-Longwy should be evacuated. In return for this evacuation, France would have to pay an indemnity. Both these provisions presented an increase over Burian's demands. The only concession Bethmann made was that Germany would give up some of her colonial holdings in the Pacific. Here we have—except for his private statements during the first months of the war-the Chancellor's first specific program of war aims. Compared to the aims of the ultra-annexationists, it was not very extreme: yet it was not exactly against annexations either. Aside from strategic motives, industrial considerations appear in the choice of areas suggested for outright annexation. These included the French ore regions as well as the country around Liège, the Campine, one of the richest European coal deposits, as yet hardly tapped. These, then, were some of the "real guarantees and securities" which the Chancellor had hinted at in most of his public utterances during the first years of the war.

On November 5 Hindenburg gave his own comments on Bethmann's peace proposals. His views, as was to be expected, went still further.<sup>14</sup> In addition to the annexation of Liège and vicinity, he demanded Belgium's economic attachment to Germany, German ownership of railways, and her right to military occupation. He also suggested specifically the exploitation of the mineral resources of the Campine, which Hugo Stinnes had told him about in numerous conversations.<sup>15</sup> Hindenburg agreed that Germany should keep the Briey-Longwy region and suggested further improvements of the Franco-German frontier. Germany should also receive an

<sup>13</sup> U. A., 15. Ausschuss, II, 84-85.

14 Ibid., p. 86.

in June 1916, which accepted a series of resolutions in favor of close economic cooperation between the Allies as well as post-war boycott of the Central Powers: C. Rothe, Weltkrieg gegen Deutsche Wirtschaft (Hamburg, 1932), pp. 21 ff.; W. Prion, Die Pariser Wirtschaftskonferenz (Berlin, 1917), pp. 82-85; Schulthess, vol. 57 (2), pp. 217 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Raphäel, Stinnes, p. 97. On the significance of the Campine see P. Krusch, Die nutzbaren Lagerstätten Belgiens, ihre geologische Position und wirtschaftliche Bedeutung (Essen, 1916).

indemnity in return for her evacuation of France. England might pay a similar indemnity for the evacuation of Belgium. Additional suggestions dealt with the incorporation of Luxemburg into the German Confederation and the acquisition of the Congo State.

Bethmann's reply to Hindenburg's program agreed on the whole with the latter's recommended changes of his original plan.<sup>16</sup> The one objection Bethmann raised was against Hindenburg's demand for an indemnity to make up for Germany's evacuation of Belgium. England, he held, would certainly oppose such a demand, which would result in an immediate failure of negotiations: furthermore. the withdrawal of Germany was intended as a quid pro quo for the return of her colonies and perhaps the acquisition of the Congo State: and finally, such an indemnity seemed unjustified to Bethmann in view of the fact that Belgium had been paving 40 million francs per month since her invasion in 1914. Hindenburg, on November 7, replied that the war indemnity for the evacuation of Belgium might well consist in economic concessions, and that at any rate the monthly payment of tribute should be raised considerably above 40 million francs. The same day Bethmann reported a kind of combined program (made up of his own and Hindenburg's terms) to the Emperor and the Supreme Command as basis for a reply to Count Burian. Both the Kaiser and Hindenburg agreed to this program, so the following terms were communicated to Burian a week later: Belgium will be reconstituted as a sovereign state with specific guarantees for Germany. If these guarantees can not be agreed upon. Liège with adjacent territory will be annexed; return of French occupied areas (in exchange for an indemnity), except for strategic and economic frontier improvements; Luxemburg's adherence to the German Empire as a federal state; return of Germany's former colonies and a general re-distribution of colonial holdings in which Germany is to receive the Congo State: reimbursement to German individuals and firms for losses suffered abroad during the war; renunciation of all agreements limiting the re-opening of normal trade and traffic between all countries, and establishment of the freedom of the seas. Burian's terms, presented to Bethmann on the same occasion, agreed on the whole with the German government's program.

The aims, on the basis of which Germany was willing to enter into peace negotiations, had thus been decided upon and all the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> For this and the following see U. A., 15. Ausschuss, II, 87.

government needed was an opportunity for presenting its Peace Note. The program, of course, was still full of ambiguities. The "guarantees" which Germany hoped to gain from Belgium, as we have seen in our discussion of war aims thus far, might easily develop into "veiled annexation." Hindenburg, in a conversation with Count Westarp in November 1916 again mentioned Germany's right of military occupation. German ownership of railways plus the port of Antwerp, and the dissolution of the Belgian army.<sup>17</sup> The Emperor himself told Prince Bülow in the autumn of 1916: "Albert shall keep his Belgium, since he too is King by Divine Right. . . . Though, of course, he'll have to toe the line there. I imagine our future relationship as rather that of the Egyptian Khedive to the King of England." <sup>18</sup> Bethmann's comment about the negotiations of November 1916 was: "In settling these war aims, a maximum of political aims was combined with a minimum of military aims. It was of course a matter of compromise." 19

Such compromise was still possible at this time. Relations between the Chancellor and the Emperor were, as always, very good. And even between Bethmann and Hindenburg things at first went without much friction; <sup>20</sup> though already Hindenburg complained to Westarp about the indecision and weakness of Germany's policy. He objected particularly to von Jagow, who was "an intelligent man, but not one who can bang his fist on the table" (which, in the eyes of German nationalists, was a necessary prerequisite for any diplomat). Jagow finally resigned on November 22 and was replaced by his associate Zimmermann. Even a successor to Bethmann Hollweg was seriously considered late in 1916 by Hindenburg.<sup>21</sup>

Meanwhile the public in general, as well as the political parties and annexationists, were unaware of the negotiations for a governmental peace program. There were two interesting Reichstag debates prior to December 12. The first, on October 11, again showed the split over the question of annexations between bourgeois parties and Social Democrats. The former took decided exception to Scheidemann's statement: "Whatever is French shall remain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Westarp, II, 62-63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> B. Prince von Bülow, Memoirs (3 vols., London, 1932), III, 281-82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> U. A., 15. Ausschuss, I, 231.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Haussmann, p. 76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Westarp, II, 335; Haussmann, p. 77.

French; whatever is Belgian shall remain Belgian; and whatever is German shall remain German." 22 The main issue of the debate, however, was in connection with Bethmann Hollweg's hints, on September 28, at post-war domestic reforms. Here we find Bassermann supporting the Chancellor's views, while Count Westarp vehemently opposed any plans for reform, a clear indication of the conflict between the National Liberals' domestic and foreign policy.<sup>23</sup> The second debate took place after Bethmann Hollweg's speech before the Reichstag's Main Committee on November 9, 1916, in which he claimed never to have designated the annexation of Belgium as Germany's war aim.<sup>24</sup> Only the Social Democrats opposed dishonorable conditions of peace for Belgium. The parties of the Kriegszielmehrheit once again took an almost unanimous stand. Gröber for the Center Party, Bassermann for the National Liberals, and von Gamp and Westarp for the two Conservative parties made the usual statements to the effect that Belgium should remain politically, militarily, and economically in German hands. The Progressive von Payer demanded guarantees that German influence would be maintained.<sup>25</sup>

The Kriegszielbewegung likewise continued its agitation, with Schäfer's Independent Committee leading the way. On September 14 Bethmann Hollweg received a delegation consisting of Schäfer and a number of other annexationists. The discussion dealt chieffy with the submarine problem, but it also touched on war aims. Ten days later Schäfer addressed an annexationist petition to the Reichstag entitled "The Demand of the Hour." <sup>26</sup> On October 15 a large meeting of the Committee took place in Berlin at which Count Reventlow gave the main speech.<sup>27</sup> A new addition to the Kriegszielbewegung was founded at this time in Munich under the absurd name of Volksausschuss für rasche Niederkämpfung Englands. The chief speaker at its first meeting was Pastor Traub. "We have a right before God and man," he said, "to extend our frontiers in such a manner that our enemies will find it difficult in the future to attack us again." <sup>28</sup>

- <sup>23</sup> Ibid., pp. 1712-15, 1723-25.
- <sup>24</sup> Thimme, Bethmann Hollweg, p. 163.
- <sup>25</sup> Ibid., pp. 166-67; Westarp, II, 62.
- <sup>26</sup> Schäfer, *Leben*, pp. 191-92.
- <sup>27</sup> Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), p. 474; Haussmann, p. 69.
- <sup>28</sup> Schulthess, vol. 57(1), p. 428; Münchner Neueste Nachrichten, Sept. 19, 1916.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Reichstag, vol. 308, pp. 1693-94, 1707 ff.

The agitation of the industrialists for annexations and unlimited submarine warfare was going on hand in hand with their exploitation of the conquered lands in Western Europe.

In October [1916] I was invited by the Foreign Office to go with a group of correspondents to Essen, Cologne, and the Rhine valley industrial centers [writes an American correspondent]. In Essen I met Baron von Bodenhausen and other directors of Krupp's. In Düsseldorf at the *Industrieklub* I dined with the steel magnates of Germany and at Homburg-on-the-Rhine I saw August Thyssen, one of the richest men in Germany and the man who owns one-tenth of Germany's coal and iron fields. The most impressive thing about this journey was what these men said about the necessity for unrestricted submarine warfare. Every man I met was opposed to the Chancellor.<sup>29</sup>

On October 24, the Bund der Industriellen held its yearly meeting at which its vice-president Stresemann gave the main address, pointing out the need of German industry for raw-materials and the importance of the conquered areas in the west as possible sources for such materials.<sup>30</sup> The following day, representatives of the Bund der Industriellen and the Zentralverband deutscher Industrie, both among the famous Six Economic Organizations, united to form the Deutscher Industrierat. This German Industrial Council in a telegram to the Emperor expressed confidence "that the German Reich will emerge from this war strengthened, enlarged, and secured against new attacks in east and west."<sup>31</sup>

The German press continued to make use of whatever loopholes the censor left to discuss the post-war settlement. The Chancellor's Reichstag addresses usually supplied the necessary excuse to advance annexationist views by way of comment or criticism.<sup>32</sup> Constant pressure against the government's policy of restricting the freedom of the press finally brought results. On November 27, 1916, "the objective discussion of war aims " was permitted, barring unfair attacks on those holding opposing views.<sup>33</sup> At the same time, the German press was officially advised: "The welfare of

<sup>29</sup> C. W. Ackerman, Germany the next Republic? (N. Y., 1917), p. 145.

<sup>30</sup> Bund der Industriellen, Bericht über die 18. Generalversammlung (n. pl., n. d.); G. Stresemann, "Industrie und Krieg," Veröffentlichungen des Bundes der Industriellen, no. 9a (n. pl., n. d.).

<sup>31</sup> Bund der Industriellen, Bericht, p. 42.

<sup>32</sup> Thimme, Bethmann Hollweg, p. 167; Great Britain, General Staff, Daily Review of the Foreign Press, Enemy Press Supplement, I, Nov. 23, 1916, 7-9.

<sup>33</sup> Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), p. 559; Germany, Kriegspresseamt, Zensurbuch für die deutsche Presse (Berlin, 1917), see under "Kriegsziele."

the Reich requires that we demand on principle that not a foot of blood-soaked soil is relinquished before the enemy has promised us corresponding equivalents." <sup>34</sup> Most newspapers made use of this long hoped-for opportunity to voice their war aims; yet little was said that had not been said before and in almost identical words. Papers already known for their far-reaching aims, like the Deutsche Tageszeitung, merely became a little more outspoken in their demands; while others, like the Berliner Tageblatt continued their moderate course.<sup>35</sup> In general one is struck by the prevalence of western and colonial over eastern aims, especially in conservative and industrialist papers.<sup>36</sup> Some writers preached moderation, stressing the idea that the territories held in the west were primarily pledges to be exchanged against Germany's former colonies, now in the hands of the Allies.<sup>37</sup> Even Professor Schäfer, though hoping to make large gains in the west, realized that such gains would depend on a favorable military outcome of the war, and that some of his exalted hopes might easily be disappointed.<sup>38</sup>

Finally, the moderate National Committee of Prince Wedel also came out with a public statement on war aims which included a strong, defensible colonial empire, the freedom of the seas, and a war indemnity "corresponding to our sacrifices." But "above all, strategically necessary rectifications of the frontier. . . The catchword 'policy of conquest' must not discourage us."<sup>39</sup>

It was into this annexationist agitation that the Peace Note of December 12 came like an explosion. Not the slightest effort had been made to prepare public opinion. The fact that such a radical move could be made at this time shows that the German government, if it chose to act strongly, was not hampered by constitutional limitations or public opinion. Even so, the phrasing of the Peace Note was not entirely free from outside pressure. As we shall see presently, no specific aims were published in connection with it, largely out of fear that the public might not approve of the Bethmann-Burian program.<sup>40</sup> It was thus another half-measure,

<sup>34</sup> K. Mühsam, Wie wir belogen wurden (München, 1918), pp. 89 ff.

<sup>35</sup> Deutsche Tageszeitung, Nov. 30, 1916; Berliner Tageblatt, Dec. 4, 1916.

<sup>36</sup> Post, Nov. 28, 1916; Kölnische Zeitung, Dec. 1-2, 1916; Vossische Zeitung, Dec. 6, 1916.

<sup>37</sup> Münchner Neueste Nachrichten, Nov. 28, 1916; Leipziger Tageblatt, Nov. 28, 1916.

<sup>38</sup> National Korrespondenz, Dec. 2, 1916.

<sup>39</sup> Schulthess, vol. 57 (1), p. 537; Kölnische Volkszeitung, Jan. 17, 1917.

<sup>40</sup> Brunauer, "Peace Proposals," p. 62.

doing nothing to clear the air by laying down a definite governmental set of aims.

The Supreme Command, always somewhat skeptical about the feasibility of the Peace Note, had agreed to it on two conditions: that the military situation, especially in Rumania, be favorable at the time of its publication, so it could not be interpreted abroad as a sign of weakness; and that the *Hilfsdienstgesetz*, introducing compulsory labor service for Germans outside the armed forces, be passed by the Reichstag. The fall of Bucharest on December 6 and the acceptance of the Hilfsdienstgesetz four days previous fulfilled these conditions, and both military and civilian authorities agreed that the time had come to publish the German peace offer. Last minute attempts of the Supreme Command to pledge the government to conclude only "the peace which Germany needs," were thwarted by Bethmann Hollweg "because of the vagueness and the varied intrepretation" which might be given the term "useful peace." <sup>41</sup> On December 12, 1916, the German note was handed to Joseph C. Grew, American chargé d'affaires, to be transmitted to the Allied governments. After an introductory passage, which stressed the fact that the Central powers did "not seek to crush or annihilate their adversaries." the note continued:

Conscious of their military and economic strength and ready to carry on to the end, if they must, the struggle that is forced upon them, but animated at the same time by the desire to stem the flood of blood and to bring the horrors of war to an end, the four allied powers propose to enter even now into peace negotiations. They feel sure that the propositions which they would bring forward, and which would aim to assure the existence, honor, and free development of their peoples, would be such as to serve as a basis for the restoration of a lasting peace. If, notwithstanding this offer of peace and conciliation, the struggle should continue, the four allied powers are resolved to carry it to a victorious end, while solemnly disclaiming any responsibility before mankind and history.<sup>42</sup>

The two most outstanding characteristics of the note are its vagueness and its defiant tone. Such overbearing language did anything but convey a willingness to make concessions in return for an early peace.

The German people were introduced to the Peace Note in Bethmann's Reichstag speech of December 12.43 Until the previous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> E. Ludendorff, Urkunden der Obersten Heeresleitung (Berlin, 1920), pp. 310-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 398-99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Reichstag, vol. 308, pp. 2331-32.

evening, when the Chancellor invited representatives of the bourgeois parties to acquaint them with the events planned for the next day, nothing had been officially known about the impending offer by either parties or press.<sup>44</sup> Bethmann told party representatives that a program of concrete peace terms (which he refused to reveal) had been agreed upon among the Central Powers, and that, for bargaining purposes, it was only to be released at the future peace conference. He also expressed doubt that the peace proposal would be accepted by the Allies, but hoped that it would put their aggressive leaders in an embarrassing position with their own people.<sup>45</sup> The reaction of most parties to the government's surprise move was one of opposition (as in the case of National Liberals and Conservatives) or annoyance at not having been consulted beforehand (as with the Center Party). Only the Progressives, who became increasingly moderate in their war aims during the second half of 1916, were "overjoyed." <sup>46</sup> Against the votes of Conservatives, National Liberals, and Minority Socialists, the Reichstag decided to refrain from a debate after the Chancellor's speech, so as to give to the world at least the semblance of unity behind the government's policy.47

Since there was no chance for discussion in the Reichstag, most of the criticism was voiced in the press. The parties of the Right opposed the Peace Note because it might be interpreted as a sign of weakness, and both the extreme Right and Left wanted more specific statements on Germany's war aims. The Conservative Party demanded a peace which must "in fact guarantee the German future." <sup>48</sup> The *Deutsche Tageszeitung* complained because such concrete terms had not been discussed beforehand with representatives of the various parties. The industrialist *Berliner Neueste Nachrichten* stated in complete frankness that the best thing that could happen would be the rejection of the Peace Note by the Allies. The *Post, Kölnische Zeitung, Leipziger Tageblatt,* and *Berliner Lokal Anzeiger* all favored the "pitiless continuation of the war with all means at our disposal," in case of such rejection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Westarp, II, 74; J. Seeberg, Wilson's Botschaft der 14 Punkte vom 8. Januar 1918 im Urteil der grossen deutschen Tagespresse vom Januar bis zum Oktober 1918 (Berlin, 1936), Diss. Berlin, p. 12.

<sup>45</sup> Westarp, II, 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Haussmann, pp. 79-80; Wacker, pp. 17-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Thimme, Bethmann Hollweg, p. 181.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Kreuzzeitung, Dec. 13, 1916.

The moderate *Frankfurter Zeitung* and *Berliner Tageblatt*, as well as the Socialist *Vorwärts* were hopeful that the offer might have favorable results, though they too regretted its vagueness.<sup>49</sup> The veteran industrialist and annexationist Emil Kirdorf, who had just been elected to the Main Committee of the Pan-German League, expressed his disappointment with the events of December 12 in a letter to Heinrich Class.<sup>50</sup> The publication of the Peace Note had its immediate, and to industrialists most alarming, repercussions on the German stock market. "In Berlin the joyfully received Peace Offer of the Central Powers showed its first effects in directing all interest almost exclusively towards so-called peace stocks, while armament stocks were little noticed and in part heavily offered." The same applied to dynamite and mining stock.<sup>51</sup>

Abroad, the reception of Germany's note was anything but friendly. The French Premier Briand, on December 13, called it "an attempt to split the Allies and to demoralize their peoples." Russia's Foreign Minister Pokrovsky accused Germany of "seeking a breathing space by making deceitful offers of a permanent peace." Sonnino for Italy and Lloyd George for Great Britain made similar statements.<sup>52</sup> The official reply of the Allies on December 30 accused the Central Powers of making "a calculated attempt to influence the future course of the war, and to end it by imposing a German peace," and refused "to consider a proposal which is empty and insincere." <sup>53</sup>

In the midst of these events, on December 21, President Wilson published his own long-awaited mediation proposals, asking for the mutual exchange of views on the future peace. The German government expressed its approval five days later and suggested a meeting of delegates from the belligerent nations at a neutral place.<sup>54</sup> The jingo press opposed Wilson's note, charging partiality to the Allies. Moderates and Socialists, on the other hand, were definitely pleased to see another chance for the termination of war.<sup>55</sup> The Allies in their reply on January 10, 1917, asked for

<sup>49</sup> For a survey of press reaction see Great Britain, *Enemy Supplement*, I, Dec. 21, 1916, p. 5 and Dec. 28, 1916, pp. 5-6.

<sup>50</sup> Bacmeister, p. 139.

<sup>51</sup> Berliner Tageblatt, Dec. 13, 1916, 2d ed.

<sup>52</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 78; Forster, pp. 50-52.

<sup>53</sup> G. L. Dickinson, Documents and Statements Relating to Peace Proposals and War Aims (N. Y., 1919), p. 9.

<sup>54</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 78; Brunauer, "Peace Proposals," p. 75.

<sup>55</sup> Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, I, Jan. 4, 1917, 2.

the evacuation and restoration of the countries occupied by the Central Powers, and hinted at the return of Alsace-Lorraine to France and the break-up of the Austro-Hungarian and Ottoman Empires. They furthermore refused to deal with the Central Powers on a basis of equality.<sup>56</sup>

The discrepancy between the aims of the Allies and the terms, as yet unpublished, of the German government, makes it perfectly clear that a negotiated peace at this stage of the war was difficult, if not impossible. Neither side was in a desperate enough position to make the concessions necessary to satisfy the other side. The fact that both German and American peace attempts had failed, moreover, had the most significant results for the further conduct of the war by Germany. Since the Peace Note had been primarily the Chancellor's idea, its failure brought him a serious loss of prestige, much to the delight of his many opponents.<sup>57</sup> From now on the influence of the Supreme Command became an ever more decisive factor in Germany's political as well as military affairs. At the same time, the Allied refusal of the German offer kindled among many Germans, who had begun to waver under the growing hardships of a seemingly endless war, a new spirit of determination to fight to the end. The outcome of Germany's peace offensive was thus a resurgence of war spirit, and with it of annexationist feeling, in some of its strongest manifestations. This expansionist patriotism seemed to derive added justification from the far-reaching official pronouncements of the Allies. The growing conviction that the only alternative from now on was victory or complete and utter defeat became one of the most powerful arguments of annexationist propagandists. The most immediate result of the failure of the Peace Note and of Wilson's efforts was the declaration of unlimited submarine warfare by the German government on January 9, 1917.

## Exploitation à Outrance

Before we discuss Germany's war aims policy any further, we must examine developments in the occupied regions of Western Europe at a time when Germany proclaimed her willingness for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> C. Duisberg, Abhandlungen, Vorträge und Reden aus den Jahren 1882-1921 (Berlin, 1923), pp. 815-17.

peace. The most illuminating events again occurred in Belgium, but a few words must first be said about France.

Germany's main interest, as we have pointed out, was in the Briev region. But this was only a small fraction of the French territory under German occupation. The rest, one of the most important industrial sections of France, was by no means neglected by the German authorities. Early in 1916, two hundred army specialists had completed a survey of over four thousand industrial firms in northeastern France and had published their findings in a voluminous report.<sup>58</sup> It was this report which prompted the accusations of the French government after the war, that the ultimate aim of Germany's occupation policy was the permanent crippling of French competition through destruction of her industrial equipment.<sup>59</sup> There is nothing in the German report to serve as direct proof of this accusation. Its purpose, according to the preface, was simply "to give a preliminary view of the repercussions which the damaging of individual branches of [French] industry will probably have upon Germany." To do this, the report examined in great detail each individual industry and showed how much competition there was between that industry and its German counterpart before the war, and how much of the machinery destroyed by war had originally been bought in Germany. The answers to these questions were of greatest importance to German industrialists (who had been supplied with copies of this highly confidential report). Coal mining in northern France, for instance, had suffered so seriously through German destruction of mines and machinery that it would take years to return to pre-war conditions. The best solution, the report hints, would be the outright annexation of France's mineral regions. If that should be impossible, Germany still would profit from the destruction of France's coal mines, since it would necessitate French importation of German coal. Finally, there was a further advantage, since not only the mines themselves but much of the machinery had been destroyed or confiscated. Here Germany would also profit after the war, since no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Germany, Generalquartiermeister, *Die Industrie im besetzten Frankreich* (München, 1916). A less complete survey was published by a member of Germany's administration of occupied France: A. Günther, *Das besetzte Französische Gebiet* (München, 1918).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Friedensburg, pp. 101 ff; L. de Launay, *France-Allemagne* (Paris, 1917), pp. 26 ff.

other country specialized, as she did, in mining equipment.<sup>60</sup> It should be pointed out that the conclusions here presented were not drawn in the document, nor is there any proof that they existed in the minds of its authors. But they are inevitable and obvious on the basis of the material presented.

In regard to iron mining, the report treated in detail Germany's pre-war penetration into the Briey-Longwy basin.<sup>61</sup> Compared to coal-mining, destruction in this field had been negligible. France's iron industry, on the other hand, presented a different picture. Here "war damages, looked at individually, are not very great," the report said, "yet on the whole they are very considerable. They stem mostly from confiscation of raw-materials and machinery." In another place the report held that the production of each of the great iron works had been thrown back by several years. Since new factories had been built elsewhere in France heavy industry would not gain so great an advantage from this fact as might be expected. The large-scale damage done to France's iron industry, moreover, would deeply arouse French sentiment and thus affect adversely Germany's exports of machinery and raw-materials after the war.

In a similar fashion the report dealt with all branches of French industry in the occupied region. The machine and textile industries had been hit particularly hard by German dismantling of factories, so there would very likely be a post-war boom for Germany's manufacturers of textile machines, since German machines were unsurpassed in this field. Both France's dye works and her paper industry had suffered such damage that they would take years to recuperate. In one paper factory alone almost 90 tons of copper had been carted off by the invaders.<sup>62</sup>

These were some of the topics treated in much greater detail than is possible here. The general conclusions of the report, either openly expressed or left to be drawn by the reader, were as follows: (1) The occupied section was one of the most important of France, containing one-fifth of her factories and commercial establishments, and producing 84 per cent of her iron and 76 per cent of her steel. (2) Economically speaking, this region was almost selfsufficient, little dependent upon its French hinterland, and on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Germany, Generalquartiermeister, Die Industrie, pp. 19 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Ibid., pp. 52 ff.

<sup>62</sup> Ibid., pp. 65, 147, 158 ff., 164 ff., 167.

whole an area of surplus rather than deficiency. (3) So powerful a region presented dangerous competition to Germany. The report, as we have pointed out, made no specific suggestions how to remedy this situation other than to hint at certain "special measures" that might be taken to turn matters to Germany's advantage. The most effective "special measure" which suggests itself is of course the perpetuation of some form of German control over the whole occupied district. (4) The destructive effects of the war gave Germany at least a temporary advantage over her French competitors. French exports would cease until her industries had been rebuilt, which in some cases might take several years. So it was up to Germany to make the best possible use of this lapse by invading former French markets. (5) At the same time the rebuilding of French industry could itself be turned to Germany's advantage. Of 247,740 machines found in occupied France, 34,462, i.e., almost 14 per cent, were of German origin. Many of these machines had been destroyed or dismantled during the war, and despite the unavoidable post-war opposition to Germany, orders for their replacement would probably be given to German firms.

The army's report on France's economy did not suggest the annexation of all of occupied France, or the destruction of French industry to kill its competitive force. It was merely a presentation of data, lending itself to highly suggestive interpretations. In addition, it testified to the large-scale destruction of French industry, at first due to combat, but since the middle of 1916 increasingly due to German confiscation of machines and materials. To what extent these destructions were dictated by the necessities of a war economy severely pinched by Great Britain's blockade, and to what extent they were simply motivated by a desire to kill French industrial competition is impossible to say.

In Belgium, the two parallel developments, economic exploitation and administrative growth, went through some of their most important phases during the latter part of 1916 and early 1917. In the economic field, two events stand out most prominently: the infiltration of Germany's western industrialists into Belgium's key industries, and the deportation of Belgian workers to be employed in German factories.

On August 30, 1916, a first meeting of German industrialists took place in Brussels, General von Bissing presiding. Its purpose was the creation of a company for the exploitation of Belgium's industrial resources. Krupp's director Hugenberg gave his views on the matter as follows:

Once such a company has been founded in Belgium, with German capital and official support, the weight of events will act in such a way that the Reich can no longer escape the consequences which morally and politically result from it. I don't see the whole matter at all as a business venture, but as a political sacrifice which we have to make in this as in other instances, because the interest of the whole, of which we are a part, demands it.<sup>63</sup>

The outcome of deliberations was the founding, on October 12, 1916, of three companies—the Industriegesellschaft 1916 m. b. H., the Bodengesellschaft 1916 m. b. H., and the Verkehrsgesellschaft 1916 m. b. H.<sup>64</sup> Among the founders and directors were Hugenberg, Stinnes, Kirdorf, Beukenberg, and Reusch.<sup>65</sup> The purpose of these companies was the acquisition of Belgian industrial and other holdings, to increase and perpetuate Germany's influence. Their first action was the liquidation and acquisition of Belgium's gas, water, and electrical companies, owned by France and England, for a price far below their actual value, which was not to be paid until six months after the conclusion of peace.<sup>66</sup> If this was a "political sacrifice," to use Hugenberg's words, it was one which brought Germany's industrialists handsome profits.<sup>67</sup>

The events just described are merely an example of the general trend which dominated Germany's Belgian policy after the middle of 1916. The growing conviction that victory had to be won soon or never, necessitated the concentrated use of every ounce of material and strength at the disposal of the Central Powers. With the rise of Hindenburg and Ludendorff to the leadership of the army, considerations of immediate necessity rather than long-range planning began to determine Germany's administration of her own resources as well as those of the occupied territories. General von Bissing's constructive policy of not killing the milk-producing cow now gave way to a policy of merciless exploitation for the imme-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Germany, Nationalversammlung, Die Deutsche Nationalversammlung im Jahre 1919 in ihrer Arbeit für den Aufbau des neuen deutschen Volksstaates (9 vols., Berlin, n. d.), VII, 169; Anonymous, Wer hat den Krieg verlängert? (n. pl., 1919), p. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Brinckmeyer, pp. 32-33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Germany, Die Deutsche Nationalversammlung, VII, 166-67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Raphaël, Stinnes, p. 96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Köhler, pp. 139 ff.

diate benefit of Germany's war machine.<sup>68</sup> That such measures would result in the elimination of most of their Belgian competitors only helped to endear this policy to Germany's industrialists.<sup>69</sup>

Aside from this material exploitation of Belgium, we find, again under military pressure, the compulsory use of her manpower in Germany's industry. It presents another example of the powerful and disastrous influence of Germany's industrialists.<sup>70</sup> On September 16, 1916, at a meeting of representatives of the army (Prussia's Minister of War von Wrisberg and the delegate of the Supreme Command, Lt. Col. Bauer) and a number of German industrialists (Röchling, Kloeckner, Duisberg, von Siemens, Rathenau, Springorum, Vögler, et al.) the serious shortage of manpower for the increased production of the so-called "Hindenburg Program" was discussed.<sup>71</sup> The policy of hiring Belgian workers through a special agency, the Industriebüro, had not been very successful. Yet the closing of factories and the refusal of Belgian workers to collaborate with the enemy, resulted in large numbers of unemployed behind the German lines, which presented a grave problem to the occupying forces. It was at the meeting in September that Carl Duisberg and Walther Rathenau suggested compulsory labor service in German factories for these Belgians, partly to solve the problem of unemployment, but mostly to increase the dwindling ranks of German labor. The driving force among industrialists behind this policy of deportations was Hugo Stinnes.72 The chief opposition to it came from Germany's Belgian administration, notably General von Bissing.<sup>73</sup> Already in March 1916, he had refused a request of the War Ministry to force 400.000 Belgians to work in Germany, one of his chief objections being that such a move would create a very harmful impression abroad.74

<sup>68</sup> Kerchove, p. 8; Davignon, Belgien, p. 121.

<sup>70</sup> For detailed treatment see F. Passelecq, Déportation et travail forcé des ouvriers et de la population civile de la Belgique occupée (1916-1918) (Paris, 1928); A. Henry, Etudes sur l'occupation Allemande en Belgique (Brussels, 1920), pp. 81 ff.

<sup>71</sup> U. A., 3. Reihe, I, 382, 387.

<sup>72</sup> Mendelssohn Bartholdy, p. 232; Lancken, p. 233; Raphaël, Stinnes, p. 98.

<sup>73</sup> U. A., 3. Reihe, I, 323 ff.

<sup>74</sup> Köhler, p. 148.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> W. Martin, "Notes de Guerre" (typescript at the Hoover Library, Stanford, Calif.), p. 365; U. A., 4. Reihe, VII(1), 276; E. Fitger, "Politische Kriegsziele für Handel und Industrie," *Handel und Industrie*, XXV (1916), 776-77; Kerchove, pp. 153-55.

On September 15, a day before the meeting of the industrialists, von Bissing repeated his refusal.<sup>75</sup> "I must express my serious objections to such a measure," he said. "It is difficult to realize, economically harmful, and politically dangerous." Turning against the growing interference in the affairs of Belgium, he added: "His Majesty the King and Emperor has handed to me the administration of the country by an order which makes me responsible to him alone. As long as the Emperor holds to it, I must refuse any interference in my affairs." <sup>76</sup> The decisive meeting came on September 29, 1916. The representative of the Supreme Command stressed the need of additional workers for Germany's munitions industry, adding "that the outcome of the whole war depends on this." Against such an appeal and a renewed request by leading western industrialists, von Bissing could not hold out, and he finally gave in on October 6, 1916.77 The first transports of workers were sent on October 26-27, 1916, the last ones on February 10, 1917. By that time some 66,150 Belgians had been deported to Germany. Unnecessary cruelty and faulty organization resulted in considerable sickness and about 1,250 deaths among the deported. When the transports were finally stopped, it was due chiefly to the pressure of neutral opinion.78 The fact that the German government's Peace Note appeared at a time when these deportations were in full swing, did much to weaken its effectiveness. Yet there was little the government could do, according to Bethmann Hollweg. "It is exceedingly difficult, ves impossible, for the Reich's Chancellor to put aside a measure about which the military authorities say 'if this measure is not carried out, we cannot hope to win the war.' " 79

If von Bissing's policy of careful planning for the future gave way to a policy of immediate exploitation, this did not mean that Germany's plans about Belgium's ultimate fate had changed. "If we do not get Belgium into our sphere of power," Bissing wrote to Gustav Stresemann on June 14, 1917, "and if we do not govern it in German fashion . . . the war is lost. . . . The coast must be our frontier. . . . This will release us from the 'wet triangle."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Ibid., pp. 151-52.

<sup>76</sup> Bittmann, III, 144 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Ibid., p. 149; Köhler, pp. 151-52.

<sup>78</sup> U. A., 3. Reihe, I, 197, 210; U. A., 15. Ausschuss, II, 124.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Ibid., I, 224.

And a month later, the Governor wrote: "We must make it clear from the outset, that Belgium belongs to us by right of conquest and defer to a later occasion the decision what form its self-government shall take."<sup>80</sup> Not only did von Bissing uphold his aim of bringing Belgium under German domination, but he also tried to maintain, in the face of army pressure, as much of his constructive policy as possible. On February 22 he wrote to Ludendorff:

Your Excellency must be aware that the policy of the Reich urgently demands that I create values in the administration of the country entrusted to my care, which will outlast the war. If I endeavour to administer this country in such a way as to help Germany's world-reputation, and if I strive to create conditions which will permit us to use Belgium after the war as a means of extending Germany's world-position, I have only one aim: to render the results of war productive to our Fatherland.<sup>81</sup>

The German army's policy of exploiting Belgium's resources and manpower was paralleled by administrative measures which deeply affected the future of the country. In October 1916, for instance, the Flemish University of Ghent was finally opened with appropriate ceremony, and subsequently two separate departments of public education were created for the Flemish and Walloon sections.<sup>82</sup> The most important event however, was the complete administrative separation of the two ethnic groups in early 1917. Suggestions for such a policy had been made during the first half of the war, but lack of agreement among the various Flemish factions had delayed action.<sup>83</sup> The first step, therefore, had to be the unification of the "activists" behind a common program. Germany's December Peace Note, suggesting the possibility of an early peace, hastened this process, and after a preliminary discussion, a Flemish National Congress, attended by some 250 "activist" representatives, and assisted by the German government, met in Brussels, on February 4, 1917. Out of this group an executive "Council of Flanders" was chosen, which now became the guiding element of the Flemish movement.<sup>84</sup> In a manifesto, the Council

<sup>80</sup> General von Bissing, General von Bissing's Testament (London, 1917), pp. 31-32, 36.

<sup>81</sup> Ludendorff, Urkunden, pp. 131-32.

<sup>32</sup> Die flämische Hochschule in Gent, Reden zur feierlichen Übergabe und Wiedereröffnung, gehalten am 20, 21, und 24. Oktober 1916 (Berlin, 1917); Becker, p. 323.

83 "Rudiger," p. 48; Osswald, "Bissing," pp. 51-52.

<sup>84</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 104-05; T. Heyse, La Genèse du Conseil de Flandre (Brussels, 1924), pp. 5-6; "Rudiger," p. 17; Becker, p. 324.

158

proclaimed as its aim the administrative separation and cultural autonomy of the Flemish and Walloon parts of the Belgian state.<sup>85</sup> Its claim to some 125,000 followers was exaggerated, most likely the number was closer to 20,000.<sup>86</sup> From the first the Council worked in close agreement with the Germans, although not all of its members favored such collaboration.<sup>87</sup> A representative of Germany's civil administration in Belgium was attached to it and attended its weekly meetings.<sup>88</sup> In March, a delegation of several Council members went to Berlin and was received by the Chancellor.<sup>89</sup> After presenting their program for the administrative separation of Belgium, Bethmann promised the delegates Germany's support in their aspirations.

The linguistic frontier must, as soon as possible, become the frontier between two separate administrative districts, unified only under the command of the Governor General. The joint efforts of German officials and representatives of the Flemish people will succeed in reaching this aim. . . . We shall be happy to discuss with the Council of Flanders the means which will lead to the aspired aim. . . . The German Reich will do everything possible at the peace conference and beyond to further and secure the free development of the Flemish people.<sup>90</sup>

The annexationist press took this statement to be a promise that their hopes for Germany's future control over Belgium would be fulfilled, and pro-Flemish agitation, especially among the Independent Committee, received fresh encouragement.<sup>91</sup> Such agitation was considered necessary, since most Germans seemed little concerned over their Flemish brethren.<sup>92</sup> Two propaganda societies were now founded—the Gesellschaft zur Pflege der deutsch-flämischen Beziehungen and the Deutsch-Flämische Gesellschaft. In September 1917, they were joined, under the latter name, with the ex-ambassador and Pan-German von Reichenau as president. To understand its real character, we need only look at the list of sponsors, which included von Bissing, his successor von Falken-

<sup>85</sup> Deutscher Geschichtskalender, 1917, I, 396 ff.

<sup>86</sup> Raad van Vlaanderen, p. ix; "Wie tief geht die flämische Bewegung?" Deutsche Stimmen, XXIX (1917), 645.

<sup>87</sup> Raad van Vlaanderen, pp. xxix, xxxv.

88 Clough, pp. 199-200; Köhler, pp. 42, 192 note 46.

<sup>89</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), pp. 239-40.

<sup>90</sup> Thimme, Bethmann Hollweg, p. 213.

<sup>91</sup> Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, I, March 22, 1917, 246; Schäfer, Leben, p. 215.

92 Clough, p. 182; Pirenne, La Belgique, 209-10.

hausen, von Tirpitz, Kapp, Reventlow, Traub, von Wangenheim, Schäfer, and Westarp.<sup>93</sup> In the Reichstag, finally, the Flemish question was the subject of many speeches and debates.<sup>94</sup>

Bethmann Hollweg himself, in a letter to Hindenburg on March 7, 1917, showed that he was perfectly aware of the advantages which a Belgium, divided into a Flemish and a Walloon section, offered to Germany:

The German interests which we are furthering by this policy are clear. The fate of Belgium depends upon the final success of our armies. But whatever happens, a Belgium whose international organization is separate and in which a Flemish majority is free from the domination of the pro-French Walloon minority, will be more easily made useful to German interests than the Belgian state under its present form.<sup>95</sup>

The contemplated administrative separation, as this statement proves, found Germany's official support not simply because of her sympathy for the suppressed Flemings, but because it provided a means of maintaining Germany's influence over Belgium. If the wishes of the Flemish people had been the real concern of the government, the protest of the "passivists" on March 10, 1917, against the activities of the "Council of Flanders" should have made more of an impression than it actually did.<sup>96</sup> Hindenburg's reply to the Chancellor's letter is likewise very interesting, since it throws more definite light on Germany's economic exploitation of Belgium.

Since we have made these promises to the Flemings, I can no longer maintain the point of view that we should push the unlimited exploitation to such a point that the need for peace arises with great force among the Belgian people. But Belgium must nevertheless be weakened economically to a greater extent than the German people. Only thus can we render her economically dependent upon ourselves.<sup>97</sup>

Here we have a frank confession that Germany's economic policy in Belgium had as its motive not merely need for matériel and manpower, but the weakening of the country, so as to facilitate Germany's post-war domination. In a way, therefore, both eco-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Schäfer, Leben, p. 215; "Rudiger," pp. 363-64; Schulthess, vol. 58(1), p. 303; Westarp, II, 82.

<sup>94</sup> Reichstag, vol. 309, pp. 2416 ff., 2472 ff.

<sup>95</sup> Raad van Vlaanderen, p. xxiv; Clough, p. 185.

<sup>96</sup> Ibid., p. 201; Becker, pp. 327 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Raad van Vlaanderen, p. xxiv.

nomic exploitation and administrative division were measures closely related to Germany's Belgian war aims.

On March 21, 1917, less than three weeks after Bethmann's promise to the Council of Flanders, General von Bissing signed the decree for the administrative separation of Belgium. Both he and von Sandt had opposed unsuccessfully this too rapid development. The decree called for the creation of two administrative districts, Flanders and Wallonia, separated according to language and governed from Brussels and Namur, respectively, with ultimately a system of self-government for both sections.<sup>98</sup> The division of Belgium was the last major act of General von Bissing. On April 18, 1917, he died, after a brief illness. He had been one of the leading figures in the history of German war aims, and the most effective resistance to the haphazard policy which had become characteristic of German-Belgian relations since the end of 1916. Bissing's long-range policy had brought him the reproach, mostly inspired by the Supreme Command, that he treated the Belgians too kindly. Whenever possible, he tried to deny these accusations. "I am sure of Your Majesty's approval," he wrote to William II two weeks before his death, "if I consider Germany's interests the sole guide of my policy in Flanders as well as Wallonia; even if I can only realize that German interest by over-riding the protestations of the two sections of the population." <sup>99</sup> We may sum up von Bissing's Belgian policy in his own words of April 6, 1917. Belgium, he held, because of the measures taken by Germany during the war, imposed

upon the German Empire the debt of honor to extend, after the war, a protective hand over the two parts of the country. Only on that condition can Germany's power and influence be exercised in the political, economic, and military sphere of Flanders and Wallonia; only thus can the Fatherland draw any profit from the activity which we have spent here, and the two sections of Belgium enjoy in peace and security the fruits of the benefits which they owe Your Majesty.<sup>100</sup>

#### Annexationist Reaction to the Peace Note of December 12, 1916

The most important period in the World War, not only in relation to war aims but to Germany's affairs in general, was the

<sup>98</sup> Köhler, p. 42; Clough, p. 203; Osswald, "Bissing," p. 52.
<sup>99</sup> "Rudiger," pp. 56 ff.
<sup>100</sup> "Rudiger," p. 59.

period immediately following the Peace Note of December 12, 1916. In the field of war aims, this period witnessed a series of official and unofficial declarations, issued with the more or less sincere indignation resulting from the Allied refusal of the German peace offer. At the same time, events of much greater importance occurred with the beginning of unlimited submarine warfare on February 1, and the subsequent declaration of war by the United States. Finally, parallel to these manifestations of an iron-fisted foreign policy, we find in Bethmann's speeches during this period the clearest and most far-reaching promises of domestic reform given thus far. This last development, culminating in the Kaiser's Easter Message on April 7, 1917, although belonging in the field of domestic developments, ultimately had considerable bearing upon the war aims problem.

Despite the incompatibility of German and Allied secret war aims, the German peace offer might have succeeded had Germany been a little more specific, particularly in regard to Belgium. The Allies, while officially rejecting Germany's Peace Note, still sent out feelers via neutral sources indicating their interest in "the restoration and complete independence of Belgium."<sup>101</sup> At the same time, the German government continued negotiations with Washington over President Wilson's mediation proposal, though these negotiations were carried on half-heartedly and without the essential declaration about the future of Belgium.<sup>102</sup> Bethmann Hollweg gives as reason why he did not make such a declaration " the blunt attitude of the Entente" towards the December note.103 It was the reply of the Allies which seemed to justify the clamor of military and naval authorities as well as annexationists for stronger war aims and an all-out submarine campaign. The decision in favor of the latter, reached on January 9, 1917, ended for the time being all chances for a negotiated peace.<sup>104</sup> The fact, moreover, that this major step was taken so hurriedly and so shortly after the German peace offer, helped to confirm Allied belief in the insincerity of that offer. It also showed on how slim a support the Chancellor's Peace Note really had rested.

The first official opposition inside Germany to the government's

162

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Brunauer, "Peace Proposals," pp. 72-73.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Forster, pp. 5758; Bernstorff, pp. 321 ff.; U. A., 15. Ausschuss, II, 129.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Ibid., I, 235.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Ibid., II, 131; Brunauer, "Peace Proposals," pp. 44-45, 72.

Peace Note came a week after its publication. On December 19, the navy, for the first time, came out with a series of war aims, asking for Germany's domination over the Belgian coast.<sup>105</sup> Four days later, Hindenburg followed suit and asked for a strong peace and the immediate beginning of unlimited submarine warfare.<sup>106</sup> The next in line was Secretary Solf, who on December 26 presented his colonial program, the main feature of which was a large and compact African Empire.<sup>107</sup> Even the Emperor, usually quite moderate, held that "from now on there could no longer be any question of obliging France and Belgium, that King Albert, after having refused our efforts for the third time could no longer be permitted to return to Belgium, and that the Flanders coast had to become German." <sup>108</sup> Three days later, on January 5, William, in a proclamation, summed-up Germany's hurt pride and renewed determination to continue the war. "In righteous indignation over the enemy's insolence," he told his soldiers, " and in the desire to defend our most sacred possessions and to secure for the Fatherland a happy future, you must harden into steel. Our enemies did not want the conciliation which I offered them. With God's help our weapons shall force them to it." 109

Added to these official statements was the widespread propaganda for a ruthless war and a strong peace, which we shall discuss below. The immediate outcome of this universal pressure was the Chancellor's consent to unrestricted submarine warfare on January 9.<sup>110</sup> It is impossible here to discuss in detail the submarine controversy which was in so many ways related to the war aims problem.<sup>111</sup> It was in connection with this controversy that the first real conflict developed between Bethmann and the Supreme Command. "We can no longer work with him," Ludendorff said in January 1917; and Hindenburg admitted that only the absence of a suitable successor kept him from asking for Bethmann's dismissal.<sup>112</sup> The Chancellor was only too well aware of this situation

<sup>105</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 92; Solf, Die Lehren, p. 24 and passim.

<sup>106</sup> Ludendorff, Urkunden, pp. 315-16; U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 92.

<sup>107</sup> Ibid., p. 92; Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, I, Nov. 9, 1916, p. 4.

<sup>108</sup> U. A., 15. Ausschuss, II, 113.

<sup>109</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 400. King Ludwig of Bavaria expressed the same sentiment: Schulthess, vol. 58(1), p. 17.

<sup>110</sup> Ludendorff, Urkunden, pp. 322-24.

<sup>111</sup> Ibid., pp. 315 ff.; Helfferich, pp. 351 ff.; Westarp, II, 90.

<sup>112</sup> Eisenhardt-Rothe, p. 55; F. von Bernhardi, *Denkwürdigkeiten aus meinem Leben* (Berlin, 1927), pp. 461-63; Direnberger, p. 18.

and realized that his continued opposition to the unrestricted use of the submarine weapon would only postpone but not settle the issue and might very well lead to his dismissal, which he considered harmful at this time. He therefore yielded, against his better judgment, and unrestricted submarine warfare actually began on February 1, 1917.<sup>113</sup>

Before this irrevocable step was taken, however, another official statement on German war aims was made to President Wilson. Aware of the fact that Germany might begin her submarine campaign, Wilson had notified the Chancellor that he still saw a chance for mediation and asked for a confidential program of German war aims.<sup>114</sup> These aims, which the German government thus far had refused to reveal, were agreed on in negotiations between civil and military authorities on January 29. They were immediately communicated to ambassador Bernstorff in Washington, who handed them to Colonel House on January 31.<sup>115</sup> The German terms, including those dealing with the east, and differing little from the program agreed on between Germany and Austria on November 15 as the basis for the December Peace Note, read as follows:

Restitution of the part of Upper Alsace occupied by the French.

- A frontier which would protect Germany and Poland economically and strategically against Russia.
- Restitution of colonies in form of an agreement which would give Germany colonies adequate for her population and economic interest.
- Restitution of those parts of France occupied by Germany under reservation of strategic and economic changes of the frontier and financial compensations.
- Restoration of Belgium under special guarantee for the safety of Germany which would have to be decided on by negotiations with Belgium.
- Economic and financial mutual compensation on the basis of the exchange of territories occupied and to be restituted at the conclusion of peace.
- Compensation for the German business concerns and private persons who suffered by the war. Abandonment of all economic agreements and measures which would form an obstacle to normal commerce and intercourse after the conclusion of peace, and instead of such agreements reasonable treaties of commerce.

The freedom of the seas.<sup>116</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Westarp, II, 152; Bethmann Hollweg, II, 169.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Forster, p. 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Seymour, II, 431-32; Ludendorff, Urkunden, p. 343. For an appraisal of these terms see E. C. Brunauer, Has America Forgotten? (Washington, 1941), pp. 13-14.

These general terms must be read, of course, in the light of the Hindenburg-Bethmann correspondence of early November 1916, which had mentioned indemnities, the annexation of the Briey-Longwy region, of the country around Liège, and of the Belgian Congo. It is most doubtful whether the Allies would ever have agreed to enter into negotiations on the basis of a program which refused to consider so essential a question as Alsace-Lorraine and did not promise the unconditional restoration of Belgium. As it was, the submarine declaration made any further negotiations impossible.

But if these German aims went too far for the Allies, they did not go far enough for many people in Germany. On January 31, 1917, the members of the Reichstag's Main Committee were informed of the government's program. According to Helfferich, all bourgeois parties opposed the moderation of Germany's official aims and expressed the wish "that the Chancellor, if it comes to peace negotiations, should not feel himself bound to this program." <sup>117</sup> To understand this attitude of the political parties and to realize the outside pressure to which the Chancellor was subjected, we must again briefly examine the body of extra-governmental opinion on war aims and the submarine question, immediately following the failure of the Peace Note.

The Reichstag did not resume its sessions until February 22, 1917. We are therefore deprived of this important sounding board during the crucial weeks after December 12, 1916, and depend almost entirely on occasional statements, speeches, and proclamations. We have already mentioned the opposition of Conservatives and National Liberals to the Note and its specific terms as revealed on January 31, 1917. On December 23, Bethmann tried vainly to reach an agreement with Count Westarp. The latter wanted the Flanders coast and considerably more far-reaching guarantees from Belgium than the Chancellor was willing to ask.<sup>118</sup> When the government failed to notify the parties of the decision in favor of submarine warfare, the Conservatives spent most of January in violent anti-Bethmann agitation.<sup>119</sup> As General Hoffmann remarked with insight: "The Conservatives are not shouting so loud because they are worried that something might happen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Helfferich, p. 374; Westarp, II, 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Ibid., pp. 318-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Ibid., pp. 151-53.

to the Fatherland, but because they are afraid that they might lose some of their political power." 120 Germany's ruling class saw in the unrestricted use of the submarine the only means to gain a victorious peace, which in turn, they felt, was necessary to maintain the existing political and social order. The National Liberal views on the submarine question as usual were much like those of the Conservatives.<sup>121</sup> As to war aims. Bassermann and Stresemann asked that Germany keep Belgium and Briev-Longwy. The Flemings should be supported in their attempts at liberation from the Walloons, and the region of Flanders should remain in German hands completely.<sup>122</sup> The Center Party was likewise in favor of unrestricted submarine warfare, even before Germany's attempts at a negotiated peace had failed. It was the resolution voted by the Centrist Reichstag delegation on October 16, 1916, endorsing submarine warfare, which had created a parliamentary majority in favor of an unrestricted submarine campaign and thus had helped to isolate Bethmann Hollweg.<sup>123</sup> "We are done with notes!" the Centrist deputy Bell exclaimed at a meeting of his party in January. "Let us take the sword into our hands. Not the word but the sword must now decide!" <sup>124</sup> Only a small minority, including, surprisingly enough, Erzberger, opposed the government's policy. Erzberger, influenced by Germany's unfavorable military situation, grew increasingly moderate in his war aims, until he finally became the driving force behind the Reichstag's Peace Resolution on July 19, 1917.125

As we move towards the left, both the majority of the Progressives and the Socialists were opposed to unrestricted submarine warfare. The former, however, supported the government's policy, once it had been definitely decided upon.<sup>126</sup> When the Budget Committee of the Reichstag was notified on January 31, 1917, of the impending start of the submarine campaign, the Socialists David and Hoch took a decided stand against it, while the repre-

<sup>124</sup> Wacker, p. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Hoffmann, Aufzeichnungen, I, 152.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> Westarp, II, 155.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Lanick, pp. 114-17; Bassermann in Deutsche Stimmen, Dec. 25, 1916; G. Stresemann, "Eine Atempause im Weltkriege," *ibid.*, Jan. 10, 1917; Schulthess, vol. 58 (1), p. 99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Helfferich, p. 357; U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> Ibid., pp. 22-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Ostfeld, pp. 14-16; Scheidemann, Memoiren, I, 391.

sentatives of the Center and the Progressives acquiesced. Only the National Liberals and the two Conservative Parties were definitely in favor of the government's decision.<sup>127</sup>

If the stand of Socialists and Progressives on the submarine issue was one of complete or partial opposition, both parties agreed that the rejection of the Peace Note and the annexationist ambitions of the Allies required a renewed stiffening of German resistance. The Social Democrats defined their stand as follows:

Through the refusal of peace negotiations offered by Germany and her allies, the governments of the enemy powers have taken upon themselves the heavy responsibility of continuing the war. They intend to carry out their openly expressed policy of annexations that will mean the ruin and lasting subjugation of the Central Powers. In view of this situation, the German Social Democratic Party once more declares its firm determination to fight on until a peace ensuring the vital interests of the German people has been reached.<sup>128</sup>

Germany's six leading trade and labor unions told Bethmann on January 16: "The Entente's answer removes every doubt that Germany is waging a war of defense. In the full understanding that the existence of our country and of its people is at stake, we shall mobilize the full effort of the working classes to the utmost."<sup>129</sup>

The press, even more clearly than the sparse declarations of the political parties, showed an almost general determination to continue the "war of defense." <sup>130</sup> There was a difference of tone, however, between the annexationist and moderate press. While the former seemed relieved that the spectre of a moderate peace had passed, the latter was sincerely disappointed that such a peace had not been achieved. But after the far-reaching terms of the Allies became known, even some of the moderate papers began asking for a more substantial settlement. On January 23, 1917, the clerical *Germania* opposed the return to the *status quo ante* in Belgium and demanded indemnities and colonies. The liberal *Frankfurter Zeitung*, on January 17, and again on February 7 wanted a German protectorate over Belgium and the annexation of Briey, Longwy, Verdun, and Belfort. Admiral von Truppel in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Westarp, II, 155-56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Forster, p. 57; Sozialdemokratie und Kriegsziele (n. pl., n. d.), passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 401-02.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, I, Jan. 4, 1917, pp. 4-5.

the Tag (February 6) proclaimed the navy's favorite aim, the Flanders coast.

The most violent reaction to the refusal of Germany's peace offer came from those annexationist groups which we have collectively called the *Kriegszielbewegung*. "We can thank God upon bended knee, that our enemies didn't accept the peace offer of December 12." Heinrich Class exclaimed at a meeting in Hamburg.<sup>131</sup> On New Year's Day, Dietrich Schäfer put out a new edition of his annexationist pamphlet and his Independent Committee subsequently held a meeting in the Prussian House of Deputies which was so well attended that thousands had to be turned away.<sup>132</sup> The other annexationist organizations followed suit. The Pan-German League came out of its self-imposed retirement and demanded Belgium, parts of France, and the launching of unrestricted submarine warfare.<sup>133</sup> It was at this time that a Pan-German group bought the Deutsche Zeitung (appointing Dietrich Schäfer and Houston Stewart Chamberlain as editors) and an industrial group, notably Krupp and Stinnes, bought the Berliner Lokalanzeiger, both to be used for annexationist propaganda.<sup>134</sup> The Six Economic Organizations likewise indicated that the aims which had originally brought them together in May of 1915 were still adhered to in January 1917.135 One of the most important of the associations, the Agrarian League, held a meeting in February, also attended by industrial representatives, at which its president, von Wangenheim, demanded that the future peace be signed with the German sword, and not with the "old romantic goose-quills of the bureaucrats and diplomatists, or the pliable goldnibbed fountain-pen of the bankers." <sup>136</sup> Dr. Roetger, representing the Central Union of German Industrialists at the meeting, advised that Germany conclude a peace settlement in which she could keep the regions she had conquered, especially Belgium. In this he was supported by the Conservative Wildgrube, who had just been elected to the Reichstag on an annexationist platform.<sup>137</sup>

<sup>131</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (1), 175.

<sup>132</sup> D. Schäfer, Nochmals: Zur Lage (n. pl., 1917); Schäfer, Leben, p. 209; Kreuzzeitung, Jan. 20, 1917; Unabhängiger Ausschuss für einen deutschen Frieden, Durch Deutschen Sieg zum Deutschen Frieden (Berlin, 1917), p. 52 and passim. <sup>133</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), pp. 66-67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> Berliner Volkszeitung, Feb. 21, 1917; Dahlin, p. 102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58 (1), pp. 72-73.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> Deutsche Tageszeitung, Feb. 22, 1917; Schulthess, vol. 58(1), pp. 154 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, I, Nov. 18, 1916, p. 14; Dec. 14, 1916, p. 10.

Another one of the leading annexationist groups, the Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, founded in 1915 under the direction of the industrialist Poensgen, also held a meeting in January, at which Gottfried Traub and various representatives of the associations affiliated with the Auskunftsstelle expressed their determination to hold out until a victorious peace had been won.<sup>138</sup> The Auskunftsstelle served as a kind of central clearing house for the different annexationist organizations. Its directors, besides Poensgen. included von Reichenau of the V.D.A. and Gustav Stresemann. and among its members were many familiar annexationists-Bacmeister, von Vietinghoff-Scheel, Traub, Stahlberg, Fabarius, Gildemeister, Hirsch, Schäfer, Roesicke, Kirdorf, Kapp, and Ripke. The organizations represented in the Auskunftsstelle included the Six Economic Organizations, the Pan-German League, the Army League, the Association of Germans Abroad, and many minor groups.<sup>139</sup> The membership of the Auskunftsstelle reveals once again how most of the propaganda for extensive war aims was carried on, for patriotic or selfish reasons, by a small minority. Certain names we find repeated whenever and wherever a strong peace was demanded. To give their private ambitions the appearance of enjoying widespread support, new propagandist organizations were constantly being founded by these annexationists. The Auskunftsstelle, the "Independent Committee," the "Committee for the Rapid Overthrow of England," and the "Committee for the Guiding Principles on the Road to a Lasting Peace," these groups were nothing more than the same small but influential group of annexationists each time in a different guise. To Germany's enemies, this constant stream of annexationist propaganda was a valuable means of maintaining the fighting spirit of their peoples. "The wild proclamations of the Pan-Germans," a confidential report of the official French propaganda bureau said in February 1917, " are as good as cash to us and to all other nations united to fight Germany's arrogance." 140

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> O. Poensgen, Was haben die Engländer gegen uns? (Berlin, 1917), p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, Gedanken und Wünsche zur Gestaltung des Friedens, 1917 edition, passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> France, Maison de la Presse, *Geheimbericht*, no. 7, Feb. 1917, edited by Conrad Haussmann (n. pl., n. d.), pp. 5, 8-9; U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (2), 337.

## GERMANY'S DRIVE TO THE WEST

### Annexationism and Domestic Reform

During the month of January, as the preceding section shows, the controversy between the government and the annexationists over war aims had been temporarily overshadowed by the immediate effects of the German peace offer and the general demand for strong measures against the Allies. This demand had culminated in the unrestricted use of the submarine, which was put into effect on February 1. During the next two months, the war aims controversy not only reappeared with renewed vigor, but additional force was injected into it by the problem of domestic reform which assumed ever-growing importance.

Between the beginning of total submarine warfare and the resumption of Reichstag sessions on February 22, the Bavarian and Prussian diets served on several occasions as platforms for the discussion of war aims, both being in favor of German westward expansion. In the Bavarian Lower House, the Centrist Held demanded that "Germany must hold Belgium militarily and economically," and even several of the Liberal deputies were against a return to the *status quo ante*. Of special interest is the speech of the Pacifist Professor Quidde in which he agreed that after the rejection of Germany's peace offer her war aims had to change and become more radical.<sup>141</sup>

The debates in the Prussian House of Representatives on February 20-22 were not quite so unanimously in favor of strong aims. The determination of pursuing the war to a victorious end, so prominent during the weeks immediately following the Peace Note, had begun to wear thin by the middle of February. The Socialist deputy Hué struck a discordant note when he denied the claim, so universally accepted by protagonists of the *Drang nach Westen*, that the annexation of the Briey-Longwy region was of vital necessity to Germany. Instead he suggested that the close collaboration between the German coal and French iron industries, so prominent before 1914, be resumed at the end of the war. The Centrist Bell and the National Liberals, notably Beumer and Fuhrmann, took exception to Hué's speech. Fuhrmann remarked quite correctly that the concessions of German industrialists in

<sup>141</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), pp. 94-95; Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, I, Feb. 15, 1917, 133.

France would most likely be lost, if Germany should return this region to French domination after the war.<sup>142</sup>

The Reichstag resumed its sessions on February 22, and soon the debate turned to the refusal of Germany's peace offer and the question of war aims. As far as the first was concerned, all parties, except the Socialists, agreed that Germany should no longer adhere to the terms that served as the basis for her peace note.<sup>143</sup> As to war aims, Bethmann Hollweg's first Reichstag speech on February 27 reopened the question with a very vague reference. "I have repeatedly said all that I could say about the direction and intention of our terms. To end the war through a lasting peace which will grant us compensation for all the injuries suffered and which will secure the existence and future of a strong Germany—that is our aim."<sup>144</sup> In the debate following this speech. most of the bourgeois parties took a strong stand on war aims: but Count Westarp went further than any speaker had ever gone in the German Reichstag. The program of December 12, he held, was completely out of the question now and should be replaced by the demands for the annexation of the Briev basin, the Flanders coast, the port of Antwerp, Belgium's mineral and coal deposits, a large colonial empire, and substantial indemnities.<sup>145</sup> Spahn for the Center Party, agreed with the necessity for indemnities and asked for Germany's economic domination over Belgium.<sup>146</sup> The National Liberals Schiffer and Stresemann expressed similar views.<sup>147</sup> The Progressive Haussmann agreed with Bethmann that the discussion of war aims at this stage was "unfruitful." Only Scheidemann opposed outright the expansionist demands of the other parties.<sup>148</sup> There can be little doubt that the sum of these annexationist statements was in part responsible for the decisive steps which we saw the government take during March in regard to the administrative division of Belgium.

The topic of war aims, however, was giving way increasingly to the debate over domestic reforms at this point. Little had been done in this respect since the Kaiser's speech of January 13, 1916. The question did not really become acute until 1917, when many elements—the food shortage, the controversy over the law con-

<sup>145</sup> Ibid., pp. 2403, 2407-08.

<sup>146</sup> Ibid., pp. 2382, 2512.
<sup>147</sup> Ibid., pp. 2416, 2472.
<sup>148</sup> Ibid., p. 2483.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), pp. 144, 149.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Reichstag, vol. 309, pp. 2368, 2393.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Ibid., p. 2375.

cerning entails, and the impending split within the Social Democratic Party-increased the feeling of domestic insecurity and unrest.<sup>149</sup> In his speech on February 27, therefore, Bethmann felt it wise to hold out some promise of domestic reform. After stressing the indebtedness of the nation to the loyalty and self-sacrifice of its poorest sons, he continued: "Whenever we shall come to rearrange political rights, it will not be a question of rewarding our people for what it has done-this conception has always seemed degrading to me-but of finding the right political and governmental expression for this people." <sup>150</sup> Received with enthusiasm by the Socialists and with approval by the Progressives. Centrists and National Liberals. Bethmann's statements were heavily attacked by the Conservatives.<sup>151</sup> In two more speeches, one on March 14 before the Prussian Lower House, the other on March 29 before the Reichstag. Bethmann dealt with the necessity for internal reforms.<sup>152</sup> Again all parties except the Conservatives gave undivided approval to the Chancellor's statements.<sup>153</sup> "A historic event." Conrad Haussmann wrote after the speech of March 14. "Bethmann has openly joined the Left and the struggle for power begins in the midst of war and under the leadership of the Chancellor."<sup>154</sup> After the speech on March 29, the parties presented their views on the subject. Progressives, Centrists, and Socialists gave their approval to Bethmann's policy. "If once the danger is passed and nothing has been done," the Socialist Noske threatened, "we shall know how to obtain for the people what they claim; if it cannot be obtained in a peaceful way, then we shall claim it in a sharp and determined fight!"<sup>155</sup> Gustav Stresemann for the National Liberals delivered the longest and most ardent plea in favor of immediate reform. "It is the opinion of my political friends and my party delegation," he said, "that the time has come to begin the reorganization of affairs in Germany and in the Federal States."<sup>156</sup> Count Westarp alone stood firmly opposed to the reforms of the Prussian franchise, which he termed "an internal

- <sup>153</sup> Ibid., pp. 221, 236.
- <sup>154</sup> Haussmann, p. 91.
- <sup>155</sup> Reichstag, vol. 309, pp. 2832, 2842, 2846.
- <sup>156</sup> *Ibid.*, p. 2855.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> Westarp, II, 228; Bethmann Hollweg, II, 171-72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Reichstag, vol. 309, p. 2375.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Ibid., pp. 2386, 2399, 2832, 2477, 2404; U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 161-62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Reichstag, vol. 309, pp. 2866-67; Thimme, Bethmann Hollweg, pp. 218-19.

affair of Prussia," and to the extension of parliamentary rights, the two most vital reform demands.<sup>157</sup> The outcome of the debates on March 29 and 30 was the creation of a Constitutional Committee "for the study of constitutional questions, in particular the composition of the representative body and its relations to the government."<sup>158</sup> The problem of granting a larger measure of influence to the Reichstag, if not solved, had at least been taken in hand. Developments abroad, the outbreak of the Russian Revolution in March, and the declaration of war by the United States in April, only helped to increase Germany's domestic tension. To keep the initiative in the face of growing pressure for the reform of Prussia's franchise, Bethmann Hollweg entered into immediate negotiations with his colleagues in the Prussian Ministry and with the Emperor. The result of their hurried deliberations was the famous "Easter Message" of April 7, 1917, which promised the abolition of the Prussian three-class electoral system and the reform of the Upper House, both of which were to come right after the war.159

The effect of these internal developments was not really felt until the summer of 1917. Knowing the determined opposition of the Conservatives to internal reform, we now must be prepared for a war to the knife against the Chancellor, whose policy threatened the very existence, so the Conservatives felt, of their whole way of life. "The icy silence of the Conservatives," the Vorwärts wrote after Bethmann's speech on March 14, "clearly signified the death sentence for the Chancellor." <sup>160</sup> The battle against Bethmann was on, and one of the major battle-fields, as always, was the question of war aims. The conflict over internal reforms threatened to disrupt even the close alliance between National Liberals and Conservatives which the war aims controversy had established. Yet the Conservatives gained powerful allies in their anti-Bethmann campaign among the Supreme Command, especially General Ludendorff, to whom the Easter Message was little more than a concession to the Zeitgeist and the Russian Revolution.161

It was at this time, in late February, that an incident occurred,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> Ibid., pp. 2857-64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 258-61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 164-65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> Thimme, Bethmann Hollweg, p. 221.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 191.

the so-called "Adlon Meeting," which indicated to what lengths the enemies of Bethmann would go to bring about his fall. The first hint that something was under way came when a number of prominent people received invitations to a meeting on February 25, 1917, at the Hotel "Adlon" in Berlin, allegedly to listen to an address on the condition of German's chemical industry. The real purpose of the conference was to discuss the ways and means of bringing about the fall of Bethmann Hollweg and the invitation was accompanied by detailed plans for the creation of a large anti-Bethmann movement. A committee was to be formed whose task should be "the planning of meetings in all large cities," the "winning of newspaper support," the "provision of financial resources," and the "drafting of a resolution to the Reichstag and other quarters," especially the Emperor and General Ludendorff. Drafts of such resolutions were submitted with the invitations. They all contained the request that Hindenburg be made Bethmann's successor and that a stronger policy be followed in regard to Belgium and the submarine question. The following draft of a letter to General Ludendorff gives an idea of the tone and contents of these documents:

The Field-Marshal, because of his absolute indispensability is positively irremovable. Imperial favor or disfavor cannot touch him. He alone, together with you, is guardian of Germany's life and honor and thus guardian of the Hohenzollern dynasty as wearer of the Imperial Crown and the Royal Crown of Prussia, for both crowns will roll into the dust if we do not win the war and win soon. What the Field-Marshal really desires will be done, and if it should come to a conflict—either Hindenburg or Bethmann Hollweg—the removal of Bethmann Hollweg will be certain. The future of our people and its dynasty require that such a conflict be brought about. The *furor teutonicus*, demanded with so much justification by the Field-Marshal, cannot be kindled by Bethmann Hollweg and his associates, who have not a glimmer of this *furor*. I beg you to put this letter before the Field-Marshal.<sup>162</sup>

Again the relationship between a victorious outcome of the war and the continuation of the existing political and social order is clearly emphasized. To achieve such a victory and to maintain the Hohenzollern dynasty, the appointment of a regent, e.g., Hindenburg, who might take the direction of affairs out of the hands of the Emperor, was felt necessary by some people.<sup>163</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Reichstag, vol. 309, pp. 2489-90; Berliner Tageblatt, Feb. 25, 1917.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> In this connection see the plans for the establishment of a government by

The invitation to the "Adlon" meeting was issued by Count Paul Hoensbroech and signed by Emil Kirdorf and Admiral von Knorr. It also mentioned a number of illustrious names as patrons—the industrialist Körting, Prince von Salm-Horstmar, Count Luxburg, and the lawyer Petzold, founder of the Committee for the Rapid Overthrow of England and member of the Managing Committee of the Pan-German League. The invitation also stated that Count Westarp was expected, that the meeting might last all day, and that it was not intended to compete with the Independent Committee, but was meant as an additional effort in the same direction. "Two horses do more than one in pulling a wagon," was how the invitation put it.<sup>164</sup>

It was sheer accident that a copy of the document fell into the hands of Conrad Haussmann, who immediately published a report of the whole matter in the Stuttgarter Beobachter (Feb. 25) and caused considerable embarrassment to the "Adlon" conspirators.<sup>165</sup> Fuhrmann, Schäfer, and Westarp immediately denied that they had intended to take part in the conference, the latter's comment being that "at present" such meetings should be avoided.<sup>166</sup> As a result of the unwanted publicity, the meeting was only attended by some 29 people, with the industrialist Duisberg as the moving spirit. Despite some violent speeches-one of them suggesting that far from introducing the more liberal Reichstag franchise into Prussia, the Prussian franchise should be used in Reichstag elections-most of the resolutions proposed in the invitation failed to be adopted.<sup>167</sup> Beginning as a serious plot against the Chancellor and his moderate associates, the Adlon meeting ended as a rather insignificant "conspirators' matinée." But even so, it showed the deep hatred with which a small minority regarded the first minister of their country. "Traitor" and "scoundrel" were the mildest of the epithets thrown at Bethmann by Conservative members of the Prussian Upper House, hysterical with fear lest they lose their traditional power.<sup>168</sup> It was only a matter of months before their

Imperial Council, discussed in the Prussian Upper House, as a means of limiting the Kaiser's power: Bernhardi, p. 429.

<sup>164</sup> Berliner Tageblatt, Feb. 25, 1917; Westarp, II, 171.

<sup>165</sup> Haussmann, p. 87.

<sup>166</sup> Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, I, March 8, 1917, p. 200; Kreuzzeitung, Feb. 26, 1917; Reichstag, vol. 309, p. 2491.

<sup>167</sup> Westarp, II, 171; Haussmann, p. 90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Bernhardi, p. 461.

dream, the dismissal of the "grave-digger of the German people" would come true.

#### Bethmann Hollweg vs. the Supreme Command

During the late winter and early spring of 1917, the discussion of war aims had been overshadowed by the important question of internal reforms. Or we might say that the place of foreign war aims had been temporarily taken over by domestic aims. But the fact that the war, despite many German victories, had brought nothing but misery to the majority of Germans, made itself felt not only in the domestic, but also in the foreign affairs of the Reich, even if only slightly. While still deeply involved in the fight over internal issues, Bethmann Hollweg found time to accept the invitation of Austria's new foreign minister, Count Czernin, to discuss problems vital to both members of the Dual Alliance, in particular the question of an early peace.<sup>169</sup> The results of these conversations were embodied in a memorandum, which stated as the minimum program agreed upon by the two statesmen the withdrawal of their troops from the occupied regions and the restoration of the status quo ante. In case the war should end favorably, Germany planned to expand primarily towards the east and Austria-Hungary towards the southeast.<sup>170</sup> On the whole this memorandum of March 27 was not a very clear or confident document, yet the growing weakness of Germany's chief ally made any more optimistic program impossible. Already the Austrian government had embarked on its secret negotiations with France, Emperor Karl's brother-in-law, Prince Sixtus, serving as go-between.<sup>171</sup> On April 12. Count Czernin issued his famous secret memorandum which stated that Austria-Hungarv had reached the limit of her endurance and that her support could not be counted upon beyond the end of the summer:

I do not think that the internal situation in Germany is widely different from what it is here. I am only afraid that the military circles in Berlin are deceiving themselves in certain matters. I am firmly convinced that

176

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> R. Fester, Die politischen Kämpfe um den Frieden (1916-1918) und das Deutschtum (Berlin, 1938), p. 48; U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 92.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Ibid., p. 200

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Graf A. von Demblin, Czernin und die Sixtus Affaire (München, 1920); R. Fester, Die Politik Kaiser Karls und der Wendepunkt des Weltkrieges (München, 1925); Forster, pp. 91 ff.

Germany too, like ourselves, has reached the limit of her strength, and the responsible political leaders in Berlin do not seek to deny it. . . If the monarchs of the Central Powers are not able to conclude peace within the next few months, it will be done for them by their peoples, and then will the tide of revolution sweep away all that for which our sons and brothers fought and died.<sup>172</sup>

Simultaneous with Austria's attempts for a separate peace, the German government made some half-hearted efforts of its own.<sup>173</sup> At the same time, however, the Germans drew up their most farreaching program of war aims to date. The Kaiser, never too happy about the Easter Message, which circumstances and the Chancellor had forced upon him, now abandoned his usual moderation and tried to regain his self-confidence by demanding a strong peace. On April 17, he asked Bethmann to put up more determined opposition to the widespread demand for a non-annexationist peace. In reply the Chancellor drafted a set of eastern aims, which were much too general for the Kaiser's taste. It was no longer possible, William II held, to treat the problem of war aims in a dilatory fashion. If disagreement should arise over these aims between Chancellor and Supreme Command, he, the Emperor, would serve as arbiter. The agreement between Bethmann and the Kaiser, one of the few permanent elements in an otherwise very unstable situation, had temporarily been shaken. And the same day, April 20, Hindenburg asked Bethmann to draw up minimum terms for negotiations both with Germany's allies and ultimately with her enemies.174

The outcome of these various requests for a program of war aims was the conversations at General Headquarters in Kreuznach on April 23, 1917. The protocol of the meeting gives in detail the results of the negotiations.<sup>175</sup> In regard to Belgium, Germany was to maintain her military control until the country was politically, economically, and militarily "ripe" for an offensive and defensive alliance with Germany. During this probationary period, Germany had the right of occupation and supervision over Belgium's communications, expecially her railways, which were to be merged with the German railway system. How long this intermediary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 408-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> Lancken, pp. 257-58; R. Recouly, Les négociations secrètes Briand-Lancken (Paris, 1933).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> U. A., 4 Reihe, XII (1), 93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> *Ibid.*, pp. 200-02.

stage was to last, was to be determined solely by German interests. However the fortress of Liège with its surrounding territories and the Flanders coast should remain permanently in German hands, or else be leased for 99 years. The southeastern tip of Belgium, around Arlon, adjoining the French basin of Longwy, was to be ceded outright or else might be ceded to Luxemburg and the latter then included in the German Empire as a federal state. From France, the usual cession of the Briey-Longwy district and frontier rectifications were demanded. Undoubtedly with some simultaneous France-German negotiations in mind, a few minor concessions to France were considered, but they were to be at the expense of Belgium rather than Germany.<sup>176</sup> The question of colonies and naval stations was left to future discussion.

This program, we should note, went considerably further than the terms agreed upon five months earlier as the basis for the December Peace Note. Especially in regard to Belgium, there was wide divergence between "the restoration of Belgium under special guarantees . . . to be decided on by negotiations with Belgium," as communicated to Colonel House on January 31, 1917, and this program of veiled annexation.<sup>177</sup> In the light of his negotiations a few weeks earlier with Count Czernin, it is surprising to find Bethmann Hollweg agreeing to such far-reaching demands. Yet agree he did, at least outwardly, both during the meeting and afterwards.<sup>178</sup> On May 15, he told the cheering Reichstag that he was "in full agreement" with the Supreme Command on the question of war aims.<sup>179</sup> Such agreement, however, was only apparent. On the first of May 1917, Bethmann attached a note to the minutes of the Kreuznach meeting, in which he blamed Ludendorff for urging the Emperor to insist on a specific program of war aims.

The General probably hoped to bring about my fall because of disagreements over war aims, which at present might easily be possible; or else he thought he could tie me down, so that I could not start negotiations on a cheaper basis (Peace Offer of Dec. 12). I have signed the minutes because my resignation over such fantastic matters would be ridiculous. But I shall not let myself be tied in any way by these minutes. If somewhere and somehow possibilities arise for peace, I shall pursue them.<sup>180</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> Lancken, p. 258; Scheidemann, Memoiren, II, 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Seymour, II, 431-32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Valentini, p. 152.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, p. 3397.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Westarp, II, 85.

In a letter to Count Hertling several months later, Bethmann repeated that he gave in to the Kreuznach program because the Emperor, under the influence of the Supreme Command, desired it. At the beginning of the negotiations, he adds, the demands of the army, both in the east and west, went even further than the terms finally agreed upon.<sup>181</sup>

The question of colonial and maritime aims, postponed at Kreuznach, was settled subsequently on May 18, 1917.<sup>182</sup> If Germany should succeed, after the war, in building up a Central African Empire, the Admiralty suggested, she must acquire the necessary naval stations to maintain communications with her overseas possessions during a future war. The stations suggested as most useful for this purpose were: (1) In the Atlantic, all or part of the Azores plus Dakar with the surrounding territory of Senegambia, which could serve as valuable military base against the recruiting of French native troops from France's Central African possessions. (2) In the Mediterranean, the Albanian port of Valona, to be connected with Germany by railway via Austria-Hungary. (3) The question of naval stations in the Indian Ocean depended on whether or not Germany would keep her East African colony. If so, East African ports as well as the Portuguese section of the Malay island of Timor would be desirable. (4) In the Pacific, Germany should hold on to her possessions in New Guinea and the Bismarck Archipelago, and in addition acquire the island of New Caledonia for its nickel and cobalt deposits. Wireless stations were to be established on the islands of Yap and Tahiti. In China, the memorandum held, economic rather than military stations should be founded. Not included in these suggestions. but equally desired, were the Faroe Islands belonging to Denmark.<sup>183</sup> The German Colonial Office, according to the Admiralty, was in agreement with these demands. On June 7, Colonial Secretary Solf gave a speech in Leipzig, in which he asked for the return and extension of Germany's colonies, especially in Central Africa.<sup>184</sup> He differed from his colleagues in the Admiralty, however, in that he did not insist on the Belgian coast as base for a powerful fleet to maintain his colonial empire. It was this omission which caused

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 142-43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Ibid., pp. 209-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> Brunauer, Has America Forgotten?, p. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), pp. 626 ff.

the annexationists to suspect that his whole colonial program had no other purpose than to divert the attention of the German people from territorial expansion on the European continent, especially in Belgium.<sup>185</sup>

It is difficult to determine who originated the term *Mittelafrika* which by 1917 had become almost as current a term as Mitteleuropa, and was part of nearly all programs for a future peace. The chief advantages of a large and compact empire in the heart of the dark continent were its strength and self-sufficiency in time of war, preventing another such rapid collapse of most of her colonial possessions as Germany had witnessed at the outset of the World War.<sup>186</sup> Few problems arose in connection with the question of Mittelafrika, except the fundamental one whether Germany should expand on the European continent as well as overseas, or whether her European conquests should simply serve as pledges, to be exchanged at a future conference against an enlarged Central African Empire. The more precarious Germany's military position became, the more the latter view gained ground. Emil Zimmermann, "the most industrious preacher of the Mittelafrika gospel," definitely preferred a Central African Empire to the coast of Flanders.<sup>187</sup> On the other hand, a proponent of the opposite school admonished his countrymen in 1917: "Forget about your colonies, if it means that in return you would have to make substantial sacrifices on the continent! Here are the roots of your strength. and if you grow powerful here, you will also again get the necessary colonies." 188

There was one other field of possible German expansion, which was of particular concern to the United States, namely South America. Despite some pre-war agitation for a greater degree of German influence over that continent in general and the region of Southern Brazil in particular the topic of South America was rarely

180

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> Wolff, Vollendete Tatsachen, p. 182; Deutsche Tageszeitung, June, 9, 1917; Tägliche Rundschau, June 10, 1917.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> The best-known contemporary work is Emil Zimmermann, Das deutsche Kaiserreich Mittelafrika als Grundlage einer neuen deutschen Weltpolitik (Berlin, 1917).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> E. Zimmermann, The German Empire of Central Africa (London, 1918), pp. 13-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> A. Rudolph, Lieber deutscher Michel (Leipzig, 1917), p. 50. For additional writings on colonial aims see O. Karstedt, Koloniale Friedensziele (Weimar, 1917); Germany, Kriegspresseamt, Unsere Kolonien (Berlin, 1918); P. Leutwein, Mitteleuropa-Mittelafrika (Dresden, 1917).

mentioned in the discussion of German war aims.<sup>189</sup> There were a few pamphlets and articles on the subject, but they only proposed the establishment of closer economic and cultural rather than political ties between Germany and South America.<sup>190</sup> On September 1, 1915, an "Economic Association for South America" had been founded in Berlin, under the presidency of Bernhard Dernburg, former Colonial Secretary.<sup>191</sup> The Allies made the most of whatever expressed sentiment there was in Germany for expansion in South America, so that the semi-official Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung found it necessary on March 15, 1916, to deny that Germany had any intention of annexing or even slowly penetrating South America. The final denial came from Bethmann Hollweg himself on April 5, 1916.<sup>192</sup>

Not only the army and navy, but the Kaiser himself, in a letter to Bethmann, now came forth with a set of war aims of his own. In addition to demands on the continent, which closely followed the Kreuznach discussions of the previous month, he also mentioned a large Mittelafrika and a series of naval stations. His letter closed "with some sharp remarks and reprimands to the Chancellor, who, after three years of war, had as yet produced nothing positive about war aims, so that he [the Emperor] was obliged to draw up a program of war aims according to his own wishes and those of his armed forces." <sup>193</sup> The truth of the matter was that Bethmann was still pursuing the vacillating policy which. in his endeavor to preserve German unity, he had followed since the beginning of the war. Such a policy was possible as long as there was no power strong enough to challenge it. It worked in face of annexationist opposition, for though violent in its manifestations, that opposition had lacked sufficient political power to make itself felt. But with the Supreme Command rapidly becoming the dominant power in Germany, this vacillation was no longer possible.<sup>194</sup> Still in view of the generally unfavorable situa-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> On Germany's pre-war ambitions in South America see Great Britain, German Opinion, II, 75 ff.; "Germanus Liber," Deutschland und England (Wien, 1918), p. 18; D. Perkins, Hands Off! (Boston, 1940), p. 211.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> E. de Magalhães, "Germany and South America," Nineteenth Century and After, vol. 81 (1917), pp. 67-80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> Schulthess, vol. 56 (I), p. 452.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> Thimme, Bethmann Hollweg, p. 101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> U. A., 4 Reihe, XII(1), 109-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> Rupprecht, II, 168.

tion and the growing moderation of most of Germany's political parties, Bethmann saw no reason why his statements on war aims should become either more radical or more specific. It was in a very pessimistic mood that he gave the last Reichstag address of his career on May 15, 1917. Both Social Democrats and Conservatives had presented interpellations demanding specific statements on war aims, and it was in this connection that the Chancellor defined his position:

To make such a statement at the present moment would not serve the interests of the country. I must, therefore, decline to make one. . . . It comes to this: Shall I immediately give our enemies the assurance that they can prolong the war indefinitely without danger of losses to themselves? Shall I inform these enemies that, come what may, we shall under all circumstances be the people which renounces . . . ? Shall I nail down the German Empire in all directions by a one-sided statement which comprises only one part of the total peace conditions, renounces the successes gained by the blood of our sons and brothers, and leaves everything else in a state of suspension? No! I reject such a policy. . . . We did not go to war, and we are not fighting now against almost the whole world to make conquests, but only to secure our existence and firmly establish the future of the nation. A program of conquest is as little helpful in achieving victory and ending the war as a program of renunciation. . . . In full confidence we can trust that we are approaching a satisfactory conclusion. Then the time will come when we can negotiate with our enemies about our war aims, regarding which I am in full harmony with the Supreme Command.195

Here we have the Chancellor's own explanation for the vagueness and vacillation of his war aims policy. And his stand found support elsewhere.

With such declarations [Helfferich points out] the Chancellor could satisfy neither the Right nor the Left. And yet I am still of the opinion that his attitude was the only correct, the only possible one. Either our enemies were ready to give up their aims of conquest and annihilation, in which case the Chancellor's repeated declarations that we were ready to be satisfied with our defensive aims, offered a sufficient basis for the opening of peace negotiations, or else our enemies—as was really the case—were not ready to resign their aims . . . in which case the proclamation of all the details of our peace program could not lead to negotiations. . . .<sup>196</sup>

Yet Helfferich's analysis completely overlooks the fact that Germany's aims, as defined before December 12, 1916, and again on

182

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 354-58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> Helfferich, p. 306.

April 23, 1917, were anything but defensive. Furthermore, although the Allied governments, confident in their final victory, were unwilling to conclude a negotiated peace, Germany's sincere willingness to conclude such a peace, if supported by specific declarations, especially on the crucial subject of Belgium, would have made a deep impression on public opinion in Allied countries, and in turn forced the Allies to look more favorably upon peace negotiations. It was not the futility of stating moderate aims, but the fear of the opposition such aims would arouse among the annexationists and the Supreme Command that was responsible for the continued uncertainty of the Chancellor's statements. Only in private conversations did Bethmann give specific proof of his moderation. One such occasion came in his talk with the Papal nuncio on June 26, 1917.

There had been earlier attempts of the Holy See to serve as mediator between the Allies and the Central Powers.<sup>197</sup> The major move was not made till the summer of 1917, and it culminated in the Papal Peace Note of August 1, 1917. The negotiations leading up to this note go back to the end of June, when Monsignore Pacelli in a conversation intimated to Bethmann Hollweg that it might be of considerable help to the Pope's peace efforts if Germany could give some confidential information about her real aims. Bethmann agreed and stressed Germany's readiness for peace.

In reply to the question about war aims in Belgium [Bethmann tells us] I replied that we should restore her complete independence. It would be irreconcilable with this independence, however, if Belgium would fall politically, militarily, and financially under the domination of England and France, who would then use this domination to Germany's disadvantage. To the question, finally, about Germany's plans with regard to Alsace-Lorraine, and whether the German government was ready to make territorial concessions to France, I replied that, in case France was willing to reach an understanding, peace would not fail because of this problem. By way of certain mutual frontier rectifications, a way might be found.<sup>198</sup>

These terms, though very general, were considerably milder than the ones agreed on at Kreuznach two months earlier, and there is no reason to doubt their sincerity. According to his statements

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Brunauer, "Peace Proposals," p. 174.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 212-13; see also: T. von Bethmann Hollweg, "Friedensmoeglichkeiten im Fruehsommer 1917," *Deutsche Allgemeine Zeitung*, Feb. 29, 1920; H. J. T. Johnson, *Vatican Diplomacy in the World War* (Oxford University Press, 1933), pp. 24 ff.

after the war, Bethmann Hollweg was prepared not only to restore Belgium, but to pay several billions by way of reparation to that country.<sup>199</sup> The Papal nuncio was highly satisfied with the results of the conversation.<sup>200</sup> It was held, however, without the knowledge of the Supreme Command, and it is doubtful whether Bethmann could have maintained his moderate stand against the certain opposition from this quarter as well as from the annexationists. His resignation, little more than two weeks later, was to prove fatal to the further developments of the papal move.

#### The Fall of Bethmann Hollweg

Before we discuss the events of July which led to the fall of Bethmann and to the subsequent failure of the Papal Peace Note, we must briefly look at the changing attitude of Germany's political parties towards the war aims question. The renewed determination, after the Allied refusal of the December peace move, to hold out until the very end, slowly began to give way to a growing desire for peace. The slogan for such a peace—" no annexations and no indemnities "-was supplied by the Russian Revolution. It held particular fascination for the poorly clad and underfed masses behind the Social Democrats. The growing radicalization of German political life had just resulted in the final split between the Majority and the Independent Socialists, which we have mentioned earlier. To hold their ground, the Majority Socialists were forced to become ever more radical themselves so that, except on war credits, there was actually little disagreement between the two Socialist parties. The most notable expression of this growing popular unrest was the first major strikes during April of 1917. In Berlin alone, more than 200,000 metal and munitions workers quit work to protest against the lack of food and fuel.<sup>201</sup> Halle and Braunschweig followed the Berlin example. In Leipzig strikers went beyond the usual economic grievances to demand universal suffrage and an immediate peace without annexations.<sup>202</sup> Simultaneous reports of the Büro fuer Sozial politik and a poll by the Münchener Post gave further proof of the desire among workers and soldiers for a speedy non-annexationist peace.<sup>203</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> U. A., 15. Ausschuss, I, 235. <sup>201</sup> Scheidemann Zusammenbruch, pp. 60 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> Helfferich, p. 476. <sup>202</sup> Ibid., p. 65; Rosenberg, p. 194.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> R. H. Lutz, The Causes of the German Collapse in 1918 (Stanford, 1934), p. 96; Naumann, Dokumente, p. 456.

The Majority Socialists themselves came out with a manifesto which stressed the relationship between internal reform and war aims: "We demand the immediate abolition of all inequalities of civil rights in Reich, state, and community as well as the abolition of any kind of bureaucratic regime and its replacement by the decisive influence of parliament." The Manifesto welcomed the Russian Revolution and its determination "to prepare a general peace without annexations and indemnities on the basis of the free international development of all peoples. . . . It is our duty to fight the dreams of power of an ambitious chauvinism, to urge the government to renounce clearly all policy of conquest, and, as soon as possible, to bring about peace negotiations on this basis." 204 The Kaiser, prompted by Hindenburg, expressed alarm at the publication of the Manifesto and asked Bethmann "to suggest some kind of countermeasures"; but since most of the harm had already been done, no such measures were taken. Count Westarp asserts that the Socialist resolution played a major role in bringing about the Kreuznach meeting of April 23 and its extensive set of war aims.205

If the Socialist manifesto alarmed the Kaiser, it came as a definite shock to the parties of the Right. "The resolution of the Social Democratic Party," a Conservative counter-manifesto said, " would, if realized lead our country to the abyss.... It contains the great danger that, through continuous weakening of our monarchical institutions and complete democratization of our political organism, the domestic future of the German Reich may be severely harmed." The National Liberals defined their attitude in a resolution which referred to their original declaration of May 16, 1915, in favor of strong war aims. At the same time they expressed hope for a "new orientation of Germany's internal political life through greater parliamentary influence." 206 This put the National Liberals between the two extremes, the Socialists, who demanded a peace without annexations and far-reaching internal reforms, and the Conservatives, who were for a strong peace abroad and the maintenance of the existing order at home.

The views on war aims of all parties were brought out in the

 $<sup>^{204}</sup>$  U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 128-29. A still more specific Socialist program for a post-war settlement was drawn up for the International Socialist Conference at Stockholm in June, 1917: Scheidemann, Memoiren, II, 5-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Westarp, II, 85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 130.

Reichstag debates of May 15, which dealt with Conservative and Socialist interpellations introduced on May 3.207 The Conservative interpellation was presented by Dr. Roesicke, who wanted "an increase of Germany's power and territory and the collection of an indemnity, not only for the injury and hardships which the war brought upon us, but also for the expenditures which the war directly imposes upon us." 208 Scheidemann, in turn, reiterated his party's demand for a peace without annexations and indemnities. He spoke sharply against the Pan-Germans and other annexationists and threatened with revolution if the German government should try to continue the war merely for the sake of conquests. Minor territorial changes along the frontier, Scheidemann said, would be all right, if settled by mutual agreement.<sup>209</sup> The Chancellor's reply to these speeches, which we have already discussed, failed to grant the requests of either Conservatives or Social Democrats. His noncommittal attitude found the approval, however, of the majority of bourgeois parties, the Center, Progressives, and National Liberals. In their name Peter Spahn declared: "We are satisfied if the government pursues neither boundless plans of conquest nor bind itself to a peace without annexations or indemnities." <sup>210</sup> The Kriegszielmehrheit which had taken a uniform stand on war aims through almost three years of war had here been replaced by a different group, held together primarily by a common stand on internal reform. Its seemingly united stand on war aims, however, was to be of short duration only. The Peace Resolution of July 19, as we shall see, made the National Liberals abandon this newly-formed majority, which instead acquired the Social Democrats as permanent allies. But prior to July, the bourgeois parties in their majority still favored a moderately strong peace rather than Scheidemann's peace of understanding.<sup>211</sup> Their declaration of May 15 had merely turned against the extremes of Socialists and Conservatives, but had not renounced annexations on principle.

Though the parliamentary Kriegszielmehrheit was dead, the Kriegszielbewegung was still very much alive. The Social Democratic Manifesto of April 19 had hardly been out before the annexa-

186

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Westarp, II, 86-87; *Reichstag*, vol. 321, Anlagen nos. 774-75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Ibid., vol. 310, p. 3389.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> Ibid., pp. 3390-95.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> Ibid., p. 3398.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Wacker, pp. 24-28; Ostfeld, pp. 20-21.

tionists swung into action. The Independent Committe was ready with a counter-resolution of its own.<sup>212</sup> On May 1, the Pan-German League urged its local branches to hold meetings of protest against the Socialist resolution.<sup>213</sup> The Agrarian League published a "Manifesto for a German Peace." <sup>214</sup> The Colonial Society came out once more for Solf's program, especially in *Mittelafrika*.<sup>215</sup> On May 3, over sixty leagues and associations, under Pan-German leadership, published a joint statement against a Scheidemann peace. "Only a peace with indemnity," it said, "with an increase of power and the acquisition of land can make permanently secure for our nation its national existence, its position in the worl**4**, and its economic freedom of development." <sup>216</sup> Public meetings and constant pressure upon governmental leaders by letter and telegram completed the anti-socialist campaign.<sup>217</sup>

As in the case of the political parties, the question of internal reform was of great concern to the annexationists. Dietrich Schäfer, in an article published in the annexationist *Panther*, held it was wrong to fight over domestic issues while the existence of the country was at stake.<sup>218</sup> Heinrich Class expressed his opposition to the growth of German democracy.<sup>219</sup> Diederich Hahn of the Agrarian League, summed up the annexationists' opposition to domestic reform: "When they continually speak of *Neuorientierung*, we must say straight out: Have we had a rotten system hitherto? Have we just emerged from a decline? Has our monarchical Germany failed? No. It stands gloriously before all the world as victor—if only it will. There must be no *Neuorientierung* for the German system."<sup>220</sup> In early July ten professors, led by Delbrück, Meinecke and von Harnack, came out in favor of immediate reform of the Prussian franchise.<sup>221</sup> Four days later, ten

<sup>212</sup> Schäfer, Leben, p. 218; Schulthess, vol. 58 (1), pp. 438-39.

<sup>213</sup> Ibid., pp. 465-66.

<sup>214</sup> K. Heller, Der Bund der Landwirte bezw. Landbund und seine Politik (Kulmbach, 1936), Diss. Würzburg, p. 45; Bund der Landwirte, no. 19, May 12, 1917.

<sup>215</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), p. 663.

<sup>216</sup> Ibid., pp. 480-81; Schäfer, Leben, p. 210.

<sup>217</sup> Unabhängiger Ausschuss, Deutschlands Zukunft und der deutsche Friede (Berlin, 1917); Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, May 29, 1917.

<sup>218</sup> Schäfer, *Leben*, p. 218.

<sup>219</sup> Deutsche Zeitung, June 16, 1917.

<sup>220</sup> Deutsche Tageszeitung, April 25, 1917.

<sup>221</sup> Schäfer, Leben, p. 217; Max von Baden, p. 108.

others, including von Gierke, Eduard Meyer, Theodor Schiemann and Reinhold Seeberg considered such an immediate change a great misfortune and hoped that victory would be gained first.<sup>222</sup> What the annexationists hoped was, that victory would bring large gains and thus help people forget their demands for internal reforms; and this hope was fully shared by at least one governmental agency—the Supreme Command.

Ever since the accession of Hindenburg and Ludendorff, the annexationists had tried to establish some kind of open contact with the Supreme Command. A favorite method was to get the army to support some annexationist program. "One makes resolutions in the well-known sense of the annexationists," the Münchner Neueste Nachrichten describes the usual procedure, "and then a harmless telegram is sent to Hindenburg in which there is naturally not a syllable about the details. Then, if the Field-Marshal amiably replies to the amiable greeting, Hindenburg's 'endorsement' has been given to the principles of the resolutions about which he knows nothing."<sup>223</sup> Such telegrams were sent in great numbers from most large cities, usually after meetings of the Independent Committee. When Ludendorff's attention was called to this fact, he refused to do anything about it and instead insisted that Hindenburg continue to send answers to the wires he rereceived.<sup>224</sup> The truth of the matter was that the Supreme Command was entirely in sympathy with the annexationists. The only way of bolstering army morale, in its opinion, was to hold out the promise of a worthwhile peace, a "Hindenburg peace." In June 1917, a memorandum was drawn up under the direction of Major Nicolai, chief of the army's propaganda and intelligence section, which dealt with the question of peace as it should be presented to the German soldier.

A German victory is necessary and possible and presents the only way to gain a peace which corresponds to the sacrifices made.... Our propaganda has the purpose of proving that a peace of renunciation or of understanding will not fulfill the needs of the German people but that only a victory and its consequences at the peace conference will bring about happy conditions for the German people and for each individual class.<sup>225</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), p. 679.

<sup>223</sup> Münchner Neueste Nachrichten, May 25, 1917.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VII(1), 384.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> H. Thimme, Weltkrieg ohne Waffen (Stuttgart, 1932), pp. 250-51; Lehmann, pp. 139-41; Vorwärts, June 5, 1917.

We now come to the fateful two weeks in July 1917, so crammed full with important events, most outstanding among them the "resignation" of Bethmann Hollweg. There had been considerable discontent during the first half of 1917, when the government failed to carry out the Kaiser's Easter promise of domestic reforms. As the vear went on, the ineffectiveness of Germany's U-boat campaign caused additional uneasiness. People had put complete confidence behind this last trump card, and had expected that England would collapse within a few months. But despite large numbers of monthly sinkings. England's resistance continued undiminished and the end of the war seemed as far away in July as it did in January. It was Mathias Erzberger who, on July 4, first gave word to this growing discontent. After the U-boat war had failed to live up to expectations, he held, other ways had now to be found to end the war. Yet the aims of Social Democracy— "no annexations, no indemnities"-were entirely too negative. Instead Erzberger suggested returning to the initial program of a defensive war.<sup>226</sup> In a second speech, two days later, Erzberger made a still more decisive thrust. Citing specific figures on the U-boat campaign, he pointed out that England could never be seriously enough affected by German sinkings to be knocked out of the war. It was time, therefore, according to Erzberger, that a majority of the Reichstag declare itself in favor of a peace of understanding, based on the "war of defense" formula of August 1914. The 25,000 Pan-Germans, he held, should simply be ignored. It was cheaper to build asylums for them than to continue the war for another year. The German people should never have to reproach its representatives, Erzberger concluded, with the terrible words "too late!" 227

The effect of Erzberger's speech, both in the Reichstag's Main Committee, where it was delivered, and outside, was "crushing." It seemed to bear out all the worst fears current in Germany. Immediately the "reformist" parties—National Liberals, Center, Progressives and Social Democrats—got together to discuss such joint measures as might appear feasible after Erzberger's speech. All four parties agreed on the necessity of internal reforms, but on the question of the Reichstag peace resolution which Erzberger had proposed, the National Liberals differed from the rest and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> Ibid., pp. 108-11; Scheidemann, Memoiren, II, 29-30.

refused to co-operate.<sup>228</sup> The Conservatives, of course, were equally opposed to any such resolution, and to the introduction of internal reforms. "We would rather win ourselves to death (*totsiegen*) than to succumb cowardly," Count Westarp summed up his party's attitude.<sup>229</sup> At the same meeting of the Reichstag's Main Committee Bethmann Hollweg, for the last time, defined his views. He said nothing really new, but pointed out that he had always insisted that Germany was waging a defensive war. To make another declaration in favor of peace now, after the failure of the December Note, would be harmful; far from increasing the desire for peace among Germany's adversaries, it would most likely have the opposite effect. He was opposed, therefore, to such a move.<sup>230</sup>

Events now happened in rapid succession. The Center Party decided the same day that the continuation of Bethmann in office was undesirable because he had led the Reich at the outbreak of war and thus would find it difficult to negotiate an early peace. It was suggested that he resign whenever he felt it his duty to do so.<sup>231</sup> Two days later, Stresemann added his party's attacks to those of Erzberger and demanded the Chancellor's withdrawal. Stresemann confessed that he was still an annexationist, but that he also desired the introduction of much-needed governmental reforms. His speech was not very clear, except in its unequivocal request for Bethmann's resignation.<sup>232</sup> Here, then, we find two of Germany's major parties demanding a change of personnel in the Reich's chief executive office. This in itself was something entirely new and one of the first indications that a greater degree of parliamentary influence was close at hand. The motives of the two parties for demanding such a change differed. In the case of the Center Party it was allegedly the desire for an early peace which prompted its anti-Bethmann stand; while in the case of the National Liberals it was the Chancellor's weak and vacillating domestic and foreign policy which was responsible. In both cases the fact that Erzberger as well as Stresemann favored the candidacy of Prince Bülow-who had made certain promises of greater par-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> Haussmann, p. 99; Scheidemann, Memoiren, II, 34; Scheidemann, Zusammenbruch, p. 86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> Westarp, II, 340.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 120-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> Ibid., p. 78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> Ibid., pp. 125-31; Scheidemann, Memoiren, II, 36.

liamentary influence-played a considerable role.<sup>233</sup> The Center, more than any other party, stood to gain from any increase of parliamentary power. Its position as the largest intermediary party would give it the decisive voice in most future political issues and thus put it in an excellent bargaining position. Only thus can we understand Erzberger's attitude during the July crisis. His initial concern over the submarine question, increased by his knowledge of the Czernin memorandum of April 12, had been perfectly sincere.<sup>234</sup> Yet if the conclusion of peace was his only aim, why try to overthrow a Chancellor known for his moderation? And why overthrow him in collaboration with the National Liberals and, as we shall see presently, the Supreme Command, both known for their annexationist aims? 235 It is difficult to fathom Erzberger's motives, especially if we consider that both before and after the July Peace Resolution he still favored the annexation of the Briey-Longwy iron region, a fact which made any negotiated peace impossible from the outset.<sup>236</sup>

As a result of these repeated attacks, Bethmann, on July 10, offered his resignation, but William II refused to accept it.<sup>237</sup> At the same time one of the requests of the new Reichstag majority was now granted. The decision to apply, as soon as possible, the liberal Reichstag franchise to the elections of the Prussian Lower House was reached in negotiations between Bethmann, the Prussian Ministers of State, the Kaiser and the Crown Prince. An Imperial decree to that effect was published on July 12.<sup>238</sup> This measure went far towards pacifying the Socialists and it strengthened the Progressives in their always loyal support of the Chancellor.<sup>239</sup> It seemed as though the crisis had once more been negotiated.

At this point another force entered the conflict. The Supreme Command, worried over the demand for a Peace Resolution, had finally decided that Bethmann's government was unable to cope with the situation. Already on July 7, Hindenburg and Ludendorff had made a hurried trip to Berlin to counteract the results of

<sup>238</sup> Ibid., pp. 350 ff., 517.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> Ibid., p. 77; Wacker, p. 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Ibid., pp. 29-30; Erzberger, pp. 251 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Helfferich, p. 444.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Germany, Deutsche Nationalversammlung, VII, 319, 324.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Westarp, II, 353.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Helfferich, p. 449; Haussmann, pp. 117, 121-22; Ostfeld, p. 35.

Erzberger's speech the previous day. Bethmann, however, had prevailed on that occasion and the two military leaders were told by the Kaiser to return to Headquarters.<sup>240</sup> A second attempt to intervene, this time successful, was made on July 12. It consisted of two parallel moves, both with the identical goal of forcing the Emperor to drop his Chancellor. The first was a meeting between the Crown Prince and party delegates to discuss the Reichstag's attitude towards Bethmann. This entirely unprecedented meeting was arranged by the prince's former political adviser, the Conservative Baron von Maltzahn, and by a representative of the Supreme Command, Colonel Bauer.<sup>241</sup> All parties present, except the Progressives and Social Democrats, were in favor of a change in the Chancellorship; and even the Socialists' support of Bethmann was somewhat lukewarm.<sup>242</sup> The minutes of the meeting, unknown to the participants, were kept in detail, to prove to the Emperor that Bethmann no longer enjoyed the support of the parties. Subsequently, the National Liberals and Center addressed letters to William II demanding the Chancellor's dismissal.<sup>243</sup> The second and more decisive move came directly from Supreme Headquarters. The Kaiser had called in Bethmann to discuss the situation, when a telephone call from Kreuznach announced that Hindenburg and Ludendorff had just handed in their resignation, since they refused to work any longer with Bethmann Hollweg. The Emperor ordered the two commanders to report to Berlin immediately; but he also complained to Bethmann about the impossible situation in which Hindenburg's and Ludendorff's action had placed him. The Chancellor declared that the loss of these two important figures was, of course, out of the question, and the next day, July 13, he sent in his own resignation. As the main reason for his decision he gave the opposition of the Reichstag, to conceal the fact that he had given way to military pressure. His request was granted the same day.<sup>244</sup>

<sup>240</sup> Scheidemann, Memoiren, II, 38.

<sup>241</sup> Haussmann, p. 150; M. Bauer, Der grosse Krieg in Feld und Heimat (Tübingen, 1921), pp. 141-42, 204.

<sup>242</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 79-80; Westarp, II, 357 ff; Helfferich, pp. 449-51.
 <sup>243</sup> Haussmann, pp. 121-24.

<sup>244</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 229, 235; E. Ludendorff, *Meine Kriegserinnerungen* 1914-1918 (Berlin, 1920), pp. 361-62. Excerpts from Bethmann's diary, not included in his memoirs, which came to the author's attention after this study was already in print, stress the significance of the problem of Prussian electoral reform in the events leading to the Chancellor's dismissal. Braun, pp. 31-35.

We have presented a mere outline of the "Chancellor Crisis" of July 1917. Considered separately, the attitudes of individuals and parties were often contradictory. The three major issuesinternal reform, Peace Resolution, and Bethmann's continuation in office—were closely interwoven at all times. Some people, notably the Conservatives and the army, were opposed to all three. Others, the National Liberals for instance, only opposed the Chancellor and the Peace Resolution; while the Center was merely opposed to Bethmann. The decisive point was that everyone-except the Progressives and, to a lesser extent, the Socialists-was against Bethmann and in favor of a change. In the light of this opposition Bethmann's fall need not cause any surprise. The question of war aims which was behind so much of this opposition, again played the dominant role in the July crisis.<sup>245</sup> The fact, however, that Bethmann's fall came at a time when a parliamentary majority in favor of reforms and a moderate peace dominated the scene, was most deplorable. Because if there was any man willing to realize the aims of this majority, it was Bethmann. "The tragic fact is," the Centrist Fehrenbach said after Bethmann's resignation, "that this man, who tried to gain peace with every means at his disposal, had to fall when the German Reichstag decided in favor of a Peace Resolution."<sup>246</sup> And vet it had been the attitude of the Center Party which had initiated Bethmann's dismissal. If it had drawn the logical conclusion from its desire for a Peace Resolution, it should have turned against the most determined opponents of such a resolution, the Supreme Command, and supported Bethmann Hollweg. In that case the forces that were for the Chancellor would have matched those opposed to This unrealistic attitude of the Center Party was almost him. entirely the work of Erzberger, who used all his political skill to win the reluctant majority of his party over to his side.<sup>247</sup>

July 13, 1917, was an important date, a turning point in the history of the World War, at least for Germany. With Bethmann Hollweg went the one political figure who, if no match for the strong personalities of Hindenburg and Ludendorff, at least was powerful enough to delay the complete ascendancy of the military authorities over the political affairs of the nation. The two mili-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 134-36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, p. 3575.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> Wacker, pp. 41-43; U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 83.

tary leaders, who now became the virtual rulers of Germany, possessed many of the qualities which Bethmann lacked. Compared to the retiring, schoolmasterly "philosopher of Hohenfinow" they were popular heroes. And while their successful career and military value gave them an almost unassailable position, their lack of constitutional responsibility and political experience enabled them to favor a more definite and determined course in Germany's non-military affairs than the ever cautious Bethmann had been willing to pursue. It was not so much that the actual war aims of the government became more chauvinistic; it was the attitude behind the program of war aims which changed with the retirement of Bethmann Hollweg. No matter what promises the latter had held out for a future peace, most Germans assumed, correctly, that his own sympathies were always on the moderate side, for a peace of understanding rather than a peace of victory. The Supreme Command, on the other hand, though it never openly stated any more far-reaching aims than Bethmann, was known to be in favor of a strong peace. For the first time the annexationists thus found full sympathy and support from the German government. In the realm of war aims, this change was the most significant result of Bethmann's fall.

# CHAPTER IV

# THE STRANGE CASE OF GEORG MICHAELIS (JULY 1917-OCTOBER 1917)

WHILE Bethmann's fall was a serious blow to the moderate cause, the subsequent months nevertheless were easily the most hopeful in the history of German war aims. For a while it appeared as though moderation might triumph over annexationism, in the Reichstag's Peace Resolution, and as though a Papal offer to mediate between the belligerents might bring about a negotiated peace. The fact that neither of these hopes materialized was due to the fact that annexationism had entered the German government in the person of Bethmann Hollweg's successor.

#### Michaelis and the Peace Resolution of July 19, 1917

The first task before the victors in the July crisis was the selection of a suitable Chancellor. The fact that such a selection had not been made before is a sad comment upon the shortsightedness of Bethmann's adversaries, who soon discovered that it was far easier to engage in destructive criticism than to suggest positive remedies. On the evening of July 17, after Bethmann's resignation had become a certainty, the Conservatives gave a party to celebrate the long awaited event. "The next morning," Count Westarp tells us, "we had more than just a physical hangover. The fulfillment of a long-desired event often brings new disappointments and worries. This the politician discovers, particularly when he has hoped or worked for the dismissal of a leading statesman without making sure of his successor." 1 There were, of course, several more or less serious candidates, among them the Minister President of Bavaria, Count Hertling, ex-ambassador Bernstorff, Admiral von Tirpitz, and Prince Bülow.<sup>2</sup> Even General von Bernhardi, whose pre-war writings had supplied the Allies with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Westarp, II, 467.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hutten-Czapski, II, 384; Fester, Kämpfe, p. 95.

some of their most effective anti-German propaganda, was mentioned.<sup>3</sup> The most influential backing was enjoyed by Bülow, who was the favorite not only of the Supreme Command, but also of Stresemann, Erzberger and the Empress, "who had much more influence upon the Kaiser during the war than is usually assumed." <sup>4</sup> Her influence was not sufficient, however, to overcome her husband's opposition.<sup>5</sup> The Reichstag, so influential in overthrowing Bethmann, was completely disregarded in the choice of his successor, whose selection was made with utter disregard for the importance of the Chancellor's position, especially in time of war.

The man who was chosen in a very off-hand manner was Dr. Michaelis, definitely a "dark horse." As Food Commissary for Prussia he had recently delivered a strong speech before the Lower House, sufficient qualification, at least in the eyes of the Supreme Command, to entrust him with the leadership of German affairs. Nobody was more surprised than Michaelis at the honor so suddenly thrust upon him-though it took him little time to make up his mind. What doubts he had about his qualifications for so important an office were dispelled when he came upon the daily message of his Moravian Brotherhood. "Do not fear and be dismayed," it said, "for the Lord, your God, will be with you in everything you do." Without enquiring any further into the duties and immediate problems of his new job, he accepted the call of God and his country little more than fifteen minutes after the proposition was first made to him.<sup>6</sup> Yet the issues facing the new Chancellor were so numerous and complex as to baffle the most experienced politician, let alone a complete novice like Michaelis, who admittedly knew little more about the affairs of Germany than he had learned from the daily press.<sup>7</sup> While the Supreme Command, the parties of the Right, and the annexationists expected him to gain a strong peace, and to counteract, as far as possible, the Reichstag Peace Resolution, the parties of the Center and Left, and with them the majority of Germans, hoped that he would conclude an early and moderate peace on the basis

<sup>7</sup> Haussmann, p. 131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bernhardi, pp. 476-77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Hutten-Czapski, II, 384; Westarp, II, 354.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 84; Valentini, pp. 159 ff., 168-69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>o</sup>G. Michaelis, Fiir Staat und Volk (Berlin, 1922), p. 321; F. Ritter von Lama, Die Friedensvermittlung Papst Benedikts XV. und ihre Vereitelung durch den deutschen Reichskanzler Michaelis (München, 1932), p. 47, note 10.

of the same Resolution.<sup>8</sup> In the struggle between the Reichstag majority and the Supreme Command, the attitude of the chief executive was of tremendous importance. The negotiations surrounding the July Peace Resolution were to show to which of the two camps the new Chancellor belonged.

The afternoon of Bethmann's resignation, July 13, Hindenburg and Ludendorff invited a delegation from the moderate Reichstag majority to discuss the proposed Peace Resolution. The day before Hindenburg had told William II that such a resolution would "weaken the army's strength and power of resistance," and he had asked that the government prevent such a declaration.<sup>9</sup> But in their talk with the majority leaders, the army heads took a more moderate stand. They objected not so much, they said, to the general idea of a Peace Resolution, but rather to the weak tone of the Reichstag draft. Hindenburg wanted "a little more pepper" put into it, and Ludendorff suggested that it demand a "peace of adjustment" (Ausgleich) rather than a "peace of understanding." As an example of such an adjustment he mentioned Germany's strategic position against Belgium, where some changes were much in order.<sup>10</sup> From this it appears as though the Supreme Command was not basically opposed to the Resolution. But from a subsequent conversation which Hindenburg and Ludendorff had with the Conservatives Heydebrand and Westarp, we get a somewhat different impression. Because now they demanded that the Resolution be dropped entirely, because of its possible effect abroad.<sup>11</sup> It was this outright opposition of the Supreme Command to the Peace Resolution which became ever more outspoken in subsequent discussions.

On July 14, the day after his appointment, Michaelis himself received the majority parties, in the presence of Hindenburg and Ludendorff. In the meantime the text of the Resolution, as it had been decided upon up to this point, had been published prematurely in a number of radical papers, a fact which deeply disturbed the Chancellor and Supreme Command.<sup>12</sup> It was impossible, there-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, VIII, p. 85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Bethmann Hollweg, II, 229; Helfferich, pp. 451-52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Scheidemann, Memoiren, II, 39-40; F. von Payer, Von Bethmann Hollweg bis Ebert (Frankfurt, 1923), p. 36; Erzberger, p. 264; Haussmann, p. 127.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Westarp, II, 468-69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Scheidemann, Zusammenbruch, pp. 95-97; Payer, Bethmann Hollweg, pp. 37-38.

fore, to kill the Resolution altogether; instead Michaelis and Hindenburg now tried at least to prevent an official vote on the Resolution. When the majority parties refused to agree to this, Michaelis in turn reserved his final judgment in the matter until he had been able to study the Resolution more carefully. The general impression Michaelis gave at this meeting was that he tended towards the Supreme Command rather than the Reichstag majority in his stand on the Peace Resolution.

This impression was confirmed the next day, when Chancellor and Supreme Command played host to the parties of the Right. Both Michaelis and Hindenburg deplored that the Peace Resolution, because of its publication two days earlier, could not be prevented altogether. But when Count Westarp expressed concern over the future, Hindenburg and the Chancellor assured him that Germany "would have a free hand at the peace conference, since the military situation, as it had developed by that time, would be fully exploited, despite the Resolution." <sup>13</sup> The attitude of both military and civilian authorities towards the Peace Resolution, as these various discussions show, was at best one of acquiescence, certainly not of agreement. They refrained from a more pronounced opposition simply because it might complicate matters for the new Chancellor and endanger the granting of war credits by the Socialists.<sup>14</sup>

Michaelis' first appearance before the Reichstag was to be on July 19, in the same session in which the Peace Resolution was to be voted upon. During the preceding days, the Chancellor and the Parties discussed the former's inaugural address, and Michaelis promised to express his agreement with the Resolution.<sup>15</sup> Count Westarp, when he heard of these discussions, immediately called on Michaelis and repeated his party's opposition to the Resolution. The Chancellor again stressed the fact that "he was determined to reach, at the peace conference, an understanding and adjustment which would make full use of our military advantages."<sup>16</sup> There certainly could no longer be any doubt as to where his sympathies were.

<sup>13</sup> Westarp, II, 469-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Scheidemann, Zusammenbruch, p. 101; Lama Friedensvermittlung, pp. 56-57; Knesebeck, p. 160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Scheidemann, Zusammenbruch, pp. 103-05; Erzberger, p. 266.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Westarp, II, 471.

The Peace Resolution of the German Reichstag was officially presented on July 19, 1917.<sup>17</sup> After reiterating Germany's defensive stand of August 4, 1914, it said:

The Reichstag strives for a peace of understanding and the permanent reconciliation of peoples. Forced territorial acquisitions and political, economic, or financial oppressions are irreconcilable with such a peace. The Reichstag also rejects all plans which aim at economic isolation and hostility among nations after the war. Freedom of the seas must be guaranteed. Only an economic peace will prepare the ground for friendly intercourse between the nations. The Reichstag will strongly promote the creation of international judicial organizations. However, as long as the enemy governments will not enter upon such a peace, as long as they threaten Germany and her allies with conquests and coercion, the German nation will stand together as one man and steadfastly hold out and fight until its own and its allies' right to life and development is secured. The German nation is invincible in its unity. The Reichstag knows that in this respect it is in harmony with the men who in heroic struggle are defending the Fatherland. The undying gratitude of the whole people is assured them.<sup>18</sup>

This official text of the Peace Resolution differs in one important, though little noticed detail from the version published prematurely in the *Vorwärts* on July 14. Instead of referring simply to the preceding statement on German unity, the agreement of "the men who in heroic struggle are defending the Fatherland" (i. e. the army and especially its leaders) originally referred to the whole Resolution. The change was suggested by Scheidemann, at the request of Ludendorff, who objected to a sentence which might imply the Supreme Command's agreement with the Reichstag's peace move.<sup>19</sup>

The Resolution was passed by 212 votes, against the 126 votes of the Right and the Independent Socialists (who wanted a more far-reaching statement).<sup>20</sup> Its influence upon government policy, as we shall see, was insignificant. Nor did it affect the attitude of the Allies one way or the other.<sup>21</sup> The terms "forced territorial acquisitions and political, economic, or financial oppressions," did not exclude the various schemes for Germany's post-war domination of Belgium. "With the Peace Resolution," a German critic observes correctly, "the German government might have con-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, pp. 3573-76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Lutz, German Empire, II, 282-83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Scheidemann, Zusammenbruch, p. 102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, pp. 3598-3600.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, III, 369-70.

quered half the world."<sup>22</sup> Even so, as far as the German masses were concerned, the Peace Resolution expressed for the first time a widespread longing for an early peace. Popular restlessness and discontent already had found sporadic expressions in numerous popular demonstrations demanding bread and peace.<sup>23</sup> Soldiers' letters, collected by the government and used in the post-war deliberations of the Reichstag Investigating Committee, testify to the prevalence of identical views at the fighting fronts.<sup>24</sup> On July 31, 400 sailors of the H. M. S. "King Albert" joined the Independent Socialist Party and asked for a speedy peace on the basis of "no annexations and no indemnities." <sup>25</sup> Even among officers, though predominantly annexationist, we find indications of growing moderation.<sup>26</sup>

The policy of the government, however, was little affected by this popular longing for peace. To be sure, Michaelis' speech on July 19 outwardly adhered to the Resolution. After stressing the inviolability of Germany's territorial integrity, he continued:

By way of agreement and adjustment we must guarantee the vital conditions of the German Empire on the continent and overseas. The peace must provide the basis for a lasting reconciliation among nations. It must, as is expressed in your Resolution, prevent the further incubation of hostility among nations by erecting economic barriers. It must provide a guarantee that the armed alliance of our enemies does not evolve into an economic offensive alliance against us. These ends are attainable within the limits of your Resolution as I understand it.<sup>27</sup>

On first sight this looks like a full endorsement of the Reichstag's policy, and it was taken as such by the majority parties.<sup>28</sup> Yet already at the July 19 meeting, the Independent Socialist Haase pointed to the qualifying phrase "as I understand it," which had not appeared in the speech as submitted earlier to the majority parties, and which seemed to permit different interpretations of

<sup>24</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, V, 182 ff., 262 ff., VI, 65-66, 151; XI(1), 424.

<sup>25</sup> Rosenberg, Republik, p. 172.

<sup>26</sup> H. von Stein, Erlebnisse und Betrachtungen aus der Zeit des Weltkrieges (Leipzig, 1919), p. 112; Michaelis, p. 332; Thimme, Weltkrieg ohne Waffen, p. 203; O. Lehmann-Russbüldt, Warum erfolgte der Zusammenbruch an der Westfront? (Berlin, 1919), p. 12; Frankfurter Zeitung, Sept. 12, 1917.

<sup>27</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, p. 3572.

<sup>28</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 88-89; Reichstag, vol. 310, pp. 3577-80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Rosenberg, Republik, p. 163.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Dahlin, pp. 123-24.

the Resolution.<sup>29</sup> The press, particularly of the Right, was not slow to interpret this clause as an attempt on the part of Michaelis to evade the restrictions of the Resolution. In his Memoirs, Michaelis tries to explain the insertion of the famous phrase as an unintentional slip.<sup>30</sup> But in the light of his statements before and after July 19, there can be no doubt that he viewed the Peace Resolution with disapproval and intended not to have it tie his hands at a future peace conference. "I am most confident," he wrote in reply to a Pan-German protest against the Peace Resolution. "that our excellent military position will help us to gain a peace which will permanently secure the vital interests of the German Reich on the continent and overseas"; 31 and in a letter to the Crown Prince, Michaelis made no secret of his real views on the Reichstag move. "The notorious Resolution," he wrote, "has been passed by 212 votes to 126, with 17 not voting. Through my interpretation of it I have exorcised its chief danger. With the Resolution we can ultimately conclude any peace we like." 32

It took the majority parties a little while longer to catch on to the Chancellor's two-faced policy. The first shock came from a different quarter. The day following the July 19 meeting, the Emperor, for the first time in almost two decades, received delegates from all parties (except the Independent Socialists) at the Ministry of the Interior for an informal exchange of views. As was to be expected, the "exchange" consisted largely of little monologues delivered by William II; and in these monologues he advanced rather startling views, completely at variance with the peace policy of the Reichstag. The idea of a "peace of adjustment" (a term carefully avoided by the Reichstag) was excellent, he said. The word "adjustment," according to William, meant that Germany would simply take away money, raw materials, etc., from her adversaries. The Kaiser then outlined his plans for what he called the "Second Punic War" against England, in which the whole continent, under Germany's leadership, would destroy Britain's world domination. The delegates of the moderate parties became increasingly uncomfortable, especially when, referring to Germany's recent victories on the Galician front, the Emperor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Ibid., p. 3585.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Michaelis, pp. 328-29; U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (1), 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Werner, pp. 266-67, note 421.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (2), 390-91; Scheidemann, Memoiren, II, 53.

remarked: "Where my guards appear, there is no room for democracy." Far from establishing closer understanding between monarch and parliament, the meeting left a most unfortunate impression with all but the most enthusiastic and blind admirers of the Hohenzollern regime.<sup>33</sup> On August 1, 1917, third anniversary of the outbreak of war, the Kaiser tried to remedy this impression by paying at least lip-service to a non-annexationist peace. In a proclamation to the German people, he said: "Our people may rest assured that German blood and industry are not staked for the shadow of a hollow ambition, nor for plans of conquest and bondage, but for a strong, free Empire in which our children will be able to live in security." <sup>34</sup> But this conciliatory gesture failed to correct the impression created by his earlier statements.

If the German government's attitude towards the Peace Resolution was, as these statements show, doubtful, its support by the majority parties was not unanimous either.<sup>35</sup> The most sincere supporters of a peace of mutual understanding were the two Socialist parties.<sup>36</sup> But this did not mean that Germany's whole working class was in favor of a non-annexationist peace. On August 2, the Freier Ausschuss für einen deutschen Arbeiterfrieden was formed at Bremen. Its aims were the safeguarding of Germany's frontiers, the acquisition of land for settlement, freedom of the seas, and a war indemnity.<sup>37</sup> Three days later, representatives of the Verband der wirtschaftsfriedlichen nationalen Arbeitervereine im Rheinisch-Westphälischen Industriegebiet, an association of national workers' organizations representing some 30,000 workers of the Ruhr met at Dortmund, to oppose "the Peace Resolution of the so-called Reichstag majority." Instead they demanded "a peace which will guarantee an indemnity for the sacrifices imposed by the enemy and protect the borders of Germany against all dangers of a future attack, and which will offer the working population the opportunity of a secure livelihood and unhindered development." 38 A group of Protestant workers' associations like-

- <sup>36</sup> Vorwärts, Sept. 25, 1917; U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 139.
- <sup>37</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), p. 741.
- <sup>38</sup> Handel und Industrie, XXVI, Aug. 25, 1917, p. 528.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Erzberger, pp. 52-54; Scheidemann, Memoiren, II, 54-57; Westarp, II, 473-74; Helfferich, p. 473.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Lutz, German Empire, II, 299.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Payer, Bethmann Hollweg, p. 38; U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 137.

wise came out in favor of a strong peace.<sup>39</sup> The reason for these manifestations of annexationism among the workers was their belief that the advantages of an enlarged Germany would ultimately be shared by the lower classes and not merely remain restricted to a small percentage of the population.

There also was some opposition in Progressive ranks against the Peace Resolution, among men like Körte, Traub, or Müller-Meiningen. The latter did not want to restrict the government's freedom of action if certain territorial gains should seem necessary for strategic reasons.<sup>40</sup> Pastor Traub's annexationism finally drove his party to protest and to force his withdrawal in October.<sup>41</sup> As time went on, however, this annexationist faction gained more adherents, though in October the Progressive Party still declared its support of the Resolution, pointing out that the Resolution proposed a peace of understanding and not a peace of renunciation.<sup>42</sup>

The Center Party's position as usual, was not quite so clear as that of the other parties. It was from Erzberger's speeches before the Main Committee of the Reichstag in early July, that the Peace Resolution had originated.<sup>43</sup> But while he was able to win over the Reichstag delegation of his party, considerable opposition against the Peace Resolution remained within the rank and file of the Center Party.<sup>44</sup> Even before the Resolution had been passed, the Kölnische Volkszeitung started to collect signatures for a Hindenburg peace.<sup>45</sup> Particularly in Bavaria, the stronghold of Centrist annexationism, a regular anti-Erzberger front arose, under the leadership of Schlittenbauer and Heim.<sup>46</sup> To rally the party behind the policy of its Reichstag delegation, a meeting was called for July 23, at which Erzberger successfully defended his policy, reading the Czernin memorandum of April 12 to explain his pessimistic outlook. A statement was then issued which said that the Central Committee of the Center Party was in favor of a "peace

<sup>42</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 137-39; Wortmann, p. 103.

<sup>43</sup> Wacker, pp. 35-36.

<sup>44</sup> Ibid., p. 138; K. Bachem, Vorgeschichte, Geschichte und Politik der Deutschen Zentrumspartei (9 vols., Köln, 1930-32), IX, 437.

<sup>45</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 137.

<sup>46</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), 797.

 $<sup>^{39}</sup>$  U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 137-38; F. Behrens, Was der deutsche Arbeiter vom Frieden erwartet (Hagen, 1917).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 137.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Vossische Zeitung, Oct. 15, 1917.

of understanding and adjustment which will guarantee Germany's political security and economic development." <sup>47</sup> As the military situation improved during the second half of 1917, the anti-Erzberger faction became more prominent, but the Reichstag delegation officially maintained its favorable stand on the July Resolution.<sup>48</sup>

One result of Erzberger's activities during July of 1917 was his resignation from the Thyssen concern, apparently at the request of August Thyssen himself.<sup>49</sup> This did not mean, however, that he had given up hoping for Germany's domination over the French iron district of Briey-Longwy, which had been the cause of his close relations with the firm of Thyssen.<sup>50</sup> In a conversation with Prince Max of Baden, shortly after July 19, Erzberger stated that the Peace Resolution would help him to gain this French region by way of negotiation! <sup>51</sup>

While the majority parties were thus not entirely united behind the Peace Resolution, the opposition parties contained some moderate elements who opposed a further continuation of the war and favored a peace of understanding.<sup>52</sup> Some Conservatives and a moderate section of the National Liberals had almost voted for the Peace Resolution.<sup>53</sup> The National Liberals as a whole were opposed to the Peace Resolution not so much because they still desired large annexations but because they felt that the German government should declare its willingness for a peace of understanding not through a public announcement but through other channels.<sup>54</sup> Still the National Liberals refused to agree beforehand to relinquish all territorial gains in a future peace, regardless of the outcome of the war. "If our flag should be waving over Calais," Stresemann wrote in July, "and if we should thus establish a German Gibraltar on the Atlantic, who could make us relinquish it, if we were able to maintain ourselves militarily? . . . We wish to gain every possible security in the east and west, and whatever we

- <sup>49</sup> Vossische Zeitung, Sept. 12, 1917.
- <sup>50</sup> Westarp, II, 551.
- <sup>51</sup> Max von Baden, p. 114.
- 52 H. Delbrück, Krieg und Politik, part II, 1916-17 (Berlin, 1919), pp. 296-97.
- <sup>53</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, p. 3600; Westarp, II, 472.
- <sup>54</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, p. 3585; U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (1), 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Wacker, p. 39.

<sup>48</sup> Ibid., pp. 56, 89.

can get in the way of colonies and sea-power."<sup>55</sup> The Peace Resolution, according to Stubmann, another National Liberal deputy, was "unbusinesslike to the highest degree, since it almost entirely eliminated the risk run by our enemies for originating and continuing the war."<sup>56</sup> Arguments like these were typical for a party which primarily drew its support from industrial and business interests. As time went on, and the Peace Resolution proved ineffective, the National Liberal Party reverted to its earlier annexationist stand.<sup>57</sup>

As for the Conservatives, they repeatedly tried to reach an agreement with the National Liberals for a united stand against the Peace Resolution. A Conservative declaration of July 19 opposed the Resolution and demanded a strong peace. "We shall continue," it said, "to hold irrevocably to the views we have always held about the gains which peace shall bring to the German Fatherland." The military situation alone should determine what these gains might be, and it would be the duty of the German government, in close collaboration with the Supreme Command. to make the most of that situation.<sup>58</sup> The chief objections raised against the Peace Resolution by Conservative annexationists were the familiar ones that, while it would strengthen the power of resistance among Germany's enemies, it would weaken the very same power within Germany.<sup>59</sup> Subsequently both Conservative parties published almost identical declarations asking for annexations and indemnities. Significantly enough, both declarations came out against the introduction of parliamentary government into Germany and of the equal franchise into Prussia.<sup>60</sup> The tide of peace and democracy was rising in Germany, threatening to engulf and destroy traditional powers and privileges. A last determined stand, a rally of all available forces in favor of a Greater Germany abroad and the status quo at home was the demand of the hour. It found its answer in the founding of the Vaterlandspartei.

<sup>55</sup> G. Stresemann, "Gedanken zur Krisis," Deutsche Stimmen, XXIX (1917), 430.

<sup>57</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 138.

<sup>58</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, p. 3584.

<sup>59</sup> Westarp, II, 336; U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 138.

<sup>60</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58 (1), pp. 907, 927; U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (1), 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> P. Stubmann, "Dreissig nationalliberale Thesen zur heutigen politischen Lage," *ibid.*, p. 579.

### The Vaterlandspartei

The Peace Resolution, though it failed in its immediate objectives, served as an effective banner around which the new coalition of the middle and lower classes gathered in their struggle against the existing order. It was in this coalition which lasted into and through the Weimar Republic that the supporters and beneficiaries of the Hohenzollern regime saw their most dangerous enemy. They realized correctly that the aims of the majority parties were not limited to the Peace Resolution, but included the much more important reform of the German government and the Prussian franchise. The fact that the reforming parties could count on the sympathy and active co-operation of many National Liberals did not help to decrease the concern of Conservatives and annexationists. It is not surprising, therefore, to find immediate and ardent agitation against the Peace Resolution from the ranks of the chief expansionist organizations.

As soon as Dietrich Schäfer heard that a movement demanding a peace of understanding was under way, he first sent a note of protest to twenty leading papers and then called together his Independent Committee.<sup>61</sup> "The Reichstag," the Committee stated "which was elected under entirely different circumstances, does not have the right of thus gambling away the future of the German people." Yet neither these declarations, nor a request to Michaelis that he prevent the Reichstag from voting on the Resolution, had any success. The only thing left seemed to be to write articles in favor of a strong peace.<sup>62</sup>

The Pan-German League likewise found the Peace Resolution sufficient cause for a new outburst of annexationist agitation. According to the *Vorwärts*, the *Weserzeitung* was bought at this time by a Pan-German group and turned into another effective propaganda weapon.<sup>63</sup> On July 28, the League came out with a formal protest against the Peace Resolution.<sup>64</sup> The same day, President von Strantz of the Army League added his voice to the growing chorus of opposition.<sup>65</sup> Finally, on August 9, a joint mani-

<sup>61</sup> Schäfer, Leben, p. 209; Schulthess, vol. 58 (1), p. 698.

<sup>62</sup> Schäfer, Krieg, II, 11; Schäfer, Leben, p. 209; Tägliche Rundschau, July 26, 1917.

68 Vorwärts, July 26, 1917.

<sup>64</sup> Alldeutsche Blätter, XXVII, July 28, 1917.

<sup>65</sup> K. von Strantz, "Unsere territorialen Faustpfänder," Handel und Industrie, XXVI (1917), 461-62.

festo against the Resolution was published by a long list of annexationist organizations, most notably the Independent Committee, the Pan-German League, the Navy League, and the Ostmarkenverein.<sup>66</sup> In September, most of these groups joined forces behind the Hauptvermittlungsstelle Vaterländischer Verbände, another of the many combines of annexationist organizations, this time under the direction of Dietrich Schäfer and the Pan-German Admiral Count Baudissin.<sup>67</sup>

The trouble with most of these organizations was that they were not popular movements but small, though highly influential pressure groups. Their membership, as we have seen throughout, overlapped considerably; as the Socialist Landsberg told the Reichstag in October 1917: "Pan-German League, Army League, Navy League, Colonial Society, League of the Eastern Marches, Independent Committee for a German Peace—they are always the same men, only the name of the firm changes." <sup>68</sup> As the moderate opposition to strong war aims became more powerful and vociferous, it seemed desirable to counteract this opposition by a largescale movement in favor of a strong peace. Less than two months after the Peace Resolution had passed the Reichstag, the *Vaterlandspartei* was born.

Its plan originated with Wolfgang Kapp. During July and August of 1917, he discussed with a number of prominent East Prussians the project for a movement to combat the Peace Resolution, and it was decided to select that region, already famous for the Wars of Liberation, as the birthplace of the new organization.<sup>69</sup> On August 31 these plans were submitted to a meeting in Berlin, attended by most leaders of the *Kriegszielbewegung*, who pledged the support of their organizations.<sup>70</sup> On September 2, anniversary of the Battle of Sedan, the new party introduced itself to the German people with a lengthy manifesto, which set forth the following platform:

The German Vaterlandspartei aims at welding together the whole energy of the Fatherland without distinction of party politics... The German

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58 (1), p. 748.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Deutschlands Erneuerung, I (1917), 765.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, p. 3714.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Wortmann, pp. 27-28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Schäfer, Leben, p. 220. Those present included Kapp, Tirpitz, Schäfer, Duke Johann Albrecht of Mecklenburg, Baron von Wangenheim, von Reichenau, and C. C. Eiffe.

Vaterlandspartei will not enter into rivalry with patriotically minded political parties.... It is a party of union. It does not, therefore, contemplate setting up its own parliamentary candidates. When peace is proclaimed, it will dissolve. It wants no internal strife. . . . However any individual may view the vexing questions of internal politics, decisions on these are to be postponed till after the war. Then our heroes will have returned from the battlefield and will be able to co-operate in the internal construction of the Empire. Now victory is all that matters! . . . The stature of German freedom towers sky-high above the freedoms of fake democracies and their vaunted blessings, of which English hypocrisy and Wilson prate in order thereby to undermine Germany, who stands impregnable against their weapons.... We will have no peace of starvation.... If we willingly bear with distress and deprivation, the German people will gain a Hindenburg peace, which will repay us the price of the immense sacrifices and exertions. Any other peace means a devastating blow to our future development. The stunting of our position in the world and intolerable accompanying burdens would destroy our commercial position and all the prospects of our working classes.71

The manifesto was signed by twenty prominent citizens of East Prussia, all members of the upper middle class, an inauspicious start for an organization that expected to develop into a popular movement.<sup>72</sup> As far as the contents of the manifesto were concerned, it had little to say on war aims and dealt almost exclusively with the question of domestic reforms. What the *Vaterlandspartei* apparently hoped to do was to sidetrack the issue of reform until after the war. Such a stand, of course, was in flat contradiction to the policy of the majority parties as well as to the Kaiser's Easter Message and his promise of July 11, 1917 to accomplish the reform of the Prussian franchise during the war.<sup>73</sup> The opposition immediately seized upon this point, so that the *Vaterlandspartei* found it advisable to drop from its program the statement which relegated the discussion of reforms to the post-war period. Yet even so, the party was never able to outlive its reactionary reputation.

As regards war aims, the Sedan Manifesto simply mentioned a Hindenburg Peace. At the first meeting of the party, on September 24, Admiral von Tirpitz elaborated briefly on this point. "We must demand," he said, "that not England, but Germany become the protector of Belgium. . . . It is likewise our moral duty to protect the Flemings against renewed suppression. . .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, Sept. 2, 1917; Lutz, German Empire, I, 368-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Wortmann, p. 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 145.

The tremendous war which Germany is fighting is not for Germany's sake alone but in reality for the freedom of the European continent and its peoples from the all-devouring tyranny of Anglo-Americanism." <sup>74</sup> Germany's "protection" of Belgium, the official publication of the *Vaterlandspartei* said, should be maintained by means of close economic and military ties between the two countries, very much like the Angliederung of Belgium proposed in annexationist circles.<sup>75</sup> Frontier rectifications (Briey-Longwy), eastern annexations, colonial acquisitions, and an indemnity completed a program which, though considerably milder than many statements during the first half of the war, was still highly annexationist.<sup>76</sup> It should be noted that the chief argument to defend such strong war aims was not that they would add to the greater wealth and glory of the Fatherland-such glowing tales no longer aroused much enthusiasm among a war-weary people. Now we find a different approach, dwelling on the negative results, the "intolerable burdens" and the "devastating blows" which a moderate peace would bring to all Germans, including the workers. "Germany's salvation, honor and future are at stake!" the September Manifesto concluded.77 With appeals to the basic emotions of greed and fear, the annexationists hoped to transform their small pressure group into a large popular movement.

A look at the organization and membership of the Vaterlandspartei however, shows that this attempt was only partly successful.<sup>78</sup> At the head of the party was Admiral von Tirpitz, with the Duke of Mecklenburg as honorary president and Kapp as vice-president. In the various governing committees we find a further array of familiar annexationists: Traub, Schäfer, von Reichenau, von Buhl, Class, von Below, and von Wangenheim. Most of these men were leaders of annexationist organizations, whose activities remained unaffected by the rise of the Vaterlandspartei. The doubtful reputation of the Pan-German League made it desirable for the new movement to disclaim any close relation with it.<sup>79</sup> Yet the collaboration between members of the

<sup>74</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), p. 814; Wortmann, p. 41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Katechismus der Deutschen Vaterlandspartei (Berlin, 1917), pp. 7-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Landesverein der Deutschen Vaterlandspartei im Königreich Sachsen, Warum muss ich der Vaterlandspartei beitreten? (n. pl., n. d.), pp. 11-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 370.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Wortmann, pp. 66 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Ibid., p. 46; G. von Below, Das gute Recht der deutschen Vaterlandspartei (Berlin, 1917), p. 3.

League and the new party was close, and in many local branches the new organization was run by members of the League.<sup>80</sup> Between the Independent Committee and the party, such collaboration was openly acknowledged and welcomed. Taking over the Committee's complete set of over 2,000 experienced local representatives, the Vaterlandspartei concentrated on large-scale propaganda campaigns, leaving to Schäfer's group the further definition and elaboration of war aims.<sup>81</sup> The result was the rise of more than 2,500 local groups by the middle of 1918, with 1.25 million members. Geographically the main strength of the Vaterlandspartei was in the Conservative regions of northern and eastern Germany. It was much weaker in the democratic and Catholic west and south.<sup>82</sup> As to the social and economic background of its members, it is difficult, without a complete membership list, to arrive at final conclusions. Opponents of the party charged that it was primarily a party of the upper classes, heavily supported by the great industrialists. Attempts to disprove these accusations, such as the study by Wortmann, do not actually present sufficient evidence to the contrary. If there should be any doubt in our minds as to the background of the party's supporters, we need only look at its anti-democratic and expansionist program. Hugo Stinnes, Wortmann claims, was not a member, though "a number of gentlemen from heavy industry, who played a political role in other respects . . . were interested in the Vaterlandspartei." <sup>83</sup> On the whole, the party followed pretty closely the social pattern already established for most of the other annexationist organizations.<sup>84</sup> In their attempt to prove the democratic character of the party, its defenders point to several groups of workers who expressed their support. Yet the number of workers involved is too small to substantiate the claim that the Vaterlandspartei enjoyed wide working-class support.85

The activities of the *Vaterlandspartei* differed little from those of most other organizations of its kind. Its press section supplied the annexationist press with suitable news and articles. In its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Werner, p. 241.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Wortmann, pp. 47, 69; Jagow, p. 123.

<sup>82</sup> Wortmann, pp. 72-73; U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 148.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Ibid., pp. 76, 94; "Die Not der Zeit und die Vaterlandspartei," Handel und Industrie, XX VI (1917), 637-38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Wortmann, pp. 71, 76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Ibid., p. 77; Deutschlands Erneuerung, II (1918), 78.

own publishing house the party produced large quantities of annexationist propaganda as well as its official publication—*Mitteilungen der Deutschen Vaterlandspartei*. Special departments within its central office were set up to supply speakers and recruit organizers of new local branches and to carry on propaganda among the recalcitrant working population.<sup>86</sup> All members were urged to cooperate by enlisting new supporters and by propagating the party's aims in speeches, articles, and pamphlets, in which the question of domestic reforms was to be avoided.<sup>87</sup>

As regards the attitude of the political parties towards the Vaterlandspartei, the Right, always in favor of far-reaching annexations, put no obstacles in the way of its members if they wished to join.<sup>88</sup> Nevertheless the National Liberals were not so closely allied with the Vaterlandspartei as the Conservatives. Particularly in Bavaria, the former took a rather negative stand towards the new party.<sup>89</sup> The Conservatives, on the other hand, gave it constant support and urged their members to join.<sup>90</sup> The same was done by the predominantly Conservative Agrarian League, whose President, von Wangenheim, was one of the leading figures of the Vaterlandspartei.<sup>91</sup>

With the majority parties, the case was somewhat different. As adherents of the Peace Resolution, they were naturally against an organization whose chief purpose was to fight that Resolution. But as we have already pointed out, the rank and file of these parties was not always in complete agreement with the policy of their Reichstag delegations, a fact which is borne out if we examine the attitude of each party towards the new *Vaterlandspartei*. The Center, more than any other of the majority parties, had been split in its stand on the July Resolution. In October, its leaders asked all members to stay out of all new parties or party-like organizations; but even so a number of prominent Centrists, mostly of the aristocratic right wing, became members of Kapp's organization.<sup>92</sup>

The Progressive Party likewise urged its members "to stay clear

<sup>86</sup> Wortmann, pp. 68-69.

<sup>87</sup> Ibid., p. 70.

<sup>88</sup> Vaterlandspartei, Das deutsche Volk und der Friede (Berlin, 1918), pp. 11 ff., 15-16.

<sup>89</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 149.

<sup>90</sup> Westarp, II, pp. 526, 622.

<sup>91</sup> Heller, pp. 45-46.

<sup>92</sup> Wortmann, pp. 74-75, 99-103.

from any support of the Fatherland Party, since its existence endangers internal unity and since it aims particularly at the prevention of domestic reforms during the course of the war." <sup>93</sup> A number of its members, however, became dissatisfied with the policy of its Reichstag delegation, and a group of them voiced their opposition in a memorandum against the Peace Resolution and its "peace of renunciation." So we need not be surprised to find several Progressives among the founders of the *Vaterlandspartei*. The majority, however, observed party discipline and did not join.<sup>94</sup>

From the ranks of the Majority Socialists, of course, hardly a single member joined the new party. On the contrary, it is from this quarter more than from any other that the most effective propaganda against the Kapp movement was carried on. To the socialists and their press, the *Vaterlandspartei* consisted "largely of people who profit from the war," and who "were the chief enemies of equal franchise." <sup>95</sup> It was chiefly this last point which caused most Germans to oppose the *Vaterlandspartei*. Far from winning for itself the reputation of unselfish patriotism, the party combined and personified the most hated aspects of a declining regime.

Opposition to the new movement outside the Reichstag developed just as naturally as against other annexationist organizations. In October, thirty-two members of the faculty of Heidelberg objected to the founding and propaganda of the party.<sup>96</sup> Among its most outspoken enemies were Hans Delbrück and Friedrich Meinecke. In the October number of his *Preussische Jahrbücher*, Delbrück reproached the *Vaterlandspartei* for postponing internal reforms and demanding Germany's domination over Belgium. The conditio sine qua non for a peace with Great Britain, he observed correctly, was the restitution of Belgium. As an equivalent for giving up continental expansion, he proposed the creation of a large German colonial empire.<sup>97</sup> It was the Belgian problem which formed the central topic of his pamphlet "Against the Lack of Confidence," published in the fall of 1917. Delbrück

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 148.

<sup>94</sup> Wortmann, pp. 104-06.

<sup>95</sup> Ibid., pp. 106-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Ibid., p. 77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> H. Delbrück, "Die deutsche Vaterlandspartei," Preussische Jahrbücher, vol. 170 (1917), pp. 154-57.

denied the annexationist claim that German control of Belgium and the Flanders coast was an essential condition for the protection of Germany's western industrial region.<sup>98</sup> His most consistent attacks were directed against the leader of the Vaterlandspartei, Admiral von Tirpitz, driving force behind Germany's demands for the Flanders coast.<sup>99</sup> The defense of the Fatherland Party against Delbrück's attacks was taken up by Professor von Below, and the result was a controversy which was neither dispassionate nor dignified.<sup>100</sup> Meinecke's writings were chiefly directed against the reactionary internal policy of the new party.<sup>101</sup> Stressing the close relationship between domestic and foreign affairs, he felt that Germany, in the long run, could withstand the pressure of her enemies only if she introduced a government which corresponded to the wishes of her people. Only under these conditions would the German soldier be willing to sacrifice everything for the protection of his country. Germany's territorial integrity must be maintained; but to go beyond and engage in territorial expansion might easily divert attention from the vital necessity of domestic reforms and thus lead to the suppression not merely of foreign populations but of the German people as well.

Just as the Petition of the Intellectuals in 1915 had resulted in a petition of the moderates, and the founding of the Independent Committee had found its counterpart in the German National Committee, so the Fatherland Party gave birth to its own antithesis, the Volksbund für Freiheit und Vaterland.<sup>102</sup> Its spiritual fathers were the Berlin professors Meinecke, Troeltsch, and Herkner. Its purpose was to organize the opposition against the Vaterlandspartei, and its program, briefly, was "the continuation of the foreign and domestic policy of Bethmann Hollweg." Stressing the equivalence of both policies, internal and external, the Volksbund worked "for the rallying of popular forces during the war, the immediate introduction of internal freedom, and a popu-

<sup>98</sup> H. Delbrück, *Wider den Kleinglauben*, Eine Auseinandersetzung mit der Deutschen Vaterlandspartei (Jena, 1917), pp. 7 ff.

99 Preussische Jahrbücher, vol. 173 (1917), p. 277.

<sup>100</sup> Below, Vaterlandspartei, passim.

<sup>101</sup> F. Meinecke, "Vaterlandspartei und deutsche Politik," *Hilfe*, Nov. 22, 1917; *Frankfurter Zeitung*, Nov. 25, 1917. See also Meinecke, *Erinnerungen*, pp. 164, 224-27, 243 ff.

<sup>102</sup> For the following see Wortmann, pp. 94-98; U.A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 149; Meinecke, Erinnerungen, p. 235. lar, lasting peace." Compared to its rival, the Volksbund remained small and ineffective, lacking both the means and the talent for an effective propagandist movement. Despite their continuous open controversies. Volksbund and Vaterlandspartei (like the Independent and National Committees before them) tried repeatedly to come to some agreement. The negotiations showed that there were few basic and insurmountable differences of opinion in regard to war aims, a fact which we have discovered throughout in our comparisons of "moderates" and "annexationists." The main disagreement was over the question of internal reforms, where both groups maintained opposing positions. Though outwardly, the Vaterlandspartei tried to erase the impression that it was merely a tool of reaction—"we are neither conservative nor liberal [an official declaration of the party said] neither agrarian nor industrial, neither Army League nor Pan-German."<sup>103</sup> But it soon appeared that the Fatherland Party, far from bringing unity, only aggravated existing conflicts and disunity. Instead of creating a true popular movement, it simply added another annexationist and reactionary organization to the large number already existing. Instead of giving new strength to the government, it often proved embarrassing to the authorities. Measured against the ambitious plans of its founders, the Vaterlandspartei was a decided failure; which does not mean, however, that it was not one of the most effective and powerful organizations of the Kriegszielbewegung.<sup>104</sup>

# The Government and the Vaterlandspartei

There remains one other important point to be discussed in connection with the *Vaterlandspartei*, namely, its relations with Germany's civil and military authorities. Upon the attitude of the latter, success or failure of the new movement depended to a considerable extent. A clear governmental stand against it, added to the already existing opposition of the Reichstag majority, would have been a decisive blow to the annexationist cause. As it turned out, the government's policy was far from uniform. The reply of Michaelis to the telegram announcing the founding of the new party was noncommittal.<sup>105</sup> He admits in his Memoirs that he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Wortmann, p. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 151-52; VIII, 96, 376.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> *Ibid.*, XII(1), 149.

had more in common with the supporters of the new party than with its opponents; yet his "adherence" to the Peace Resolution, he says, made any close collaboration impossible.<sup>106</sup>

This lack of central direction left it up to each government department to determine its own course of action, thus creating considerable confusion. Prussia's Minister of the Interior, Drews, published a decree in October, granting governmental officials the right to join the new party, provided they did not participate in its propaganda.<sup>107</sup> While it caused a stir and repeated discussions in the Prussian Lower House, the decree did not prevent the open agitation among state officials for the Fatherland Party.<sup>108</sup> At the same time, the Prussian Minister of Culture gave his subordinates complete freedom in their relations with the party, and vigorous annexationist propaganda was introduced into German schools.<sup>109</sup> To the German people, these developments seemed to bear out the not unfounded suspicion that the government's sympathy was with the annexationists rather than the moderate majority of the Reichstag.<sup>110</sup>

This popular suspicion received added support from the policy of Germany's military authorities. Due to pressure from the Vaterlandspartei, the Prussian Ministry of War had issued an order permitting officers to join the new party. A decree of November 30, 1917, withdrew this order, but failed to prevent numerous cases of individual collaboration between army officers and the Fatherland Party.<sup>111</sup> Admiral Bachmann, former Chief of the Admiralty, declared that the new decree did not affect the German navy but was limited to the army only.<sup>112</sup> Admiral von Krosigk, chief of the Atlantic naval station at Wilhelmshaven, advised his officers to get around the restrictions imposed on November 30 by having their wives join the party and paying a double membership fee. As a result, large-scale annexationist propaganda was carried on within Germany's navy.<sup>113</sup>

<sup>108</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, p. 3718; Wolff, Vollendete Tatsachen, p. 244; Vorwärts, Sept. 18, 1917; Frankfurter Zeitung, Sept. 19, 1917.

<sup>100</sup> Wortmann, p. 93; Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, IV, Sept. 12, 1918, 527;
 E. Hauptmann, Kriegsziele (Langensalza, 1917), passim.

<sup>110</sup> Helfferich, p. 494.

<sup>111</sup> Wortmann, p. 93; Heinrich Prinz von Schönburg-Waldenburg, Erinnerungen aus kaiserlicher Zeit (Leipzig, 1929), pp. 289-91.

<sup>112</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, IX(1), 30.

<sup>113</sup> Ibid., pp. 29, 170, 234.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> *Ibid.*, p. 150.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Wortmann, pp. 44, 88.

The chief reason for the spread of such agitation through army ranks was the support it received from the Supreme Command. We have seen how half-heartedly Hindenburg and Ludendorff had acquiesced in the Reichstag's Peace Resolution. "Unfortunately." Ludendorff wrote to Alexander Wyneken on August 13, 1917, "my offensive in Galicia was not quite ready yet. I believe it has shown that all talk is nonsense as long as the sword is at work. I, therefore, did not take the Peace Resolution too tragically." In the same letter he outlined a program for a patriotic revival very much like the policy inaugurated by the *Vaterlandspartei* a month later.<sup>114</sup> It is quite in line with Ludendorff's whole attitude toward the Peace Resolution that he should welcome the rise of that party. "I maintained no relations with it [i.e. the Fatherland Party]," he says in his Memoirs. "Yet in the interest of the conduct of war, I highly welcomed its activities. If it went too far in its aims, that did no harm. The tempest of war would keep it in its proper bounds." <sup>115</sup> Here was a movement to fan the enthusiasm of the German people, enabling them to withstand the sacrifices of another winter of misery. So wherever possible, the Supreme Command gave its support to the "morale-building" policy of the annexationists. Late in September, Hindenburg released a statement intended to boost the confidence of the German people:

I have been informed by the War Minister that it has been frequently asserted in an unauthorized quarter that, according to statements made by myself and General Ludendorff, threatening economic collapse and exhaustion of military resources are forcing us to peace at any price. I do not desire that our names should be connected with such utterly false assertions. I declare, in full agreement with the Imperial Government, that we are equipped in both the military and economic sense for further fighting and victory.<sup>116</sup>

The army had various means of its own by which to spread propaganda for stronger war aims. There was first the *Kriegspresseamt*, which published and distributed writings of patriotic and annexationist character, although after the Peace Resolution it tried to avoid the controversial subject of war aims.<sup>117</sup> Of greater

<sup>116</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 370.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Knesebeck, pp. 160-61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Ludendorff, Kriegserinnerungen, p. 369.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> W. Nicolai, Nachrichtendienst, Presse und Volksstimmung im Weltkrieg (Berlin, 1920), p. 115; Germany, Kriegspresseamt, Bericht über die Taqunq vom

significance was the so-called Vaterländischer Unterricht, the army's most direct way of counteracting, within its own ranks, the effects of the Peace Resolution. Its guiding principles were first laid down in a document dated July 29, 1917, signed by General Ludendorff. "Idle talk of peace," it said, "just like pessimism, will prolong the war." Instead it was necessary "to fight on, until we have broken our enemies' will of destruction and created stable conditions for our economic development." In case Germany's enemies should attempt "through peace negotiations, to deprive us of the fruits of our victory and especially to strangle our chances of economic development, it must be made clear to all soldiers that we should be ready to re-open our struggle in order to gain our war aim, i.e., the safeguarding of our future." <sup>118</sup> These statements did not make clear whether the question of war aims was to be made part of the Vaterländischer Unterricht. A ruling of September 1917 held that "discussions of war aims are not really the subject of patriotic instruction." There would be no objection, however, to an officer's telling his own views on this subject to his men, if he were asked to do so.<sup>119</sup>

The Vaterländischer Unterricht, carried on by officers whose whole background made them adherents of the annexationist cause, often developed into outright propaganda for the aims of the Vaterlandspartei. The activities of the two are so closely interwoven, and in most cases so similar, that it is difficult to tell where the one left off and the other began. Here are the instructions given by their superior officer to a group of officers in charge of patriotic instruction:

It is not in place, neither now nor when enlightening the men, to discuss whether Belgium or parts of eastern France ought to be annexed or not. But one thing must be made clear to the soldier: If, when they have recovered after a German victory, our enemies should develop a longing to undertake a renewed attempt to throttle us, then Germany's arm and Germany's sword must not be paralyzed again, as was done in 1914, owing to Belgium's geographical position and hostility.<sup>120</sup>

War aims were not the only subject treated in the army's instruction program. It also dealt with domestic problems. A pamphlet

<sup>7.</sup> bis 10. August 1917 in Berlin (Berlin, 1917), pp. 73, 80; and Unsere Kolonien (Berlin, 1918), passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Nicolai, pp. 119, 122.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Ibid., p. 124.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VII(1), 133 ff.

"for official use only " and entitled " World Democracy " had this to say:

We are waging a double war: on fronts in the east and the west. . . . Prusso-German heroes are fighting world democracy; and at home, behind the front, we are waging exactly the same war with those who remained at home: the struggle of our national kingdom of the sword against world democracy. . . In the spring of 1917, when the Tsar had been dethroned and the democratic constitution introduced in Russia . . . it was said in Germany: we Germans are "backward" as compared with the Russians. . . . The democratic parties of the German Reichstag began to attack our powerful monarchy, the Kaiser's power of command, and the Prussian suffrage system. They wanted to compel the conclusion of a peace of renunciation by means of strikes and street demonstrations. . . . Those who do not stop the democratic and international efforts at the threshold are working for the enemy, they are not working for true freedom and equality but for the interests of an international band of swindlers.<sup>121</sup>

Here we have the creed of Germany's ruling classes on the evils of domestic reform and a moderate peace. The pamphlet foreshadows the *Dolchstosslegende* which later on explained Germany's defeat as a collapse not of the German army but the home front, undermined by the ideas of internationalism and democracy.

The question of annexationist propaganda within the German army was made the subject of a Socialist Reichstag interpellation on October 6, 1917, which presented a wealth of concrete evidence on the various methods used in this agitation.<sup>122</sup> Membership lists for the Vaterlandspartei were circulated among soldiers; famous annexationists, like Bacmeister, Traub, and Schäfer were asked to give speeches at the front and in army hospitals; annexationist pamphlets were distributed by the thousands, including one by General Keim which demanded the Flanders coast for Germany; soldiers were forced to attend meetings which advocated a strong peace and which went so far as to suggest that the originators and chief supporters of the Peace Resolution, especially Scheidemann and Erzberger, be given a good beating, thrown into prison, or better still-be shot! The replies of the Prussian Minister of War, von Stein, to these Socialist charges, did not satisfactorily disprove the fact of widespread annexationist propaganda within the armed forces. The evidence on the subject is not sufficient to reach any definite conclusion on the extent of such propaganda,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> Lutz, German Collapse, pp. 235-36; Frankfurter Zeitung, April 29, 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, pp. 3714 ff., 3767 ff 3778 ff.; Schäfer, Leben, p. 223.

but nobody reading the debates of October 6-9 can help being impressed by the material cited. The German government and army might outwardly dissociate themselves from the *Vaterlandspartei*; yet there can be little question that their sympathies continued to be with the annexationists rather than the more moderate Reichstag majority. If there is still any doubt on this score, it will disappear as we deal with the second important peace attempt of 1917, the Papal Peace Note of August 1.

# The Papal Peace Note of August 1, 1917

The origin of the Vatican's peace move goes back to the last weeks of Bethmann Hollweg's administration, notably the conversation between Bethmann and Pacelli on June 26, 1917. The favorable reaction of the German government and the Reichstag's Peace Resolution, together with indications of Austria's desire for peace, prompted Pope Benedict, on August 1, to address a Peace Note to the belligerent powers.<sup>123</sup> Besides general statements about disarmament, international arbitration, and freedom of the seas, the Note referred to the basic questions of indemnities and territorial settlements. In regard to both, it suggested mutual renunciation; this would mean the evacuation of France and Belgium by Germany, in return for receiving back her colonies from the Allies. As for remaining territorial problems, such as France's demand for Alsace-Lorraine, they were to be settled by peace negotiation. What the Papal Note proposed, briefly, was the return to the status quo ante bellum.<sup>124</sup>

It is impossible to go into the details of the complicated negotiations connected with the Papal Note, between, as well as within, the belligerent powers. Germany's policy, to a varying degree, was determined by her civil and military authorities, with the Reichstag asserting its influence and claiming a voice in the deliberations. Parallel developments, notably the peace feelers sent directly to Great Britain by Germany's new foreign secretary, Richard von Kühlmann, complicated the situation still further. As perhaps the most important attempt at a negotiated peace during the whole course of the war, the events of August and September 1917 have been the subject of considerable research; yet thus far no satisfactory answer has been given to some of their

<sup>123</sup> Lama, pp. 72-75.

<sup>124</sup> Forster, pp. 128-29.

more puzzling aspects and to the question of how close they came to being successful.<sup>125</sup>

The Papal Note was handed to the German government on August 15.<sup>126</sup> Before that date, however, important developments had occurred, clarifying the government's stand on war aims, which had been somewhat ambiguous since the Peace Resolution. On July 24, five days after that Resolution had passed the Reichstag. Pacelli once again visited Berlin, this time presenting a more specific peace program of seven points which closely resembled the later Note of August 1.<sup>127</sup> Michaelis' reaction to these terms was favorable, vet he held that a definite answer could not be given before Vienna had been consulted. This was done at a meeting between Michaelis and Czernin on August 1. Germany's comments on the Pacelli note of July 24, presented on that occasion, demanded that, together with her former colonies, she receive additional overseas holdings at the peace conference. The settlement of Franco-German territorial issues and the conditions of Belgium's restitution should be left to separate negotiations.<sup>128</sup> These terms differed little from those drawn up in November 1916 as basis for Germany's Peace Note of December 12, 1916. Eight months of growing peace sentiment, culminating in the July Resolution, apparently had little effect upon the German government's official war aims. This fact was borne out further at a discussion in Kreuznach on August 9 between Chancellor and Supreme Command. In regard to Belgium it was recognized that the future of Anglo-German relations depended upon the fate of that country. Still the army, for military reasons, repeated its demands of April 23, 1917. "Belgium must remain in our hands as a special state, so as to enable us to draw up troops along the Franco-Belgian frontier, protected against England by the Flemish coast. . . . In case we cannot thus chain Belgium to ourselves, we must at least have Liège and the adjacent terrain to the north, for the protection of the industrial region of Aix-la-Chapelle." <sup>129</sup> Luxemburg should

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> Lama's books, despite their bias, present a wealth of material. See also Forster, pp. 126-41; Brunauer, *Peace Proposals*, pp. 176 ff.; Johnson, pp. 30-39; M. Spahn, *Die päpstliche Friedensvermittlung* (Berlin, 1919); Meinecke, *Erinnerungen*, p. 230; and especially R. von Kühlmann, *Erinnerungen* (Heidelberg, 1948), pp. 475 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Lama, p. 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Ibid., p. 66.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> R. Fester, Die Politik Kaiser Karls, p. 191.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 98, 205.

eventually be united with Germany. As to France, "the coal and iron region of Briey-Longwy (together with its northward projection into Belgium) is economically indispensable to us. About the form of this political union, French feeling may be taken into consideration. A westward extension of Metz's sphere of influence, however, is desirable."<sup>130</sup>

These were the terms given to Czernin when he again visited the German capital on August 14-15. But while on August 1 Michaelis had been anxious to conclude peace before winter set in, the Kreuznach conversations had changed his views. Peace was still desirable, he held, yet the first move had to come from the Allies. Czernin's suggestion that Germany give up Alsace-Lorraine in exchange for Poland was emphatically refused and the demands of the Supreme Command of August 9 were repeated instead. Especially in Belgium, "far-reaching military and economic influence" was to be secured.<sup>131</sup> Czernin in turn pointed out that neither the Allies nor Belgium would ever give in to such terms, which presented "a severe obstacle to peace" and were in direct opposition to the aims of the Reichstag majority.<sup>132</sup> Yet the matter actually was no longer in the hands of the Chancellor. Negotiations during the first half of August clearly indicated that the spirit of the Peace Resolution was dead and that Michaelis was completely under the influence of Hindenburg and Ludendorff.

The Papal Note, as soon as it became generally known, aroused the opposition of the annexationists. "If Germany entered into negotiations on the Papal basis," the industrialist *Düsseldorfer Generalanzeiger* wrote, "she would emerge not only vanquished, but ruined for all time." <sup>133</sup> The Independent Committee likewise protested to Michaelis against the restitution of Belgium, which was emerging as the central point of the Pope's appeal for peace.<sup>134</sup> The *Vaterlandspartei* held its first large meeting of protest in late September with many annexationist speeches, notably one by Admiral Tirpitz.<sup>135</sup> "Why does the Pope step forward at this precise moment?" Gottfried Traub asked on August 30, "I know

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Ibid., pp. 205-06; Rupprecht, II, 238, 244, 247.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 99, 206-08.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Czernin, p. 219.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Düsseldorfer Generalanzeiger, Aug. 19, 1917; Kreuzzeitung, Aug. 18, 1917; Reichsbote, Aug. 17, 1917.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> Schäfer, *Leben*, p. 215.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> Deutsche Vaterlandspartei, Deutsche Ziele (Berlin, 1917), passim.

no other answer but because England is in a bad way.... Why in the very year of the jubilee of the Reformation should we accept a peace negotiated by the Pope? "<sup>136</sup> The purely political issue of the Papal Note was thus transformed into a religious one.

This was the general situation when, on August 20, Michaelis called a preliminary meeting with the party leaders to discuss the Papal Note. General agreement was registered on the refusal to give up Alsace-Lorraine, while on the future of Belgium considerable difference of opinion prevailed. The Chancellor took this occasion to try and explain away the clause "as I understand it" of his July 19 speech and to assure the parties once more of his loyalty towards the Reichstag Resolution. Yet the Social Democrats expressed their suspicion of his stand on war aims. It was becoming increasingly evident that Michaelis' attitude was merely one of paying lip-service to the Resolution. At the same time, however, a speech by von Kühlmann, favoring right rather than might as guiding principle of a successful foreign policy was well received.<sup>137</sup> Baron von Kühlmann had succeeded Zimmermann on August 6 when the latter's involvement in a series of diplomatic blunders made his continuation in office impossible. At 44, the new Foreign Secretary could already look back upon a successful diplomatic career, including the important position as First Secretary at the German Embassy in London at the outbreak of war. In this latter capacity he had conducted the negotiations for an Anglo-German colonial agreement, intended to decrease the tension between the two countries. During the war he had represented Germany at the Hague and in Constantinople. An able diplomat he combined an acute business sense with an artistic temperament. Unlike von Jagow and Zimmermann before him, whose activities had been overshadowed by the influence and personality of Bethmann, Kühlmann, during the few months he was in office, was to play an influential role. Despite his background-he owned an estate in Bavaria and his father had been director of the Anatolian Railway-which should have predestined him for the conservativeannexationist camp, he had the reputation of being moderate, liberal, and an Anglophile.<sup>138</sup> Shortly after he became Foreign

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> Magdeburger Zeitung, Aug. 31, 1917.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Helfferich, pp. 477-79; Michaelis, pp. 358 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> Wolff, Vollendete Tatsachen, pp. 215-16; H. Nicolson, "Marginal Comment," The Spectator, March 2, 1945, p. 194; Meinecke, Erinnerungen, pp. 204-10, 217-18.

Secretary Kühlmann defined his views on foreign policy in a memorandum addressed to Michaelis. Its basic idea was that Germany's military and domestic situation required the earliest possible conclusion of peace. While the question of Alsace-Lorraine made any compromise between Germany and France impossible, Kühlmann held, the situation with regard to England was different. "Once the leading English statesmen know for sure that the specifically British aims (freedom of the Belgian coast and liberation of Belgium in general) can be had without a winter campaign, we can be certain that they will press France to give up her aspirations in Alsace-Lorraine." 139 It should be Germany's aim, therefore, to approach England with concessions on the question of Belgium and thus drive a wedge between the Allies. These views, of course, were much closer to the Papal Note than the aims expressed at the Kreuznach discussion of August 9. It seemed as though the moderates had found their champion in Richard von Kühlmann.

On August 21 a Committee of Seven had been appointed by the Reichstag to represent its views in drafting the answer to Benedict XV. The Committee consisted of five members from the majority parties - Erzberger, Fehrenbach, the Progressive Wiemer and the Socialists Ebert and Scheidemann-and two from the parties of the Right-Westarp and Stresemann.<sup>140</sup> Its first meeting took place on August 28. Michaelis, Kühlmann, and several members of the Bundesrat were likewise present. The question of Belgium again occupied the center of discussion, the representatives of the majority parties asking that Germany, in her answer to the Pope, make a clear statement on the future of Belgium. The only open opposition to such a statement came from Westarp, who wanted to wait and let the Allies take the first step. Michaelis apparently agreed with this, as did Kühlmann, the latter in a private conversation with Westarp. An open statement on Belgium, he felt, would impose unilateral restrictions on the German government.141

Up to the end of August, the situation was relatively simple; but now suddenly complications arose, chiefly because of the at-

The most revealing source on Kühlmann is his Erinnerungen. T. Rhodes, The Real von Kühlmann (London, 1925) is of little value.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Korostowetz, pp. 296-98. For an excellent brief analysis of Kühlmann's aims by a close friend, see Meinecke, *Erinnerungen*, pp. 205-08.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> Lama, pp. 108 ff.

<sup>141</sup> Scheidemann, Zusammenbruch, pp. 106 ff.; Westarp, II, 535.

tempts of Kühlmann and Michaelis to enter into direct negotiations with Great Britain, using Madrid rather than Rome as intermediary. There were several indications of England's willingness to discuss peace, avoiding the obstacle of Alsace-Lorraine and arriving at the kind of settlement which Kühlmann suggested in his September 3 memorandum. At the same time, on August 30, another letter of Pacelli's arrived, which quoted a statement of the British government to the effect that a German declaration on the future of Belgium was a prerequisite of any future negotiations. The Pope, therefore, urged the German government to state clearly its intention of granting Belgium's independence, with reparation for all damages caused by the war, and to specify what guarantees Germany would require for ensuring Belgium's political, military, and economic neutrality. Here, then, were two separate peace moves. For reasons never quite clear, Michaelis and Kühlmann decided to rely on the latter's British contacts rather than on the mediation of the Holy See.<sup>142</sup> The results of such a decision were twofold: First of all, the answer to the Papal Note had to be treated in a dilatory fashion; or, if that should prove impossible, it had to be framed as vaguely as possible, so as not to weaken Germany's bargaining position through an early declaration on Belgium. In addition, the Kaiser and the Supreme Command had to be won over to Kühlmann's plan for secret negotiations with Great Britain, in which the restitution of Belgium was to be used as bait, inducing England to talk peace and to force France to do the same.

The answer to the Papal Note of August 1 was to be the subject of a second meeting of the Committee of Seven on September 10. The task before Michaelis and Kühlmann was to dissuade the representatives of the majority parties from demanding a statement on Belgium. The plans for direct Anglo-German negotiations were considered too delicate to be divulged to the Committee, though hints were dropped to the main advocate of a declaration on Belgium, Scheidemann, on September 9.<sup>143</sup> The Pacelli letter of August 30, with its demand for such a declaration, was likewise kept from the Committee. Michaelis and Kühlmann

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Brunauer, "Peace Proposals," pp. 181 ff.; Lama, pp. 149 ff. In his Memoirs, published after the completion of this study, Kühlmann gives as the main reason for his decision his knowledge that the French government intended to give a negative reply to the Papal Note. Kühlmann, pp. 477, 486-87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Scheidemann, Zusammenbruch, pp. 110-11.

succeeded at the meeting of September 10 in keeping a specific reference to Belgium out of the answer to the Pope, though as a compromise a reference to the July Peace Resolution was included.<sup>144</sup> Despite the fact that Pacelli, who on September 13 was shown a draft of this vague reply, told Michaelis that it was unsatisfactory and would most likely mean the end of the Pope's peace efforts, the document was officially communicated to Rome on September 19.<sup>145</sup>

The door to a peace of understanding through papal mediation was thus being closed, though not completely shut. There was still Pacelli's letter of August 30, emphasizing the significance of Belgium and asking for a specific statement about its future. Yet this chance was likewise spoiled on September 24 in a letter from Michaelis to Pacelli, which said that at present a statement on Belgium was impossible, but that "before too long" the Imperial government hoped to be more specific.<sup>146</sup> By the end of September, therefore, the Papal peace move had definitely failed. Still, there remained the possibility of direct negotiations with England, and it was this second peace attempt which now begins to occupy the center of the stage.

## The Bellevue Conference

The plans for a separate peace with England were the subject of a special "Crown Council" meeting on September 11 at the Bellevue Palace in Berlin. The Kaiser had been first informed of this peace plan on September 9, and he had agreed that it might present a good chance for terminating the war. The night prior to the Bellevue conference, however, Michaelis was roused by an Imperial messenger, bearing a letter from William II in which he objected to the plan submitted to him the previous day. The navy, the message said, had been promised the Flanders coast, and it was necessary, therefore, to keep some hold over the Belgian port of Zeebrugge and to acquire additional naval stations in the Mediterranean. Kühlmann, when he learned of the Kaiser's change of heart, was ready to hand in his resignation; yet in a talk between William II and Michaelis on the morning of September 11,

<sup>144</sup> Ibid., p. 113; Erzberger, p. 279; Westarp, II, 536; Lama, pp. 201 ff., 270 ff.; Kühlmann, pp. 478-79, 484-85.

<sup>146</sup> Ibid., VII (1), 76. On the still less favorable Allied attitude see Forster, pp. 130-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (2), 28-29.

the Emperor again gave his Chancellor a free hand in respect to Belgium.<sup>147</sup>

The Bellevue Conference was opened by Michaelis, who hinted at existing peace possibilities which required Germany's unconditional renunciation of Belgium. Both Hindenburg and Ludendorff agreed to give up the Flanders coast; yet the latter insisted on maintaining Germany's hold over Liège and its neighborhood to protect the Rhineland industrial region. The Chief of the Admiralty, Admiral von Holtzendorff, moreover, insisted on the necessity of holding the coastal region as well. Michaelis and Kühlmann once more pleaded their case for a clear statement on Belgium and finally appealed to the Emperor for a decision. William agreed with their view of the situation and gave Michaelis a free hand for his negotiations, provided they would be successful before the end of the year. At the same time he asked the Supreme Command and the navy to concur in his decision.<sup>148</sup> To all appearances, the results of the conference were highly favorable to the plans of Kühlmann and Michaelis. Yet a closer analysis of the attitude of the major participants during and shortly after the meeting reveals quite a different picture.

The Chancellor's opposition to the Supreme Command during the Bellevue Conference certainly was a departure from his earlier subservience to the wishes of Hindenburg and Ludendorff. For once he had freed himself from the Supreme Command's influence—or so it seemed. The following day, September 12, he sent separate letters to the Kaiser and the Army and Navy Commands, summing up the conversations of the previous day. His letter to the Kaiser mentioned the exclusion of English influence and the solution of the Flemish question, but was emphatic on the restitution of Belgium. Not so the letters to Hindenburg and Holtzendorff. "I incorporate into our plans for negotiation," he wrote to the Field-Marshal, "as demands of the Supreme Command, which in your opinion must be maintained, that both of you [Hindenburg

 $<sup>^{147}</sup>$  Michaelis, pp. 344-45. For a slightly different version, see Kühlmann, pp. 480-81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Helfferich, pp. 479-80; Michaelis, pp. 347-50; Ludendorff, *Kriegserinnerungen*, pp. 415 ff.; Ludendorff, *Urkunden*, pp. 428 ff. According to Kühlmann, Hindenburg and Ludendorff also opposed giving up the Flanders coast. To make everyone feel better the Kaiser then promised that after victory his navy would visit the ports of South America and enforce the payment of high reparations. Kühlmann had these remarks omitted from the minutes. Kühlmann, p. 482.

and Ludendorff] demand, for the protection of our western industry, first of all Liège and the surrounding area." In addition Michaelis mentioned the close economic Anschluss between Belgium and Germany.<sup>149</sup> The courage with which Michaelis defended his stand on the Belgian question at the Bellevue Conference had deserted him almost immediately. It took a stronger man than this unimaginative Prussian official to stand up to the overpowering influence of Hindenburg and Ludendorff. The choice before Michaelis was to adopt the moderate and conciliatory policy of the Reichstag majority, or the strong and aggressive policy of the opposition, the annexationists, and the Supreme Command. His social and political background predetermined his choice in favor of the second alternative; and both the army and the navy were ready to take advantage of the Chancellor's change of heart.<sup>150</sup>

On September 14, Ludendorff, in the form of a lengthy memorandum, laid down the main points of his statement at the Bellevue meeting.<sup>151</sup> Stressing the fact that the position of the Allies, both at home and at the front was not so favorable as that of the Central Powers, he advocated an early peace only on condition that it would secure Germany's economic and military future. In the west, therefore, protection of Germany's industrial regions was a prime necessity. The iron basin of Lorraine, he held, needed a protective barrier. The fact that this barrier at the same time included additional iron mines was of added advantage to Germany's limited supply of ore. The Ruhr, likewise, required for its protection the fortress of Liège and adjacent territories. Annexation of the Meuse region as far south as St. Vith was the only means of securing the strategic security of northwestern Germany. In addition, the General wrote, "We must push back the Anglo-French army still further. This can only be done by joining Belgium so closely to ourselves economically, that she will also seek political Anschluss. The economic Anschluss cannot be realized without strong military pressure through extended occupation and without seizing Liège. The neutrality of Belgium is a phantom which cannot really be counted upon." As for Flanders, Ludendorff held, it would only become a vital necessity to Germany if England should gain a foothold on the continent, at Calais for instance. Otherwise Belgium's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> Michaelis, pp. 352-53; Westarp, II, 493.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Michaelis, pp. 325 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Ludendorff, Urkunden, pp. 428 ff.; Westarp, II, 552 ff.

economic union with Germany and the separation of the Flemings and Walloons would suffice. Such co-operation between Germany and Belgium, furthermore, would draw Holland into Germany's orbit and give the latter a still stronger position against England. A large colonial empire in Africa, commercial concessions in South America, a series of naval stations, and close commercial ties with Denmark completed Ludendorff's set of war aims.<sup>152</sup> Their primary motive, of course, was military, and their justification was approved by simultaneous statements of German strategic experts.<sup>153</sup> In view of the belief, held in military circles, that France and England contemplated improving their military collaboration by means of one or two underwater tunnels, and in view of the proximity of Germany's western industrial regions to the frontier, such strategic considerations have a certain degree of plausibility. Yet by the middle of 1917 it was no longer a question of how to achieve the most ideal post-war strategic position for Germany, but rather how to make the most of a situation which, despite outstanding military successes in the past, was none too favorable.154

The motives of the Supreme Command, however, were not exclusively military, even though Ludendorff tries to give that impression.<sup>155</sup> In view of the close relationship between industrialists and the leaders of the army, it was more than a mere coincidence that the projected westward extension of Germany's Lorraine border covered almost exactly the valuable Briev-Longwy region.<sup>156</sup> As for Belgium, there was the same co-existence of military and economic motives. The annexation of the Liège district was to be accompanied by German economic penetration of the whole country. On September 16, in a talk with Count Westarp, Ludendorff defined more closely the term "economic penetration," asking for a customs-union with Germany, community of railways and ports, uniform laws of banking and exchange, common social legislation, and penetration of Belgium's industry, specifically the Campine region, by German capital, with forced liquidation of French holdings.157

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Ludendorff, Urkunden, pp. 432-33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 108; Ludendorff, Urkunden, p. 432 note.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 117-18; H. von Kuhl, Der Weltkrieg 1914-1918 (Berlin, 1929), p. 272.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> Ludendorff, Kriegserinnerungen, p. 415.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> Ludendorff, Urkunden, p. 432 note.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> Westarp, II, 552.

Here we have a set of war aims which go further than anything the German government had ever proclaimed during the first three years of the war. On September 15, 1917, four days after the Bellevue meeting, and encouraged by Michaelis' letter several days earlier. Hindenburg sent the Chancellor Ludendorff's memorandum of September 14, stating that it was "entirely in accordance" with his own views. In the same letter he stressed the necessity for an extensive military occupation of Belgium by German forces and objected to the idea "that there should be any question of compensation" for war damages on the part of Germany.<sup>158</sup> On September 27 Hindenburg requested Michaelis to deny the rumour that the Crown Council had given up Belgium, a request which the Chancellor fulfilled promptly, as we shall see. Only the Flanders coast, Hindenburg held, had been relinquished at Bellevue, and only on condition that peace would be won before the end of the vear.159 As far as the Supreme Command was concerned, the agreement reached on September 11 was dead, or at least its original interpretation had been basically changed.

A further attack on the Bellevue program was launched by the navy. On September 14, Holtzendorff wrote the following letter to Michaelis:

I beg to be allowed to make clear once more . . . that the annexation of Belgium as such has never been advocated by me. On the other hand, since my appointment to my present post, I have met with His Majesty's complete assent as well as that of the Supreme Command to the demand for the maintenance of our maritime position on the Flemish coast. . . . Opinion must be unanimous with regard to the great importance inherent in the retention of the maritime triangle Zeebrugge-Bruges-Ostend, in German hands—that is the kernel of the demands I have advocated. What the surrender of this stretch of coast would mean for the future prosperous and peaceful development of the German Empire is apparently underestimated in many quarters. His Majesty's remark that we should not be spared the Second Punic War obliged me to point out that I am firmly convinced that this war will be directly provoked if Germany remains unprotected on the Flemish coast. These are the reasons why I must advise holding on to our position there.<sup>160</sup>

Hindenburg's letter of September 15 supported the Admiral's claims. "I cannot conceal from myself," it said, "that in the navy

<sup>158</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 140; III, 314.
<sup>159</sup> Ibid., p. 318.
<sup>100</sup> Ibid., II, 141.

and in extensive patriotic circles a renunciation of the Flemish coast will be felt as a heavy blow which will be tempered only if the compensations adjudged by Your Excellency to the navy become actual facts. General Ludendorff and I think of these compensations as taking the form of naval bases in and outside of our colonies." <sup>161</sup> Finally, in a personal letter to the Chancellor on September 15. Germany's former Secretary of the Navy. Admiral von Tirpitz, expressed similar views. Opinion on the strategic importance of the Flanders coast, however, was by no means unanimous. Unofficial naval experts (such as Vice-Admiral Galster and Captain Persius) pointed out that while the possession of that region would fail to open the English Channel to Germany, it would prove a permanent thorn in England's side and thus a constant danger to world peace. Germany would become committed to a naval policy far beyond her means and out of character with a primarily continental power.<sup>162</sup>

As for the Kaiser's attitude towards the Michaelis-Kühlmann proposal of September 11, it had not been entirely positive either but had hinted at certain compensations or necessary conditions to be fulfilled in return for Germany's restitution of Belgium. These included the exclusion of England's influence over Belgium, economic safeguards, and the solution of the Flemish question.<sup>163</sup> We have already mentioned William's hesitation and change of heart prior to the Bellevue Conference. In a long letter to Michaelis, written in October 1926, William II once more explained his attitude: "I naturally had to attach certain conditions to the final and complete renunciation of Belgium, which I felt absolutely necessary in the interest of securing a future peace." <sup>164</sup> The Crown-Prince, who had likewise taken part in the Bellevue meeting, was more moderate than his father. He afterwards confided to Helfferich that any opportunity for a decent peace had to be seized and that such a peace should not fail because of a single German demand, no matter how important.<sup>165</sup> Count Czernin tells of a visit he paid the Prince on the western front in the fall of 1917. finding him extremely moderate and conciliatory. When the Aus-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Lutz, German Collapse, p. 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> K. Galster, "Flandern," Preussische Jahrbücher, vol. 170 (1917), pp. 117-21; Frankfurter Zeitung, Nov. 21, 1917; Persius, pp. 66 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VII(1), 75-76; Michaelis, pp. 349-50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (2), 14-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> Helfferich, p. 480.

trian Foreign Minister met Ludendorff shortly afterwards, the latter reproached him: "What have you done to our Crown Prince? He has suddenly been 'deflated.' But we have re-inflated him."<sup>166</sup>

If in the light of these various qualifying statements made by the participants in the Bellevue Conference we once more appraise its results, we come to the conclusion that it did anything but pronounce in favor of the unconditional and complete restoration of Belgium. Yet the rumour that it had done just that leaked out during the week following September 11 and produced the usual reaction in annexationist circles. "A cry of holy wrath would go through the nation," the Tägliche Rundschau wrote, "if it proved true, this story that no semi-official writer today dares to deny." The National-Liberale Korrespondenz, official organ of the National Liberal Party wrote: "It is quite unthinkable that the German government should declare that it has no interest in the fate of Belgium. It is quite out of the question that Germany should ever again withdraw her protecting hand from the Flemings, who have come by the destined course of this war into a saving contact with their former Motherland." The Conservative Kreuzzeitung reprimanded the government for its unbusinesslike attitude in the matter of Belgium. "The man who, when he puts up his horse for sale, offers it with the statement that he is already resolved on no account to keep it, that he has no moral right to do so, and that he can only do so to his own detriment, will not get much of a price for it." The rest of the annexationist press wrote along similar lines.<sup>167</sup> This annexationist outcry, produced in some cases at the instigation of Ludendorff, put additional pressure upon the already wavering government.<sup>168</sup> On September 28, the Chancellor found it necessary, at Hindenburg's request, to declare before the Main Committee of the Reichstag, that the German government still had an entirely free hand for possible peace negotiations, also as far as Belgium was concerned.<sup>169</sup>

Despite these developments, Kühlmann, who had not been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Czernin, p. 97; Bethmann Hollweg, II, 209; Naumann, Profile, pp. 125-26; Rupprecht, II, 336. The Bavarian Crown Prince was equally moderate, while his father clung to his annexationist views as late as January 1918: Naumann, Dokumente, pp. 256, 263, 328-29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, II, Oct. 4, 1917, pp. 689 ff.; Oct. 11, 1917, pp. 729 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Knesebeck, p. 162; Ludendorff, Urkunden, pp. 445-46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> Helfferich, p. 491.

informed of Michaelis' correspondence with the Emperor and the Supreme Command, proceeded with his secret negotiations, on the assumption that the decisions reached at Bellevue were still valid.<sup>170</sup> Using his friend, the Marquis de Villalobar, Spanish ambassador to Brussels, as an intermediary, Kühlmann sent a message to England, declaring Germany's willingness to enter into peace negotia tions on the basis of complete restoration of Belgium and the corre sponding Allied guarantee of Germany's territorial integrity. There are still several doubtful points in the history of the Villalobar mediation, such as the uncertainty whether the full statement on Belgium was ever communicated to the British.<sup>171</sup> In addition, Anglo-French confidence, strengthened by the knowledge of Czernin's April 12 memorandum which revealed the weakness of Austria, was less receptive for offers of a negotiated peace. The German move was deprived of its secrecy when Balfour put it before a meeting of Allied diplomatic representatives on October 6. 1917. By the middle of October, Germany's secret negotiations with England, themselves largely responsible for the failure of the simultaneous Papal Peace Note, had in turn failed to achieve their objective.172

## The Fall of Michaelis

The Papal Note, as one of the most serious attempts to reach a negotiated peace, has been the object of considerable speculation. In trying to determine the causes of its failure, we may say generally that neither the Allies nor Germany were ready and in a desperate enough military position to be wholeheartedly in favor of returning to the absolute *status quo ante bellum*. In the case of Germany, the failure of the Kerensky government to carry out its summer offensive foretold the imminent breakdown of Russia, which in turn would enable Germany to concentrate her forces in a knockout blow against the west. The German Supreme Command saw every reason to be optimistic.

It has been said with much justification that a clear statement by the German government on the future of Belgium, such as was desired by the majority of the Reichstag and by many influential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, VII (1), 10; Kühlmann, pp. 483-87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Lama, pp. 217 ff.; Meinecke, *Erinnerungen*, p. 218. Kühlmann, while stressing some of the difficulties of Villalobar's mission, does not fully explain its failure. Kühlmann, pp. 485-86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Forster, pp. 137-38.

people throughout Germany, might have strengthened the moderate groups within the Allied countries and facilitated the opening of peace negotiations.<sup>173</sup> The responsibility for this failure to include a specific reference to Belgium in the various communications to the Holv See must be sought somewhere among the people responsible for drafting these communications, and here the Chancellor takes first place. The dominating influence of the Supreme Command over his decisions largely explains the two-faced and vacillating policy of Michaelis and it is unnecessary to attribute his sabotage of the Papal peace efforts to his ardent Protestantism. which objected to a peace settlement via the good offices of Rome.<sup>174</sup> Michaelis' letters of September 12 to Hindenburg and Holtzendorff show that his refusal to fulfill Pacelli's repeated requests for a declaration on Belgium had its roots in the Chancellor's real preference for the stronger war aims of the Supreme Command. This preference ultimately led him beyond the merely negative action of omitting a reference to Belgium from Germany's note to the Papacy of September 19. Michaelis' letter to Pacelli on September 24, which remained unknown to both Reichstag and Supreme Command, definitely mentioned that "the views and necessary demands of the Imperial government, especially with respect to Belgium," would be presented "in the not too distant future." This statement implied anything but the unconditional restitution of Belgium and presented an inexcusable digression from the policy laid down in the Chancellor's negotiations with the Committee of Seven. It was this letter which dealt the Papal Peace Note its final blow.175

More sincere was the attitude of the Foreign Secretary. If he was against an open statement on Belgium, it was because he adhered to the theory that such a valuable pledge should not be openly renounced without gaining some equally important concession in return.<sup>176</sup> A statement of his predecessor, Zimmermann, on October 4, supports this position. "Our negotiators," he wrote, "are not put in a very enviable position if everything is being sur-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> Max von Baden, p. 123; Haussmann, p. 144; Scheidemann, Memoiren, II, 89-92; H. Stegemann, pp. 389-90; Naumann, Dokumente, pp. 275-76, 278; M. Hoffmann, Der Krieg der versäumten Gelegenheiten (München, 1923), p. 232; U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (1), 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> This is the main thesis of von Lama.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 147-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> Ibid., pp. 136-37.

rendered before we sit down at the conference table." <sup>177</sup> On September 20, the moderate Colonel von Haeften asked Kühlmann to make a public statement on Belgium, hinting that the Supreme Command would approve such action. The Secretary, however, refused "to sell this particular horse" at this time, saving it for a better bargain. This incident has earned Kühlmann much reproach. Yet it should be pointed out that the public statement, desired by the Supreme Command, was to include a reference to "the economic Anschluss of Belgium to the German Reich," which would immediately and finally have spoiled whatever chances for an Anglo-German rapprochement existed at the time.<sup>178</sup> The chief reproach against Kühlmann should be that he overestimated the willingness of the British government to come to an agreement with Germany and consequently neglected the opportunity presented by the Papal Note of appealing to the more real peace sentiment among the Allied peoples. For a professional diplomat, however, the Secretary's choice was logical, and compared to Michaelis, there is nothing to suggest that his action was due to annexationist sympathies or influences; it was entirely dictated by considerations of expediency.

The Reichstag's role in the developments of August and September 1917 is perhaps least to blame for the failure of the Papal peace effort. It is true that the Committee of Seven should have insisted more firmly upon a clear statement on Belgium, to be included in the official German reply to the Pope, rather than be satisfied with a general reference to the July Resolution.<sup>179</sup> Had its members been aware of Pacelli's letter of August 30, stressing the importance of such a statement, we can be certain that they would have insisted on its inclusion in the note of September 19. As it turned out, not only did Michaelis keep Pacelli's letter from the Committee, but, as we have just seen, he also answered it in a way which made it clear that Germany had no intention of giving up Belgium unconditionally. It is most doubtful that a mere declaration on Belgium, which did not touch on such vital questions as Alsace-Lorraine and the South Tyrol, would have been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Knesebeck, p. 107.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Max von Baden, p. 145; Ludendorff, Kriegserinnerungen, p. 412; F. Meinecke, "Kühlmann und die Päpstliche Friedensaktion von 1917," Sitzungsberichte der Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften (Berlin, 1928), Phil-Hist., pp. 174 ff., 187-90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> U.A., 4. Reihe, VIII, p. 381.

sufficient inducement for the Allies to enter into peace negotiations. One thing is certain, however, that without such a declaration Germany could never expect to get Great Britain to the conference table. If there was a real opportunity for a negotiated peace in the fall of 1917, through Germany's open renunciation of Belgium, the chief responsibility for its failure lies with Georg Michaelis.

It was not very long after the final steps in the Papal peace move had been taken, that the "Hundred Days" of Michaelis came to a sudden close. The initial misgivings about his lack of experience and ability had turned out to be only too true. Appointed without the consultation of the Reichstag, he had been unable to hide for very long the fact that on the crucial question of the Peace Resolution his views differed fundamentally from those of the majority parties. Nor was his stand on the issue of domestic reforms any more favorable. As early as December 1914, he had said: "What democrat can raise the demand for parliamentary government in Germany, after watching the pitiful fiasco of such government in England and of Republicanism in France?"<sup>180</sup> The resentment which his famous phrase "as I understand it" had caused among the majority parties, was equalled if not surpassed by the effect of his reference to internal affairs in the same speech. "I am not willing," he said, "to have the conduct of affairs taken from mv hands." <sup>181</sup> In his Memoirs, Michaelis explains his failure to follow up Bethmann Hollweg's promise for the reform of the Prussian franchise:

I had to inherit from Bethmann the royal message concerning the introduction of equal franchise into Prussia. . . . The equal franchise was to increase the number of Social Democrats in the Prussian Lower House to far beyond one hundred. This rearrangement would have been achieved essentially at the expense of the parties of the Right, which would have meant a radical departure from hitherto prevailing Prussian policy. We therefore realized that all possible safeguards, capable of weakening these radical results, had to be worked into the franchise law as well as the bill concerning the Upper House.<sup>182</sup>

These divergences of opinion between Chancellor and Reichstag resulted in a succession of internal crises, of which the discussions in the Reichstag's Main Committee on August 22, and the Reichstag debates of October 6 were outstanding examples. The fact,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Wolff, Vollendete Tatsachen, pp. 221-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, p. 3573.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Michaelis, p. 365.

moreover, that the annexationist and Conservative press and the newly-founded *Vaterlandspartei* treated Michaelis as their man, did not improve his standing in the eyes of his numerous political opponents.<sup>183</sup> Ever since early September, therefore, forces were at work for his dismissal.

The whole matter came to a head in the Reichstag meeting of October 9. The Chancellor's opponents were already much worked up over the debate on annexationist propaganda within the armed forces, which had been going on since October 6. On October 9, the Independent Socialist Dittmann continued to attack this "Pan-German propaganda," and dealt with the recent disturbance in the German navy, as a result of which some sailors had been given sentences of death or life imprisonment "for expressing their political opinions."<sup>184</sup> Michaelis, after some very pointed remarks against the Independent Socialists, referred the matter to his Secretary of the Navy. The latter, Admiral von Capelle, asserted that three members of the Independent Socialist Reichstag delegation had been guilty of advising and assisting the crews of German warships in their plan to cripple the German fleet by a widespread campaign of disobedience.<sup>185</sup> His revelation came as a bombshell. Independent Socialists, Majority Socialists, Progressives and to a lesser extent the Center Party violently protested against this unsubstantiated attack upon their colleagues.

It is inconceivable [the Majority Socialist Ebert said] at a time when our country is in a most difficult position, when the unification of all our people's forces should be the government's highest duty, that the government should try to put part of our people—no matter how large or small—outside the law. . . . Such an act, such a declaration, could only be made by a government which . . . is unconscious of its great responsibility and unequal to its high and important task. . . . I say openly: we shall welcome each day that will bring us closer to the liberation of the German people from this government.<sup>186</sup>

Here we have the death-sentence of the Michaelis regime. Events now moved rapidly.<sup>187</sup> The majority parties, with the collaboration

<sup>187</sup> On the events of Oct. 9 and after see Helfferich, *Weltkrieg*, pp. 505 ff.; Westarp, II, 483 ff.; Valentini, pp. 174 ff.; U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 100 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> Valentini, p. 173.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, pp. 3766 ff.; U. A., 4. Reihe, IX (1 & 2), passim; H. Neu, Die Revolutionäre Bewegung auf der Deutschen Flotte 1917-1918 (Stuttgart, 1930).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> Reichstag, vol. 310, pp. 3773-74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> Ibid., p. 3794.

of the National Liberals, held a series of joint meetings and drew up a letter to the Emperor, suggesting the appointment of a new Chancellor. Against such pressure, there was little William II could do, especially since the question of war credits was about to become acute once again. Among possible candidates suggested from various sides to succeed Michaelis, were Prince Bülow, Max von Baden, von Kühlmann, Count Hatzfeld, Solf, and Count Hertling. Michaelis was most reluctant to give up the position in which he had cut such an unfortunate figure. For a while it appeared as though the Chancellorship and the Prussian Prime-Ministership. traditionally united in one person, might be held separately, the Bavarian Count Hertling taking over the former and Michaelis remaining in the latter. In view of the fact, however, that as Prime Minister of Prussia Michaelis could have obstructed the necessary franchise reforms, such a suggestion met the opposition of the majority parties. On October 31, therefore, Michaelis resigned, and the following day Count Hertling was appointed Chancellor of the Reich.

# CHAPTER V

# THE VICTORY OF THE ANNEXATIONISTS — THE DEFEAT OF GERMANY (NOVEMBER 1917–SEPTEMBER 1918)

THE HISTORY of German war aims during the last year of the war, particularly as concerns Western Europe, is a melancholy tale. The struggle between the Reichstag majority and the expansionists ended with a victory of the latter, and whatever expectations had been aroused by the Peace Resolution and the Papal Peace Note were now shattered. While the majority of Germans still clung to the futile hope of an early negotiated peace, a small minority of annexationists, with the active co-operation of the Supreme Command and the acquiescence of a weak civil government, continued to pursue its ambitious policy to the bitter end.

#### Count Hertling and the Supreme Command

The circumstances of Count Hertling's appointment differed most significantly from the selection of his predecessor. While in Michaelis' case the Reichstag had not been informed, let alone consulted, the days prior to November 1 were spent in careful negotiations with the leaders of the majority parties. There were a number of objections to Hertling's candidacy, and it was due chiefly to Kühlmann's successful handling of the situation that the parties finally gave their support to the Bavarian Prime Minister.<sup>1</sup> Parliamentary government had won a triumph. For the first time in the history of the German Empire, the Reichstag had been able to overthrow a Chancellor entirely by itself and to take part in the selection of his successor. Not only that-in discussions with Hertling, prior to his appointment, the inter-party committee, made up of the majority parties and National Liberals, had secured his adherence to a five-point program which included a demand for the earliest possible presentation of a Prussian franchise bill. less stringent handling of censorship and assembly restrictions, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Max von Baden, pp. 150-51; Helfferich, Weltkrieg, p. 512.

in the field of foreign policy the program laid down in the answer to the Pope of September 13, 1917, i. e., the note sent to Rome on September 19. It is this last point which is of chief interest here. Instead of tying the new Chancellor to a definite program of war aims in general and the crucial problem of Belgium in particular, this demand was at best a veiled adherence to the vague Peace Resolution of July 19, 1917, which could be interpreted almost any way. The Reichstag had missed its opportunity of imposing a moderate peace program upon the new government. Maybe the fact that besides Hertling's appointment, the Progressive von Payer and the National Liberal Friedberg were made Vice-Chancellor and Vice-President of the Prussian Ministerial Council respectively, was considered sufficient guarantee for a moderate governmental course.<sup>2</sup>

The selection of Hertling, on the whole, seemed a fortunate one. As President of the *Bundesrat's* Committee on Foreign Affairs he had gained experience in the field of foreign policy. He also looked back on a distinguished parliamentary career as member of the Reichstag from 1875 to 1912, a valuable asset in future dealings with that body. In addition, as one of the outstanding members of the Center Party's conservative wing, he could expect to command the allegiance of this important party. And finally, in view of growing friction between Bavaria and Prussia, the appointment of a South-German seemed a singularly astute move. The most apparent drawback to the new Chancellor was his age—he was over 75. It remained to be seen to what extent the old gentleman was capable of holding his own against Germany's real rulers, the Supreme Command.

The first weeks of Hertling's chancellorship were a most promising period of domestic peace, embellished by spectacular successes of Austro-German forces on the Isonzo front. The public discussion of war aims and peace negotiations was temporarily in abeyance. In private conversation the Chancellor expressed moderate views, favoring a peace of understanding, opposing annexations, and approving plans for the exploitation of the Briey-Longwy region by way of commercial agreements rather than through annexation.<sup>3</sup> On November 29, Hertling delivered his inaugural address before the Reichstag. On war aims his statements were noncommittal:

<sup>2</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 106-07.

<sup>3</sup> Naumann, Dokumente, pp. 297-98.

From the first day our war aim has been the defense of the Fatherland, the inviolability of its territory, and the freedom and independence of its economic life. We are therefore able to greet the Pope's appeal for peace with joy. The spirit from which our reply to the Papal Note proceeded still lives today, but our enemies should understand once and for all—this answer signifies no *carte blanche* for a criminal prolongation of the war. For the continuation of this terrible massacre, for the destruction of irreplaceable cultural values, for the insane mutilation of Europe, our enemies alone bear the responsibility. They will have to bear the consequences.<sup>4</sup>

Hertling's statements on other vital issues, notably internal reforms, were no more specific. The fact, however, that on December 5 the Prussian Reform Bill was officially presented to the Prussian Lower House quieted any fears on that count.

The high respect of his former Reichstag colleagues and the sufficiently ambiguous character of his statements made for a friendly reception of Hertling by almost all parties.<sup>5</sup> "We consider the new government an improvement," Scheidemann said, "provided that it sticks to its program." Count Westarp expressed the "deep respect" of himself and his political friends for the new Chancellor. He objected, however, to the inclusion of the Peace Resolution into Germany's answer to the Pope, which Hertling had indicated in his speech. Stresemann raised a similar objection but then went on to say that the Peace Resolution had been superseded by events anyway and did therefore no longer tie the hands of the government. Only the Independent Socialist Haase injected a critical note into his speech, citing a statement which Hertling was reported to have made earlier before the Bavarian Lower House. "No binding promises concerning the Belgian question have been made to Rome," Hertling had said, " and it would not be advisable to make any definite proposals about Belgium at this time. . . . The status quo ante, especially in regard to Belgium, is no longer possible, the Belgium quo ante does no longer exist." Haase also read a telegram which Hindenburg had sent in reply to a congratulatory message of the Pan-German League. " Every one must admit," it concluded, "that our Rhenish-Westphalian industry would be greatly endangered through a Belgian state leaning towards England and France." Here were indications that the attitude of the government would not be greatly changed with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Reichstag, vol. 311, pp. 3945-46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For the following see *ibid.*, pp. 3949, 3953, 3961.

appointment of a new chief executive. Additional proof of this fact was to appear shortly.

On November 29, the prominent British Conservative and ex-Foreign Secretary, Lord Lansdowne, wrote a letter to the *Daily Telegraph*, urging the conclusion of an early peace and pointing to Belgium as the most significant issue of the war.<sup>6</sup> Like the peacefeelers in late September, Lansdowne's letter failed to have any specific results, though it testified again to the central significance of the Belgian question. What was the new Chancellor's attitude on that question? The Supreme Command was determined to find out. On December 11, 1917, Hindenburg suggested to Hertling a re-definition of Germany's Belgian aims:

The basis of our intentions in Belgium is the memorandum of the Kreuznach discussion on April 23, 1917, approved by his Majesty the Kaiser: "Belgium will continue to exist and will be taken under German military control until it is ripe politically and economically for a defensive and offensive alliance with Germany. . . . Nevertheless, for reasons of military strategy, Liège and the Flanders coast, including Bruges, will remain permanently in Germany's possession (or on a 99-year lease). The cession of this territory is an imperative condition for peace with England. The foreland of Liège must include Tongeren and the railway line Liège-Stavelt-Malmédy. . . . The occupation must secure the advance of the German army against France on the Franco-Belgian frontier." The Supreme Command repeated these demands at the conference in Kreuznach with Your Excellency's predecessor on the 9th August, 1917. . . . In the discussion presided over by His Majesty in Berlin on the 11th September, 1917, it was decided after great hesitation to renounce the permanent occupation of the Flemish coast, if at this price peace could be obtained this year and if in addition the British would leave France. . . . The presupposition which led to the Crown Council taking this decision, no longer holds good. Since, in addition, our military situation has developed especially favorably, I can no longer recognize the necessity for a partial renunciation of the military demands but must prefer them once more to their full extent, as laid down unanimously in the Kreuznach conferences of 23rd April and 9th August 1917. I therefore consider that a fresh decision with regard to the Belgian question is necessary.7

This request of Hindenburg's to reconsider the question of Belgium was taken up at a meeting in Kreuznach on December 18. Belgium, it was decided at this time, should be brought under German influence through economic measures, military occupation, and continuation of the Flemish policy, as agreed at the Bellevue

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Max von Baden, pp. 155 ff.; Helfferich, Weltkrieg, pp. 591-92; Haussmann, p. 157.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, III, 265-66. Translation in Lutz, German Collapse, pp. 88-89.

Conference on September 11. Beyond that, however, "an agreement with Belgium should be obtained to the effect that the Belgian coast, which we have fortified, must not come under English influence, but that the Belgians must pledge themselves to protect this coast under all circumstances in the interest of Germany and Belgium."<sup>8</sup> While not going so far as the program of April 23, these demands of December 18 certainly came close to the aim of Germany's naval authorities for a hold over the Flemish coast. In regard to Luxemburg it was decided to incorporate the Grand Duchy into Germany as a federal state. To overcome the objections of its inhabitants, study at German universities was to be encouraged and facilitated. No reference seems to have been made to France at the December 18 meeting. Earlier in the month, however, the liaison officer between the Foreign Office and the Supreme Command, von Grünau, had been asked by Hertling to sound out the army on the question of giving up some of Germany's aims in the Briev region. On December 14 he reported:

I do not want to pass on the suggestion about Briey at present as conditions are unfavorable for a good reception of it and the impression would be created that Your Excellency wishes to be very lenient towards France. They are feeling very big here at present and are entertaining ideas of smashing the enemy. I would advise rather raising the question when its practical decision is necessary.<sup>9</sup>

From December 1917 on, Germany's attention was almost exclusively absorbed by the negotiations with Russia at Brest-Litovsk. On December 15, an armistice had been signed between Germany and Russia, and a week later the first peace congress of the World War was under way. Prior to the departure of the German delegation the various party leaders were given an opportunity of expressing their views on the Russo-German settlement. While both Scheidemann and Erzberger insisted on a firm adherence to the July Peace Resolution, the Centrist Fehrenbach, supported by Westarp, declared that the Resolution had lost its validity.<sup>10</sup> On December 24, Germany and Russia agreed on the principle of " no annexations and indemnities" as basis for a post-war settlement, provided the Allies were willing to join in a general settlement on the same terms. Despite this last evasive clause, which invalidated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 216-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Lutz, German Collapse, pp. 48-49.

<sup>10</sup> Westarp, II, 566.

the agreement from the start, since neither England nor France would ever subscribe to it, the Supreme Command and the annexationist press were furious at this policy of complete renunciation.<sup>11</sup> Over this issue there grew up a serious controversy between Germany's political and military leaders, which ultimately boiled down to the fundamental issue, the question of responsibility for the conduct of the Reich's political affairs. Without going into detail we may say that Hertling and Kühlmann gained at least a nominal victory when, on January 24, the Kaiser took their side against Hindenburg and Ludendorff.<sup>12</sup>

Although this January crisis had primarily grown out of the eastern question, the west had also played its part. On January 2, General Ludendorff, in a statement before the *Bundesrat's* Committee on Foreign Affairs once again defined the Supreme Command's war aims in the west, in terms with which we are sufficiently familiar.<sup>13</sup> Hertling's attitude towards these aims did not quite satisfy the Supreme Command. At the height of the January crisis, Hindenburg wrote to the Emperor, complaining about the negotiations at Brest-Litovsk and including the following brief reference to Belgium:

In all the conferences with the Imperial Chancellor over which Your Majesty presided, we pointed out the importance of secure frontiers as a vital question for Germany. It is doubtful whether such frontiers will be obtained, and this causes me the greatest anxiety. . . . In the discussions with regard to Belgium I have encountered nothing but the greatest reserve on the part of the Imperial government with regard to military demands.<sup>14</sup>

Hindenburg's suspicion of the government's attitude on Belgium, however, was unjustified. The very same day that Hindenburg wrote to the Emperor, January 7, Hertling wrote a letter to Hindenburg in which he referred to the contemplated offensive on the western front:

If, therefore, the proposed new offensive under your Excellency's experienced leadership, supported by the heroic courage and will to victory of our soldiers, leads, by the grace of God, to the complete success hoped for, we shall be in a position to lay down the terms for a peace to be concluded with the western powers which will be necessary after the war to secure

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Helfferich, p. 541.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 58 ff.; Direnberger, pp. 86-87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 272.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Lutz, German Collapse, p. 25.

our frontiers, our economic interests, and our international position. I hope that we shall succeed in convincing the Reichstag, with the exception of the Social Democrats, of this. Efforts in this direction will not be wanting.<sup>15</sup>

Kühlmann, in a memorandum on January 10, defined the government's position still more clearly. "The Belgian question," he wrote, "was very thoroughly dealt with in a Crown Council at Kreuznach in the presence of His Majesty. There is no cause at present for a modification of the attitude adopted by the Imperial Chancellor." <sup>16</sup> In a letter to the Emperor on January 23, Hertling enlarged upon these views. To go beyond the general principles laid down at earlier discussions with the Supreme Command was premature, he held, and would tie Germany's hands at the future peace conference.

It need not be especially stressed that questions of military security will not be overlooked. In what way they will be achieved, depends upon the political and military situation at the time peace is concluded. We shall have to take into consideration how far our future economic and political relations to this neighbor [i.e. Belgium] and especially the development of our Flemish policy will diminish the probability of a future war with her and thus decrease the necessity for military safeguards.<sup>17</sup>

These various pronouncements of Count Hertling make it perfectly clear that by January of 1918 the Chancellor, as far as war aims were concerned, was definitely on the side of the Supreme Command. As further proof we may cite his conversation with the Conservative leader von Heydebrand on January 17, in which he said that Germany now had an entirely free hand in the west, that there would be no more peace offers, and that the Peace Resolution of July 19 was completely and definitely dead.<sup>18</sup> The same day an interesting document was sent to the Chancellor's liaison officer with the Supreme Command, Count Limburg-Stirum. Drafted by Under-Secretary of State von Radowitz, it was endorsed by Hertling. The following passage is of special interest:

The Supreme Command, the Kaiser, and the Crown Prince insist that the Chancellor at this time, through an appropriate declaration before the Reichstag, withdraw publicly and positively from the Resolution of July 19. The Chancellor, like the authorities just mentioned, holds the opinion that the assumptions under which the government agreed to the Resolution

<sup>17</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 62. <sup>18</sup> Westarp, II, 549.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> *Ibid.*, p. 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> *Ibid.*, p. 35.

245

no longer hold good, and that consequently the government has a free hand against the Western Powers.  $^{19}\,$ 

The Supreme Command had succeeded completely in making its views on western war aims prevail. It had been assisted in its "conversion" of Hertling by the various groups of annexationists, who at this time launched another major propaganda offensive.

## Supreme Command and Kriegszielbewegung

There is some evidence that the army actually approached the leaders of heavy industry, asking them to increase their annexationist propaganda. The result of the request is said to have been the creation of an industrial propaganda fund.<sup>20</sup> If the responsibility for the renewed wave of industrial propaganda at the end of 1917 cannot definitely be placed, its actual existence cannot be overlooked. The most important example is the petition presented by the Verein deutscher Eisen-und Stahlindustrieller and the Verein deutscher Eisenhüttenleute, under the presidency of Albert Vögler. director of the Stinnes concern.<sup>21</sup> Based on the research of two of the most eminent German authorities in the field of mining geology. Professors Beyschlag and Krusch of the Prussian Royal Geological Academy, the memorandum went into a most careful examination of Germany's post-war supply of iron ore. Its conclusions were as follows: Germany's domestic supplies of ore would last only about forty to fifty years. It was thus highly desirable to find additional sources of supply, and the most suitable region was French Lorraine. To secure a steady supply from the Briev basin, however, its military occupation and domination by Germany was absolutely necessary. Mere treaty arrangements to guarantee Germany's share in the mineral riches of France were not sufficient. Already before the World War, German owners of French mines had faced a great many obstacles and in most cases had to conceal their ownership behind French directors. These difficulties would be multiplied after the war, if Germany's influence in the Briey district rested entirely on paper guarantees. Not only for economic, but for strategic reasons as well, the petition continued.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 337.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Ibid., I, 238.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Verein Deutscher Eisen- und Stahl-Industrieller und Verein Deutscher Eisenhüttenleute, Zur Einverleibung der französisch-lothringischen Eisenerzbecken in das deutsche Reichsgebiet (Berlin, 1917).

Germany's western border must be extended, so that even the most powerful guns cannot reach industrial establishments in German Lorraine. Not only did the Briey-Longwy area constitute ancient German soil, but France would still keep some of the world's richest iron deposits in Normandy; though even here France must grant Germany the rights she had before the war. The annexations which the memorandum suggested would not merely favor the industrialists, but the working classes as well. While lack of iron-ore would cause unemployment and result in the mass-migration of workers (who thus were lost to the armed forces) the annexation of French Lorraine would provide work for at least 30,000 additional miners. And finally, the production of fertilizer as a by-product from the phosphorous minette ore was of vital significance to German agriculture. The whole German people, therefore, stood to profit from the annexation of Briev-Longwy. On the other hand, "if this opportunity is missed," the petition concluded, "the German people, in a future war, will be doomed to destruction." As in the case of Germany's military authorities, the final argument of the industrialists was preparation for future war, the "Second Punic War," about the certainty of which there never seemed the slightest doubt.

There were other similar products of industrial propaganda at this time. The firm of Thyssen published a pamphlet entitled "The significance of the Briey Basin for Germany's Economic and Military Future," demanding the iron deposits of French Lorraine.<sup>22</sup> One of Krupp's directors, Ernst Haux, in several speeches before the employees of the Krupp works, stressed the proximity of Germany's industrial regions to the frontier. The French, Haux pointed out, could have destroyed important sections of German Lorraine through long-range guns at the outbreak of war, if they had chosen to do so. To prevent such danger once and for all, Germany should acquire a protective glacis which would keep her enemies at a safe distance.<sup>23</sup>

In view of the vital significance which the French iron regions had for German heavy industry, these writings are understandable. The fact that so many of them appeared at this time can be explained by the threatening increase of plans proposing to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Gewerkschaft "Deutscher Kaiser," Die Bedeutung des Briez-Beckens für Deutschlands volkswirtschaftliche und militärische Zukunft (n. pl., 1917)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> E. Haux, Was lehrt uns der Krieg? (n. pl., n. d.), pp. 32-36.

solve the iron-ore problem by commercial agreements rather than conquest. The additional encouragement from Hindenburg and Ludendorff sufficed to keep alive the fondest hopes of German industrialists.<sup>24</sup>

Together with the Supreme Command and heavy industry, the annexationists launched a frontal attack upon the exponents of moderate war aims. The Pan-German League at its yearly meeting in October passed a resolution containing the standard set of annexationist aims, with special emphasis on Belgium.<sup>25</sup> Heinrich Class' famous memorandum on war aims came out in a revised edition, including suggestions for the racial and cultural improvement of the German "master race."<sup>26</sup> The Independent Committee had stepped out of the limelight and made room for the Vaterlandspartei; though Dietrich Schäfer continued to be active. "A peace without an extension of Germany's sphere of power and without indemnities," he wrote on December 31, "would be equal to our destruction." 27 Colonial demands continued to be the most generally accepted war aim. Both the Colonial Society and Colonial Secretary Solf constantly repeated their arguments for a large Mittelafrika and for a series of naval stations.<sup>28</sup>

The Vaterlandspartei took the lead in annexationist propaganda. Its president, Admiral von Tirpitz, was constantly on the move, addressing large meetings in all parts of Germany. On November 10 he told a Munich audience that it was Germany's mission to serve as protector of Belgium.<sup>29</sup> Later in the month, in two overflow meetings at Dresden he again dealt with his favorite subject— Belgium. Several Saxon Ministers of State were present at these meetings and supported Tirpitz, a fact which led to a heated debate in the Saxon Lower House.<sup>30</sup> On November 30 the Admiral ad-

<sup>24</sup> G. Raphaël, Krupp et Thyssen (Paris, 1925), pp. 180-81; Vossische Zeitung, Feb. 5-7, 1918; Düsseldorfer Tageblatt, Feb. 24, 1918; Der Metallarbeiter, March 2, 1918.

<sup>25</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), pp. 859-60.

<sup>26</sup> H. Class, Zum deutschen Kriegsziel (München, 1917), pp. 31, 50; Werner, pp. 233-35.

<sup>27</sup> Schäfer, *Leben*, p. 222.

<sup>28</sup> Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, Gedanken und Wünsche, 1917 edition, pp. 69-70; Kölnische Zeitung, Nov. 24, 1917; Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, Dec. 22, 1917, March 13, 1918; Deutscher Kurier, Feb. 11, 1918; Schulthess, vol. 59(1), p. 103.

<sup>29</sup> Wortmann, p. 47.

<sup>30</sup> Deutsche Tageszeitung, Nov. 21, 1917; Schulthess, vol. 59 (1), p. 17.

dressed six thousand persons at Essen, heart of the Ruhr district. The rich coal region of the Belgian Campine, he said, "must not be allowed to fall into English hands, to be developed into a powerful rival to our Rhenish-Westphalian territories. On the contrary, it must be made part of our economic strength, in opposition to Anglo-Americanism."<sup>31</sup> The Fatherland Party's opposition to the Reichstag's Peace Resolution came out at almost every meeting.<sup>32</sup> On November 28 it asked the Reichstag to give up the Resolution "as once and for all superseded by recent events," and instead "to manifest a firm will for the achievement of a peace which will assure all the essentials of Germany's existence." <sup>33</sup>

To complete the picture of annexationist agitation during the last months of 1917, we should also mention the large number of pamphlets and books dealing with war aims that continued to flood the German market. They can be divided into two groups, according to the significance of their authors. A large number of them were unknown and it is surprising that their uninteresting writings ever found publishers and readers.<sup>34</sup> Yet others were written by some of Germany's outstanding intellectual figures who thus gave added prestige to the clamor of the annexationists. The Leipzig historian Erich Brandenburg gave an intelligent discussion of German territorial needs which, in the west, agreed in most respects with the aims of the government and Supreme Command.<sup>35</sup> Alfred Hettner, the Heidelberg geologist, advocated the annexation of Briey-Longwy, but was dubious about keeping a German foothold in Belgium. There was some justification, in his opinion, for the annexation of small sections, especially Liège. But on the whole, Hettner believed, a truly neutral Belgium was possible and he suggested that the country be given up in exchange for Germany's

<sup>31</sup> Deutsche Tageszeitung, Dec. 1, 1917; Rede des Grossadmirals von Tirpitz am Freitag, den 30. November in Essen (n. pl., n. d.).

<sup>32</sup> Wortmann, p. 49.

<sup>33</sup> Deutsche Tageszeitung, Nov. 30, 1917 (ev. ed.).

<sup>34</sup> The following are examples from a much longer list: A. Konietzko, Unsere Wirtschaftliche Zukunft bei einem Verzichtfrieden (Weimar, 1917); F. Lauterbach, Wenn wir heimkehren (Leipzig, 1917); L. Schwering, Belgien, der Angelpunkt des Weltkrieges (Regensburg, 1917); H. O. Schmidt, Deutschlands Friede und Freiheit (Dresden, 1917); A. Meister, Unser belgisches Kriegsziel (Münster, i. W., 1917); A. Stoll, Deutsche Kriegsziele im Westen (Cassel, 1917); R. C. Hentsch, Friedensziele-Kriegsziele (Annaberg, 1917).

<sup>35</sup> E. Brandenburg, *Deutschlands Kriegsziele* (Leipzig, 1917), esp. pp. 43 ff., 77 ff., 86 ff.

pre-war colonies.<sup>36</sup> The historian Ziekursch favored the usual "veiled annexation" for Belgium which would give Germany maximum advantages without the disadvantages of a large foreign minority.<sup>37</sup> Other distinguished contributors to the discussion and propagation of war aims included Georg von Below, who suggested the division of Belgium between France and Germany, and the geographer Felix Hänsch.<sup>38</sup> The significance of these writings, however, must not be overrated. They presented few new arguments and probably were always read by the same annexationist clique. There was a time at the beginning of the war when the writings of such authorities did much to mold public opinion. But after more than three years of unfulfilled hopes, most Germans had made up their minds in favor of a moderate peace, and few were affected by the constant repetition of hollow promises on the part of a small minority. The most interesting characteristic again noticeable in some of these annexationist pamphlets was a change of emphasis from the advantages to the necessities of annexations, from the economic motive of gain to the strategic motive of protection. But even that generalization holds true for a limited number of writings only. The majority wrote in 1917 as they had written in 1914, utterly oblivious of any changes in Germany's military and political situation.

The annexationists were alarmed not merely over the prospect of having to abandon their dreams of westward expansion. There was the equally if not more important threat of domestic reform, which became acute with the rise of parliamentary government and the introduction of the Prussian Franchise Bill on December 5 (the bill was promptly relegated to a Committee, from which it did not emerge until April 30, 1918).<sup>39</sup> "The controversy over war aims," Prussia's Minister of the Interior wrote on February 13, 1918, "which at present dominates the domestic scene in Germany, has been able to gain its depth and intensity only because each side recognizes in the representative of opposing peace demands also its opponent in domestic issues."<sup>40</sup> On December 8,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> A. Hettner, Der Friede und die deutsche Zukunft (Stuttgart, 1917), pp. 176 ff., 182 ff., 194 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> J. Ziekursch, Was soll aus Belgien werden? (n. pl., 1917), esp. pp. 21 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Below, Kriegs-und Friedensfragen, pp. 47 ff.; F. Hänsch, An der Schwelle des grösseren Reiches (München, 1917), pp. 21 ff., 51 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 184-87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Volkmann, Der Marxismus, p. 298.

Germany's "classes," alarmed at these internal developments, founded a subsidiary organization to the Vaterlandspartei, the Bund der Kaisertreuen. "The Deutsche Vaterlandspartei fights against the same enemies we fight against, to gain a peace for Germany that will secure its further development. But it has publicly and definitely declared that it will take no part in the domestic controversies of Germany. In this direction the Bund der Kaisertreuen will supplement it." <sup>41</sup> The influence of the organization, which included a number of high-ranking political, military, and industrial figures, was considerable; it claimed, for instance, to have had a hand in the later dismissals of the Kaiser's chief political adviser, von Valentini, and of Foreign Secretary von Kühlmann. The Bund opposed "the plaintive lamentations for peace," and instead demanded a strong settlement. Though "what good would the most glorious victories, the most favorable peace settlement do us, if the proud structure of the German Reich should be shaken in its foundations by democratization?" one of its propagandists asked.<sup>42</sup> Conservative and annexationist organizations like the Pan-German and the Agrarian Leagues joined in this antireform campaign.<sup>43</sup> At a meeting of the latter, in February 1918, the Conservative Wildgrube revealed most clearly the true cause for the concern of his class and party over the question of reform. "We wish for the maintenance of the German and Prussian monarchy," he said, "not for the sake of the dynasty, but for our own sake. Germany will be monarchical, or she will not be at all."<sup>44</sup> Here we have, stripped of all its patriotic verbiage, the naked fear of Germany's ruling classes, to whom democracy meant the loss of their traditional powers and privileges.

In their domestic concerns, as in the field of war aims, the annexationists enjoyed the support of the Supreme Command. "I have never been for the Prussian franchise," Ludendorff wrote on December 16, "I think it is a great mistake.... The reconstruction of Germany is really more important than questions of franchise."<sup>45</sup> And again on January 1, 1918, he wrote:

 ${\bf I}$  always hope that the Prussian franchise falls through. If  ${\bf I}$  didn't have that hope,  ${\bf I}$  would advise the conclusion of any peace. With this franchise

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 146.

<sup>42 &</sup>quot;Senex," Deutscher Kaiser hoere Dein Volk (Berlin, 1918), pp. 2, 7, 12, 14-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Schulthess, vol. 58(1), pp. 859-60; Heller, p. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Berliner Tageblatt, Feb. 19, 1918. <sup>45</sup> Knesebeck, p. 163.

we cannot live... Let the disturbances come. I would rather endure a terrible end than endless terror. Are there no more fighters left? Can the best among us be frightened by the bogie of "internal unrest?" To look the danger straight in the eye and then at it! Only thus can we win; and if we should lose it would be better than acting against one's conviction.<sup>46</sup>

Of all Ludendorff's statements, this is the most revealing. It shows that to him as to any Conservative and annexationist, the war was lost if concessions along democratic lines had to be made to the German people. The constant stress on the strategic necessity as the only argument for western annexations is belied by his statement that once the Prussian franchise had been conceded, any peace would suit him. To prefer a terrible end to endless terror may serve as a suitable maxim for the ruthless policy the Supreme Command pursued during the last six months of the war. To avoid endless terror, Ludendorff put everything on one card, an all-out offensive against the west. The loss of this offensive left as the only alternative the terrible end, the collapse of the German Empire.

## Political or Military Offensive?

There were a number of Germans in early 1918 who realized that a military offensive against the west was not the only way to achieve peace. Instead they suggested that Germany precede this military offensive with a political offensive to arrive at a negotiated settlement. It was in this connection that the problem of Belgium once more emerged as the basic issue between Germany and the west. This fact was made clear both in a speech by Lloyd George on January 5, which placed particular emphasis on the future of Belgium,<sup>47</sup> and in President Wilson's message to Congress of January 8, citing the famous Fourteen Points as basis for a post-war settlement. Hertling dealt with Wilson's program in an address before the Reichstag Main Committee on January 24, 1918:

As far as the question of Belgium is concerned, my predecessors have repeatedly declared that at no time during the war the annexation of Belgium by force has been part of Germany's program. The Belgian question belongs to the whole group of questions whose details will have to be settled at the peace negotiations. As long as our adversaries do not openly accept the idea that the territorial integrity of the allied nations [i. e. the Central Powers] forms the only possible basis for peace negoti-

<sup>47</sup> Max von Baden, pp. 195 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> *Ibid.*, p. 164.

ations, I must insist on the position taken thus far and refuse to take the matter of Belgium out of the discussion of the whole peace problem.<sup>48</sup>

These are vague and careful words which do not exclude the possibility of Belgian restoration. But we must remember that they were primarily directed at President Wilson and were therefore intended to be moderate. Hertling's real views on the subject, as shown in his letter to the Emperor the day before, were by no means as conciliatory. Nor did he fool his listeners. The majority parties, despite some earlier indications of disagreement, once more united in their criticisms of the Chancellor's speech, pointing directly at its chief weakness. "A definite statement of the German government on Belgium," Erzberger said, "would be most effective. The Chancellor, to be sure, treated the question negatively; but it should be treated positively." <sup>49</sup> Then came Scheidemann: "The complete and honest restoration of Belgium, including her political independence, is our duty of honor. . . . I should have greatly hoped that the Chancellor, in regard to Belgium, had said clearly and openly: we are ready to relinquish her, on the condition, of course, that our opponents for their part give up their plans for the infringement of Germany's integrity." Scheidemann concluded with the ominous words: "We Social Democrats shall do all we can for our country and people. But we shall never think of risking our lives for a government that does not fulfill its duties towards the people." Finally Friedrich Naumann expressed his own and his party's agreement with what his colleagues had said before him. "A positive word," he said, "should be spoken about Belgium. We must not put everything on the card of victory." 50

The problem of political vs. military offensive was summed up and put before General Ludendorff in an extensive memorandum, dated February 11, and signed, among others, by Friedrich Naumann, Alfred Weber, and Robert Bosch.<sup>51</sup> Its authors pointed out that the increasing unrest at home and the economic weakness of the Central Powers made the conclusion of an early peace an imperative necessity. If the impending offensive was the only method to gain such a peace, the German people would willingly endure its hardships. The task, therefore, was to make the people see that the offensive, if it did come, was unavoidable. To do this, the military offensive should be preceded by a political offensive

<sup>50</sup> *Ibid.*, pp. 141-42. <sup>51</sup> *Ibid.*, II, 136-39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 301-02.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Ibid., XII(1), 140-41.

which will compel Lloyd George to declare openly that he wishes to continue the war for the sake of Alsace-Lorraine. This aim can be achieved by an unequivocal declaration regarding the future restoration of the sovereignty and integrity of Belgium. That is the postulate of the British and American peace parties. . . This declaration with regard to Belgium would break down the unbroken determination behind the lines in the enemy countries and build it up anew in Germany. The declaration should be made as soon and as clearly as possible and also quite publicly. . . . The fruitful soil for war propaganda in enemy countries and for the anti-war agitation in Germany has been entirely created by the obscurity of the statements made by the German government.

The memorandum summed up the possible results of the political action it proposed, which would either be the fall of the British war cabinet and its substitution by a moderate ministry, or the formation of a new chauvinistic government under Lloyd George and against the will of the British people. With the former, Germany could easily conclude a satisfactory peace, while the latter would present a decisive obstacle to Great Britain's conduct of the war and thus facilitate German victory. The document closed with the prophetic statement:

A terrible responsibility rests at present on the leaders of the government; it is still possible to retain the good will of the masses. All healthy forces among the German workmen tend to reject the forces making for disorganization. But the government must assist them. It has in its power to allow the disintegrating forces to become a great destructive power in Germany or to condemn them to lasting impotency.<sup>52</sup>

General Ludendorff was sufficiently impressed with the memorandum to reply at length on February 22. But he restricted himself entirely to the military aspects of the contemplated offensive, pointing out that for the first time since the early days of the war, the withdrawal of Russia gave Germany a choice on the western front between offensive and defensive, and that he had to make use of this chance to attack before American assistance to the Allies would turn the scales against Germany. The central idea of the memorandum, to precede the military by a political offensive, using a declaration on Belgium as an entering wedge to weaken the enemies' power of resistance, was completely ignored by the General.<sup>53</sup>

The idea of a propaganda offensive against England had been suggested by other people ever since the major spring campaign

<sup>52</sup> Lutz, German Collapse, pp. 41-45. <sup>53</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 92-93.

had been decided upon.<sup>54</sup> In January, Colonel von Haeften presented Ludendorff with an elaborate proposal for such a move. Its purpose should be to make clear to the British people that the only obstacle to peace was Lloyd George's imperialistic policy.

The right words are victorious battles, and the wrong words are lost battles. If we desire to gain a victory behind the English front to prepare our victory on the battle-field, we must choose such words as will enable the patriotic peace party in England to step before their people and say: If you follow us, the road to negotiations will be clear, and the honor and security of England will be assured.<sup>55</sup>

Ludendorff "urgently recommended" Haeften's memorandum to the Chancellor, a fact which has been taken as proof of the Supreme Command's consent to a political offensive.<sup>56</sup> This would be true if the most essential part of Haeften's memorandum, the demand for a clear statement on Belgium, had not been omitted before the document was handed to the government.<sup>57</sup> In view of the Supreme Command's aims in regard to Belgium, a promise of its restitution was, of course, out of the question. On February 5, at a meeting between German and Austrian political and military leaders, Ludendorff once more made clear his attitude on this point:

A peace which only guarantees the territorial *status quo* would mean that we lost the war. . . Matters are still uncertain as far as the west is concerned. But if we keep our old frontiers there, we shall be in a less favorable position after the war than before. . . We must improve the protection of our western coal regions through rectifications of the frontier. To a peace which offers less, we of the Supreme Command cannot agree. It can only be ordered from above.<sup>58</sup>

To make matters complete, the Chief of the High Seas Fleet, Admiral Scheer, supported by Admiral von Holtzendorff, once more brought the navy's claims for the coast of Flanders to the attention of the Supreme Command.<sup>59</sup> Yet a statement on Belgium was the *conditio sine qua non* of a peace settlement with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Rupprecht, II, 330, 332, 336.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Ludendorff, Urkunden, pp. 473-78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Max von Baden, p. 201; Eisenhardt-Rothe, pp. 126 ff., U. A., 4. Reihe, III, 263, 267-69.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>scriptscriptstyle 57}$  Max von Baden, p. 201, note 2.

<sup>58</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 220; Max von Baden, pp. 236-37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> "Rudiger," p. 82.

England. Without the reference to Belgium, Haeften's proposal was as meaningless as all of Germany's earlier official statements on war aims. The Colonel himself had said in the section that was later omitted: "We have always offered the English peace party weapons which were of no use to it, while they were of considerable use to the English war party."<sup>60</sup>

The question of a political offensive was further broached by the famous armchair strategist and historian, Hermann Stegemann. Viewing the situation from neutral Switzerland, he addressed his important observations to Conrad Haussmann. Stegemann agreed that Germany's military situation was more favorable than ever before. Yet he doubted that an offensive in the west, even though successful, would knock one of the Allies out of the war. Quite the contrary, he held, it might only serve to unite Germany's adversaries still more closely. On the other hand, the very fact of Germany's military superiority, which was universally recognized, might be used as effectively as an actual offensive to terminate the war.

Only if an understanding—made easier through a clarification of the Belgian question (my *ceterum censeo*)—cannot be achieved in the course of **a** few weeks, only then the two-edged weapon of an offensive must be used. Its qualification as a surgical instrument remains doubtful, but its use could then be considered necessary. Today that is not yet the case.<sup>61</sup>

Conrad Haussmann related Stegemann's views to Ludendorff, but failed to receive a clear reply.<sup>62</sup>

One of the chief advocates of a peace offensive against England, the later Chancellor, Prince Max of Baden, finally put the matter directly before Hertling.<sup>63</sup> The Chancellor was most skeptical of England's willingness to discuss peace and was afraid that a German declaration on Belgium would only cause Allied jeers. Most important, however, was Hertling's unwillingness to oppose the Supreme Command. He had the firm belief that the two military leaders would gain peace, and a better peace, by military means. The Vice-Chancellor, von Payer, was more amenable to Prince Max's suggestion, but he also had all his hopes set on the impend-

<sup>60</sup> Max von Baden, p. 201, note 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 96-98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> C. Haussmann, Aus Conrad Haussmanns politischer Arbeit (Frankfurt a. M., 1923), p. 105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Max von Baden, pp. 231 ff.

ing offensive. The Foreign Secretary, on the other hand, was extremely pessimistic, believing neither in the success of a military or peace offensive, nor that the Supreme Command could be made to agree to the latter. Only Dr. Solf saw eye-to-eye with the Prince, but his influence was insufficient to bring about a statement on Belgium. Ex-Chancellor von Bethmann Hollweg, likewise convinced of the necessity to clarify publicly Germany's stand on Belgium before going into the spring offensive, went to see Hertling, but had no more luck than Prince Max. Nor was a visit which the latter paid to Ludendorff any more successful. The unequivocal declaration on the future of Belgium, not in itself perhaps a sufficient inducement for the British government to enter into peace negotiations, but surely a necessary prerequisite of such negotiations, had once again failed to materialize.

In addition to these various suggestions for a peace offensive, there were again several peace moves and feelers between the Central and Allied Powers during the spring of 1918. Aside from the fact that in almost every case the question of Belgium soon emerged as the central issue, these secret negotiations had little effect upon the main course of events. Most outstanding were the conversations at the Hague, in early March, between Colonel von Haeften and the German-American Jacob Noeggerath, and the series of meetings in Switzerland between President Wilson's friend, Professor Herron, and notable German liberals, such as Conrad Haussmann, Professor Quidde, and Professor Jaffé, which lasted from December 1917 into November 1918.<sup>64</sup> Other peace attempts never actually reached the stage of negotiation.<sup>65</sup>

On February 25, Count Hertling appeared before the Reichstag, which had resumed its sessions on February 19, to deliver his second address before a plenary session. Again he referred to Belgium in the customary terms:

It has been repeatedly said from this place that we do not think of retaining Belgium or of making the Belgian state a component part of the German Empire, but that we must, as was also set forth in the Papal Note of August 1, be safeguarded from the danger that a country with which after the war we desire to live again in peace and friendship should become an object or jumping-off ground of enemy machinations. The means

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Ibid., pp. 242 ff.; U. A., 4. Reihe, I, 21; "Herron Papers," (12 vols. of typescript at the Hoover Library, Stanford, Calif.), vols. II and IV; Lutz, German Empire, I, 469 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Eisenhardt-Rothe, pp. 98 ff.; Hertling, pp. 57-58.

of reaching this end and thus serving the general world peace would be the subject of discussion at such a meeting. If, therefore, a proposal in this direction came from the opposite side, let us say from the government at Le Havre [i.e. the Belgian government in exile], we should not adopt an antagonistic attitude, even though the discussion, as a matter of course, could at first not be binding.<sup>66</sup>

As usual there was enough vagueness in the Chancellor's words to permit almost any interpretation. "We should like to live in peace and friendship with Belgium," Scheidemann said on February 26, "as the Chancellor remarked yesterday. That can only be done, of course, with a people whose independence is really safeguarded." Von Heydebrand, on the other hand, interpreted Hertling's speech as a demand for Germany's political, military, and economic domination over Belgium. Stresemann likewise was confident that the Chancellor's statement on Belgium permitted the guarantee of Germany's interests. The Progressive Wiemer understood the speech as a promise not to keep Belgium, as did Erzberger, the latter adding the warning not to underestimate the effect on neutral nations if Germany should insist on pursuing power-politics in Belgium, the "darling of the world."<sup>67</sup>

The last chance for a clear official statement on Belgium came on March 18, 1918, when Count Hertling presented the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk, signed on March 3, to the Reichstag. There were some indications that England might be willing to talk peace if such a statement were made.<sup>68</sup> Yet despite several requests, the Chancellor made no reference to Belgium. "We are ready," he concluded his brief speech, "to make further heavy sacrifices. . . . The responsibility for all this bloodshed will fall upon the heads of those who in frivolous obduracy refuse to listen to the voice of peace." <sup>69</sup> Three days later, on the afternoon of March 12, Germany's artillery along the whole sector between Arras and La Fère opened fire, sounding the beginning of the great spring offensive and the end for a peace by negotiation.

In the light of subsequent events, it seems strange that the German government did not avail itself of the opportunity presented by the proposed peace offensive. There was so little to be lost by a declaration on Belgium, and perhaps everything to be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Reichstag, vol. 311, p. 4140.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Ibid., pp. 4163, 4176, 4182, 4191, 4220-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Max von Baden, pp. 246-47.

<sup>69</sup> Reichstag, vol. 311, p. 4426.

gained. Disregarding the unanswerable question whether such an offensive, if attempted, would have succeeded, how can we explain the almost suicidal manner in which Germany's statesmen led their country to its destruction?

If we look at the situation as it presented itself to these men in the spring of 1918, we must realize that on the whole events could not have happened very differently from the way they actually did. One basic idea should be clear after reviewing the events of the preceding months: Germany's governing forces refused to proclaim the unconditional renunciation of Belgium not so much because they doubted Great Britain's willingness to talk peace, but because they did not really want to see the complete independence of Belgium re-established. We have traced the relentless insistence of the Supreme Command on far-reaching strategic improvements of Germany's western frontier, which included the annexation of parts of France and the "veiled annexation" of most of Belgium.<sup>70</sup> To Hindenburg and Ludendorff, a war which failed to secure these aims, was a lost war. This attitude may be wrong or narrowminded, but it was none the less real, backed by a stubborn determination which found its only parallel in the simultaneous demands of France's military authorities for the strategic frontier of the Rhine. To the German army, therefore, there really existed no alternative. It was Belgium or nothing.

The civil branch of the government, though not so insistent on strong western aims as the army, nevertheless favored such westward expansion and was willing to hold out for whatever gains might be made in that region. But even if there had been sentiment in favor of a *status quo ante* settlement in the west, as in fact there was on the part of Baron von Kühlmann, it could not have asserted itself against the dominating influence of the Supreme Command. The old Chancellor willingly submitted to the army's decisions, which converted the question of Belgium, primarily a territorial and political problem, into a strategic and military one. The Foreign Secretary had discovered at Brest-Litovsk that it was difficult to oppose the will of Ludendorff. And the Kaiser, though usually on the side of moderation, could always be swayed to an opposite point of view.

The fact of intrinsic unwillingness or at best great reluctance to give up Germany's western conquests received additional support

70 Valentini, p. 190.

258

from events in the east. The feeling of achievement and the optimism that went with the successful conclusion of a treaty which fulfilled a large share of Germany's expansionist dreams, helped to keep alive the desire for the western counterpart of the Drang nach Osten. Why should a premature declaration jeopardize the chance of establishing once and for all Germany's security on the European continent, especially when the impending offensive on the western front had all likelihood of success? This last fact we must always keep in mind. It was only after the failure of this military venture that the lost opportunity of making a declaration on Belgium assumed such great importance. As things stood in March of 1918, with a powerful army ready to finish the war within a few months, a statement on Belgium, in the opinion of the Supreme Command, might have weakened the German people's power of resistance at a time when it was needed more than ever before.

## The German People and Brest-Litovsk

In our analysis of Germany's policy prior to the 1918 spring offensive we have thus far dealt only with the attitude of the German government and have omitted dealing with the German people. While the former was most reluctant to give up any of its strategic war aims, the chief concern of the latter was to gain peace at the earliest possible opportunity. This longing of the German masses for peace had little chance of expressing itself, except in direct revolutionary action, mass protests and strikes.<sup>71</sup> On January 28, 1918, the largest event of this kind prior to the November Revolution occurred, when 400,000 workers in Berlin alone quit work. The close interrelationship between this act and the question of war aims is made clear in the demands of these strikers, the first point of which reads: "Speedy conclusion of peace without annexations and indemnities, on the basis of the self-determination of peoples." <sup>72</sup> Nor was this longing for peace restricted to the lower classes. Around the middle of February 1918, the Frankfurter Zeitung addressed a memorandum to the Supreme Command, which emphasized the whole country's hope for peace. "The course of events," it said, "might be such that considerable sections of the people will prefer any peace, peace at any price, to the continuation of the war." 73

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Rosenberg, pp. 196-97, 201.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII(1), 152; VI, 184.

<sup>73</sup> Ibid., II, 114-15.

Although the German people's desire for peace was beyond question, and they were willing to conclude such a peace without making any territorial gains, this does not mean that they objected to a peace settlement which managed to realize some of Germany's war aims. Only the lower classes behind the Socialist Parties truly believed in "no annexations and indemnities" as a matter of principle. The attitude of most middle class moderates, averse to strong war aims, was the result not so much of deep-felt opposition to German expansionism, but of a common-sense realization that such expansionism was dangerous, if not impossible, since it would arouse the permanent opposition of Germany's adversaries. We have seen that it took three years to form a moderate majority within the German Reichstag. As long as there was no really vital and controversial issue, this majority had held together pretty well. But when it was confronted with the *fait accompli* of the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk, which violated all possible principles of moderation, the parties did not rise to fight but acquiesced.

The peace settlement with Russia was an illustration of the way in which the Supreme Command could make the wildest annexationist dreams come true. It deprived Russia of the most valuable parts of her European possessions—Poland, the Baltic States, and the Ukraine—placing the areas, if not under the direct sovereignty, at least under the influence of the Central Powers. There were certain mitigating circumstances that help to explain Germany's eastern policy; but there can be no doubt that this treaty was one of the most blatant manifestations of German expansionism and as such was a tremendous boon to Allied propaganda. It now was evident what Germany meant when she spoke of "real guarantees and securities" and refused to be more specific. Looked at in the light of Brest-Litovsk, the future of Western Europe, in case of a German victory, was a dismal one indeed.

If only the representatives of the German people had shown that they were not in accord with their government's annexationist policy! But quite the opposite happened. Only the Social Democrats launched a slight protest against the treaty and refused to vote on it. Erzberger, on the other hand, went so far as to state that "the peace which we have concluded in the East stays entirely within the bounds of the July 19th Resolution. Wherever it deviates from those principles it represents only temporary police measures."<sup>74</sup> The German Reichstag had proved to the world that it might talk peace when the going was tough—as was the case in the summer of 1917—but that it was unwilling to stand up for its convictions when the situation improved. Some doubts remained with the delegates, to be sure. On March 21, the majority parties, with the collaboration of the National Liberals, published a resolution expressing their hope that the government would help the peoples liberated from the Russians to set up their own governments, according to the principle of self-determination.<sup>75</sup> Germany's actual policy in the east, which assumed all the aspects of veiled annexation, soon aroused further opposition and criticism from German moderates.<sup>76</sup> But the harm had been done and these belated protests, while weakening the German home-front, did nothing to remedy the situation east of the Vistula.

To explain the attitude of the majority parties we must remember that there had always been considerable anti-Russian feeling among German moderates and socialists. To those among them who could convince themselves that the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk primarily intended the liberation of Russia's western provinces, its acceptance was made easy. Others, especially the Social Democrats, argued that the treaty at least put an end to the war in the east and was thus an important milestone on the road to a general peace settlement. To oppose it would only prolong the war and perhaps lead to an equally hard peace imposed upon Germany by the Allies. As far as the bourgeois parties were concerned, we must not underestimate the prestige which the Supreme Command enjoyed in the eves of most Germans. While their own attempts at a policy of moderation and negotiation had found little response in the Allied camp. Ludendorff's policy of the sword seemed once again to have lived up to its reputation of infallibility. Since the chief aim of most Germans was to end the war, why, they felt, should they object if this could be done with some territorial or economic gains into the bargain? Why-and here we see the connection with the west-should the Supreme Command not be given an opportunity to try against the Allies what had been accomplished with such evident success in the east? We have noticed that, up to the beginning of the spring offensive, the majority parties insisted on the restoration of Belgium. Yet to go one step further and insist on a public declaration of such a

<sup>74</sup> Ibid., XII(1), 142-43.

<sup>75</sup> *Ibid.*, p. 143.

<sup>76</sup> Dahlin, pp. 324-26.

policy required more determination, unity of purpose, and courage than the Reichstag majority possessed. As in other periods of history, the sin of the majority of Germans was one of omission rather than commission, the willingness to acquiesce in the decisions made by men who had the courage of translating their convictions and ambitions into reality.

#### Annexationism during the Spring Offensive

Germany's offensive in the west started with a series of brilliant successes which seemed to fulfill the Supreme Command's most hopeful expectations. Somewhat prematurely, as it turned out, the Emperor awarded the Iron Cross with gold rays (a decoration given only once before to Blücher after the battle of Belle-Alliance) to Hindenburg, four days after fighting began. Germany's forces achieved several outstanding victories and were able to maintain their initiative against the Allies into the summer; yet they failed to deliver the one decisive blow which might force the other side to sue for peace. The danger of "winning herself to death" became increasingly more real for Germany as the campaign dragged on.

The German people, of course, were unaware of all this. As usual victories on the military front strengthened the position of the annexationists at home, and as a result we find the last major outburst of expansionist propaganda during the spring of 1918. In the light of later events, these manifestations are difficult to understand. Yet at the time they seemed entirely justified. The period of comparative moderation, ushered in by the July Peace Resolution, had come to an end. The day once more belonged to the annexationists, and they made the most of it.

At a meeting on April 14, the Pan-German League re-defined its position on war aims. Only a month before, the League had suffered a major set-back when six of its more prominent members, all of them National Liberal Reichstag deputies, under the leadership of Stresemann, had resigned their membership "in view of the inner political attitude and the unprecedented method of fighting against the National Liberal Party indulged in by the *Deutsche Zeitung*, founded by the Pan-German League." The fight for strong war aims, however, was not much affected by the secession, since the former members specifically declared that their step would not involve any change in their "work for a strong guarantee of the German future." <sup>77</sup> At the April meeting, after the main speech by Count Reventlow, that never-tiring apostle of German westward expansion, a resolution was adopted professing once again the League's "adherence to its war aims drawn up at the beginning of the war." "Before all things Belgium must remain firmly in German hands, from a military, political, and economic point of view.... The German people must demand from the sense of duty of the Reichstag that it give up the decision of July 19, 1917, and following the historical events, stand for the war aim which arises out of the military situation."<sup>78</sup> Other organizations of the Kriegszielbewegung likewise came out for strong war aims. On April 9, General Keim, addressing the Army League, demanded the annexation of Belgium as proposed in the late General von Bissing's famous testament.<sup>79</sup> Ten days later, the *Vaterlandspartei* held its second general meeting which brought forth a manifesto similar to the Pan-German one of April 14.80 The activities of the Independent Committee became still more closely affiliated with the Fatherland Party when Dietrich Schäfer became the latter's Vice-President in March of 1918.81

A word should be said, perhaps, about the widespread demand for an indemnity, found in most annexationist writings of this period. It was not a new war aim, but had always formed a kind of appendix to most war-aims programs. As the war continued, and financial burdens increased, this financial aim had assumed growing significance. Especially in connection with Germany's war loans, the hope for substantial indemnities supplied an important incentive for investment.<sup>82</sup> On various occasions during late 1917 and early 1918, the matter had been the subject of debates in the Prussian, Bavarian and Saxon Diets and substantial indemnities had been demanded in both places.<sup>83</sup> Various industrial and commercial organizations constantly reiterated these financial de-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Werner, p. 249; Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, March 13, 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Vossische Zeitung, April 15, 1918 (ev. ed.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Kreuzzeitung, April 10, 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, III, May 2, 1918, 1081; Wortmann, p. 52.

 $<sup>\</sup>sim$   $^{s1}$  Schäfer, Leben, p. 221. For additional annexationist statements see K. Jünger, ed., Vom kommenden Weltfrieden (Siegen, 1918), passim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Germany, Reichsbank, Leitfaden und Nachschlagewerk zur Werbearbeit zur VII. Kriegsanleihe (n. pl., 1917), p. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Vorwärts, Nov. 29, 1917; P. Dehn. Nicht ohne Kriegsentschädigung (Halle, 1918), pp. 37 ff.; Münchner Neueste Nachrichten, Feb. 9, 1918.

mands.<sup>84</sup> Some writers on the subject went one step further and tried to figure out the amount Germany required to pay her war debts and losses. They arrived at figures anywhere between 120 and 190 billion marks, which they hoped to collect from the Allies after the war.<sup>85</sup>

The great industrialists likewise welcomed Germany's initial military successes.<sup>86</sup> In April, the Vossische Zeitung circulated a questionnaire among the leaders of German industry, asking for their aims in regard to France. Ernst von Borsig, partner in one of Germany's leading machine manufacturing concerns, wanted Briev-Longwy, since the Allied threat of economic reprisals after the war would limit Germany's foreign sources of iron-ore. August Thyssen stressed the strategic necessity of the same region for the protection of Germany's steel production. Stinnes' director Albert Vögler went so far as to call "the acquisition of the iron district of Briey and Longwy . . . a question of life and death for the German iron industry." <sup>87</sup> Also at this time, Jacob Reichert, secretary of the Verein Deutscher Eisen-und Stahlindustrieller, wrote two pamphlets pointing out the advantages to be gained from the annexation of France's iron regions.<sup>88</sup> The Christian labor unions shared these views. "If we are able to conclude a powerful peace," their leader Stegerwald said in April 1918, "we want such a peace under all circumstances"; and the Deutsche Metallarbeiter, organ of the Christian metal and foundry workers' union, in an article on April 6, 1918, specifically demanded the Briev-Longwy basin.<sup>89</sup>

As was to be expected, the Supreme Command shared the optimism of its annexationist friends, though its better insight into the country's real military situation should have advised greater caution in the discussion of war aims. "The events of the past months," Hindenburg wrote to Hugenberg on March 31, 1918, "prove that the kind of victory we need for Germany's political

84 Dehn, pp. 32-33; Weserzeitung, May 2, 1918.

<sup>85</sup> Dehn, pp. 40-41; P. Franz, *Der Bankerott-Friede* (München, 1918), pp. 2 ff.; M. Kögl, "Finanzlage und Kriegsentschädigungsfrage," *Handel und Industrie*, XXVII (1918), 99-100.

<sup>86</sup> Hugenberg, pp. 190-91.

<sup>87</sup> Vossische Zeitung, April 7, 1918.

<sup>88</sup> J. Reichert, Aus Deutschlands Waffenschmiede (Berlin, 1918), pp. 107-09; J. Reichert, Was sind uns die Erzbecken von Briey und Longwy? (Berlin, 1918), passim.

<sup>89</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VII (1), 34; G. W. Schiele, Wie der rechte Deutsche Arbeiterfrieden aussehen muss (Nürnberg, 1918), passim. and economic future can no longer be wrested from us." 90 On April 16, the Field Marshal joined the annexationists in urging the Reichstag to declare itself "for a strong German peace, which alone can preserve us from a future war."<sup>91</sup> General Ludendorff likewise maintained his plans for some kind of German hold over Belgium.<sup>92</sup> On May 25, a discussion took place at Brussels between the Supreme Command and members of the Belgian administration, on the post-war settlement. All present, particularly Governor General von Falkenhausen, Hindenburg, and Ludendorff, agreed that Germany's occupation of Belgium ought to last at least ten years, and longer, if necessary. Certain sections, Hindenburg pointed out, should be annexed permanently. This applied particularly to Liège, to protect the industrial region of Aix-la Chapelle and to keep an eve on Brussels. "To those in Berlin," he said, "we must use as a threat that we have to annex Liège no matter what, if we cannot chain Belgium solidly to Germany." During the period of occupation, the Belgians would, of course, only be permitted to have a police force. Later on, perhaps, if Germany's community of interest with Flanders was definitely assured, a Flemish army might be organized. The central government would have to be kept as weak as possible, von Falkenhausen held. And finally, about the Flanders coast, Ludendorff pointed out that it would "decide the next war. Time will show if it is possible to replace the German marines by Flemish ones. The coast must be protected against a land encirclement from the direction of the French frontier." 93 Here we have one of the frankest expositions of the Supreme Command's plans for Belgium. Reduced to essentials it foresaw one of two alternatives: either Belgium became completely subservient to German influence, or else Germany would continue her occupation of the country indefinitely. The former would mean "veiled annexation"; the latter open annexation, though it might not be called that. Of special interest is Ludendorff's statement on the Flemish coast, about which the army had thus far been hesitant to commit itself. In early April, under the influence of the German successes on the western front, Admiral von Holtzendorff had produced another memorandum on this question, so close to the heart of German naval authorities and annexationists. The main points of the Admiral's memorandum

<sup>92</sup> Rupprecht, II, 399-400. <sup>93</sup> "Rudiger," pp. 83-85.

<sup>90</sup> Kriegk, p. 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Reichstag, vol. 311, p. 4574.

dealt with the creation of a Duchy of Flanders under German protection and the cession of Wallonia to a "royalist" France.<sup>94</sup> Nothing shows better the narrow and unrealistic outlook under which some annexationists drew up their war aims, guided exclusively by the particular requirements of their own department. Politically, geographically, and most of all economically, the permanent separation of the Flemish and Walloon sections was an unwise if not impossible scheme. Whoever held the coast would by necessity also dominate its hinterland, a fact which many annexationists realized only too well, though for tactical reasons they preferred to keep quiet about it.

# The Future of Belgium

Before examining the attitude of the government and parties during this Indian Summer of annexationism, we must consider briefly developments in occupied Belgium, to discover what bearing they might have upon the situation in Germany. We need not discuss in any great detail the economic exploitation of the occupied areas, which was largely dictated by the demands of a German economy restricted by Great Britain's blockade. There was also an element of interference by German industrialists who saw in destruction the most effective way of throttling their inconvenient Belgian competitors.<sup>95</sup> The real and most willful damage was not done until the retreat of the German troops after the failure of the 1918 offensive. Yet already on October 16, 1917, Director Middendorf of the Section for Commerce and Industry of the German administration of Belgium pointed out that, if the war would last another year and a half, Belgium's resources, except for coal and phosphates, would be completely exhausted, a warning which he repeated in June of 1918.96 Besides the destruction of industries through confiscation of vital materials, the liquidation of industrial enterprises and their transfer into German hands went on apace. The purpose behind these measures, as Ludendorff pointed out once more in a letter to the Secretary of the Interior, Helfferich, on October 20, 1917, was to create faits accomplis for the post-war period.<sup>97</sup> The rule that only predominantly French and British

<sup>94</sup> Hertling, pp. 92-93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> A. Erkelenz, "Die geschichtliche Schuld der deutschen Schwerindustrie," *Hilfe*, Jan. 1, 1924, pp. 3-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Kerchove, p. 152.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Wer hat den Krieg verlängert?, pp. 4-5.

enterprises in Belgium could thus be liquidated was soon evaded by special provisions.<sup>98</sup> Alongside these more destructive aspects of Germany's industrial activity should be mentioned her attempts to open up the rich coal deposits of the Campine region.<sup>99</sup> If German war-time economy required the thorough exploitation of all possible sources of raw materials, we should not conclude from the resulting destruction that Germany had no intention of keeping Belgium after the war. In a meeting of the Section of Commerce and Industry, the eventual affiliation of Belgian and German industries was discussed in detail. It was agreed to make the revival of each Belgian industry dependent on its utility to Germany, and to distinguish between Belgian industries which were harmful to their German competitors and those which were not.<sup>100</sup>

Still more interesting than these economic questions was the simultaneous growth of administrative separation between Flemings and Walloons. We have already traced developments up to the death of General von Bissing and the formation of a culturally independent Flemish region under the leadership of a Council of Flanders. The new Governor General, Baron von Falkenhausen, like his two predecessors a retired General and well-preserved septuagenarian, lacked von Bissing's political foresight and talent for organization. So it is not surprising that he became a willing tool in the hands of the Supreme Command, whose views on the future of Belgium predominated from then on. On September 11-12, 1917, for instance, the Governor General, in an exchange of views with Helfferich, advocated economic collaboration between Germany and Belgium (railroads, tariff union, monetary union, Campine), close relations between Germans and Flemings, and substantial military guarantees, in short the kind of program Hindenburg and Ludendorff were suggesting at this same time.<sup>101</sup>

On May 19, 1917, Falkenhausen received the delegates of the Council of Flanders, who expressed their loyalty to Germany and their hope that the existing administrative separation between Flanders and Wallonia would eventually develop into a political separation, with a special government for Flanders. Falkenhausen's answer carefully avoided the word "independence" when referring to the future of the Flemings and did not conceal the fact that he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Germany, Nationalversammlung, VII, 16. <sup>99</sup> Keim, pp. 217-18; Hertling, p. 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Kerchove, pp. 158-59. <sup>101</sup> Dahlin, pp. 95-96.

envisaged future developments under the protection of Germany.<sup>102</sup> On August 29, 1917, the new Chancellor, Michaelis, received a similar delegation of the Council and promised to adhere to Bethmann Hollweg's promises of March 3, 1917, to the effect that Germany would secure the free development of the Flemings at the peace conference. Other minor concessions were made by the German government, such as the introduction of Flemish as official language of Flanders and the formation of a Flemish guard, the *Rijkswacht*.<sup>103</sup> At the same time the German government studied the administrative division of the Austro-Hungarian Empire, as a possible guide for the handling of the Belgian problem.<sup>104</sup> Despite this activity, Ludendorff, on November 28, 1917, complained about the absence of a clear and determined line in the dealings between the Political Section of the Government General and the Flemings. The Chief of the Political Section. Baron von der Lancken, pointed out in his answer, that the Flemings, as a people, had too strong a sense of independence ever to become entirely the object of German policy and that Germany would be successful only if a certain amount of freedom were left to the Flemings in shaping their own destiny.<sup>105</sup> Similar warnings against the opposition of many Flemings to any close collaboration with Germany had been frequent since the early days of the war.<sup>106</sup> Nor did the Flemish policy of the German government meet with the undivided approval of all members of the Government General. The head of the civil administration, von Sandt, and many of his associates, did not share the usual predilection for the Flemings, and many officers of the occupation force looked down upon the pro-German " activists " as traitors. The economic importance of the Walloons, finally, made many people hesitate to alienate that important section of the Belgian population.<sup>107</sup>

The main desire of the Flemings, as they had pointed out to Falkenhausen on May 19, 1917, was to transform the already existing administrative separation into political independence. On December 22, 1917, therefore, the Council of Flanders, in a surprise

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Raad van Vlaanderen, p. xxix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Clough, pp. 211-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Lutz, German Empire, I, 361.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 105-06.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Frankfurter Zeitung, Aug. 9, 1917; Berliner Tageblatt, June 26, 1918; Rauscher, p. 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> "Rudiger," pp. 60-61.

move, proclaimed the independence of the province of Flanders. This came as a decided shock to the German government, and the Council did not get permission to publish its proclamation until the word "autonomy" had been substituted for "independence." 108 Even so, Germany's civil and military authorities differed on the desirability of announcing the proclamation. Both Falkenhausen and Ludendorff desired that it be made public, and it was chiefly due to their pressure that Count Hertling finally acquiesced. Ludendorff's chief argument was that the declaration of Flemish autonomy would strengthen the Flemish movement inside the Belgian army and thus weaken that army's power of resistance.<sup>109</sup> In a letter to one of his army friends, on February 15, 1918, the General gave additional and more plausible reasons: "I consider the division of Belgium into Flanders and Wallonia," he wrote, "one of the surest means of realizing our chief war aim in Belgium, the destruction of Anglo-French influence by economic conquest and eventually by political conquest of the country." <sup>110</sup> This statement was made at the same time that some people in Germany suggested the opening of a political offensive through a declaration on the unconditional restoration of Belgium.

As a result of Ludendorff's intervention, the Flemings, on January 20, 1918, proclaimed their autonomy. The same day a new Council of Flanders was "elected" by acclamation. It adopted a sixpoint program, which included the complete political independence of Flanders and her freedom to deal directly with foreign powers. The publication of this program was promptly forbidden by the Germans, who preferred to leave to the future any final decision on Flanders.<sup>111</sup> On March 7, 1918, the Governor General received a delegation of the new Council and declared once again that he intended to keep Bethmann Hollweg's promises of March 3, 1917. The Proclamation of December 22, 1917, he interpreted as an indication of Flemish desire to be liberated from the Walloons. The conditions of their autonomy, however, would have to be determined at the future peace conference.<sup>112</sup> At the request of General Ludendorff, Hertling likewise received some members of the Coun-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Becker, pp. 332-33; Clough, p. 204.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> "Rudiger," pp. 68-69, 286.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Ibid., p. 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Schulthess, vol. 59 (2), pp. 343-45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Leipziger Tageblatt, March 8, 1918, (ev. ed.); Schulthess, vol. 59 (2), p. 345.

cil on July 26, 1918, and told them that he shared Bethmann Hollweg's views on the Flemish question.<sup>113</sup>

These rather nebulous promises, postponing the settlement of the problem until a future date, did not satisfy the Council of Flanders. On June 20, therefore, it published another manifesto demanding the political, cultural, and economic independence of Flanders.<sup>114</sup> While the industrial Kölnische Zeitung applauded this declaration for a "Flanders free and Flemish, in close economic relations to its natural hinterland, Germany," the German government remained noncommittal.<sup>115</sup> The reason for this attitude is interesting. It seems that the administrative separation which Germany herself had introduced, had turned out to be a doubtful blessing and had resulted in considerable difficulties and confusion. Events had proved that the complete political separation of Flanders and Wallonia was undesirable from an economic point of view.<sup>116</sup> This was taken into account when the Government General drew up its own program for the future of Belgium in early April of 1918. Economically, far-reaching collaboration with Germany was suggested, with such details as the establishment of a customs and monetary union and German influence over rail and waterways. Of particular interest, however, are the proposals for Belgium's future political organization. The separation between Flemings and Walloons was to be carried through as planned, yet for economic reasons a certain amount of unity was to be maintained by means of a common ruler and common ministries for both sections of the country.<sup>117</sup>

The question is—why did the Germans bother to maintain the division of Belgium, if it caused them such difficulties and was economically harmful? The answer, given on several occasions by Ludendorff, was that the principle of "divide and rule" presented many advantages to Germany.<sup>118</sup> "It matters very little to the Central Powers whether or not Belgium is divided into the two states of Flanders and Wallonia," a confidential memorandum of the Government General read. "What does matter is that we shall profit from this linguistic dualism which so divides and breaks

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> "Rudiger," pp. 286-87; Raad van Vlanderen, pp. 434-35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Schulthess, vol. 59 (2), pp. 347-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, June 26, 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> C. von Delbrück, Mobilmachung, p. 254; Winnig, pp. 413-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 106; VII (1), 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> "Rudiger," pp. 82, 286-87.

up the Belgian people that German public opinion will see the necessity of our occupying Belgium."<sup>119</sup> The duration of such an occupation, it was decided on May 25 by the Supreme Command and the Government General, was to be at least ten years.<sup>120</sup> Tt. was to be discontinued only on condition that Germany's influence over the country in general and Flanders in particular had been securely established. The general agreement registered again on this occasion, as well as the general developments in Belgium during 1917 and early 1918, shows that the annexationism current in Germany had the full support of the Belgian administration. There was considerable difference of opinion about the details of Belgium's future among the leading members of the Government General. But there is no indication that the latter ever advocated the unconditional restitution of Belgium, necessary prerequisite for a negotiated peace.

## The Fall of Kühlmann

The German government, during the spring of 1918, left the field of war aims pretty much to the Supreme Command and its annexationist friends. The negotiations at Brest-Litovsk having been concluded, the peace settlement with Rumania was now being discussed at Bucharest. It was in connection with the German Foreign Secretary's presence at the Rumanian capital, that the annexationists tried to play one of their less savory tricks, trying to bring about Kühlmann's fall. The Secretary's moderation had long been a matter of concern to the proponents of far-reaching war aims. Already in March of 1918 Kühlmann had been warned against the constant agitation for his dismissal, carried on by the great industrialists, notably Stinnes.<sup>121</sup> In April, the Secretary was again involved in some of his efforts to open direct and secret negotiations with the British government.<sup>122</sup> On April 23, the Deutsche Zeitung published an article accusing von Kühlmann of damaging the reputation of the German Empire by his nightly excursions into the Bucharest demi-monde during his negotiations with Rumania.<sup>123</sup> As was to be expected, the article caused a considerable stir, though in a way quite different from what its authors had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Raad van Vlaanderen, p. 499.

<sup>120</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 261.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Haussmann, pp. 187, 190-91; Max von Baden, p. 266.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Haussmann, p. 189; Werner, p. 270.

expected. The German press was unanimous in its denunciation of the methods used in attacking one of the Reich's chief political figures. Vice-Chancellor von Payer, for the government, sued the editor of the *Alldeutsche Blätter*, chief source of the mud-slinging against Kühlmann.<sup>124</sup> The affair, in itself of little consequence, shows to what depths of bad taste the annexationists were willing to stoop to realize their aims. If they were concerned over the dignity of their country, this was one way how not to maintain it, because the impression this incident left abroad was anything but favorable.<sup>125</sup>

In view of the wave of annexationism that swept over Germany in the spring of 1918, the moderate Reichstag majority found it difficult to withstand the many requests for repudiating publicly its Peace Resolution of July 19, 1917. Only the Socialists maintained unwaveringly, or almost unwaveringly, their anti-annexationist stand.<sup>126</sup> Speakers of both the Center and Progressive Parties, on the other hand, pointed out that because the enemy had refused to accept their peace offer Germany's hands were now free to make whatever settlement she desired.<sup>127</sup> At a meeting of the Center Party's Rhineland branch, the Reichstag deputy Trimborn asserted that his party would approve any peace settlement in the west as it had done in the east.<sup>128</sup> Erzberger, on the other hand, published a declaration in May upholding the validity of the Reichstag Resolution; but in view of the elastic interpretation that Resolution had received, particularly by Erzberger himself, such a statement had only limited value.<sup>129</sup> The Progressives, likewise, had their share of members who desired that the party dissociate itself from the Peace Resolution. The Progressive deputy Fischbeck had published an article to that effect in April and was supported by several of his colleagues, notably Müller-Meiningen and Schulze-Gaevernitz. The majority of the party, however, under the leadership of Friedrich Naumann, declared its continued adherence to the July Resolution.130

<sup>124</sup> Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, III, May 9, 1918, 1124.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> A French punster referred to the German Foreign Secretary as *Ridi culmann*, *embrasseur d'Allemagne*. Kühlmann claims that the attack against him was inspired by persons "close to the Supreme Command." Kühlmann, pp. 564-65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Winnig, p. 416.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, April 6, 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Ibid., April 7, 1918; Reichstag, vol. 311, p. 4155.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Germania, May 23, 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Haussmann, p. 187; Ostfeld, p. 54.

These various manifestations show that we must not overestimate the continued vitality of the Resolution as the chief binding force on the Reichstag majority. It was with some justification that Gustav Stresemann, at a meeting of his National Liberals, could say: "Practically we have brought it to this, that a conclusion of peace, in opposition to the policy of July 19, has been agreed to by all the bourgeois parties."<sup>131</sup> What kept the majority together was not so much its common moderation in the field of foreign policy as its united demand for the reform of Prussia's franchise. On April 30, the franchise bill came up for its second reading in the Prussian House of Deputies. Its key provisions, in favor of equal franchise, had been replaced by a complicated system of plural suffrage, which robbed the bill of its most essential features. Count Hertling gave a serious warning to the deputies among whom the anti-reform parties of the Right predominated. "Equal franchise," he said, "will come, if not today, then within a measurable length of time. It must come either without disturbances or after serious internal conflicts."<sup>132</sup> Yet extensive discussions of the bill failed to bring any substantial change, and on July 4, after its fourth reading, the bill was passed in its adulterated form and equal franchise had been defeated.<sup>133</sup> Not only in external policy, therefore, but in the much more important domestic field, the forces of annexationism and reaction had their last great success. Coming so shortly before the final catastrophe, such narrow-minded insistence on obsolete privileges seems difficult to comprehend. But we must remember that to most of the beneficiaries of the Hohenzollern regime, the loss of these privileges was at least as vital a threat as the military defeat of their country.

The optimism of the annexationists, however, was hardly justified by events on the western front. By the end of March, one week after the start of the offensive, Germany's first thrust against the Anglo-French lines between the Scarpe and Oise rivers had spent its force. Its objective, the break through the Allied front, the separation of the French and British armies, and the defeat of the latter, had failed. A second offensive, this time on the Armentières sector, beginning on April 9, and culminating on April 25 in the successful attack upon the key position of Kemmel, likewise

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Berliner Tageblatt, March 11, 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Lutz, German Empire, II, 435.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 187-90.

brought the Germans outstanding successes, but failed to effect the decisive break which alone could re-convert the struggle in the west into a war of movement. It took another month before the German armies had sufficiently recovered so that another major attack could be undertaken. It was during this period of waiting that some doubts began to appear among the German people about the success of the great military venture. "The public doesn't read the army communiqués any more," Conrad Haussmann wrote to Haeften in May. "It is uncertain about the offensive, whether it is still going on or whether it is to start all over again. Public opinion in villages and cities is very quiet."<sup>134</sup>

From this atmosphere of doubt grew another series of plans for a peace offensive, such as we witnessed during the first months of 1918. Hermann Stegemann, in early May, summed up Germany's position as "excellent—but hopeless," hopeless because she had missed her chance of making a special declaration on Belgium before the military offensive began. Such a declaration, he held, "would either have made the offensive superfluous or else would have increased its effectiveness one hundred-fold." <sup>135</sup> Yet other people believed that a political offensive was still possible at this point. On June 1, Crown Prince Rupprecht wrote to Hertling, whom he knew intimately from the latter's days as Bavaria's first minister: "At one time I myself supported the idea of joining Belgium with the German Reich in some form. But I have now changed my mind, aside from other reasons, because I am convinced that the only way which can lead us to peace is a declaration to the effect that we intend to maintain Belgium's independence untouched." Count Hertling's answer on June 5 expressed agreement. "As far as Belgium is concerned," he wrote, "I agree with Your Royal Highness that the Angliederung of the country to the German Reich is not to be desired; some difficulty will be created by the administrative separation, introduced during the occupation." <sup>136</sup> This view was certainly more moderate than Hertling's public utterances. But even so, it did not touch upon Prince Rupprecht's main suggestion for an open declaration of Germany's disinterestedness in Belgium.

Of further interest in this connection is a lengthy memorandum which the German Crown Prince handed to his father in July. Since the military situation was such as to make a victorious conclusion of the war most unlikely, at least in the near future, the

<sup>134</sup> Haussmann, p. 197. <sup>135</sup> Max von Baden, p. 275. <sup>136</sup> Hertling, pp. 140-42.

Crown Prince suggested that Germany try once again to reach a negotiated peace through neutral channels. For that purpose a clear definition and statement of her war aims was a prime necessity. "Of course we want to keep Alsace-Lorraine," the Crown Prince wrote, "and we also want back our colonies. Perhaps we may also demand the Briey basin. But on the other hand we should agree to renounce a war indemnity and to restore Belgium..." Germany already had enough unreliable foreign minorities within her boundaries, he held, without increasing their number by extending her hold over Belgium. To keep the Flanders coast would be unacceptable to England and of little use to Germany, since its ports were not very well suited as naval bases.

In addition [the Prince concluded] the coast would force us to maintain a fleet at least equal to that of England, which we would hardly be able to do. We therefore better agree that Belgium will remain independent, neither pay nor receive an indemnity, may not keep an army, and recognize Germany's economic equality with the states of the Entente.<sup>137</sup>

How widespread the idea for a political offensive had become is shown by the fact that some German newspapers now began writing about it. On May 22, in a widely discussed article, the Neue Preussische Zeitung suggested that Germany open such an offensive by declaring her specific official war aims, especially towards England. The Vorwärts (on June 1) and the Kölnische Zeitung (on June 3) supported this proposal, while annexationist papers like the Deutsche Zeitung, the Deutsche Tageszeitung, and the Kölnische Volkszeitung came out in sharp opposition.<sup>138</sup> Most remarkable, however, was a series of articles in favor of a negotiated peace published in the Kreuzzeitung during the first days of June 1918.<sup>139</sup> Even though its editors insisted that they did not agree with their contents and that the idea behind them differed widely from that of the July Peace Resolution, the fact that they were published in a paper notorious for its annexationism created a considerable stir.<sup>140</sup> The same paper, on June 6, advocated the annexation of the Briey-Longwy region, but admitted, as had been pointed out before, that Germany might secure her necessary supplies of iron ore by means of a treaty with France on the model of her petroleum convention with Rumania.141

<sup>137</sup> Bauer, p. 219.	<sup>139</sup> Helfferich, p. 625.

<sup>138</sup> Seeberg, pp. 55-57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> Kreuzzeitung, June 5, 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> For a similar suggestion see Europäische Staats-und Wirtschaftszeitung, May 11, 1918.

More important still was a second memorandum of Colonel von Haeften, dated June 3, 1918, and repeating the ideas first expressed by him on January 14. Already on May 19, Prince Max von Baden, during a visit to the front, had asked Ludendorff to attempt another peace settlement before Germany spent her last bit of offensive strength. The General had agreed, but a new German offensive against the French between Novon and Rheims required his immediate and undivided attention. Starting on May 27, along the slopes of the Chemin des Dames, this renewed attack again did not go beyond its initial successes and had to be broken off on June 13. It was at the height of Germany's successful advance that von Haeften handed his memorandum to Ludendorff.<sup>142</sup> The document made specific suggestions for a political offensive, to be carried out by a number of prominent unofficial persons, just before Germany launched the final thrust of her military offensive. It differed in one essential respect from the original draft of Haeften's proposal of January 14, as well as from most of the other suggestions of its kind: it was quite noncommittal on the key problem of Belgium. "Though it would be wrong, at this time, to make official declarations on the question of Belgium," it said, "it would . . . be most effective if some more or less private personalities would open the question . . . in the manner of the public declarations made thus far by the present and former Chancellors." 143

Despite his current military successes, Ludendorff read Haeften's memorandum with great care and asked that it be sent immediately to Hertling. In a covering note Ludendorff warmly supported the Colonel's proposed peace offensive.<sup>144</sup> On his return to Berlin, therefore, von Haeften was called in to discuss his document with Hertling and Kühlmann. Both of them immediately put their finger upon its chief weakness when they questioned the success of a peace offensive as long as the government and Supreme Command disagreed on the fundamental question of Belgium. After Haeften assured them that an agreement on this crucial point could be achieved, since Ludendorff had expressed quite moderate views on the subject, Hertling and Kühlmann gave their approval and asked the Colonel to take over the direction of the project.<sup>145</sup>

<sup>142</sup> Haussmann, p. 200.

<sup>143</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 342.

<sup>144</sup> *Ibid.*, pp. 195-96. <sup>145</sup> *Ibid.*, p. 197.

After the suggestions for a political offensive from Prince Rupprecht as well as the Supreme Command, the matter was brought to Count Hertling's attention for a third time by Secretary of State Helfferich.<sup>146</sup> But despite these repeated warnings, the Chancellor failed to pursue Haeften's suggestion, a fact which has brought him much unjustified criticism. The main reason for Hertling's hesitation was a memorandum from his Press Chief, Deutelmoser, which pointed to the most startling aspect of the Haeften memorandum, namely, that Germany's military leaders seemed to doubt the chance of ending the war by mere military means. Before Haeften's suggestion could be carried out. Deutelmoser said, agreement had to be established between the government and the Supreme Command, not only on questions of foreign but of domestic policy as well. In addition, the Reichstag would have to be taken into confidence and its co-operation secured.

The most essential point on which agreement had to be reached between civil and military authorities was the question of Belgium; and here, as should be clear from developments thus far, agreement was impossible. Haeften's confidence in Ludendorff's moderation was mostly wishful thinking and the result, probably, of his own moderation. It was contradicted not only by Haeften's statement in late 1918, citing as Ludendorff's aim the maintenance of Germany's military, political, and economic influence over Belgium, but also by the General's own views expressed at the Brussels meeting on May 25 and on other occasions.<sup>147</sup> In the light of all earlier and subsequent developments, it seems most unlikely that the Supreme Command should have agreed to the unconditional restitution of Belgium in June of 1918. The only criticism one can justifiably direct against Germany's political leaders is that they did not call von Haeften's bluff and ask the army for its views on Belgium. Yet since the answer was sure to be unsatisfactory, their failure to ask for it should not cause any great surprise.

If collaboration on a peace offensive between civil and military authorities was thus difficult, the Haeften memorandum had made a sufficiently strong impression to bring about an independent move by Germany's Foreign Secretary. On June 24, Kühlmann was suddenly asked to substitute for Count Hertling and to address the Reichstag. Coming at the end of a strenuous day, the Secretary's improvised speech, delivered in a tone of weary resignation,

<sup>147</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 369.

<sup>146</sup> Helfferich, pp. 625-26.

was definitely one of his less successful performances.<sup>148</sup> He made some general and meaningless statements on Germany's war aims and explained once again that the question of Belgium would have to be treated together with all other problems at the future peace conference, and that Germany could not restrict her freedom of action by a unilateral declaration. This, in reality, was the most significant part of Kühlmann's address, since it closed the door on any opportunity for peace negotiations by means of a clear statement on Belgium.<sup>149</sup> But the real sensation of the day was caused when the Secretary of State hinted at the information he had gained from Haeften's memorandum. "Without some exchange of views," he said, "considering the tremendous extent of this war of coalitions and the number of powers . . . involved in it, an absolute end can hardly be expected from military decisions alone, without recourse, to diplomatic negotiations."<sup>150</sup> This pessimistic confession, that the war could no longer be won by mere military measures, might have been overlooked, had it not been for the vigilance of Count Westarp, who immediately rose to attack Kühlmann's speech as a threat to Germany's morale at home and at the front.<sup>151</sup> Nor did the Supreme Command hide its indignation at the Secretary's speech. Though it was primarily due to the memorandum of one of its own officers, among the chief points of that same memorandum had been the suggestion to keep the government itself from engaging in any peace move and to leave the matter up to unofficial figures of public life. Kühlmann's speech, therefore, though justified, was most unwise. Its immediate result was that Ludendorff told Haeften to give up his efforts for a political offensive.<sup>152</sup> Both Hertling and Kühlmann tried to remedy the situation by explanations before the Reichstag on June 25.<sup>153</sup> The annexationists, especially the *Vaterlandspartei*,

<sup>149</sup> Stegemann, Erinnerungen, pp. 460-61.

<sup>150</sup> *Reichstag*, vol. 312, pp. 5611-12. Kühlmann himself explains his speech as only partly motivated by the Haeften memorandum. Its main purpose was to support another one of his peace feelers towards England by stating openly the need for a "peace of understanding." Kühlmann, pp. 569 ff., esp. pp. 573-74, 576.

<sup>151</sup> Reichstag, pp. 5634-35. Westarp reportedly phoned the Supreme Command immediately after Kühlmann's speech to point out that some of its statements could be used as basis for an attack against the Foreign Secretary. Kühlmann, p. 575.

<sup>152</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 200-03; Helfferich, pp. 627 ff.; Hertling, pp. 55, 75-76, 116 ff., 131 ff.; Payer, *Bethmann Hollweg*, ch. IV.

<sup>153</sup> Reichstag, vol. 312, pp. 5640 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Reichstag, vol. 312, pp. 5607 ff.

joined the Conservatives and National Liberals in condemning a statement which merely told the unpleasant truth.<sup>154</sup> Kühlmann was able to remain in office for another two weeks, and in view of the impression his dismissal would make both abroad and at home, it was by no means an easy decision to let him go.<sup>155</sup> If the Kaiser finally had to tell the Secretary that they had to sever their relations, it was due almost entirely to pressure from Hindenburg and Ludendorff, who refused to have any more dealings with him. To the annexationists, the dismissal of this relatively liberal and moderate official was a major victory. The Supreme Command, against the wishes of Emperor and Chancellor, achieved on July 8 what the *Deutsche Zeitung* had tried without success on April 23, using, as in the case of Bethmann Hollweg's dismissal, their unassailable position in the military sphere to enforce their will in the political field.<sup>156</sup>

Events surrounding the Kühlmann crisis had shown a dangerous lack of collaboration between Germany's political and military authorities. In late June, therefore, Count Hertling decided to move to Supreme Headquarters at Spa, so as to be able to maintain closer personal contact with Hindenburg and Ludendorff. Discussions of vital issues began immediately, and on July 2-3, during von Kühlmann's absence, they turned to a re-definition of Germany's Belgian war aims. The results were embodied in the following statement:

Belgium must remain under German influence, so that she cannot again fall under Anglo-French domination, and thus offer our enemies bases for their armies. For that purpose we must demand the separation of Flanders and Wallonia into two separate states, united only by personal union and economic arrangements. Belgium must, through customs union, community of railways, etc., be brought into closest relation with Germany. For the time being there must be no Belgian army. Germany must secure for herself a long period of occupation with gradual withdrawal in such a way that the Flanders coast and Liège will be evacuated last. The complete evacuation depends on Belgium's attaching herself to us as closely as possible. In particular we must have complete and absolute certainty about Belgian measures for the protection of the Flanders coast.<sup>157</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> Wortmann, p. 53; Westarp, II, 609.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> Payer, Bethmann Hollweg, pp. 69-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 203 ff. The Bund der Kaisertreuen likewise claimed a share in Kühlmann's dismissal: Great Britain, Enemy Supplement, IV, Aug. 15, 1918, 381. Kühlmann gives a full account of his parting discussion with the Emperor for whom he felt considerable admiration and affection. Kühlmann, p. 579.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 346-47.

Here we have additional proof of the Supreme Command's continued optimism and its unwillingness to give up any of its western aims. The old Chancellor, already subservient to the wishes of the military before the spring offensive, now gave in completely to the two men who better than anyone else knew the true state of Germany's military strength. On July 11 he travelled to Berlin to report the Foreign Secretary's dismissal to the Reichstag, and to assure the deputies that the change in personnel—the former Admiral von Hintze had been selected as Kühlmann's successor—did not mean any change in policy.<sup>158</sup> On the same occasion, Hertling referred to the question of Belgium, repeating in sufficiently ambiguous terms the results of the July 2-3 meeting. Germany did not intend keeping Belgium permanently, he held.

Belgium is a pledge (*Faustpfand*) in our hand, to be used at future negotiations... We must protect ourselves in the conditions of peace against the danger of Belgium's turning into a base for the advance of our enemies; we must protect ourselves not only in the military, but also in the economic sense... If we succeed, in addition, in agreeing with Belgium on the political questions which touch Germany's vital interests, we have the definite prospect of finding the best safeguard against future dangers which may threaten us from Belgium or from England and France via Belgium.<sup>159</sup>

In many ways these words remind one of Bethmann Hollweg's vague utterances on the same subject during the first three years of war, and they permitted the same variety of interpretation. While the *Berliner Tageblatt* stressed the moderation of Hertling's speech, the *Kölnische Volkszeitung* welcomed the demand for Germany's economic, political, and military control over Belgium.<sup>160</sup> The annexationist *Deutsche Tageszeitung* was against the declaration, however ambiguous, of Germany's Belgian aims;<sup>161</sup> and the *Vaterlandspartei* published a protest on July 14, refusing

to participate in the attempts to read this or that meaning into the statements [of the Chancellor]. For us Belgium is not merely a pledge. For the security of a lasting peace, real German power in Belgium must defend the economy of the country from Anglo-American exploitation, the Flemings from Gallicisation, German land and German industry from the devastations of a future war, and not least, the seas from English tyranny.<sup>162</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> Ibid., p. 207.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Ibid., XII (1), 156-57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> Ibid., VII (1), 34; Berliner Tageblatt, July 12, 1918 (ev. ed.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Deutsche Tageszeitung, July 13, 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Wortmann, p. 54.

If they had only known how closely their aims really agreed with those of the government, the annexationists could have saved much of their verbal thunder.

# The Final Months

On July 15, the Supreme Command launched its last major offensive on the Rheims-Soissons front. In a conversation with the new Foreign Secretary, Ludendorff was confident that this time the enemy's defeat would be decisive.<sup>163</sup> For once, however, even the usual initial successes failed to materialize, since the French were not taken by surprise and were able to withdraw into prepared positions beyond the range of German artillery. On July 16, therefore, the Supreme Command had to break off operations and on the following day withdrew to the northern bank of the Marne. On July 18, a French countermove, making effective use of tanks, laid a deep breach into the German positions southwest of Soissons. At last the tide had turned; the initiative had shifted from the Germans to the Allies. The attempt to reach a military decision before the arrival of American reinforcements had failed. General Ludendorff realized that the situation was most serious, but still hoped to withstand Allied attacks, which now had to be expected with increasing force and frequency.<sup>164</sup> The orderly withdrawal of German troops into new positions seemed to uphold this view, and a letter of Under-Secretary of State von Radowitz on August 1 testifies to the continued confidence of the Supreme Command.<sup>165</sup> "Five times thus far during the war," Ludendorff remarked to Count Hertling, "I had to withdraw my troops, and still was able, in the end, to beat the enemy. Why shouldn't I succeed a sixth time? " 166

This last vestige of hope was destroyed, or better, should have been destroyed, when on August 8, 1918, large masses of Allied tanks broke the German lines on the Albert-Moreuil sector. This "darkest day" in the history of the German army, as Ludendorff called it, at first convinced the Supreme Command that the game was up.<sup>167</sup> "We have reached the limit of our endurance," the Emperor summed up the situation. "The war must be ended.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 387.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Ludendorff, Kriegserinnerungen, pp. 543, 545-46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 381-82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Hertling, p. 146.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Ludendorff, Kriegserinnerungen, pp. 547 ff.; Scheidemann, Memoiren, II, 175.

..."<sup>168</sup> A meeting was called at Spa on August 13-14, to discuss the situation which had been so profoundly changed a few days earlier. The conviction of the Supreme Command that Germany, by an effective defensive, was still able to exhaust the enemies' military strength and force them to sue for peace, made Ludendorff continue to insist on the far-reaching Belgian war aims drawn up on July 3. Again the political leaders bowed to the judgment of those most qualified to render it. Attempts at a negotiated peace were to be considered at a future date, when the right moment offered itself, "after the next success on the western front." The idea that such a time might never come, that it was already too late for such attempts, since Germany's position in the west had been so severely shaken, seems not to have occurred to anyone at the Spa conference.<sup>169</sup>

Despite the army's continued optimism, the civilian authorities thought it advisable to make some further attempts at a negotiated peace settlement. On August 14, von Hintze told the Bavarian Count Törring, who had been carrying on secret negotiations with the Belgian government since March, that Germany would agree to discuss the complete political and economic independence of Belgium. While going far beyond any concessions the Supreme Command was willing to make, the proposal, as submitted by Count Törring to the Belgian ambassador at Bern, still insisted on the solution of the Flemish question, failed to mention a German indemnity to Belgium, and made its restitution dependent on the return of Germany's colonies. Under the circumstances, the Belgian government, in an official communiqué of September 19, refused to consider such a conditional offer.<sup>170</sup> On August 15, von Hintze, with equally small success, had also informed the government of the United States of his Belgian war aims: "No annexation, no vassal or similar relationship of dependence, good economic relations, guarantees of political and economic independence, also from our adversaries." 171 At an earlier date, such peace offers might have been successful. After August 8, Germany's opponents could afford to wait until Germany was willing to make peace on their own terms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> A. Niemann, Kaiser und Revolution (Berlin, 1928), p. 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, pp. 223 ff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Schulthess, vol. 59 (2), pp. 349 ff., U. A., 4. Reihe, III, 351-52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, II, 235, 393-94.

These last minute attempts at a negotiated peace, moreover, were still over-shadowed by expressions of expansionist war aims. In its refusal to give in, to recognize its own failure, German annexationism revealed once again all those qualities which had made it such a powerful force during four years of war—its patriotism, its greed, and its fear of having to give up some of its cherished privileges. As war aims capable of realization, the pronouncements after the middle of August can no longer be taken seriously; as indications of the deep hold which annexationism had over its victims, these belated expressions are of considerable significance.

On August 19, von Hintze tried once more to have Ludendorff make a concession on Belgium. Two days later, the General replied that he could not approve of the status quo ante, and von Hintze the same day told a meeting of party leaders about the Supreme Command's confidence in Germany's ability to hold out until she could reach a satisfactory peace settlement.<sup>172</sup> On August 20, Solf, speaking before the Deutsche Gesellschaft 1914 on German and British war aims, intended to make a clear statement on Belgium. He was prevented by the Foreign Office, which feared opposition from the Supreme Command.<sup>173</sup> Four days later, Vice-Chancellor von Payer and Count Hertling drafted another statement on Belgium, for which they asked the approval of Hindenburg and Ludendorff. This was given only after several qualifying clauses had been inserted, reserving the Flemish question for future discussions with Belgium and making the restoration in general dependent on the return of Germany's colonies. Finally the declaration was not to be used as such, but was to be carefully concealed in a speech which Payer delivered on September 10, and which even then caused Ludendorff's disapproval.<sup>174</sup> Nothing shows better the stubborn blindness of Germany's military authorities towards the real danger than this wrangling over the details of a statement which, even in its original form, had by no means advocated the unconditional restoration of Belgium. The Payer-Ludendorff negotiations, it has been said, remind one of two men playing a leisurely game of chess aboard a rapidly sinking ship.<sup>175</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Ibid., pp. 236-37; Westarp, II, 563.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> Max von Baden, pp. 292-93; Schulthess, vol. 59 (1), pp. 254 ff.; Schwabach, pp. 257-58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> Payer, Bethmann Hollweg, p. 274; F. von Payer, Mein Lebenslauf (Stuttgart, 1932), p. 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> Rosenberg, p. 225.

The course of events leading up to the final crisis now became ever more complicated. Austria's desire to get out of the war as soon as possible necessitated von Hintze's visit to Vienna in early September, where he discussed the question of war aims with Austria's new Foreign Secretary, Count Burian. Germany's aims, as presented on September 5, were held in most general terms. In regard to Belgium they simply advocated "no appropriation (*Besitznahme*) of Belgium, but no privileges for other powers either." <sup>176</sup>

In the meantime, events on the western front had gone from bad to worse and on September 3 Count Hertling asked Hindenburg's views on the military situation. When no answer had been received by September 9, von Hintze went to Headquarters, where he found continued confidence. The Foreign Secretary on this occasion also reported Austria's contemplated peace proclamation to the Supreme Command. Hindenburg opposed such a move, but at least he agreed to submit to the immediate mediation of a neutral power, which led to an unsuccessful last minute attempt at a negotiated peace through the Queen of the Netherlands.<sup>177</sup>

Despite Germany's efforts to prevent such a step, Austria's peace note was published on September 15, with very serious effects on German public opinion. The leaders of the various parties immediately asked to see the Chancellor, who once again assured them that all was well and that there was no cause for alarm.<sup>178</sup> In general it can be said that, while the Supreme Command, not always very successfully, was keeping the government in the dark as to the real gravity of the military situation, the latter handed the same note of optimism on to the people's representatives. The explanation for such a policy was partly lack of courage to face reality, partly the fear that full knowledge of the seriousness of Germany's position would undermine public morale. As things turned out, a terrible shock was inflicted on the German people when suddenly, a few weeks later, they were confronted by defeat.

It is only through ignorance of the true military situation that we can explain the final outbursts of German annexationism during September of 1918. This ignorance, however, was not so complete as some of the annexationists themselves try to make us believe. On August 12, for instance, the Kaiser's new political

<sup>176</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, XII (1), 224. <sup>177</sup> Ibid., II, 240 ff. <sup>178</sup> Ibid., pp. 245-46.

adviser, von Berg, asked Westarp to use his influence in moderating the discussion of war aims in the annexationist press. This the Count refused to do. Instead the Conservatives clung to their large war aims to the very last minute. On September 26, Westarp declared before the Reichstag Main Committee that his party continued to adhere to its Belgian demands and to a large indemnity. "The renunciation of Belgium and of indemnities," he wrote in the *Kreuzzeitung* on September 29, "will not bring us one step closer to peace." On September 30, the Count repeated the same ideas in his last address on war aims, and he would have continued to do so had not political events—the resignation of Count Hertling and Germany's request for an armistice—advised greater moderation.<sup>179</sup>

Much of the responsibility for the stubborn adherence of the Conservative leader to strong war aims was due directly to the influence of the Supreme Command. Rumor had it in September that the National Liberals were about to come out in favor of a moderate program, such as laid down in Payer's speech of September 10, on the understanding that the Supreme Command agreed to it. Westarp asked Ludendorff if the Supreme Command had made a statement to that effect and whether the General would object if the Conservatives continued to adhere to their western aims. Ludendorff replied: "The Conservative Party shall stick to its war aims. . . I should deplore the declaration of the National Liberal Party."<sup>180</sup>

The Kriegszielbewegung likewise kept up its agitation to the very last minute. "We have no use for a peace of understanding," General von Liebert said in early September, "because it would mean our ruin"; and he went on to make the usual demands for annexations in Western Europe and overseas.<sup>181</sup> On September 2, the Vaterlandspartei celebrated its first anniversary with a meeting advocating a strong peace.<sup>182</sup> Three weeks later, on September 24, it came out with another one of its rousing manifestoes.<sup>183</sup> Despite the government's continued assurance to the contrary, however, some of the annexationists began to suspect that perhaps their dreams might not come true after all. The Frankfurter Zeitung recognized "in the present tone of the Pan-Germans a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Westarp, II, 560-64; U. A., 4. Reihe, III, 325.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Westarp, II, 563-64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Berliner Tageblatt, Sept. 2, 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Frankfurter Zeitung, Sept. 3, 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> Wortmann, pp. 57-58.

new and unwonted quietude, even sadness. Their time, they feel, has gone by."<sup>184</sup>

It is unnecessary to go into the events directly leading up to Germany's request for an armistice on October 3, 1918. The decision to take this momentous step was reached by the Supreme Command on the afternoon of September 28, largely under the influence of Bulgaria's collapse. It came as a complete surprise and shock to the government and the people, especially in view of the army's constant assurance that Germany could hold out until a successful peace was won. It had been due chiefly to the army's confident attitude that the government hesitated to renounce publicly its hopes for some measure of German influence over Western Europe. On September 24. Count Hertling delivered his last important address before the Reichstag Main Committee. When he came to the subject of Belgium, the Chancellor repeated almost exactly the explanations which Bethmann Hollweg had given in 1914 for Germany's violation of Belgian neutrality. His speech expressed moderation, to be sure, but not in specific enough terms to indicate that the government was aware of the fact that the Drang nach Westen had lost all chance of realization.<sup>185</sup>

Even after the Supreme Command requested the government to enter into negotiations for an armistice, expansionist hopes were still expressed by German political and military figures. On September 27, Hindenburg wanted the annexation of Briev and Longwy as one of the armistice conditions, but Ludendorff had sense enough to realize that the time for such demands had gone by.<sup>186</sup> The next day, Solf spoke at the University of Munich, in the presence of King Ludwig of Bavaria, and expected not only the return of Germany's colonies, but also a redistribution of African holdings. in which Belgium, France, and Portugal had to give up some of their disproportionate colonial wealth.<sup>187</sup> After the government. on October 4-5, had officially asked President Wilson for an armistice on the basis of his Fourteen Points, all justification for such continued hopes of gain disappeared once and for all. But even so there are instances of the army's Vaterländischer Unterricht insisting, as late as the middle of October, that Germany had won

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Frankfurter Zeitung, Aug. 29, 1918 (ev. ed.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> U. A., 4. Reihe, VIII, 310-11.

<sup>186</sup> Ibid., II, 405.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Kölnische Zeitung, Oct. 1, 1918.

the war and all she had to do now was to secure the fruits of victory.<sup>188</sup> The Independent Committee and its president, on October 10 and 16, came out against a peace based on Wilson's program.<sup>189</sup> On October 17, Dietrich Schäfer wrote that the Committee "believes to serve the Fatherland by continuing to represent the views which form the basis of its endeavors; for the future belongs to them." <sup>190</sup> On October 23, in a speech before the Reichstag, the former Secretary of the Interior, Count von Posadowsky-Wehner, once more brought up the question of Belgium and implied that Germany should try to maintain a certain amount of influence in that region.<sup>191</sup> And finally, on October 30, following a similar proposal of Hindenburg's six days earlier, the *Vaterlandspartei* suggested that Germany refuse the Allied demands and continue the war as the only means of winning a tolerable peace.<sup>192</sup>

We need not extend the discussion of these death-struggles of annexationism any further. If they seem prolonged and painful, we must remember how much there was at stake for the men whose plans for German expansion had exerted such profound influence on the policy of their country. There were already many indications that the defeat of annexationism was not to be limited to the territorial sphere. On October 4, when Germany's military collapse had become unavoidable, the Supreme Command had finally used its influence to settle the question of Prussian reforms. The result of its intercession was the acceptance, on October 24, of equal franchise for Prussia. The annexationists had suffered a second, at least equally serious defeat in the domestic sphere. The close relationship between a strong peace and the continued enjoyment of the privileged position of Germany's ruling classes, here found its final confirmation. It was to be a matter of weeks before the decisive defeat at the front was followed by the complete and utter collapse of the German political order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Thimme, Weltkrieg, p. 204.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Schäfer, *Leben*, pp. 226-28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> Jagow, p. 124.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> Reichstag, vol. 314, p. 6203.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> Wortmann, p. 62.

# CONCLUSION

WE HAVE come to the end of the Great War and Germany's attempts to extend her political and economic influence over much of the European continent and overseas. The anti-climax to more than four years of great expectations did not come until several months later, when the war aims of the Allies won their triumphal victory at the Peace Conference of Paris. Instead of acquiring the ore basin of Briev and Longwy, Germany had to cede Alsace and Lorraine to France. Instead of gaining all or part of Belgium, she was forced to give up the districts of Eupen and Malmédy. The dream of a large Mittelafrika not only failed to materialize, but Germany lost even the colonies she held before 1914. And finally, far from being able to regain the expenses of the war from their enemies, the Germans had to shoulder the whole burden of misery and destruction which the war had caused to all the world. Annexationism, as the final outcome of the war showed, was a universal problem, not confined to one particular nation. What differences existed between the two groups of powers were of objective rather than of principle. Viewed in the light of four years of annexationist propaganda and the treaties of Brest-Litovsk and Bucharest, the kind of peace settlement which a victorious Germany would have imposed upon her western opponents would most likely have equalled, if not surpassed, the one she was forced to sign at Versailles. Nevertheless, the German people have been almost unanimous in their condemnation of the Versailles Treaty; and ironically enough, the most vociferous denunciations of its terms have come from the very circles that were most outspoken in favor of annexations during the First World War.

It is difficult to sum up a topic as complex as the present one, not the least because it is a study of unfulfilled ambitions. As with any development which fails to reach its logical conclusion, a discussion of the effects of German expansionist plans on the history of the Empire will move as much in the realm of speculation as in the realm of fact. Still, there are two final questions that should be answered on the basis of the material presented in this study. One

# CONCLUSION

concerns the general influence of the problem of war aims on German affairs during the war; the second the role which various factors and factions within Germany played in the propagation of war aims—in other words: who was responsible for the *Drang nach Westen*?

In the field of foreign affairs, the question uppermost in the minds of historians has been whether the continued declaration of German war aims was responsible for the failure to reach a peace of understanding during the course of the war. To answer this question one has to consider not merely Germany's war aims, but those of her opponents as well. To use a concrete example: while the problem of Belgium, because of Great Britain's insistence on Belgian independence, developed into one of the crucial obstacles to a negotiated peace, the problem of Alsace-Lorraine was just as important to Germany as Belgium was to Great Britain. If Germany failed to renounce Belgium. France made it perfectly clear that she never intended to give up her demand for the return of Alsace-Lorraine. Nevertheless, there were several situations-and here we enter the realm of speculation—in which a clear statement on Belgium might have resulted in peace negotiations. England might have been willing to break her commitments under the secret treaties of London and make a separate peace with Germany; or else she could bring sufficient pressure to bear on France, so that the latter would give up her aims in Alsace-Lorraine; or maybe a clear German statement would have strengthened the peace-loving groups within the Allied nations, who in turn might have forced their governments to negotiate peace with Germany. Considering these various possibilities, a clear German statement on Belgium would have been decidedly worth trying. Not to have made it remains a grave blunder of German foreign policy during the World War.

In trying to evaluate the influence of war aims upon domestic affairs in Germany, we are on somewhat safer ground. Entering the war with a number of internal problems, the solution of which had long been overdue, the German people soon found this solution postponed not only for the duration of the war, but most likely for an indefinite period. Annexationism in its most outspoken form became the main province of the upper classes, in their vain hope of maintaining their own political and social supremacy. To the lower classes it appeared, with much justification, that the war was being carried on for the sake of foreign gains, which in turn would only serve to perpetuate domestic injustices. To have thus maintained and intensified the political, social, and economic cleavages among the German people at one of the most critical periods of its existence is one of the serious responsibilities of annexationism.

How large a part these foreign and domestic influences of annexationism played in shaping the history of the German Empire during the World War is difficult to say. To realize their magnitude, we do well to remember the effect of war aims on the dismissal of such important political figures as Bethmann Hollweg and Kühlmann, both of them victims of the annexationists. We should also remember the many attempts to arrive at a negotiated peace settlement, all of them condemned to failure because of the war aims, declared or implied, of the two groups of belligerents. And finally, we should bear in mind the internal strife and disunity created by four years of wrangling over war aims which contributed decisively to the weakening and final collapse of Imperial Germany.

As to the problem of responsibility, it is a more difficult and controversial one. The great number of factors involved in the propagation of German war aims makes it difficult to assign to each a due share of liability for the blunders committed in the handling of the war aims problem. Although the German government entered the war without specific aims, it would have been unrealistic, after the successes of Germany's armed forces, to expect this state of affairs to last. Germany in 1914 was no longer the saturated power she had been under Bismarck. An extension of territory, the gain of new fields of commercial activity, and the acquisition of additional sources of raw material were looked upon as absolute necessities to a growing and highly industrialized country. The German government, therefore, should have drawn up a realistic program of war aims, moderate in scope but specific in character. This program should have been so designed as to concentrate on one of the major fields of possible expansion-east, west, or overseas-and thus, by driving a wedge between the Allied Powers, make possible the kind of negotiated peace which had become an unavoidable necessity since the failure of the Schlieffen plan in 1914. In addition to such specific aims, a series of general principles might have completed a program which, much in the way of President Wilson's Fourteen Points, would have won the support of the majority of Germans, thus making possible a more effective conduct of the war.

## CONCLUSION

Instead, the Imperial government preferred to leave the question of war aims vague and undecided, clinging to the concept of a war of defense, which few people in Germany and still fewer outside really believed. Left without direction from above but encouraged by the ambiguity of official pronouncements, the German people embarked upon a heated controversy over war aims, which destroyed the last vestige of internal unity created by the outbreak of war. Instead of counteracting this confusion of minds by publishing a definite set of aims, the government preferred to suppress this public discussion, thus only increasing its intensity. Abroad, the failure to come out clearly for or against annexations, viewed in connection with these unofficial utterances in favor of far-reaching war aims, created an atmosphere of suspicion, which made any peace short of complete German or Allied victory impossible.

The responsibility for initiating this policy of vagueness and confusion belongs to Bethmann Hollweg. It was he who set the style for the kind of war aims statement open to almost any interpretation which was then followed by his two successors. While moderate in his aims the uncertainty of Bethmann's statements was a direct boon to his annexationist opponents, to whose attacks he finally succumbed. Bethmann's chief motive was a sincere desire to maintain Germany's internal unity by avoiding the disagreement inherent in the vital question of war aims. But even though his own aims were moderate it would be incorrect to consider the Chancellor averse to any expansion whatsoever. Like most of his countrymen. Bethmann was willing to await the outcome of war before deciding on a definite set of aims. Any premature declaration, he felt, would only limit this German choice. Where Bethmann differed from his successors was in his willingness to give up whatever hopes of gain he had, if in return a negotiated peace could be won. The question what might have happened if his dismissal had not come in the midst of the Papal peace move, is one of the most interesting points of speculation of the whole World War.

After the middle of 1917, the direction of affairs shifted from the hands of the political to those of Germany's military authorities. While outwardly the ambiguous policy on war aims continued, there was no longer much doubt as to the annexationist ambitions of those in command. The fact that this change occurred when popular sentiment in Germany and elsewhere grew increas-

ingly desirous of peace, was most deplorable. The primary motive behind the war aims of the Supreme Command was the attempt to secure, once and for all, Germany's position in Western Europe. Ludendorff's views on the fundamental strategic significance of Belgium should have made him realize, however, that Germany's desire of keeping Belgium was matched by an equally strong Allied determination to prevent Germany from gaining too powerful a position there. As the war progressed, it became increasingly clear that there were only two possible alternatives: a German victory, enabling her to do with Belgium as she pleased, or a negotiated peace. requiring first and foremost that Germany give up Belgium. There appear to have been a few brief instances during the spring of 1918, especially in his conversations with von Haeften, when Ludendorff was more moderate on the subject of Belgium; though to declare this moderation openly, he felt, might seriously affect the morale of the German army. The view held by Bethmann Hollweg. that it was a sufficiently great achievement for Germany to have withstood successfully the large coalition of her enemies, was foreign to the military mind. Both Hindenburg and Ludendorff shared the mistaken belief that the average soldier would only continue fighting if he was shown sufficiently large war aims. If anything, the opposite was true. As the hardships of war increased most soldiers were indignant at the suggestion of continuously risking their lives for the sake of ultimate material gains.

Although politically unsound, the strategic motives behind the army's stubborn annexationism are understandable from the point of view of its own limited, military sphere. The unfortunate part was that the Supreme Command gained such a predominating influence over the direction of German affairs. The absence of any suitable counterweight in the political field tended to centralize complete political as well as military responsibility in the hands of General Ludendorff. His strong and domineering personality played a not insignificant part in this process. As a result the necessary and mutually corrective division of control between military and political authorities disappeared. In addition we must remember the close relationship between Ludendorff and the small but powerful annexationist minority, based on a community of war aims and a deep affinity of social background and political belief. The constant contact between the Supreme Command and Germany's barons of industry suggests that the motives which prompted the annexationism of the German army were not always and exclusively military. Ludendorff's uncompromising adherence to strong war aims was the most important single influence in Germany's misguided efforts to extend her sphere of influence to the west. Although his attitude was determined by the needs of his country, these needs were seen entirely through the eyes of his profession and class. On the one hand they included the necessary strategic improvements enabling the General Staff to be prepared for the next war; and on the other such material and territorial gains as would ensure the maintenance of the existing political and social order. There was really little difference between Ludendorff and most of the radical annexationists, except that the General was in a position where he could enforce his annexationist views.

In discussing the attitude of the German people towards war aims, we have distinguished between the large and inarticulate masses and their parliamentary representatives. The views of the first group are difficult to ascertain. It seems fairly certain, however, that the majority of Germans, under the influence of early military successes, were in favor of more or less strong aims. As the war progressed, this stand became more moderate. The change, which became pronounced some time in 1916, ended in a widespread longing for peace among the lower classes. This fact was not due to any greater degree of political insight on the part of this group over its social and economic betters, but rather to the fact that the common people in Germany suffered more deeply from the hardships of war. It was partly for that reason that the change of attitude from annexationism to moderation was not reflected in the German Reichstag until the middle of 1917. Despite the absence of constitutional provisions to that effect, the influence of the Reichstag became ever greater as the war continued. Its role in the dismissal of both Bethmann Hollweg and Michaelis signified the change from bureaucratic to parliamentary regime. But unfortunately little use was made of this newly-won power to demand a voice in the government's foreign policy. The 1917 Peace Resolution was as far as the majority of the Reichstag was willing to go. As soon as the military situation improved, it reverted to its earlier acquiescence in the decisions of Germany's political and military leaders, as shown in the stand taken on the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk. In the majority of its middle class, the

German people resembled those "tree-frog annexationists" whose war aims changed with the news from the front. Only the Socialists, with some exceptions, maintained a consistently and courageously anti-annexationist platform from the first day of the war to the last.

There remains the small group of annexationists to which we have devoted so much of our discussion. Granted the German civil government was too vague and not always moderate in its aims, granted many Germans changed their views according to the success or failure of the armed forces, still there were several critical situations in which the feeling of moderation might have gained the upper hand had it not been for the vigilance of the annexationist groups and individuals organized behind the Kriegszielbewegung. It was this numerically unimportant but politically. financially, and intellectually powerful minority which took the lead in the evolution of a German program of war aims. Among these radical annexationists, the great industrialists played a particularly important role. There may be some doubt as to the motives of some of the members of the Kriegszielbewegung whose patriotism was more important than their greed; there is no doubt as we deal with men like Thyssen, Stinnes, Kirdorf, Hugenberg, Kloeckner, Beukenberg, and their lesser known associates. To these men Germany's westward expansion meant specific material gains, and Germany's failure to expand meant specific material losses.

It was a combination of elements, then, industrialists, Pan-Germans, the parties of the Right, and the Supreme Command, that was responsible for the stubborn propagation of large war aims, which condemned the German people to remain at war until the bitter end. Each of these forces had its own particular reasons for wanting to hold out for far-reaching territorial gains; yet one aim most of them had in common—to ensure through a successful peace settlement the continuation of the existing order, to their own advantage, and to the political and economic detriment of the majority of the German people.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHICAL NOTE**

A full reference for each work used in this study is given on the page of its first citation. The number of this page can be found in the index, under the name of the respective author. Space does not permit giving a complete and critical bibliography of the works consulted. Such a list is given in the earlier version of this study: "Drang nach Westen" (typescript at the Widener Library, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.), pp. 529-73. Most of the research is based on published material, much of which, because of German censorship regulations, was privately printed and is scarce. The bulk of it is available at the Hoover Library, Stanford, California.

State Department restrictions have made it impossible for the author to examine unpublished documentary materials from the German archives captured at the end of the recent war. Scholars who are acquainted with the materials, however, have been very helpful in checking certain conclusions reached in this study.

The main documentary source for the study of German war aims, as for the study of any aspect of German history during the First World War, was published in connection with the Reichstag's postwar investigation into the causes of Germany's collapse in 1918: Germany, Nationalversammlung, Das Werk des Untersuchungsausschusses, 4. Reihe, "Die Ursachen des Deutschen Zusammenbruchs im Jahre 1918," 12 vols. (Berlin, 1925-1929). Of special importance is vol. XII (1), E. O. Volkmann, "Die Annexionsfragen des Weltkrieges." Vol. XII (2) by M. Hobohm has never been published. R. H. Lutz has edited a one volume selection in English from the above series, entitled The Causes of the German Collapse in 1918 (Stanford, 1934). Other important material may be found in Germany, Nationalversammlung, Untersuchungsausschuss über die Weltkriegsverantwortlichkeit, Stenographische Berichte über die öffentlichen Verhandlungen des 15. Untersuchungsausschusses, 2 vols. (Berlin, 1920). The debates of the Reichstag for the war period have been published as Verhandlungen des Reichstages, XIII. Legislaturperiode, II. Sitzung, vols. 306-308. They contain

valuable evidence on the attitude of both the government and the political parties towards the problem of war aims.

No period in German history has been so thoroughly covered by personal memoirs and recollections as the First World War. There is hardly a major or even minor figure who has not left his impressions for posterity. While almost all of these volumes yield some information on war aims, some are more useful than others. The second volume of T. von Bethmann Hollweg's Betrachtungen zum Weltkriege, 2 vols. (Berlin, 1921) gives a dispassionate analysis of the author's political activity during the war. The apologia of his successor, G. Michaelis' Für Staat und Volk (Berlin, 1922). does not succeed in its purpose but contains useful information. The career of Count Hertling has been described by his son, Karl Graf von Hertling, Ein Jahr in der Reichskanzlei (Freiburg, 1919). The last of the Imperial Chancellors, Prinz Max von Baden, in his Erinnerungen und Dokumente (Stuttgart, 1927), throws important light on the events prior to Germany's collapse in 1918. The memoirs both of William II and of Hindenburg are disappointing, not only in respect to war aims. General E. Ludendorff, on the other hand, has presented his case with vigor, if not always impartiality, in his Meine Kriegserinnerungen 1914-1918 (Berlin, 1920) and his Urkunden der Obersten Heeresleitung über ihre Tätigkeit 1916-1918 (Berlin, 1920). The same can be said for Admiral A. von Tirpitz, both in his Erinnerungen (Leipzig, 1919) and in the second volume of his Politische Dokumente, 2 vols. (Hamburg, 1924-1926), which contains important documentary material on war aims. Karl Helfferich, Der Weltkrieg (Berlin, 1919) gives a historical account of the war, interspersed with the author's personal recollections. Richard von Kühlmann's substantial Erinnerungen (Heidelberg, 1948) rounds out the picture on the governmental side.

Several of Germany's party leaders likewise have left us their memoirs. Outstanding is the Conservative Count Westarp's Konservative Politik im letzten Jahrzehnt des Kaiserreiches, 2 vols. (Berlin, 1935), the second volume of which deals with the war period. Philipp Scheidemann in his Memoiren eines Sozialdemokraten, 2 vols. (Dresden, 1928) and Der Zusammenbruch (Berlin, 1921) presents the story from the Socialist side. Matthias Erzberger's Erlebnisse im Weltkriege (Stuttgart, 1920) attempts to explain—not always too successfully and reliably—his

own activities and those of the Center Party. There are two reliable and useful accounts by Progressives: Conrad Haussmann, Schlaglichter (Frankfurt a. M., 1924), and Friedrich von Payer, Von Bethmann Hollweg bis Ebert (Frankfurt, 1923). Among the writings of non-political figures, the memoirs of Heinrich Class, President of the Pan-German League, Wider den Strom (Leipzig, 1932), are easily the most significant, though unfortunately they cover only the first part of the war. Alfred Hugenberg's Streiflichter aus Vergangenheit und Gegenwart (Berlin, 1927) contains some valuable material. while Dietrich Schäfer's Aus meinem Leben (Berlin, 1926) is less important. The Austrian journalist Victor Naumann had frequent contact with leading German figures, about which he tells in his Dokumente und Argumente (Berlin, 1928) and Profile (München, 1925). The same applies to his colleague and compatriot, Heinrich Kanner, who has left "The Papers of Dr. Heinrich Kanner of Vienna" (3 vols. of typescript at the Hoover Library, Stanford, California). Of the large number of remaining memoirs, diaries, and other first-hand accounts, the following deserve special mention: Kronprinz Rupprecht von Bayern, Mein Kriegstagebuch-In Treue Fest, 3 vols. (München, 1929); R. von Valentini, Kaiser und Kabinettschef (Oldenburg, 1931); M. Hoffmann, Die Aufzeichnungen des Generalmajors Max Hoffmann, 2 vols. (Berlin, 1930): E. von Eisenhardt-Rothe. Im Banne der Persönlichkeit (Berlin, 1931); Graf J. H. Bernstorff, Deutschland und Amerika (Berlin, 1920); Oskar Freiherr von der Lancken Wakenitz, Meine Dreissig Dienstjahre (1888-1918) (Berlin, 1931); P. von Schwabach, Aus meinen Akten (Berlin, 1926).

It is impossible to discuss or even cite the numerous writings advocating German westward expansion that appeared during the First World War. The bibliography in the earlier version of this book, mentioned above, contains more than two hundred items in this category. For additional references see Great Britain, Foreign Office, German Opinion on National Policy since July 1914 (London, 1920); also Germany, Kriegsamtsstelle Leipzig, Verzeichnis der Aufklärungsmittel (Leipzig, 1918). A good selection of annexationist statements is S. Grumbach, Das annexionistische Deutschland (Lausanne, 1917), though it covers only the first two years of the War. Much material on war aims, not otherwise obtainable, can be found in Schulthess' Europäischer Geschichtskalender 1914-1918 (München, 1919-1921), an excellent chronicle of events, edited by Ernst Jaeckh and Karl Hönn. A study of the German press and periodicals, especially after the lifting of censorship restrictions on November 27, 1916, yields important evidence on the attitude of the public towards expansionism. The official press digest of the British army: Great Britain, General Staff, *Daily Review of the Foreign Press*, with its Confidential and its Enemy Press Supplements, gives excellent surveys and analyses of German opinion.

Among secondary works, the only major contribution in the field of war aims is E. O. Volkmann's volume in the Fourth Series of the Untersuchungsausschuss (cited above), which presents invaluable material, but fails to treat the subject exhaustively and impartially. There are several studies on various aspects of the war aims problem, none of them outstanding: E. Dahlin, French and German Public Opinion on Declared War Aims 1914-1918 (Stanford, 1933); H. Ostfeld, Die Haltung der Reichstagsfraktion der Fortschrittlichen Volkspartei zu den Annexions-und Friedensfragen in den Jahren 1914-1918 (Kallmünz, 1934), Diss. Würzburg; F. Wacker, Die Haltung der Deutschen Zentrumspartei zur Frage der Kriegsziele im Weltkrieg 1914-1918 (Lohr, 1937), Diss. Würzburg. The numerous attempts at a negotiated peace settlement, so closely related to the war aims question, have been treated more successfully. E. C. Brunauer's "The Peace Proposals of Germany and Austria-Hungary" (Stanford, 1927, typescript at the Stanford University Library) is still useful. The same author's Has America Forgotten? (Washington, 1940) is a more recent brief reminder of Germany's World War expansionism. K. Forster, The Failures of Peace (Washington, 1941) gives a clear survey over the many peace moves. Some of these moves have been the subject of separate studies. F. von Lama, Die Friedensvermittlung Papst Benedikts XV. und ihre Vereitelung durch den deutschen Reichskanzler Michaelis (München, 1932) gives a full, though biased, account of the Papal peace move in 1917. A more impartial account is H. J. T. Johnson, Vatican Diplomacy in the World War (N. Y., 1933). Various attempts to reach a separate peace between France and Germany are treated in R. Recouly, Les Négociations secrètes Briand-Lancken (Paris, 1936).

There are no competent studies on the World War activities of the more important annexationist organizations. M. S. Wertheimer, *The Pan-German League 1890-1914* (N. Y., 1924) stops short of the war and needs some revision. L. Werner, *Der Alldeutsche* 

Verband 1890-1918 (Berlin, 1935), while glorifying the League's aims, belittles its influence. K. Wortmann's account of the Fatherlands Party, Geschichte der Deutschen Vaterlandspartei 1917-1918 (Halle, 1926) is sound in its facts but biased in its interpretation. There is no treatment of the Independent Committee for a German Peace, though there is some material on it in K. Jagow, ed., Dietrich Schäfer und sein Werk (Berlin, 1925) and in D. Schäfer, Der Krieg 1917/18 (Leipzig, 1920). The story of the so-called "moderate" organizations, which were opposed to far-reaching war aims, is told in W. Kahl, Die Freie Vaterländische Vereinigung (Berlin, 1915); F. W. Förster, Mein Kampf gegen das militaristische und nationalistische Deutschland (Stuttgart, 1920); O. Lehmann-Russbüldt, Der Kampf der Deutschen Liga für Menschenrechte, vormals Bund Neues Vaterland, für den Weltfrieden 1914-1927 (Berlin, 1927); and Friedrich Meinecke, Strassburg, Freiburg, Berlin 1901-1919. Erinnerungen (Stuttgart, 1949).

Germany's aims and activities in France and Belgium, before and during the war, are the subject of an excellent memorandum by A. H. Brooks and M. F. Lacroix. "The Iron and Associated Industries of Lorraine, the Sarre District, Luxemburg, and Belgium," United States Geological Survey, Bulletin 703 (Washington, 1920). For a more recent and less thorough treatment see F. Friedensburg, Kohle und Eisen im Weltkrieg und in den Friedensschlüssen (Berlin, 1934). Germany's war-time administration of France is described in G. Gromaire, L'Occupation Allemande en France 1914-1918 (Paris, 1925). For Belgium see J. Pirenne and M. Vauthier, La législation et l'administration allemande en Belgique (Paris, 1926); L. von Köhler. Die Staatsverwaltung der besetzten Gebiete : Belgien (Stuttgart, 1927); and Ch. de Kerchove, L'Industrie Belge pendant l'occupation allemande 1914-1918 (Paris, 1927). The Flemish movement, which assumed such importance during the war, is traced from its beginnings in S. B. Clough, A History of the Flemish Movement in Belgium (N. Y., 1930). Raad van Vlaanderen, Les Archives du Conseil de Flandre (Brussels, 1928), and "Rudiger" [A. Wullus], Flamenpolitik (Brussels, 1921) include much material on Germany's relations with the Flemish movement.

There is no thorough and unbiased treatment of the political influence of Germany's big industrialists. Existing works are either entirely favorable or unfavorable and usually suffer from insufficient evidence. Among the favorable are P. Arnst, *August*  Thyssen und sein Werk (Leipzig, 1925); W. Bacmeister, Emil Kirdorf, Der Mann, Sein Werk (Essen, 1936); H. Brinckmeyer, Hugo Stinnes (München, 1921); and O. Kriegk, Hugenberg (Leipzig, 1932). As antidotes to these eulogies the following may be found useful, though, as their titles suggest, they tend to be sensational in character and the factual basis for their conclusions is usually slim: L. Lania, Gruben, Gräber, Dividenden (Berlin, 1925); "Morus" [L. Lewinsohn] Das Geld in der Politik (Berlin, 1930); G. Seldes, Iron, Blood, and Profits (N. Y., 1934); K. Heinig, Hugo Stinnes und seine 600 000 Arbeiter (n. pl., n. d.). G. Raphaël's Hugo Stinnes, Der Mensch, Sein Wirken (Berlin, 1925) and his Krupp et Thyssen (Paris, 1925) take a more neutral position. The same applies to P. Ufermann and C. Hüglin, Stinnes und seine Konzerne (Berlin, 1924).

Finally, as a general survey of German history during the First World War, Arthur Rosenberg, *Die Entstehung der Deutschen Republik 1871-1918* (Berlin, 1928) remains unsurpassed. To its penetrating analysis of the major issues underlying German affairs, including that of war aims, the present study owes a great deal.

### INDEX

- "A" [Adolf Stein], Gerichtstage über Erzberger, 20 n.
- Ackerman, C. W., Germany the next Republic?, 146 n.
- Adlon meeting, 174-75.
- Africa, see Central Africa.
- Agrarian League, 42, 45, 103, 121, 124, 168, 187, 211. See also, Bund der Landwirte.
- Akademische Blätter, 119 n.
- Ala, 39 n.
- Albert, King of Belgium, 142, 144, 163.
- Alldeutsche Blätter, 25, 26, 28 n., 43 n., 48, 49, 114 n., 129, 206 n., 272.
- Alldeutscher Verband, see Pan-German League.
- Allgemeine Rundschau, 21 n.
- Allied Economic Conference, 141 n.
- Allied propaganda and German war aims, 169, 260.
- Allied war aims, 109, 141 n., 150-51, 223, 288.
- Alsace-Lorraine, 164, 165, 183, 223, 224, 234, 253, 288, 289; German annexation of, 3, 30; German desire to keep, 75, 107, 111, 221, 275; plebiscite for, 108.
- Anatolia, railways in. 57, 222.
- Ancien établissement Peiper, 35.
- Anderson, P. R., The Background of Anti-English Feeling in Germany 1890-1902, 5 n.
- Anglo-German relations, 61, 220, 222. See also, Peace feelers to England.
- Anschütz, G., 133.
- Anti-English feeling, 5-6, 12-13, 64-65, 75. 102. 145.
- Anti-Russian feeling, 6, 9, 75, 261.
- Anti-semitism, 24, 25, 26, 27, 56, 65.
- Antwerp, 11, 15, 35, 50, 62, 64, 80, 86, 144, 171.
- Apt, M., 51; Die Weltmachtstellung des Deutschen Reiches, 51 n.
- Arlon, 178.
- Army League, 25, 29, 50, 65, 114, 124, 169, 206, 207, 214, 250, 263.

- Arndt, E. M., 3. Arndt, P., 49. Arnst, P., August Thyssen und sein Werk, 33 n.
- Association against Social Democracy, 25.
- Association for Germans abroad, see *V*. *D*. *A*.

Aumetz-Friede, 32

- Auskunftsstelle Vereinigter Verbände, 44, 169; Gedanken und Wünsche deutscher Vereine und Verbände zur Gestaltung des Friedens, 29 n.
- Auslands G. m. b. H., 39 n.
- Austria-Hungary, 16, 52, 151; desire for peace, 141, 176-77, 219, 232, 284. Azores, 179.

- Bachem, K., Vorgeschichte, Geschichte und Politik der Deutschen Zentrumspartei, 203 n.
- Bachmann, Admiral, 215.
- Backhaus, A., 52; Der Krieg eine Notwendigkeit für Deutschlands Weltstellung, 52 n.
- Bacmeister, W., 25, 101, 122, 169, 218; Emil Kirdorf, Der Mann, Sein Werk, 37 n.
- Baden, Prince Max von, see Max.
- Bäcker, 122.
- Bährens, K., "Die flämische Bewegung," 92 n.
- Balfour, A., 232.
- Ballin, A., 42, 60-61, 133; "Das nasse Dreieck," 61 n.
- Bankers and war aims, 58-59.
- Banque d'Outremer, 35.
- Banque Internationale de Bruxelles, 35.
- Bassermann, E., 21, 23-24, 44, 72, 86, 100, 137, 145, 166.

- Batilly, 31.
- Bauer, M., 156, 192; Der grosse Krieg in Feld und Heimat, 192 n.
- Bavaria, 78, 103 n., 125, 170, 203, 211, 239, 240, 263.
- Bavaria, Crown Prince Rupprecht of, see Rupprecht.
- Bavaria, King Ludwig III of, see Ludwig III.
- Bayrischer Kanalverein, 78.
- Becker, C. L., German Attempts to Divide Belgium, 96 n.
- Behrens, F., Was der deutsche Arbeiter vom Frieden erwartet, 203 n.
- Belfort, 9, 14, 16, 21, 45, 50, 104, 119, 167.
- "Belgian Courier," 95.
- Belgium: Allies and future of, 76; coal mines. 103; deportation of workers, 141, 156-57; German administration of, 69, 84-92, 154 ff., 266 ff.; German banks in, 35; German failure to make

open statement on, 162, 223, 232, 235, 241, 252 ff., 274 ff., 289; German military control over, 13, 15, 57, 71, 81, 112, 120, 142, 144, 177, 209, 227, 267, 279; German pre-war economic infiltration of, 34 ff.; German plans for future of, 13 ff., 27, 37, 45, 52, 59, 73, 81, 83, 120, 125, 141 ff., 159, 177, 220, 227 ff., 241 ff., 251-52, 265-66, 269-71, 274, 279, 280, 284; neutrality, 7, 8, 10, 17, 248; post-war economic attachment to Germany, 13-14, 15, 57, 72, 112, 120, 142, 144, 177, 209, 227, 267, 279; restoration of, 134, 141, 162, 164, 165, 184, 212, 219, 220, 252 ff., 261, 275; separation of Flemings and Walloons, 52, 95, 96, 158-61, 171, 228, 267-73, 279; "veiled annexation" of, 14, 23, 144, 178, 228, 258, 265. See also, Congo, Flanders Coast, Flemish question, Liège, Campine, Flemings, Walloons.

- Bell, J., 166, 170.
- Bellevue Conference, 225-32.
- Below, G. von, 114, 122, 209, 213, 249; Das gute Recht der deutschen Vaterlandspartei, 209 n.; Kriegs- und Friedensfragen, 6 n.
- Benedict XV, Pope, 219, 223-24. See also, Papal Peace Note.
- Berg, von, 285.
- Bergbaulicher Verein, 39.
- Bergsträsser, L., Geschichte der Politischen Parteien in Deutschland, 108 n.
- Berliner Lokalanzeiger, 48, 149, 168.
- Berliner Neueste Nachrichten, 123 n., 149
- Berliner Tageblatt, 48, 57, 124, 127 n., 132, 147, 150, 174 n., 250 n., 268 n., 273 n., 280.
- Berliner Volkszeitung, 168 n.
- Bernhard, G., 130.
- Bernhard, L., Der Hugenberg Konzern, 39 n.
- Bernhardi, F. von, 195; Denkwürdigkeiten aus meinem Leben, 163 n.
- Bernstein, E., 19, 54, 107, 108.
- Bernstorff, Count J. H. von, 79, 140, 164, 195; Deutschland und Amerika, 10 n.
- Bethmann Hollweg, Th. von, 1, 8 ff., 26, 28, 45, 58, 62 ff., 100, 111, 114, 116, 137, 141, 159, 160, 181, 185, 219, 222, 256, 268, 269, 270, 290; annexationist opposition to, 100, 125, 126-32, 138, 146, 165, 174-75, 183; attitude towards domestic reform, 128, 131-32, 145, 172 ff., 235; Betrachtungen zum Weltkriege, 1 n.; dismissal, 184-94, 290, 293; relations with Supreme Command, 69,

70, 81-84, 139, 163-64, 176-84, 191-92; war aims, 14, 15, 16, 64 ff., 67, 68, 94 ff., 142 ff., 171, 178, 182, 190.

- Beukenberg, 41, 117, 122, 155, 294.
- Beumer, W., 122, 170; Eine Bismarckrede zum 1. April 1915, 38 n.
- Bevan, E. R., German War Aims, 2 n.
- Beyschlag, F., 245. Bismarck, O. von, 30, 290.
- Bissing, F. W. von, 97 n., 122; Deutschlands Stelle in der Welt, 97 n.; Die Universität Gent, Flandern und das Deutsche Reich, 97 n., Westliche Kriegsziele, 97 n.; Wünsche und Ziele, 97 n.
- Bissing, M. von, 87 ff., 94, 97, 98, 154 ff., 263, 267; General von Bissing's Testament, 158 n.; "Politisches Testament," 89 n.
- Bittmann, K., 97, 98; Werken und Wirken, 87 n.
- Blockade, 76, 266.
- Bodelschwingh, F. von, 15 n., 51; Innere Hemmungen kraftvoller Aussenpolitik, 15 n.
- Bodengesellschaft 1916 m. b. H., 155.
- Bodenhausen-Degener, von, 135, 146.
- Borchling, C., 51; Das belgische Prob*lem*, 51 n.
- Bordeaux, 7.
- Bornhak, C., 123.
- Borsig, E. von, 41, 264.
- Bosch, R., 252.
- Boulogne, 21, 29.
- Bourberouge, 33.
- Bowden, W., M. Karpovich, A. Usher, An Economic History of Europe since 1750, 4 n.
- Brabant, 50.
- Brandenburg, E., 122, 248; Deutschlands Kriegsziele, 123 n.
- Brandt, O., Wirtschaftskultur und Deutsche Verwaltung der Besetzten Gebiete in Feindesland, 85 n.
- Braun, O., Von Weimar zu Hitler, 57 n. Bredt, Dr., "Der Deutsche Reichstag im Weltkrieg," 2 n.
- Breitscheid, R., 19.
- Brest-Litovsk, peace of, 242, 243, 257, 259-62, 271, 288, 293.
- Breuer, P., 134.
- Briand, A., 150.
- Briefe aus Deutschland, 109 n.
- Briey-Longwy, 9, 16, 21, 36-37, 45, 57, 59, 85, 104, 115, 124, 142, 152, 165, 166, 167, 170, 171, 178, 191, 204, 209, 221, 228, 239, 242, 245-46, 248, 264, 275, 286, 288; German pre-war penetration of, 32 ff., 153, 245.

- Brinckmeyer, H., Hugo Stinnes, 42 n.; Die Rathenaus, 59 n.
- Brooks, A. H. and M. F. Lacroix, "The Iron and Associated Industries of Lorraine, the Sarre District, Luxembourg, and Belgium," 30 n.
- Bruges, 229, 241.
- Brunauer, E. C.: Has America Forgotten? 164 n.; "The Peace Proposals of Germany and Austria-Hungary," 8 n.
- Bruneau, L., L'Allemagne en France, 32 n.
- Bucharest, Treaty of, 271 ff., 288.
- Büchsel, W., 136.
- Bülow, B. von, 126, 131, 144, 190, 195-96, 237; Deutsche Politik, 131 n.; Memoirs, 144 n.
- Büro für Sozialpolitik, 109, 184.
- Buhl, Reichsrat, 122, 125, 209.
- Bulgaria, collapse of, 286.
- Bund der Industriellen, 40, 41, 43, 100, 146; Bericht über die 18. Generalversammlung, 146 n.
- Bund der Kaisertreuen, 250, 279 n.
- Bund der Landwirte, 40, 41, 43, 48, 187 n. See also, Agrarian League.
- Bund Neues Vaterland, 55, 133.
- Bundesrat, 72, 79, 223, 239, 243.
- Burgfriede, 18, 67, 72.
- Burian, Count S., 141, 143, 284.
- Caën, 34 n.
- Calais, 21, 50, 134, 204, 227.
- Campine, 142, 228, 248, 267.
- Capelle, E. von, 136, 236.
- Censorship, 17, 49, 107, 121, 124, 127, 146, 238.
- Center Party, 124, 166, 167, 189, 190, 192, 193, 236, 239; domestic reform, 172, 190-91; war aims, 20, 23, 44, 103-04, 111, 145, 149, 171, 186, 203-04, 211, 272. See also, Erzberger.
- Central Africa, 10, 21, 49, 51, 55, 125, 179-80. See also, Mittelafrika.
- Chamberlain, H. S., 3, 114, 168.
- Christliche Deutsche Bauernvereine, 45.
- Chronik des Deutschen Krieges, 21 n.
- Claes, J., The German Mole, A study of the art of peaceful penetration, 34 n.
- Class, H., 24, 25, 26-27, 34, 37, 38 ff., 50, 56, 58, 66, 114, 118, 127, 150, 168, 187, 209; "Der Alldeutsche Verband,"
  114 n.; Denkschrift betreffend die national-wirtschafts-und sozialpolitischen Ziele des deutschen Volkes im gegenwärtigen Kriege, 28 n.; Wider den Strom, 20 n.; Zum deutschen Kriegsziel, 247 n. See also, "Einhart"; "Daniel Frymann."

- Class Memorandum, 28, 40, 45, 54, 100, 247.
- Clough, S. B., A History of the Flemish Movement in Belgium, 47 n.
- "Club 1914-15," 132.
- Colonial Society, 115, 120, 187, 207, 247. See also, Deutsche Kolonialgesellschaft.
- Colonial war aims, 11, 21, 27, 43, 45, 49, 51, 54, 59, 60-61, 73, 78, 80, 103, 115, 116, 119, 120, 133, 134, 147, 163, 164, 167, 171 179-81, 205, 212, 220, 228, 247, 286. See also, Central Africa. Commission for Flemish Affairs, 95.
- Committee for the Rapid Overthrow of England, 169, 175. See also, Volksausschuss für rasche Niederkämpfung Englands.
- Committee of Principles for the Roads to a lasting Peace, 125, 169.
- Committee of Seven, 223-24, 234-35.
- Congo, 55, 57, 76, 103, 141, 143, 165. See also, Central Africa.
- Conservative Party, 5, 6, 24, 25, 66, 77, 83, 124, 125, 167, 193, 195, 206; domestic reform, 172, 173, 185, 190, 205; war aims, 22, 23-24, 40, 44, 102-03, 145, 149, 166, 182, 186, 190, 204, 205, 211, 285. See also, Free Conservative Party.
- Council of Flanders, 158-61, 267, 268-70. Czernin, Count O., 176, 178, 220, 221, 230.
- Czernin Memorandum, 176-77, 191, 203, 232.
- Dahlin, E., French and German Public Opinion on Declared War Aims 1914-1918, 9 n.
- Dakar, 179.
- "Daniel Frymann" [H. Class], Wenn ich der Kaiser wär, 24 n.
- Das grössere Dcutschland, 25, 49.
- David, E., 107, 108, 110, 111, 137, 166. Davignon, H.: "German methods of
- Davignon, H.: "German methods of penetration in Belgium before and during the war," 34 n; Belgien und Deutschland, 34 n.
- De Poorter, 32.
- Deckert, E., Panlatinismus, Panslawismus, und Panteutonismus in ihrer Bedeutung für die politische Weltlage, 52 n.
- Dehn, P., Nicht ohne Kriegsentschädigung, 263 n.
- Delbrück, C. von, 12; Die wirtschaftliche Mobilmachung in Deutschland 1914, 87 n.
- Delbrück, H., 52, 57-58, 123, 132, 135, 137, 187, 212-13; Bismarck's Erbe,

52 n; "Die deutsche Vaterlandspar-tei," 212 n; Krieg und Politik, 204 n; Wider den Kleinglauben, 213 n.; "Der zukünftige Friede," 58 n.

- Delbrück-Zimmermann Memorandum, 13 ff.
- Demblin, A. von, Czernin und die Sixtus Affaire, 176 n.
- Denmark, 3, 52, 179, 228.
- Dernburg, B., 57, 132, 135, 181. Deutelmoser, 277.
- Deutsch-Flämische Gesellschaft, 159.
- Deutsch-Luxemburgische Bergwerks A. G., 32, 41.
- Deutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, 19.
- Deutsche Bank, 35, 59.
- Deutsche Friedensgesellschaft, 55.
- Deutsche Gesellschaft 1914, 136, 283; Satzung, 136 n.
- Deutsche Kolonialgesellschaft, 11, 78. See also, Colonial Society.
- Deutsche Kolonialschule, 51.
- Deutsche Tageszeitung, 3 n., 16 n., 48, 49, 58, 102, 130, 135, 147, 149, 168, 180 n., 187 n., 247 n., 248 n., 275, 280. Deutsche Zeitschrift, 25.
- Deutsche Zeitung, 25, 168, 187 n., 262, 271-72, 275, 279.
- Deutscher Bauernbund, 43.
- Deutscher Geschichtskalender, 159 n.
- Deutscher Handelstag, Versammlung aus Anlass des Krieges, 40 n.
- Deutscher Industrierat, 146.
- Deutscher Nationalausschuss für einen Deutschen Frieden, 57, 134. See also, National Committee for a German Peace
- Deutscher Nationalausschuss für Vorbereitung eines ehrenvollen Friedens, 134 n.
- Deutschlands Erneuerung, 25, 114, 118 n., 127, 207 n.
- Dickinson, G. L., Documents and Statements Relating to Peace Proposals and War Aims, 150 n.
- Diedenhofen, 7.
- Dielette, 32.
- Dillinger Hüttenwerke, 32.
- Direnberger, E., Oberste Heeresleitung und Reichsleitung 1914-18, 3 n.
- Dirr, 94.
- Diskontogesellschaft, 35, 38 n., 59.
- Dittmann, W., 236. Dix, A., 51; Der Weltwirtschaftskrieg, 51 n.
- Dolchstosslegende, 218.
- Domestic reform and war aims, 1, 26-27, 65-66, 120-21, 128-30, 166, 170-76, 185, 187, 188, 205, 213, 214, 217, 249-51, 273, 287, 289-90, 294.

- Donnerstagsgesellschaft, 137.
- Dove, H., 20.
- Drang nach Osten, 3, 4, 6, 76, 259.
- Drang nach Westen, 3 ff., 13, 49, 64, 76, 100, 115, 170, 286, 289.
- "Drei Deutsche," Deutsche Reichspolitik seit 14. Juli 1909, 130 n.
- Dresdener Bank, 35.
- Drews, 215.
- Dryander, E. von, Erinnerungen aus meinem Leben, 106 n.
- Düsseldorfer Generalanzeiger, 221.
- Düsseldorser Tageblatt, 247 n.
- Duisberg, C., 121, 122, 156, 175; Abhandlungen, Vorträge und Reden aus den Jahren 1882-1921, 151 n.
- "Easter Message," 173, 189, 208. See also, Domestic reform.
- Eastern war aims, 1, 6, 27, 45, 49, 75, 120, 134, 135, 147, 164, 176, 204, 209, 243, 259 ff. See also, Brest-Litovsk.
- Ebert, F., 107, 112, 223, 236.
- Economic Association for South America, 181
- Eggert, S., "Die deutschen Eroberungspläne im ersten Weltkrieg," 13 n.

- Egypt, 120. Eiffe, C. C., 127, 207 n. "Einhart" [H. Class], Deutsche Geschichte, 24 n.
- Einstein, A., 133.
- Eisenhardt-Rothe, E. von, Im Banne der Persönlichkeit, 82 n.
- Empress Auguste Victoria, 57, 196.
- Engerand, F., Le Fer sur une frontière, 33 n.
- England and Germany's western aims, 9, 16-17, 76, 183, 224, 232, 253 ff., 257, 274, 289. Erkelenz, A., "Die geschichtliche Schuld
- der deutschen Schwerindustrie," 266 n.
- Erzberger, M., 20, 44, 103, 134, 137, 166, 189, 190, 196, 203-04, 218, 223, 242, 252, 257, 260, 272; and Thyssen, 20, 37, 104, 115, 204; Erlebnisse im Weltkrieg, 20 n.
- Erzberger gegen Helfferich, 21 n.
- Exploitation of occupied areas, 85, 87, 91, 151 ff., 266 ff.
- Fabarius, E. A., 50, 122, 169; "Deutsche Friedenshoffnungen," 51 n.
- Faber, R., 131.
- Fabrique nationale d'armes de guerre, 35.
- Falkenhausen, Gen. von, 159, 265, 267 ff. Falkenhayn, E. von, 11, 69, 74, 81, 83,
- 84, 126.
- Faroe Islands, 179.

Fatherland Party, see Vaterlandspartei. Faustpfand (pledge), western conquests

- as, 11, 104, 147, 180, 233, 280. Favre, J. E., Le Capital français au service de l'étranger, 33 n.
- Fehrenbach, K., 193, 223, 242.
- Fendrich, 136.
- Férasson, L. La Question du fer, 46 n. Fester, R., 122; Die Politik Kaiser Karls und der Wendepunkt des Weltkrieges, 176 n.; Die politischen Kämpfe um den Frieden (1916-1918) und das Deutschtum, 176 n.; Die Wandlungen der belgischen Frage, 123 n.
- Fischart, J., "Hugo Stines: An Industrial Ludendorff," 42 n.
- Fischbeck, O., 272.
- Fischer, 122.
- Fitger, E., "Politische Kriegsziele für Handel und Industrie," 156 n.
- Five Economic Organizations, 43.
- Flämische Hochschule in Gent, Die, 158 n.
- Flanders coast, 11, 13, 50, 80, 115, 163, 165, 166, 168, 171, 178, 179, 180, 213, 218, 220, 225-26, 227, 229, 230, 241, 242, 254, 265-66, 275, 279. See also, Belgium.
- Flemings, 27, 52, 73, 92 ff., 120, 124, 158 ff., 166, 208, 228, 231; "Activists," 93, 95, 158, 268; declaration of independence, 269-70; opposition to German domination, 268; "Passivists," 93, 160.
- Flemish National Congress, 158.
- Flemish press, 94, 95.
- Flemish question, 92-99, 158 ff., 230, 241, 244, 265-66, 267-71, 282, 283; prior to World War, 92-94.
- Flemish university, 94, 96, 97, 158.
- Forster, K., The Failures of Peace, 16 n. France, 61, 72, 105, 141, 164, 266; German administration of occupied, 84-85, 152-54; German plans for future of, 119, 242. See also, Belfort, Briey-Longwy, Calais, Congo, Exploitation of occupied areas.
- France, Maison de la Presse, Geheimbericht, 169 n.
- Frankfurter Volksstimme, 18.
- Frankfurter Zeitung, 53 n., 57, 61, 80 n., 95 n., 123 n., 132, 134, 150, 167, 200 n., 215 n., 259, 268 n., 285.
- Franz, P., Der Bankerott-Friede, 264 n. Frederick August, Grand Duke of Olden-
- burg, 10, 77. Fredericq, P., 97.
- Free Conservative Party, 22, 24, 44, 49, 101-102, 145, 205.
- "Freedom of the seas," 49, 55, 61, 70,

107, 116, 120, 133, 141, 143, 164, 199, 219.

- Freiburger Tageblatt, 21 n.
- Freie Vaterländische Vereinigung, 56, 133.
- Freier Ausschuss für einen deutschen Arbeiterfrieden, 202.
- French industry, German exploitation of, 150 ff.
- Friedberg, R., 101, 239. Friedensburg, F., Kohle und Eisen im Weltkriege und in den Friedensschlüssen, 31 n.
- Friedländer-Fuld, F. von, 137.
- Friedrichs, 42, 122.
- Frielinghau, 85.
- Fuchs, G., Der deutsche Pazifismus im Weltkrieg, 55 n.
- Fuhrmann, P., 101, 121, 125, 170, 175; Das deutsche Volk und die gegenwärtige Kriegslage, 21 n.
- Galicia, 74, 201, 216.
- Galster, K., 230; "Flandern," 230 n.
- Gamp, K. von, 24, 145.
- Ganghofer, L., Reise zur Deutschen Front, 10 n.
- Gaston, R., Krupp et Thyssen, 33 n.
- Gebsattel, Gen. Freiherr von, 22, 28, 41, 114, 126, 127, 128; "Das Gebot der Stunde," 114 n.
- Geck, O., 111.
- Gelsenkirchener Bergwerks A. G., 37, 43.
- Generalgouvernement, 90, 95, 98.
- Gerlach, H. von, Von Rechts nach Links, 53 n.
- German people and war aims, 10, 17-18, 26, 47, 62, 63, 68, 74, 86, 109-10, 148-49, 150, 151, 184, 196, 200, 238, 259 ff., 274, 284, 293.
- Germania, 104, 167, 272 n. "Germanus Liber," Deutschland und England, 181 n.
- Germany, Generalquartiermeister, Die Industrie im besetzten Frankreich, 152 n.
- Germany, Kriegspresseamt: Bericht über die Tagung vom 7. bis 10. August 1917 in Berlin, 216 n.; Unsere Ko-lonien, 180 n.; Zensurbuch für die deutsche Presse, 146 n.
- Germany, Nationalversammlung, Die Deutsche Nationalversammlung im Jahre 1919 in ihrer Arbeit für den Aufbau des deutschen Volksstaates, 155 n.
- Germany, Nationalversammlung, Das Werk des Untersuchungsausschusses, 3. Reihe, "Völkerrecht im Weltkrieg," 91 n.

- Germany, Nationalversammlung, Das Werk des Untersuchungsausschusses, 4. Reihe, "Die Ursachen des Deutschen Zusammenbruchs im Jahre 1918," 1 n.
- Germany, Nationalversammlung, Untersuchungsausschuss über die Weltkriegsverantwortlichkeit, Stenographische Berichte über die öffentlichen Verhandlungen des 15. Untersuchungsausschusses, 58 n.
- Germany, Reichsbank, Leitfaden und Nachschlagewerk zur Werbearbeit zur VII. Kriegsanleihe, 263 n.
- Germany, Reichstag, Verhandlungen des Reichstages, 18 n.
- Gesellschaft zur Pflege der deutschflämischen Beziehungen, 159.
- Gewerkschaft "Deutscher Kaiser," Die Bedeutung des Briey-Beckens für Deutschlands volkswirtschaftliche und militärische Zukunft, 246 n.
- Geyer, C., Drei Verderber Deutschlands, 42 n.
- Ghent, University of, see Flemish university.
- Gierke, O. von, 118, 122, 123, 137, 188.
- Gildemeister, A., 118, 119, 121, 169.
- Glocke, Die, 19.
- Gobineau, Count, 3, 24 n.
- Goerres, J., 3.
- Goltz, C. von der, 86, 87; Denkwürdigkeiten, 87 n.
- Goltz, F. von der, "Generalfeldmarschall von der Goltz als General-gouverneur in Belgien," 86 n.
- Gothein, G., 20.
- Government, German, declared war aims of, 8 ff., 16, 67, 70, 71, 73, 142 ff., 148, 164, 182, 183, 200, 222, 240, 251-52. 256. 257.
- Grabowsky, A., 49. Gray, A., The Upright Sheaf, 49 n.
- Great Britain, Foreign Office: German Opinion on National Policy prior to July 1914, 4 n.; German Opinion on National Policy since July 1914, 53 n.
- Great Britain, General Staff: Daily Review of the Foreign Press, 71 n.; Daily Review of the Foreign Press, Enemy Press Supplement, 146 n.
- Grenzboten, Die, 49, 50 n.
- Grew, Joseph C., 148.
- Groeben, Count, 22.
- Gröber, A., 23, 145.
- Gruber, M. von, 53, 114, 121, 122.
- Grünau, K. von, 242.
- Grumbach, S., Das annexionistische Deutschland, 11 n.

- Grumme-Douglas, K. F. von, 22, 41, 44, 118, 121.
- Günther, A., Das besetzte Französische Gebiet, 152 n.
- Gutehoffnungshütte, 32.
- Gwinner, A. von, 59.
- Haase, H., 19, 23, 67, 107 n., 108, 112, 200, 240.
- Haeckel, E., 53; Englands Blutschuld am Weltkriege, 53 n.
- Haeften, von, 234, 254, 256, 274, 276-77.
- Haenisch, K., 19; Parvus, 19 n.
- Hänsch, F., 249; An der Schwelle des grösseren Reiches, 249 n.

- Häuser, 122. Hahn, D., 187. Haller, J., 53; Warum und wofür wir kämpfen, 53 n.
- Hamburger Fremdenblatt, 21 n.
- Hamburger Nachrichten, 125 n.
- Hammann, O., 134.
- Hammer, Der, 25.
- Hampe, K., 123; Belgiens Vergangenheit und Gegenwart, 123 n.
- Handbuch des Alldeutschen Verbandes, 25 n.
- Handel und Industrie, 50, 202 n.
- Handelskammer Frankfurt a. M., Belgiens Wirtschaftsleben und Handelsbeziehungen zu Deutschland, 34 n.
- Hansa Bund, 43, 116. Hansemann, D., 3.
- Hapag, 56, 60.
- Harden, M., 48, 50, 65; Köpfe, 20 n. Harnack, A., 133, 135, 187.
- Harrach, Count, 98.
- Haspe, 32.
- Hatzfeld, Count, 132, 237.
- Hauchecorne, W., 30.
- Haufe, R. Der deutsche Nationalstaat in den Flugschriften von 1848-49, 3 n.
- Hauptfeind, 12-13, 21, 99, 102, 135. Hauptmann, E., Kriegsziele, 215 n.
- Hauptmann, G., 137.
- Hauptvermittlungsstelle Vaterländischer Verbände, 207.
- Haussmann, C., 20, 60, 69, 79, 135, 141, 171, 172, 175, 255, 256, 274; Schlaglichter, 10 n.
- Haux, E., 246; Was lehrt uns der Krieg?, 246 n.
- Heckscher, S., 20.
- Heim, 203.
- Heimdall, 25.
- Heine, W., 137.
- Heineken, P., 135.
- Heinrich Prinz von Schönburg-Walden-

burg, Erinnerungen aus kaiserlicher

- Zeit, 215 n. Heinz, F. W., Die Nation greift an, 26 n.
- Held, H., 170.
- Helfferich, K., 136, 139, 141, 165, 182, 230, 266, 267, 277; Der Weltkrieg, 7 n.
- Heller, K., Der Bund der Landwirte bezw. Landbund und seine Politik, 187 n.
- Helphand, Parvus, 19.
- Henckel von Donnersmarck, Prince, 133.
- Hennig, R., Der Kampf um den Suezkanal, 120 n.
- Henry, A., Etudes sur l'occupation Allemande en Belgique, 156 n.
- Hentsch, R. C., Friedensziele-Kriegsziele, 248 n.

- Herkner, H., 213. Herron, 256; "Herron Papers," 256 n. Hertling, G. F. von, 179, 195, 237, 238 ff., 269, 274, 276, 277, 281, 283, 285; and Supreme Command, 243-44, 255, 280; war aims, 239-40, 251-52, 256-57, 274, 283, 286.
- Hertling, K., Ein Jahr in der Reichskanzlei, 36 n.
- Hettner, A., 123, 248; Der Friede und die deutsche Zukunft, 249 n.; Die Ziele unsere Weltpolitik, 123 n.
  Heuss, T., Friedrich Naumann, 105 n.
- Heydebrand und der Lasa, E. von, 22, 24, 102, 137, 197, 244, 257.
- Heyse, T., La Genèse du Conseil de Flandre, 158 n.; La propagande Allemande en Belgique avant la guerre, 93 n.; L'Université flamande, 97 n.
- Hilfsdienstgesetz, 148.
- Hindenburg, P. von, 69, 74, 81, 140, 141, 155, 160, 174, 188, 216, 240, 286, 287, 292; political influence of, 81-82, 174, 185, 194, 221, 292; war aims, 11, 142 ff., 163, 197-98, 208, 226 ff., 264-65, 283.
- "Hindenburg Program," 156, 188.
- Hintze, O., 118, 122.
- Hintze, Admiral von, 280, 282, 283, 284.
- Hirsch, W., 38 n., 43, 44, 66, 121, 122, 169; Wirtschafts-und Verkehrsfragen im Kriege, 37 n.
- Hobohm, M., 1n.; and P. Rohrbach, Die Alldeutschen, 4 n.
- Hoch, G., 166.
- Hochland, 50.
- Höfken, G. von, 3.
- Hölzle, E., "Die Ostfrage im Weltkrieg," 75 n.
- Hoensbroech, Count P. von, 131, 175.

Hoesch, 32, 85.

- Hoetzsch, O., 80, 102, 137; Der Krieg und die grosse Politik, 22 n.
- Hoffmann, M., 11, 81, 165; Die Auf-zeichnungen des Generalmajors Max Hoffmann, 10 n.; Der Krieg der versäumten Gelegenheiten, 233 n.
- Holland, 50, 52, 53, 78, 94, 105, 228.
- Holtzendorff, H. von, 136, 226, 229, 254, 265.
- House, E. M., 72, 164, 178.
- Hué, O., 170.
- Hugenberg, A., 20, 24, 38 ff., 66, 118 n., 137, 155, 264, 294; Streiflichter aus Vergangenheit und Gegenwart, 41 n.
- Huldermann, B., 61; Albert Ballin, 60 n.
- Hutten Czapski, B. von, Sechzig Jahre Politik und Gesellschaft, 78 n.
- Huysmans, C., "Le problème linguistique en Belgique," 93 n.

"Imperial Socialists," 19.

- Indemnity, 21, 48, 51, 57, 59, 72, 73, 102, 104, 108, 116, 119, 120, 141, 142, 143, 165, 167, 171, 187, 209, 219, 263-64. 275. 288.
- Independent Committee for a German Peace, 1 n., 106, 113, 121 ff., 126, 132, 135-36, 145, 159, 168, 169, 175, 187, 188, 207, 210, 213, 214, 221, 247, 263, 287. See also, Unabhängiger Ausschuss für einen Deutschen Frieden.
- Independent Socialist Party, 19, 108, 184, 200, 201, 236; war aims, 108, 112, 202.
- Industrial competition: between Germany and Belgium, 15, 46, 90, 91, 156, 266; between Germany and France, 46, 152-54.
- Industrialists and war aims, 30-47, 63, 113, 115 ff., 146, 152 ff., 210, 240, 245-47, 263-64.
- Industriebüro, 91, 156.
- Industriegesellschaft 1916 m. b. H., 155.
- Industrieklub, 37, 146.
- Italy, 16, 74, 76.
- Jäckh, E. and K. Hoenn, Schulthess' Europäischer Geschichtskalender, 40 n. Jaffé. 256.
- Jagow, G. von, 10, 79, 144.
- Jagow, K., Dietrich Schäfer und sein Werk, 124 n.
- Jagow, T. A. von, 111.
- Jahn, L., 3.
- Jentsch, K., 6 n. Johann Albrecht, Duke of Mecklenburg, 77-78, 115, 207 n., 209.
- Johnson, H. J. T., Vatican Diplomacy in the World War, 183 n.

- Jünger, K., Vom kommenden Frieden, 263 n.
- Jung, D., Der Alldeutsche Verband, 39 n. "Junius Alter" [F. Sontag], Das Deutsche Reich auf dem Wege zur geschichtlichen Episode, 129 n.; Nationalisten, 25 n.
- Jurcques, 32.
- Kaempf, J., 40.
- Kahl, W., 56, 123, 132, 133, 137; Die Freie Vaterländische Vereinigung, 56 n.
- Kalau vom Hofe, 122.
- Kanner, H., 80; "The Papers of Dr. Heinrich Kanner," 10 n.
- Kapp, W., 40, 114, 121, 127, 160, 169, 207, 209; "Die nationalen Kreise und der Reichskanzler," 127 n.
- Karl, Emperor of Austria, 176.
- Karstedt, O., Koloniale Friedensziele, 180 n.
- Katechismus der Deutschen Vaterlandspartei, 209 n.
- Kautský, K., 107 n. Kehr, E., "Englandhass und Welt-Kehr, É., "Englandhass und Welt-politik," 5 n.; Schlachtflottenbau und Parteipolitik 1894-1901, 5 n.
- Keim, A., 29, 86, 89, 98, 218, 263; Erlebtes und Erstrebtes, 29 n.
- Kerchove, Ch. de, L'Industrie Belge pendant l'occupation allemande 1914-1918, 90 n.
- Kessel, G. von, 58, 136.
- Kessler, Harry Graf, Walther Rathenau, his Life and Work, 59 n.
- Kessler, O., Das deutsche Belgien, 35 n.
- Kirdorf, A., 122.
  Kirdorf, E., 37, 41, 43, 44, 85, 117, 118, 121, 122, 136, 150, 155, 169, 175, 294.
- Klingemann, K., 122; Wofür wir kämpfcn, 106 n.
- Klöckner, P., 32, 35, 85, 135, 156, 294.
- Kluck, A. von, 136, 137. Knesebeck, L. G. von dem, Die Wahrheit über den Propagandafeldzug und Deutschlands Zusammenbruch, 82 n.
- Knorr, Admiral von, 122, 126, 175.
- Kögl, M., "Finanzlage und Entschädigungsfrage," 264 n.
- Köhler, L. von, Die Staatsverwaltung der besetzten Gebiete-Belgien, 86 n.
- Kölnische Volkszeitung, 20, 48, 104, 113, 147 n., 203, 275, 280.
- Kölnische Zeitung, 106 n., 117 n., 136 n., 147 n., 149, 247 n., 270, 275, 286 n.
- Königsberger Allgemeine Zeitung, 82.
- Körte, S., 203.
- Körting, B., 175.
- Kolonialwirtschaftliches Komitee, 115.

- Konietzko, A., Unsere Wirtschaftliche Zukunst bei einem Verzichtfrieden, 248 n.
- Korostowetz, W. K. von, Lenin im Hause der Väter, 75 n.
- Kraepelin, E., 125.
- Kreuzzeitung, 16 n., 48, 80, 102, 115 n., 149 n., 168 n., 175 n., 221 n., 231, 263 n., 275, 285.
- Kriegk, O., Hugenberg, 39 n.
- Kriegspresseamt, 216.
- Kriegsrohstoffabteilung, 59, 90.
- Kriegszielbewegung, 24, 30, 31, 38-47, 72, 113, 117, 123, 131, 134, 145, 168, 186, 207, 214, 263, 285, 294.
- Kriegszielmehrheit, 23-24, 41, 44, 112, 131, 145, 186.
- Krosigk, von, 215.
- Krupp, 24, 32, 37, 39, 85, 117, 135, 146, 155, 168, 246.
- Krusch, P., 245; Die nutzbaren Lagerstätten Belgiens, ihre geologische Position und wirtschaftliche Bedeutung, 142 n.; Die Versorgung Deutschlands mit metallischen Rohstoffen, 31 n.
- Kühlmann, R. von, 219, 222 ff., 231-32, 233-34, 237, 238, 244, 250, 256, 258, 276; dismissal, 277-79, 290; Erinnerungen, 220 n.; and Supreme Command, 243, 272 n., 278-79.
- Kuhl, H. von, Der Weltkrieg 1914-1918, 228 n.
- Kulenkampff, 122.
- Kundt, W., Deutsche Westwanderung, 4 n.
- Labor, and war aims, 19, 54, 167, 184, 202-03, 210, 246, 253, 259, 264.
- Lahusen, F., 133.
- Lair, M., "Hugo Stinnes," 42 n.
- Lama, F. Ritter von, Die Friedensvermittlung Papst Benedikts XV. und ihre Vereitelung durch den deutschen Reichskanzler Michaelis, 196 n.
- Lancken Wakenitz, O. von der, 86, 95, 98, 268; Meine Dreissig Dienstjahre (1888-1918), 94 n.
- Landesverein der Deutschen Vaterlandspartei im Königreich Sachsen, Warum muss ich der Vaterlandspartei beitreten?, 209 n.
- Landsberg, O., 75, 111, 207. Langer, W. L., "When Germ Come True," 3 n. "When German Dreams
- Lanick, A., Klarheit über die Kriegsziele, 125 n.
- Lansdown, Lord, 241.
- Larchamp, 32.
- Launay, L. de, France-Allemagne, 152 n.

- Lauterbach, F., Wenn wir heimkehren, 248 n.
- League of the Eastern Marches, see Ostmarkenverein.
- Ledebour, G., 108, 112. Lehmann, J. F., 127.
- Lehmann, M., Verleger J. F. Lehmann, 114 n.
- Lehmann-Russbüldt, O., 55; Der Kampf der Deutschen Liga für Menschen-rechte vormals Bund Neues Vaterland für den Weltfrieden 1914-1927, 55 n.; Warum erfolgte der Zusammenbruch an der Westfront?, 200 n.
- Leipziger Neueste Nachrichten, 21 n., 25, 47.
- Leipziger Tageblatt, 147 n., 149, 269 n.
- Leipziger Volkszeitung, 16, 19, 107 n.
- Lensch, P., 19, 111, 136.
- Lepsius, B., 137.
- Leutwein, P., Mitteleuropa-Mittelaf*rika*, 180 n.
- Lewinsohn, R., see "Morus."
- Liebermann, M., 137.
- Liebert, E. von, 285.
- Liebig, H. von, 114, 122, 127; Die Politik von Bethmann Hollwegs, 127 n.
- Liebknecht, K., 19, 54, 108.
- Liège, 57, 83, 142, 143, 165, 178, 220, 226, 227, 228, 241, 248, 265, 279.
- "Statthalterbriefe Lienhard, F., aus Elsass-Lothringen," 57 n.
- Liman, P., 25.
- Limburg, 29, 50, 86.
- Limburg-Stirum, Count, 244. Lissauer, E., 5.
- List, F., 3.
- Liszt, F. von, 52, 135; Ein mitteleuropäischer Staatenverband, 52 n.
- Lloyd George, D., 150, 251, 253. Loebell, F. W. von, 11 ff., 72.
- Loebell Memorandum, 11 ff.
- Löwenstein, S., Der Prozess Erzberger-Helfferich, 21 n. Losch, H. L., Der mitteleuropäische
- Wirtschaftsblock und das Schicksal Belgiens, 52 n.
- Ludendorff, E., 33, 42, 69, 74, 81-84, 140, 155, 158, 163, 173, 174, 178, 188, 197-98, 216, 217, 226 ff., 250-51, 252 ff., 256, 261, 266 ff., 276, 282, 283, 286, 292; Meine Kriegserinnerungen 1914-1918, 192 n.; political influence of, 81-82, 194, 221, 292; Urkunden der Obersten Heeresleitung, 148 n.
- Ludendorff, M., Als ich Ludendorffs Frau war, 42 n.
- Ludwig III, King of Bavaria, 77, 78, 125, 163 n., 231 n., 286.

- Lutz, R. H., The Causes of the German Collapse, 184 n.; Fall of the German Empire, 8 n.
- Lutz, von, 98.
- Luxburg, Count, 175.
- Luxemburg, 23, 46, 57, 105, 143, 178, 220, 242.
- Luxemburg, R., 19, 108.
- McKay, D. C., "The Pre-War Development of Briey Iron Ores," 30 n.
- Magalhães, E. de, "Germany and South America," 181 n.
- Magdeburgische Zeitung, 100, 131.
- Majority parties, 206, 208, 214, 238, 252, 261, 273.
- Majority Socialists, see Social Democratic Party.
- Maltzahn, von, 77, 192.
- Mannesmann, C. H., Die Unternehmungen der Brüder Mannesmann in Marokko, 31 n.
- Mannesmann, R., 115-116.
- Marne, Battle of, 7, 9, 37, 77, 281.
- Martin, R., Deutsche Machthaber, 43 n. Martin, W., "Notes de Guerre," 156 n. Marum, 111.
- Massart, J., Belgians under the German Eagle, 106 n.
- Massmann. 121.
- Max, Prinz von Baden, 204, 237, 255, 276; Erinnerungen und Dokumente, 3 n.
- Mecklenburg, Johann Albrecht Duke of, see Johann Albrecht.
- Meinecke F., 118, 122, 187, 212-13; Strassburg, Freiburg, Berlin 1901-1919 Erinnerungen, 58 n.; "Vaterlandspartei und deutsche Politik," 213 n.
- Meister, A., Unser belgisches Kriegsziel, 248 n.
- Mendelssohn, F. von, 133, 136.
- Mendelssohn Bartholdy, A., The War and German Society—The Testament of a Liberal, 19 n.
- Mctallarbeiter, Dcr, 247 n., 264.
- Metz, 221.
- Meurer, Ch., Das Programm der Meeresfreiheit, 49 n.
- Meyer, E., 121, 123, 188.
- Meyer, H., 122. Meyer, H. C., "Mitteleuropa Concept and Reality," 2 n.
- Meyer, W., 122.
- Michaelis, G., 195 ff., 206, 214 ff., 238, 268; dismissal, 232 ff., 293; domestic reforms, 235; Für Staat und Volk, 196 n.; relations with Supreme Command, 198, 201, 221, 227, 231.

- Michaelsen, H., Deutsche Kriegszielkundgebungen, 102 n.
- Middendorf, 266.
- Military events and war aims, 7, 74, 76, 99, 139, 239, 241, 262, 273-74, 276, 281-82.
- Minette, 30, 46.
- Mirbt, C., 52; Der Kampf um unsere Kolonien, 51 n.
- Mitteilungen der Deutschen Vaterlandspartei, 211.
- Mitteilungen des Kriegsausschusses der Deutschen Industrie, 116 n.
- Mittelafrika, 180-81, 187, 247, 288. See also, Central Africa.
- Mitteleuropa, 2, 52, 105-06, 180.
- Mitteleuropäischer Wirtschaftsverein, 51.
- Mittwochsgesellschaft, 137.
- Moderate views on war aims, 54-62, 132-38, 212-14.
- Moltke, H. von, 3.
- Moltke, H. J. von, 7, 10, 81, 136, 137; Briefe, Erinnerungen, Dokument**e** 1877-1916, 10 n.
- Monts, A. von, 57, 133.
- Morocco, 31, 115-16.
- Mortain, 33. "Morus" [R. Lewinsohn], Das Geld in der Politik, 39 n.
- Mosse, R., 137. Mühsam, K., Wie wir belogen wurden, 147 n.
- Müller-Eberhart, W.: Ernst Moritz Arndt und der Friede, 3 n.; Jahn's Vermächtnis für unsere Zeit, 3 n.
- Müller-Meiningen, E., 20, 105, 203, 272; Belgische Eindrücke und Ausblicke, 105 n.
- Muench-Born, Ph., Was uns der Weltkrieg bringen muss, 53 n.
- Münchener Post, 184.
- Münchner Neueste Nachrichten, 78 n., 145, 147 n., 188, 263 n.
- Müser, R., 117.
- Nancy, 30.
- National Committee for a German Peace, 132 ff., 147, 213, 214. See also, Deutscher Nationalausschuss für einen Deutschen Frieden.
- National Liberal Party, 5, 6, 25, 66, 122, 125, 166, 167, 191, 192, 193, 238, 262, 285; domestic reform, 145, 172, 185, 189, 206; war aims, 21, 23-24, 44, 99-102, 145, 149, 166, 170, 171, 185, 186, 189, 204, 211, 261, 262-63.
- Nationalbank, 65.
- Nationalliberale Blätter, 101.
- Naumann, F., 105, 135, 252, 272; "Ein erster Friedensklang," 105 n.

- Naumann, V., Dokumente und Argumente, 79 n.; Profile, 78 n. Naval stations, 51, 55, 61, 78, 101, 115,
- 120, 125, 179, 181, 225, 228, 230, 247.
- Naval war aims, 11, 163, 179, 229 ff., 242, 254, 265-66. See also, Flanders coast, Naval stations.
- Navy League, 25, 100, 115, 207.
- Neu, H., Die Revolutionäre Bewegung auf der Deutschen Flotte 1917-1918, 236 n.
- Neue Deutschland, Das 49. Neue Preussische Zeitung, 275.
- Neumann, J., 41.
- Neuorientierung, 1, 187. See also, Domestic reform.
- New Caledonia, 179.
- Nicolai, W., 188; Nachrichtendienst, Presse und Volksstimmung im Weltkrieg, 216 n.
- "Marginal Comment," Nicolson, H., 222 n.
- Nieden, A. zu, "Karl Gerstein," 90 n.
- Niemann, A., Kaiser und Revolution, 282 n.
- Nieuwenhuys Nijegaard, D., 95, 96; Flandern vom südlichen Zwang befreit, 96 n.
- "No annexations, no indemnities," 184, 185, 189, 242, 259-60.
- Noeggerath, J., 256.
- Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, 10 n., 37 n., 48, 69 n., 88, 90 n., 138 n., 181, 187 n., 208 n., 247 n., 263 n., 270 n., 272 n.
- Norddeutsche Bank. 38 n.
- Normandy, 31, 32-33, 37, 46, 246.
- Nornen, Die, 25.
- Noske, G., 172.
- "Not der Zeit und die Vaterlands-partei, Die," 210 n.
- Nyrop, K., The Imprisonment of the Ghent Professors, 97 n.
- Oertel, E. G., 48.
- Oertmann, R., Hugo Stinnes, ein Künst-ler und ein Vorbild, 42 n.
- Official German Documents relating to the World War, 79 n.
- Oldenburg, Frederick August Grand Duke of, see Frederick August.
- Oncken, H., 118, 122, 135.
- Oppermann, E., Belgien einst und jetzt, 35 n.
- "Bissing," 87 n.; R. P.: Osswald "Flandern und Grossniederland," 95 n. Ostend, 103, 229.
- Ostfeld, H., Die Haltung der Reichsder Fortschrittlichen tags fraktionVolkspartei zu den Annexions-und

Friedensfragen in den Jahren 1914-1918, 20 n.

Ostmarkenverein, 207.

- Ostwald, 53. Otto, F., "Belfort," 50 n.
- Oudefontaine, 32-33.
- Paasche, H., 21.
- Pacelli, Msgr., 183-84, 219, 220, 224-25, 233, 234. Pachnicke, H., 20.
- Pacific colonies, 115, 142, 179.
- Pan-German League, 2 n., 4, 22, 24-29, 31, 38, 47, 53, 55, 56, 58, 63, 93, 118, 124, 127, 135, 150, 169, 175, 186, 187, 189, 197, 201, 206, 207, 209, 214, 240, 247, 262; domestic reform and, 66-67, 250; war aims, 26-29, 38 ff., 67, 113 ff., 119, 168.
- Panther, Der, 114, 187. Papal Peace Note, 183-84, 219-25, 240, 291; allied reaction, 224 n., 225 n.; causes for failure, 232 ff.; political parties and, 222 ff.
- Parliamentary Reform, 129, 205, 238. See also, Domestic Reform.
- Passelecq, F.: Belgian Unity and the Flemish Movement, 95 n.; Déporta-tion et travail forcé des ouvriers et de la population civile de la Belgique occupée (1916-1918), 156 n.; La question flamande et l'Allemagne, 50 n.
- Payer, F. von, 20, 72, 105, 112, 113, 135, 137, 145, 239, 255, 272, 283, 285; Mein Lebenslauf, 283 n.; Von Bethmann Hollweg bis Ebert, 197 n.
- Peace, negotiated, 1, 2, 75, 139, 151, 183, 256, 275, 282, 284, 289, 290. Peace Feelers: to Belgium, 8, 282; to
- England, 9, 12, 16, 75-76, 219, 223, 224, 232-33, 241, 278 n.; to France, 8, 75; to Russia, 17, 75, 140; to United States, 256, 282.
- Peace Note of Dec. 12, 1916, 68, 76, 139, 147-51; allied reaction to, 150; annexationist reaction to, 161-70.
- Peace Resolution, see Reichstag Peace Resolution.
- Perkins, D., Hands Off!, 181 n.
- Perrieres, 32.
- Persius, L., 230; Graf Ernst zu Reventlow, 48 n.
- Perthes, Gen. von, 136.
- Peters, C., 131.
- Petition of the Intellectuals, 113, 117 ff., 128, 132, 213.
- Petzold, 175.
- Peus, H., 111.
- Phönix, 32.

- Pirenne, H., 97; La Belgique et la guerre mondiale, 90 n.
- Pirenne, J. and M. Vauthier, La Législation et l'administration allemandes en Belgique, 90 n.
- Poensgen, O., 44, 122, 169; Was haben die Engländer gegen uns?, 169 n.
- Pohl, Heinrich, 25.
- Pohl, Hugo, Admiral, 11 n.
- Pokrovsky, 150. Poland, 74, 140, 164, 221, 260.
- Political offensive, 251-59, 274 ff.
- Posadowsky-Wehner, Count A. von, 287.
- Post, 16 n., 25, 48, 58, 117, 149.
- Press and war aims, 16, 47, 58, 71, 101, 102, 104, 117, 146-47, 149-50, 159, 167, 201, 210, 231, 243, 275.
- Preussische Jahrbücher, 52, 212.
- Prion, W., Die Pariser Wirtschaftskonferenz, 142 n.
- Progressive Party, 166, 167, 189, 192, 236; domestic reform, 172, 191; war aims, 20, 23, 104-05, 111, 145, 149, 186, 203, 211-12, 252, 272.
- Propaganda for war aims, 47-54, 64, 218, 236, 248-49.
- Protestantism and annexationism, 26, 106. 202-03.
- Protopopov, 140.
- Prussia, 237, 239, 263; electoral reform, 26, 129, 130, 173, 175, 187, 191, 192 n., 205, 218, 237, 240, 249-51, 273, 287; Lower House, 24 n., 101, 102, 103 n., 168, 170, 215, 235, 240, 273; Upper House, 22, 24 n., 170, 173, 175, 235. Pulventeux, 32.
- Quarck, M., 111.
- Quidde, L., 55, 105, 133, 170, 256; Reale Garantien für einen dauernden Frieden, 55 n.
- Raad van Vlaanderen, Les Archives du Conseil de Flandre, 86 n.
- Radowitz, von, 244, 281.
- Raphaël, G.: Hugo Stinnes, Der Mensch, Sein Wirken, 42 n.; Krupp et Thyssen, 247 n.
- Rathenau, W., 59-60, 87, 90, 136, 137, 156; Briefe, 60 n.
- Rauscher, U., 134; Belgien heute und morgen, 87 n.
- Rautlin, R. de, Les Allemands au port d'Anvers en 1912, 35 n.
- Real guarantees and securities," 16, 23, 61, 62, 67, 70, 73, 128, 142, 260.
- Rechberg, A., Reichsniedergang, 10 n.
- Recouly, R., Les Négociations secrètes Briand-Lancken, 177 n.

- Reichenau, von, 118, 121, 150, 169, 207 n., 209.
- Reichert, J., 264; Aus Deutschlands Waffenschmiede, 264 n.; Was sind uns die Erzbecken von Briey und Longwy?, 264 n.
- Reichsbote, 221 n.
- Reichsdeutscher Mittelstandsverband, 43.
- Reichstag, 18 n. Reichstag and war aims, 16, 17-24, 99-113, 144-45, 149, 165, 171, 178, 186 ff.,
- 197 ff., 223-24, 234-35, 239, 240, 242, 257, 272. Reichstag Peace Resolution, 68, 166, 186,
- 195, 196, 199 ff., 206, 239, 240, 242, 244, 248, 260, 272.
- Reinhardt, M., 137.
- Reismann-Grone, 25.
- Reusch, 41, 155.
- Reventlow, E. von, 48-49, 58, 102, 103, 122, 125, 131, 145, 160, 263.
- Rheims, 7.
- Rheinbaben, R. von, 101, 116-17, 126; Stresemann the Man and Statesman, 101 n.
- Rheinisch-Westphülische Elektrizitätswerkes A. G., 41
- Rheinisch-Westphälische Zeitung, 25, 47, 117, 131.
- Rheinisch-Westphälisches Kohlensyndikat, 37.
- Rhine Province, provincial diet, 116-17.
- Rhodes, T., The Real von Kühlmann, 223 n.
- Richtlinien für Wege zum dauernden Frieden, 125.
- Riesser, J., England und Wir, 116 n.
- Riezler, K., 64 n., 134. See also, " Ruedorffer, J. J."
- Rijkswacht, 268.
- Ripke, A., 114, 169; "Der Kampf um die Ostsee," 114 n.
- Rippler, H., 25, 122, 137.
- Röchling, 32, 37, 135, 156.
- Röchling, K., 121.
- Röchling, L., 85.
- Roesicke, 22, 40, 41, 44, 103, 121, 137, 169, 186.
- Roetger, 40, 122, 168.
- Rohrbach, P., 49, 131, 135; Bismarck und Wir, 120 n.
- Rôle et la situation de la métallurgie en France, Le, 36 n.
- Roloff, G. Eine ägyptische Expedition als Kampfmittel gegen England, 120 n.
- Roon, Count W. von, 126.
- Rosenberg, A. Die Entstehung der Deutschen Republik 1871-1918, 110 n.
- Rothe, C., Weltkrieg gegen Deutsche Wirtschaft, 142 n.

- "Rudiger" [A. Wullus], Flamenpolitik, 88 n.
- Rudolph, A., Lieber deutscher Michel, 180 n.
- "Ruedorffer, J. J." Kurt Riezlerl. Grundzüge der Weltpolitik in der Gegenwart, 64 n.
- Ruge, A., 53.
- Ruhemann, A., "Die Zukunft Belgiens: Vlamen und Wallonen," 52 n.
- Rumania, 76, 148, 271, 275. Rupprecht, Crown Prince of Bavaria, 7, 70, 79, 231 n., 274, 277; Mein Kriegstagebuch, 10 n.
- Russia, 6, 28, 164, 173, 185, 218.
- Salings Börsen Jahrbuch für 1914-15, 100 n.
- Salm-Horstmar, Prinz Otto zu, 22, 122, 126, 175.
- Salomonsohn, 137.
- Sandt, Dr. von, 86, 91, 97, 98, 161, 268.
- Santen, von, 98.
- Saxony, 247, 263.
- Schäfer, D., 44, 114, 118, 119, 121, 123, 124, 125, 126, 145, 147, 160, 168, 169, 175, 187, 206, 207, 209, 218, 247, 263, 287; Aus meinem Leben, 44 n.; Der Krieg 1914-16, 1916-18, 21 n.; "Kriegszielbewegung," 65 n.; Nochmals: Zur Lage, 168 n.; Zur Lage, 124 n.
- Schaible, 95.
- Scheer, R., 254.
- Scheidemann, Ph., 14, 15, 67, 71, 107, 111, 112-113, 144, 171, 186, 199, 218, 223, 240, 242, 252, 257; Memoiren eines Sozialdemokraten, 14n.; Der Zusammenbruch, 112 n.
- "Scheidemann Peace," 18, 187.
- Schemann, C. L., 24 n.
- Schemann, L., Wolfgang Kapp und das Märzunternehmen vom Jahre 1920, 127 n.
- Scherl, 39 n., 117.
- Schiele, G. W .: Überseepolitik oder Kontinentalpolitik, 52 n.; Wie der rechte Deutsche Arbeiterfrieden aussehen muss, 264 n.
- Schiemann, T., 102, 122, 188.
- Schiffer, E., 101, 171.
- Schinkel, M., Unsere Geldwirtschaft, 37 n.
- Schlieffen Plan, 7, 290.
- Schlittenbauer, 125, 203.
- Schmidt, H. O., Deutschlands Friede und Freiheit, 248 n.
- Schmoller, G. von, 133. Schneider, E., 36 n.
- Schröder, A. von, 98.

- Schrödter, E., Die Eisenindustrie unter dem Kriege, 85 n.
- Schroeter, 48. Schubert, C. von, 85.
- Schücking, W., 133.
- Schulenburg, Count, 22.
- Schulthess, 40 n.
- Schulze-Gaevernitz, G. von, 123, 272; La Mer libre, 123 n.
- Schumacher, H., 118, 119, 122; Ant-werpen, seine Weltstellung und Be-deutung für das deutsche Wirtschafts*leben*, 35 n.
- Schwabach, P. von, 59, 130, 135, 136; Aus meinen Akten, 46 n.
- Schwalbe, 53.
- Schwarte, M., Der Grosse Krieg 1914-18, 76 n.
- "Schwedische Eisenerzfrage, Die," 31 n. Schweighoffer, Dr., 37. Schwerin, F. W. von, 118, 119, 121.
- Schwerin-Löwitz, Graf von, 40; Kriegsreden-und Aufsätze, 24 n.
- Schwering, L., Belgien, der Angelpunkt des Weltkrieges, 248 n.
- Schwertfeger, B., Der geistige Kampf um die Verletzung der belgischen Neutralität, 10 n. "Second Punic War," 201, 229, 246. Seeberg, J., Wilson's Botschaft der 14
- Punkte vom 8. Januar im Urteil der grossen deutschen Tagespresse vom Januar bis zum Oktober 1918, 149 n.
- Seeberg, R., 114, 118, 119, 121, 123, 188. Seering, 132.
- Seidlitz, E. Count, 22.
- Senegambia, 179.
- "Senex," Deutscher Kaiser höre Dein Volk, 250 n.
- Seymour, Ch., The Intimate Papers of Colonel House, 10 n.
- Siemens, K. F. von, 133, 136, 156.
- Silesia, 6 n.
- Six Economic Organizations, 38, 44, 45 ff., 47, 55, 59, 66, 73, 107, 116, 117, 118, 146, 168, 169.
- Sixtus, Prince of Parma, 176.
- Social Democratic Party, 82, 166, 192, 193, 218, 236, 244; annexationist sentiment, 19, 110-11, 186; anti-Russian feeling of, 6, 75, 261; domestic re-form and, 172, 191, 235; war aims, 18-19, 22-23, 54, 62, 70, 106-12, 132, 167, 171, 182, 185, 189, 202, 212, 252, 260, 272, 294.
- Société de Moutiers, 32.
- Société des Forges de Brévilly, 32.
- Société des Mines de Conflans, 32.
- Société des Mines de Jarny. 32.
- Société des Mines de Murville, 32.

- Solf, W. H., 136, 237, 256; Die Lehren des Weltkrieges für unsere Kolonial*politik*, 80 n.; war aims, 11, 80, 163, 179, 187, 247, 283, 286.
- Sombart, W., 123; Händler und Helden, 123 n.
- Somme, 27, 45, 114.
- Sonnino, S., 150. Sontag, F., 26, 129. See also, "Junius Alter."
- Soumont, 32.
- South America, 180-81, 226 n., 228.
- South Tyrol, 234.
- Sozialdemokratie und Kriegsziele, 167 n.
- Spahn, M., 50, 122; "An den Pforten des Weltkrieges," 50 n; Im Kampf um unsere Zukunft, 123 n.; Die päpstliche Friedensvermittlung, 220 n.
- Spahn, P., 23-24, 103, 112, 171, 186. Spain, 31.
- "Spartacists," 19.
- Springorum, F., 85, 156. Stadelmann, R., "Friedensversuche im ersten Jahre des Weltkrieges," 9 n.
- Stahlberg, 122, 125, 169.
- Staley, E., "Mannesmann Mining Interests and the Franco-German Conflict over Morocco," 116 n.
- Status quo ante bellum, 62, 68, 98, 103, 104, 112, 167, 170, 219, 232, 240, 254, 258. 283.
- Stegemann, H., 255, 274; Erinnerungen aus meinem Leben und aus meiner Zeit, 9 n.
- Stegerwald, 264.
- Stein, A., 132.
- Stein, H. von, 218; Erlebnisse und Betrachtungen aus der Zeit des Weltkrieges, 200 n.
- Stern-Rubarth, E., Graf Brockdorff-Rantzau, 77 n.
- Stinnes, H., 32, 34, 35, 37, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 137, 140, 142, 155, 168, 210, 245, 264, 271 294.
- Stoll A., Deutsche Kriegsziele im Westen, 248 n.
- Strantz, K. von, 29, 50, 206; "Unsere territorialen Faustpfänder," 206 n.
- Strasser, K., Die deutschen Banken im Ausland, 34 n.
- Strategic war aims, 14, 57, 69, 71, 81, 105, 110, 119, 133, 142, 147, 197, 220, 226 ff., 243, 244, 245-46, 254, 258, 280, 292.
- Streit, C., Where Iron is there is the Fatherland, 32 n.
- Stresemann, G., 21, 25, 44, 51, 117, 122, 125, 137, 157, 169, 172, 190, 196, 223, 262; "Eine Atempause im Weltkriege," 166 n.; Deutsches Ringen und Deut-

sches Hoffen, 21 n.; "Gedanken zur Krisis," 205 n.; "Industrie und Krieg," 146 n.; Reden und Schriften, 100 n.; war aims, 100-101, 112, 146, 166, 171, 190, 204, 240, 257, 273.

- Strikes, 184, 218, 259.
- Ströbel, H., Die deutsche Revolution, 19 n.
- Stubmann, P., 205; Ballin, Leben und Werk eines deutschen Reeders. 62 n.: "Dreissig nationalliberale Thesen zur heutigen politischen Lage," 205 n.
- Stumm, 32, 85.
- Stumm, F. von, 133, 135.
- Stuttgarter Beobachter, 175.
- Submarine warfare, 68, 74, 76, 80, 99, 112, 124 n.; 125, 126, 127, 128, 140, 145, 146, 151, 162 ff., 170, 189, 191.
- Suedekum, A., 110, 111, 135, 136, 137.
- Supreme Command: annexationists and, 188, 194, 216, 245-51; and domestic reform, 250-51; and Reichstag Peace Resolution, 197 ff.; war aims of, 148, 184, 226 ff., 243, 244, 264-65, 283, 285, 290. See also, Falkenhayn, Hindenburg, Moltke, H. J., and Ludendorff. E.
- Sweden, 31.
- Swing, R. G., "First World War Peace Offer," 9 n.
- Switzerland, 3, 52.
- Tag, 21 n., 48, 168.
- Tägliche Rundschau, 25, 29 n., 47, 48, 58, 101 n., 114 n., 206 n., 231.
- Tahiti, 179.
- Tat, Die, 56 n. Taylor, E. The Strategy of Terror, 37 n.
- Telegraphen Union, 39 n.
- Tepper-Laski, von, 55, 133. Thaller, E., "Esquisse de réforme de la législation des étrangers, particulièrement dans les rapports franco-allemands, individus et sociétés," 46 n.
- Theuden, R., 52; Was muss uns der Krieg bringen?, 53 n.
- Thimme, F., Bethmann Hollwegs Kriegs*reden*, 10 n.
- Thimme, H., Weltkrieg ohne Waffen, 188 n.
- Thoma, L., 137.
- Thomas converter, 30.
- Thyssen, A., 20, 31 ff., 41, 43, 115, 135, 136, 146, 204, 246, 264, 294.
- Thyssen, F., 33, 34; I paid Hitler, 33 n. Timor. 179.
- Tirpitz, A. von, 11, 48, 56, 57, 60, 64, 80, 126, 160, 195, 207 n., 208, 209, 213, 221, 230, 247; Erinnerungen, 10 n.; Politische Dokumente, 8 n.

- Tisza, Count, K., 69.
- Törring, H. V., Count, 282.
- Traub, G., 105, 106, 125, 145, 160, 169, 203, 209, 218, 221; Eiserne Blätter, 106 n.
- Treitschke, H. von, 24.
- Treuberg, H. von, Zwischen Politik und Diplomatie, 126 n.
- Trietsch, D., Die Welt nach dem Kriege, 120 n.
- Trimborn, K., 272.

Troelstra, 53.

- Troeltsch, E., 133, 213.
- Truppel, O. von, 136, 167.
- U.A., 3. Reihe, 91 n.
- U.A., 4. Reihe, 1 n.
- U.A., 15. Ausschuss, 58 n.
- Ufermann, P. and C. Hueglin, Stinnes und seine Konzerne, 42 n.
- Ullstein, 137.
- Unabhängige Sozialdemokratische Partei Deutschlands, 108. See also, Independent Socialist Party.
- Unabhängiger Ausschuss für einen Deutschen Frieden, 121; An Das Deutsche Volk, 122 n.; Deutschlands Zukunft und der deutsche Friede, 187 n.; Durch Deutschen Sieg zum Deutschen Frieden, 168 n. See also, Independent Committee for a German Peace.
- Ungeheuer, M., "Die industriellen Interessen Deutschlands in Frankreich vor Ausbruch des Krieges," 30 n.
- United States, 2, 173. See also, House, Wilson.
- University of Berlin, 123.
- University professors and war aims, 51, 53, 113, 118 ff., 133, 212, 248-49.
- V. D. A., 25, 118, 169.
- Valentin, V., Deutschlands Aussenpolitik von Bismarck's Abgang bis zum Ende des Weltkrieges, 132 n. Valentini, R. von, 110, 138, 250; Kaiser
- und Kabinettschef, 14 n.
- Valleroy, 32.
- Valona, 179.
- Vaterländischer Unterricht, 217, 286.
- Vaterlandspartei, 2 n., 106, 206-14, 215, 221, 247-48, 263, 278, 280, 285, 287; Das deutsche Volk und der Friede, 211 n.; Deutsche Ziele, 221 n.; domestic reform, 208, 212, 250; and government, 214-19.
- Vera. 39 n.
- Verband der wirtschaftsfriedlichen nationalen Arbeitervereine im Rheinisch-Westphälischen Industriegebiet, 202.
- Verdun, 45, 46, 76, 99, 167.

- Verein Deutscher Eisen-und Stahlindustrieller, 38, 116, 245, 264.
- Verein Deutscher Eisen- und Stahlindustrieller und Verein Deutscher Eisenhüttenleute, Zur Einverleibung der französischlothringischen Eisenerzbecken in das deutsche Reichsgebiet, 245 n.
- Verein Deutscher Eisenhüttenleute, 124, 245.
- Verein Deutscher Zeitungsverleger, 131.
- Verkehrsgesellschaft 1916 m. b. H., 155.
- Versailles Treaty, 288.
- Vietinghoff-Scheel, L. von, 26, 114, 118, 169; Die Sicherheiten der deutschen Zukunft, 114 n.
- Villalobar, Marquis de, 232.
- Vlaamsche Post, 95.
- Vögler, A., 156, 245, 264.
- Völkerfriede, Der, 55.
- Vogel, P. W., 121, 125. Volkmann, "Die Annexionsfragen des
- Weltkrieges," 1 n. Volkmann, E. O., Der grosse Krieg 1914-1918, 7 n.; Der Marxismus und das deutsche Heer im Weltkriege, 110 n.
- Volkmann, L., Das Generalgouvernement Belgien, 86 n.
- Volksausschuss für rasche Niederkämpfung Englands, 145. See also, Committee for the Rapid Overthrow of England.
- Volksbund für einen Verständigungsfrieden, 134 n.
- Volksbund für Freiheit und Vaterland, 213-14.
- Vorbilder zur Organisation, 124 n.
- Vorwärts, 11 n., 16 n., 20 n., 21 n., 22 n., 24 n., 29 n., 32 n., 43 n., 47 n., 54, 58, 86 n., 99 n., 101 n., 107, 117 n., 150, 173, 188, 199, 202 n., 206, 215 n., 263 n., 275.
- Vosges, 14, 16, 104, 124.
- Vossische Zeitung, 130, 147 n., 203 n., 204 n., 247 n., 263 n., 264.
- Wacker, F., Die Haltung der Deutschen Zentrumspartei zur Frage der Kriegsziele im Weltkrieg 1914-1918, 20 n.
- Wagner, A., 123.
- Wagner, O., Mitteleuropäische Gedanken und Bestrebungen in den vierziger Jahren 1840-1848, 3 n.
- Wahnschaffe, A., 15 n., 70, 105, 110, 134, 136
- Walloons, 27, 52, 92 ff., 158 ff., 166, 228, 268, 269.
- Wangenheim, U. K. von, 40, 41, 42, 121, 160, 168, 207 n., 209, 211.
- War credits, 18, 19, 198, 237.

- Warburg, M., 140.
- Wars of Liberation, 3, 207.
- Weber, A., 252.
- Weber, Marianne, Max Weber, ein Lebensbild, 130 n.
- Weber, Max, 133.
- Wedel, Count C. J. von, 57, 134.
- Weerdt, R. de: The Spider's Web, 34 n.; Supermania, 34 n.
- Wehberg, H., Die internationale Be-schränkung der Rüstungen, 48 n.
- Wehr, Die, 29, 114 n.
- Weltpolitik, 4, 64.
- Wenck, W., Alldeutsche Taktik, 25 n.
- Wer hat den Krieg verlängert?, 155 n.
- Werner, L., Der Alldeutsche Verband, 25 n.
- Wertheimer, М., ThePan-German League 1890-1914, 4 n.
- Weser Zeitung, 125 n., 206, 264 n.
- Westarp, Count K., 14-16, 22-24, 40, 65, 66, 67, 72, 102, 112, 125, 128, 137, 144, 145, 160, 165, 171, 172, 175, 185, 190, 195, 197, 198, 223, 228, 240, 242, 278, 285; Konservative Politik im letzten Jahrzehnt des Kaiserreiches, 11 n.
- "Wet Triangle, The," 61, 157.
- "Wie tief geht die flämische Bewegung?" 159 n.
- Wiedenfeld, K., Antwerpen im Weltverkehr und Welthandel, 35 n.
- Wiemer, O., 20, 223, 257. Wilamowitz-Möllendorf, U. von, 123.
- Wildgrube, 168, 250.
- William, Crown Prince, 77, 191-92, 230-31, 244, 274-75; Erinnerungen, 77 n.
- William II, Emperor of Germany, 7, 8, 18, 40, 58, 60, 65, 141, 185, 191-92, 201-02, 224, 237, 279; war aims, 10, 77, 126, 143, 163, 177, 181, 202, 225-
- 26, 229, 230, 244, 258. Willis, E. F., Prince Lichnowsky, Am-bassador of Peace, 61 n.
- Wilson, W., 79, 139, 208, 251-52, 256, 287, 290; attempts at mediation, 139-40, 150-51, 162, 164.
- Winnig, A., 19; Der weite Weg, 19 n.
- Wirtschaftsvereinigung, 39, 117.
- Witting, R., 65. Wolf, J., 51; Die französische Kriegsentschädigung, 51 n.; Die Kriegsrechnung, 51 n.
- Wolff, T., 57, 131, 132, 137; Der Marsch durch zwei Jahrzehnte, 57 n.; Vollendete Tatsachen, 66 n.
- Wolff-Metternich, P., 133.
- Wortmann, K., 210; Geschichte der Deutschen Vaterlands-Partei 1917-18 55 n.

- Wrisberg, E. von, 88, 156; Erinnerungen an die Kriegsjahre im Kgl. Preussischen Kriegsministerium, 88 n.
- Wullus, A., see "Rudiger."
- Wyneken, A., 82, 216.
- Yap, 179.
- "Young Flemings," 93, 96. See also, Flemings, "Activists.'
- Zedlitz und Neukirch, Freiherr von, Reichs-und Staatsfinanzen im Kriege, 51 n.
- Zedlitz-Neukirch, O. von, 22, 102.
- Zeebrugge, 62, 103, 133, 225, 229.
- Zentralverband Deutscher Industrieller, 37, 40, 41, 43, 116, 146, 168.

- Zetkin, K., 54. Ziegler, W., Volk ohne Führung, 67 n. Ziekursch, J., 249; Was soll aus Belgien
  - werden?, 249 n.
- Ziese, C. H., 122. Zils, W., König Ludwig III. im Weltkrieg, 78 n.
- Zimmermann, A., 10, 12, 53, 79, 136, 144, 222, 233.
- Zimmermann, E., Das deutsche Kaiserreich Mittelafrika als Grundlage einer neuen deutschen Weltpolitik, 180 n.
- Zitelmann, E., 122, 180; Das Schicksal Belgiens beim Friedensschluss, 123 n. Zukunft, 48, 50.